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Our mission

We work to create a better future every day

We help people feel good, look good and get
more out of life with brands and services that are
good for them and good for others.

We will inspire people to take small, everyday
actions that can add up to a big difference
for the world.

We will develop new ways of doing business
with the am of doubling the size of our company
while reducing our environmental impact.







Qur brands

We have some of the world's best known and most trusted brands, with
leadership positions in many of the home and personal care and food
categones in which we compete Our top 12 brands all have sales of more
than a billion euros, and with a further eight brands with sales of more
than half a billion euros, our top 20 brands represent around 70% of sales

Our 12 €1bn global = Axe/Lynx = Heartbrand ice creams e Lux

brands are* * Blue Band + Hellmann's * Omo
s Dove * Knorr * Rexona
+ Becel/Flora * Lipton * Sunsilk

* Some of our brands are marketed under alternative names in certain countries
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Otherinformation

The brand names shown n this report are trademarks
owned by or icensed to companies withun the Unilever
Group This document contains certain statements
that are netther reported finanaal results nor other
fustoncal information  These statements are forward-
looking statements including withm the meaning of
the United States Private Securiies Litigation Reform
Act of 1995 Actual results may differ fram those
disclased in our forward-looking statements Fora
descnption of factors that could affect future results,
reference should be made to the full ‘Cautionary
statement’ on the inside back cover and to the section
entitled Outlook and nsks on pages 33 to 3% In

our report we make reference to Unilever s website
Information on our website does not form part of this
document This Annual Report comprises regulated
informatien within the meaning of sections 1 1 and

% 25¢ of the Act on financial Supenasion {"Wet

op het financieal toezicht (W) m the Netherlands

For further information, please
visit wwww unilever com/fourbrands

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2010 1




Report of the Directors About Unilever

Operational highlights

In 2010 we continued the transformation of Unilever Volume momentum

Is strong, driven by innovations that are bigger, better and faster, and by the
rapid introduction of our brands into new markets Financial performance
was again robust, moving us coser to our long-term model of consistent

top and bottom line growth We are now fit to compete

Group highlights

Strong volume growth ahead of market

+ Best volume growth for more than 30 years

+ Volume share up in all regions and mest ¢ategories, with double digit
growth in Asia, Africa and Central & Eastern Europe {Asia Africa CEE)

+ More than 60% of the business gaining or holding value share

* Innovation rate up to 33% of turnover, with bigger projects hitting
more markets more quickly

« More than 100 launches of Unilever brands into new markets

« Steady and sustainable improvement in underlying operating margin

» Strong cash flow and cost discipline, with savings of €1 4bn

Key financial indicators*

Underlying sales growth

4.1% 15.0%

2009 35% 2009 14 8%

Underlying volume growth Free cash flow

5.8% €3.4bn

2009 23% 2009 €41bn

Key non-financial indicators®

Total recordable acadent frequency Water per tonne
rate (per 1m hours worked) of production {m?)

1.61 2.67

2009 19 2009 281

C0, from energy per tonne Total waste per tonne
of production (kg) of production (kg)

132.62 6.46

2009 14216 2009 652

uUnderlying operating margin

Financial headlines

* Turnover up 11% to
€44 3bn, with 7% due
to currency effects

» Operating profit up 26%
to €6 3bn

+ Fully diluted earnings per
share of €1 46, up 25% |

« Dividends paid in 2010
of €0 819 per NV share
(up 5 1%} and of £0 7053
per PLC share {(up 9 5%)

Sustainable Living Plan

* Help more than a bilhon people
take action to improve therr
health and well-being

# Halve the environmental
impact of the making and
use of our products

+ Enhance the livelihoods of
thousands of people In our
supply chain

Basis of reporting our accounting policies are in accordance with International Finanaal Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the Eurcpean Union (EU} and based
on United Kingdom and Dutch law They are also in accordance with IFRS as issued by the Internatonal Accounting Standards Board {|ASB) Certain measures used in
our reparting are not defined under IFRS or other generally accepted accounting principles For further mformation about these measures, and the reasons why we
believe they are important for an understanding of the performance of the business please refer to our commentary on non-GAAP measures on pages 31 ang 32

* Further detais of our key financial mdicators can be found i our finanoial review starting on page 22

% 2010 data 1s preliminary It will be independently assured and reported in our online Sustainable Development Report 2010 at www unilever com/sustainability
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Well positioned for growth

Consumers buy

2on  170bn

consumers worldwide Unilever packs around
use a Unilever product the world every year
on any given day

Products sold in more than More than

50yrs

countries experience in Brazil,
China, India and
Indonesia

Over

167,000

employees at the end
of 2010

The Unilever Group

Unilever NV {NV) 1s a public imited
company registered in the Netherlands

It has Yistings of shares and depositary
receipts for shares on Euronext Amsterdam
and on the New York Stock Exchange
Unilever PLC (PLC) 1s a public imited
company registered in England and Wales
It has shares histed on the London Stock
Exchange and, as American Depositary
Receipts, on the New York Stock Exchange

The two parent compames, NV and PLC,
together with their group companies,
operate as a single economic entity {the
Unulever Group, also referred to as Unilever
or the Group) NV and PLC and their group
companigs constitute a single reporting
entity for the purposes of presenting
consohdated financial statements
Accordingly, the accounts of the Unilever
Group are presented by both NV and PLC
as therr respective consolidated finanaal
statements The same people sit on the
Boards of the two parent companies Any
references to the Board in this document
mean the Boards of NV and PLC

Unilever Arnual Report and Accounts 2010 3
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Chairman’s statement

2010 has been ancther year of solid progress for Unilever.
The Group saw accelerated volume growth ahead of our markets,
continued improvement in underlying operating margin and

strong cash generation

This was a significant achtevement

in a world struggling to come to terms
with an ecanomic crisis, weighed down
by low consumer confidence, high
unemployment and sluggish growth

in developed markets

Unilever's already strong reputation

for responsible business practice was
enhanced still further by the launch

of the Unilever Sustainable Living Plan —
a ground-breaking contribution which
sets out our social and environmental
ambitions for the coming decade

(see page 20)

Innovatton 1s the hifeblood of any
consumer goods company and the Board
15 also pleased to see Unlever’s brands
getting stronger and 1ts pipeline of
innovations becorming even more robust
The portfolio 15 also being sharpened
through a number of acquisitions,

in particular the Sara Lee Personal Care
business and the announced acquisition
of Alberto Cutver

In 2010 we welcomed two new Directors
to the Board Joining the non-executive
ranks was Sir Malcolm Rifkind who

has taken over the chairmanship of our
Corporate Responsibility and Reputation
Committee Jean-Marc Huet was also
elected to the Board In his capacity

as Chief Financial Officer

At the 2011 AGMs 1n May we will be
saying goodbye to Jeroen van der Veer

4 Umilever Annual Report and Accounts 2010

who will be retinng after nine years

Over the last few years, Jeroen has made
an outstanding contrbution in his role
as Vice-Charman & Senior Independent
Director He has also been an invaluable
source of advice and support to me

We wish him well

It 1s our intention to nominate Sunil

Bhart Mittal from India for election to the
Board as a Non-Executive Director at the
2011 AGMSs | am very pleased that Sunil
has agreed to jon us We believe his
business acumen and experience In
developing markets will further
strengthen the expertise of the Board

The focus of the Board in 2010 has been
on strategy and governance The strategy
was reviewed in detall by the Board
during a wisit to Brazil with an emphasis
on sharpening the Group’s vision and on
the choices needed to enable Unilever to
win In increasingly competitive markets
Akey element of the strateqy 1s the
ambitious plan to take advantage of the
enormous growth opportunities offered
by the emerging markets of Asia Africa
CEE and Latin America These markets
already account for more than 50%

of Unilever's business We start from

a strong base therefore in reaching the
growing number of people in these
markets who share the same aspirations
as consumers In the West We could not
have chosen a better venue since Brazl 1s
home to one of Unilever's fastest growing
and most dynamic companies The Board

also visited Germany in the year to review
the Western European business, which
returned to volume growth in 2010

We conducted a review of our corporate
governance procedures dunng the year
This has been recorded and pubhshed

in an updated version of our document
entitled ‘The Gavernance of Unilever’
The Board participated in enhanced
training programmes in 2010,
concentrating on further instruction

and famihansation with Unilever and its
business This has been achieved in formal
knowledge sessions for the Non-Executive
Directors on Unilever’s operations

Most importantly, the Board also spent

a lot of time duning the year reviewing
the talent pool of senior management
We were pleased, as part of this review,
to see the significant step up being
made in leadershup development, as well
as the continuing progress in the area

of diversity and the award of most desired
employer status :in many places around
the world

This could not have been achieved
without the commitment, dedication

and hard work of Unilever's 167,000
employees spread across over a hundred
countnies On behalf of the Board | would
like to thapk them for their efforts

Michael Treschow
Charrman




Engaging with the business

In addition to providing governance oversight,

our expenenced Board members actively engage
with the business, helping to advance strategic
1ssues by ganing a stronger insight into the Group
and sharing therr expertise

Michael Treschaw — Chairman (pictured on page 4}

3 Jean-Maec Huet —
Ctuef Financial Cffices

6 Charlas Golden—
Non-Execuuve Birector

9 SirMalealm Rifkind -
Non-Executive Director

4 Lourse fresco-
Non-Executive Director

7 Byron Grote -
Non-Executive Director

10 Kees Storm -
Non Executive Director

For Directors’ biographies please go to page 40
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Jeroen van der Veer —
Vice-Chairman & Senior
Independent Director

2 PautPolman -
Chief Executive Officer

v

Ann Fudge —
Non-Executive Dirgctor

@

Hixoria Nyasulu =
Non-Executive Director

1 Paul Walksh —
Non-Executive Director

Report of the Directors About Unilever
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Chief Executive Officer’s review

2010 was a very positive year for Unilever, both in terms of results

and also in our continuing transformation to a business that delivers

consistent top and bottom line growth

Unilever Executive (UEx)

Paul Polman - Chief Executive Officer {pictured above)

o=

S by
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Daowg Ballie — Chief Human Resources Officer
Professor Genevigve Berger - Chief Research
& Development Officer

Jean-Marc Huet - Chuef Rinancial Ofticer
Dave Lewrs — President Americas

Hansh Manwani - President Asia Afnica CEE
Michael Polk — President Global Foods

Home & Personal Care

Pier Luigi Sigismand) — Chief Supply Chain Otficer
Keith Weed - Chief Marketng and
Commurication Qfficer

an Zyderveld — President Western Europe

For UEx biographies please go to page 40
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Slow economic growth n 2010, food
price volatility and geopolitical instability
remind us that we live in challenging
times We expect eConomic recovery

to be protracted and uneven All except
emerging markets remain sluggish and
consumer spending continues to be held
back by high levels of personal debt and
{ear of continuing unemployment

Despite this backdrop, we achieved
volume growth of 5 8% n 2010,
significantly hugher than growth in the
previcus year and Unilever's best volume
growth performance for more than 30
years Growth was both competitive —
we gamned market share in many of our
leading categones — and profitable, with
a steady improvement in underlying
operating margin The emerging markets
- now 53% of our total business —
continue to be our growth engine We
are also encouraged that our Western
European business returned to volume
growth in 2010

In this environment, as well as
improving efficiencies, we continue to
take a long-term view of our business
by nvesting m our people and our
brands, strengthening our portfolio
and bulding innovation and

R&D capabilities

We expanded our underlying operating
margins again, by 20bps, and generated
strong free cash flow at €3 4 bilion

We delivered savings of €1 4 bilhon and
mantaned negative working caprtal at
close to best-in-class levels These were
signtficant achievements

2

During the year we also launched an
audacious plan to meet our energsing
vision of doubling the size of the company
while reducing the overall impact on the
environment In anincreasingly resource-
constrained world, this decouphng of
growth from the impact on the planet 1s
the growth model that consumers will
ultimately demand

In additron to halving our overall

environmental iImpact, the Unilever !
Sustainable Living Plan (the Plan) commits

us to hefping more than a billion people to

improve their health and weli-being and to

souraing 100% of cur agriculturally-based

matenals sustainably We will achieve this

across the whole value chamn, with specific,

time-hound commitments and with the

active partcapation of many partners

These are not acts of chanty or a tick in the

box for corporate responsibility The Plan |
makes sound business sense As an integral

part of our business model, 1t will enable us

to accelerate innovation, ensure security of

resources, reduce overall costs and build

sustainabtlity into our brand propositions,

ultimately winning consumer preference

and loyalty well into the future

Meeting our growth ambition also
requires us to stick to our strategy Thisis
set out In “the Compass’, which 1s based
on winming in four key areas

Winning with brands and innovation
Brands and mnovation are the lifeblood of
our business, which 1s why strengthentng
brand equities and building a pipehine

of bigger and better innovations, rolled

3
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out {aster to more countnes, Is at the
heart of our strategy In 2010 we made
good progress Innovations launched

i over ten countnes increased more than
fourfold, to 40 Innovations like Dove
Men+Care, Clear ant-dandruff shampoo
and Magnum Gold?! rolled out to around
30 countries We also extended our
brands into new markets, with more

than 100 new launches in the year The
percentage of turnover from Innovation
increased and 1s now a third of company
revenues We rely on many outside
partners for Innavation and are increasingly
seen as a desired partner for our strong
growth In emerging markets

Winning in the market place

The way we deploy our brands and
mnovations in the market 1s key to ther
success and again we made great stndes
n 2010 We accelerated joint business
planning with key customers, improved
customer service In every region

and continued to develop a network

of leading-edge Customer Insight and
Innovation Centres (CiCs), which are
well received by our retall partners We
expanded our footprint in general trade and
madern trade and significantly improved
our in-store execution IN emerging markets
Both Walmart and Tesco recognised

us as their Global Supplier of the Year

- a measure of how far we have come

Winning through
continuous improvement
Small improvements every day, the length

4

and breadth of our supply chan, are
enabling us to Increase speed, raise qualty
and leverage scale The move to a global
supply chain organisation has improved
responsivenass and brought costs more
into line with competitive levels The
successful launch last year of our global
shared services organisation, Enterprise
Support, ts alse helping us to drive cost
and other efficencies through the whole
organisation These elements of our
programme ¢f continuous iImprovement
are generating the fuel for growth

Winning with people

Winning In today's competitive markets
requires the best people, motivated to
succeed and equipped with the right
capabilities and the best traning This is our
focus as we look to bulld an organisation
capable of meeting the company’s
ambitious visson We made significant
progress in 2010 Employee engagement
reached its hughest level, a new
compensation scheme brought a sharper
focus on performance and the long term,
and 100 of our most senior managers went
through a tallored leadership development
programme, which s now bemng rolled
out to the next 500 managers

We achieved progress aganst the
Compass objectives, while we embarked
on our most active acquisition and
disposals programme far many yeal

This included the purchase of Sara Lee's
Personal Care brands, such as Radox and
Duschdas, and the announced acguisition

5

of Alberto Culver We also disposed of
businesses with a combined turncver
of more than €600 million, notably the
frozen foods business in [taly

These developments have left us with

a sharper portfolio and an even stronger
presence in faster growing categones
Combined with our highly competitive
geographical footpnnt in emerging markets,
we are increasingly well placed to win
consistently in the areas of fastest growth

Conclusion

Progress in 2010 was significant, but 2011
will be a challenging year and we need to
quicken the pace of transformation If we
are to stay ahead | have every confidence

in the 167,000 wonderful men and women
of Unilever They achieved some of the best
results in the company’s recent history while
staying true 1o the values that make Unilever
such a special orgarisation Itis a tribute to
them that 2010 ended with Unilever being
named Most Admired Company of the Year in
a poll of Industry peers Well deserved praise
ndeed, but also a recognition that
expectations have béen raised We need
therefore to set the bar higher in passionately
serving our consumers across the world

~

Ul Polman |
Chiet Executive Officer .

6 I
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Our footprint

Unilever’s products are sold in over 180 countnies and used

by 2 billon consumers every day Our impressive presence

INn emerging markets, together with a brand portfolic that is
becoming progressively stronger, tells us that we have the nght

footprint for growth

We compete In 11 categories and have
global leadership in seven More than
75% of our business 1s in a leadership
or number two position

We are continually strengthening our
portfoho We do this by expanding
existing categores into new geographies
or by making ‘bolt on’ acquisitions that
help to build our presence, either in
more countries or at a wider range

of pnice points

With more than half our business in
fast-growing emerging markets we are well
positioned for future growth Asia Afnica
CEE 1s now our largest region and the
fastest growing We are also expenencing
good growth in Latin America

In many of these markets we have a reach
and scale that are a source of significant
competitive advantage Whether it be
favelas in Brazil or villages in rural India,
our depth of distribution 1s impressive

In developed markets, our supply chain
ensures we give fugh quality service

to our modern trade customers in places
like the US and Western Europe

Our markets

Share of revenue from
emerging markets

53%

and growing

Accelerate emerging markets

Our growth 1s Increasingly led by emerging
markets We already have just over half our
turnover in these markets, and with their
strong econamic mMomentum we expect them
to becorne even more sigmificant over time

B Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2010

Our regions

Western Europe
Underlying volume growth

1.4%

Turnover
€12 0bn
The Americas
Underlying velume growth
0,
4.8% Asia Africa CEE
E;Tngbn Underlying volume growth
10.2%
Turnover
€17 7bn

All numbers are at 31 December 2010

Our strong performance in 2010 came in the context of a continuing tough
economic environment

* Western Europe and North America remained soft, with markets flat
at best We do not anticipate sigruficant improvements in the near future
» Emerging markets were in a much healthier state, particularly in the early
part of 2010 Although the latter part of the year saw a modest slowdown
the momentum remains strong and we expect this to continue through 2011

Market value growth
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Great portfolio, and strengthening

Our categories

Savoury,
Dressings and
Spreads
Underlying
valume growth

2.5%

Turnover

€14 2bn

Ice Cream and
Beverages
Underlying
vclume growth

5.9%

Turnover

€8 6bn

Personal Care
Underlying
volume growth

79%

Turnover

€13 8bn

Home Care
Underlying
volume growth

8.2%

Turnover

€77bn

* Global leadership in Savoury,
Dressings and Spreads

+ Key brands include Knorr,
Becel/Flora, Hellmann's
and Rama/Blue Band

* 35% of turnover in
emerging markets

* Globa! leadership in ice cream
and tea

* Key brands include the
Heartbrand and Ben & lerry's
In ice cream, and Lipton
and Brooke Bond In tea

* 45% of turnover in
emerging markets

* Global leadership in
deodorants and mass skin,
world number two in daily
hair care, significant local
strength in toothpaste

s Key brands include Dove,
Rexona, Lux, Axe/lynx, Suave,
Signal, Pond's and Lifebuoy

* 51% of turnover In
emerging markets

* World number two in laundry

and significant local strength
in household cleaning

* Key brands include Omo/
Persil, Surf, Comfort,
Cf and Purert

* 78% of turnover in
emerging markets

New additions

In 2010 we strengthened our portfolio
through a number of acquisitions

Sara Lee

The acquisition of the
Personal Care business of
Sara Lee was completed

in the fourth quarter of 2010
It added leading brands
such as Radox, Duschdas
and Neutral to our portfolio
in Western Europe

Ice cream

We strengthened our e
cream busimess i Western
Europe, announding
acguisitions in both Greece
and Denmark that will further
enhance our leadership
position in this attractive
category

In September 2010 we announced an
agreement to acquire Alberto Culver

Alberto Culver

The Alberto Culver company includes
brands such as TRESemmé, Nexxus and
St Ives These brands would complement
our existing portfolio, transforming our
hair business tn North America, the UK
and elsewhere, and adding substantially
to our presence in the skin category

Thus transaction remains subject ta
regulatory approval

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2010 9
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Our ambition \

Our Compass strategy sets out our ambition It is to double the
size of Unilever while reducing our environmental footprint.

This is an audaacus goal which has energised our
people and builds on our hentage of combining socal
mussion with commeraal success We are one of

the first consumer goods companies which has set
itself the objective of decoupling growth from
environmental impact The Unilever Sustainable Living
Plan sets out specific commitments to reduang our
ervironmental footprnt while increasing the soaal
benefit anising from our actwities {see page 20)

The Compass has invigorated and aligned the
arganisation It balances bolder long-term aspirations
with a higher focus on execution and results delwery

Unilever brand
On any given day, 2 billion people use a Unilever product
These multiple small actions add up to make a big difference
to their lives, the lives of others and to the planet As consumers
become more aware of the impact they have on the world
through their daily choices and habits they want to know more
about the company behind therr favourite brands This 15 why
we have added the Unilever name and logo to our products and
advertising, which will extend to all countries in 2011, and we are
starting to talk more about what we do as a company and the
positive impacts we have

10 Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2019
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Our Compass strategy

Where we will win

Growth priorities

Our aim 15 to win share and grow volume
profitably across our categories and countries
We have a strong portfolio of leading brands
and market positions Our outstanding
presence in the emerging markets leaves us
well posittoned to win where much of the
waorld's future growth will be We will also
grow 1n the developed world which 15 almost
50% of the business €4 6 billion of acquisitions
have been announced since 2009 These
underpin our deterrmination to have scale and
grow n Europe and the US as we accelerate
growth in the emerging markets

Share of growth in 2010

Underlying volume growth in 2010 was
underpinned by strong growth across our
categories and regions, but particularly in
Personal Care and the emerging markets

Developed Emerging
Share of growth 17%

Share of growth 83%

“Meeting our growth ambition requires us to stick
to our strategy This Is set out in ‘the Compass’, which
iIs based on winning in four key areas “ Paul Polman

How we will win

Winning with brands and innovation

Brands and innovation are at the heart of our business model We aim
to offer a broad partfolio that appeals to consumers with different
needs and budgets Unilever brands must also offer supenor product
quality and be supported by excellent marketing Our innovation
pragramme is focused on being ‘bigger, better and faster’ This means
using technology to create bigger, better innovation platforms that
are then rolled out rapdly to multiple markets

For more go to page 12

Winning In the market place

New markets are our biggest opportunity for growth We can achieve
this by being best-in-class at market development When working
with our customers, the challenge is to grow the size of the categones
n which we operate In a fast changing world, this requires flexibility
inour approach to different channels and responsiveness to different
customer strategies To sustain winning relationshups and to enable
growth, we need to be consistently brilhant at customer service and
In-store execution

For more go to page 14

Winning through continuous iImprovernent

Winmng In consumer goods requires a continuous improvement
philosophy — a Iittle better every day Our goal 1s to be faster and
simpler and translate efficency into more competitive costs We are
prioritising speed and flexibility in the supply chain to deliver growth
We are leveraging our scale more aggressively, especially in support
services And we are working to get a better return on our advertising
and promotional expenditure — one of our most significant areas

of cost

For more go to page 16

Winning with people

we will only meet our growth ambition of we have the necessary talent
and organisation in place Across the business we are conducting
reviews of people, skills and capabilities and are taking appropnate
action and investing for the future We know that high employee
engagement and a performance culture are critical enablers of growth,
our goal I1s to be employer of chotce in our key markets We have
made necessary changes in our remuneration and working practices
and are increastng investment in tramning and leadership development

For more go to page 18

Urnilever Annual Repert and Accounts 2810 11
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54

awards won by Axe at the
Cannes Lions Advertising
Festival over the past

five years

Sunsilk Co-Creations
rolled out to over

50

countries in less than
12 months

Solid gold from Magnum
It's on everyane s lips!
Magnumn Gold?, the first
ever golden ice cream on &
stick, launched in 29 countnes
in 2010 with a Hollywood
blockbuster of a campaign
featunng Academy Award
winner Benicio del Toro
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Winning with brands
and innovation

Brands and mnovation are at the heart of everything we !
do Success means developing products that keep pace with

changes in consumer lifestyles and that appeal to pecple at

all income levels We're using breakthrough technology to get

bigger and better innovations into the market faster, supported

by the very best marketing

Supenor products

Qur aim 1 to give consumers an
unbeatable product expenence Wwe

are investing in our formulations and
constantly assessing our product
performance in order to drive consumer
preference in branded and unbranded
product tests We're doing this both

for our mnovabions and for our

existing mixes

Qur vision of quality 1s not just about

the functional delivery, but it's also about
sensorials packaging design, textures,
taste and fragrance

For example, the Rexona for women
deodorant re-launch in 2010 has delivered
great business results in some markets
through quality improvement Product
testing of the antiperspirant aerasel has
shown that, overall, women prefer Rexona
to the dosest competitor and, specfically,

rate it higher on dryness, odour control
and absence of white marks on clothing
As a result, Rexona was one of our fastest
growing brands in 2010

Bigger, better, faster innovation

Successful innovation is the lifeblood

of any consumer goods company For

a business like Unilever, success means

innovations that work globally, rather

than in just one or two countnes For ‘
example, Dove Men+Care, a bold move

into the men's personal grooming

category, was launched in over 30

countries in 2010

This kind of achievement starts with what
we call ‘disruptive technology’, namely
technology that makes a big impact on
the market by meeting consumer needs
better than all available alternatives
Sharp consumer insight and R&D are
core to dehvering on that aim




In 2009 we launched the Genesis
Pragramme, a more robust process

for fuelling our longer-term innovation
pipeline Genesis 1s now a way of life for
us, applying breakthrough technology
across categories, enabling us to benefit
from much bigger market opportunities

For example, whitening 1s an essential
benefit in fabric care but also in oral

care We've fast adapted the whitening
technology from the laundry category and
apphed its active system to tcothpaste

to deliver instant whitening in one brush
Three years after launch, this breakthrough
White Now mnavation 1s still unmatched
by competition As a consequence, Signal
had a fantastic year in 2010

We are building more strategic relationships
with our supphers, defining joint innovation
programmes with many We have also
amplified our open INnovation activities,
working with academic institutions as
well as small and medium enterprises

This new way of working has already
deliverad results and, we are confident, wall
deliver even greater results in the future

World-class brands and marketing
Unilever has some of the world’s greatest
brands, such as Lipton, Ben & Jerry’s,
Persil, Clear, Dove and Axe Twelve of our
brands generate more than €1 bithon
turnover and ancther eight brands
deliver above €05 billion turnover each

Despite their size and presence In
consumers’ ives, we have tremendous
opportunity to build them further, as they
are not yet present everywhere In 2010,
we mitiated 100 new brand country
launches, twice as many asin 2009

We continue to opumise the portfoho
by acquinng brands that strengthen
our market positions and support our

strategy, and we have acquired brands in

fast-growing categories like ice cream and

personal care We purchased ice cream
brands in Greece and Denmark, and the

Sara Lee Personal Care business in Europe,

South Afnica and the Philippines In
September we announced an agreement
to acquire the Alberto Culver company.

which indudes a range of cutstanding hair

and skin care brands such as TRESemmé,
Nexxus and 5t lves This transaction
remains subject to regulatory approval

Great products, great innovation and
great markettng are essential for building
waorld-class brands Throughout our
history, we've been at the forefront in
inventing innovative and impactful ways
to build our brands In fact, Unilever was
one of the first to advertise on television,
and today we are one of the world’s
leading advertisers As consumers’ media
habits change, we are evolving the way
our brands are engaging with them,
through digital marketing and market
launches encompassing all media
channels As a result, Unitever was
recognused as the Global Advertiser of
the Year at the Cannes Lions Advertising
Festival 2010, with Axe alone daiming
seven awards, taking the brand’s total

to 54 over the past five years
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Dove cares for men

Dove Men+Care came on the scene

n 2010 Dove 15 our biggest personal
care brand and our men’s range stands
out with its emphasis on ‘care’ It was
alaunch like no other with an aggressive
roll-out in over 30 countnies deflivenng
over €320 millon in sales Dove Men+Care
was launched with an award-winning

ad campaign {Silver Lion at Cannes),

the first ever 1Ad for Apple devices and

a s launch at the Super Bowl|

Sunsilk Co-Creations shows

1ts expert credentials

The power of seven of the world's
top hair experts 15 behind new
Sunsilk Co-Creations Follewing
the brand’s biggest ever launch, it
was rolled out to over 50 countries
worldwide in less than 12 months
Sunsilk achieved an unprecedented
improvement in brand equity
across the globe
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5. /m

new Comfort consumers
in China

84

market penetration for
toothpaste in Nigena

Winning in the
market place

New markets are our biggest opportunity for growth

Developing and emerging countries offer huge potential
Not only is the population nsing rapidly, but more and
more people are reaching income levels where they can
start consuming our products for the first time

Lead market development

Today, 5 9 billion people live in developing
and emerging markets — in countries ke
Brazil, India and Indonesia Unilever has
deep roots and a wide presence In such
markets — where we already reach many
more consumers than our competitors
But we need to develop these markets
further, a goal we'll achieve in three

maln ways

* more users {(iIncreasng market
penetration),

* maore usage (INcreasing consumption),
and

« more benefits {trading up to higher
value products)

Our strategy produced a string of
successes In 2010 In China, our Comfort
brand reached 5 7 milhon new consumers
In Nigeria, where the toothpaste category

Convinang the consumer - Sunlight
In Indonesia, Sunlight 1s converting
consumers from cream detergents to
washing-up liquid through a successful
market development campargn focusing
on size, price, consumer education and
community engagement Sunlight has
strengthened its market leadership,
grown the category and delivered an
average yearly volume growth well
above 30% over the past five years
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has 84% market penetration, we found
that only 32% of consumers brushed
twice dally — and launched a campaign
to increase usage And in Indonesia,

5 3 million new users converted from
deodorant powder to using Rexocna
deodorant lotion

Winning partners, winning customers
The retail ndustry 1s increasingly
dominated by fewer, larger retailers
Because we combine global scale with
local market knowledge, Unilever can
help these retail customers achieve

their own growth ambitions as they
extend ther operations into new
geographic areas

In 2010, we expanded our network of
Customer Insight and thnovation Centres
{CuCs), which allow us to work closely
with retallers to tnal new strategies




for merchandising, displays and packaging
without having to run in-store pilots

The success In 2009 of our centre in
New Jersey has led us to open similar
state-of-the-art centres n Landon, Pars,
Singapore, Shanghai and 530 Paulo

The concept has been embraced by our
partners Carrefour, for example, followed
its inaugural visit to our Pans CiC by
sending country teams to our London,
Shanghai and Sdo Paulo centres where all
experienced the same capabilities talored
to thewr own markets We've already
started working together to grow sales

in key categones like harr, health and
beauty, and ice cream

Meeting retallers’ ambitions

Helping retailers meet their ambitions helps
us meet ours Walmart, for example, drew
on our deep understanding of the Indian
market prior to entry Into the country,
which contributed to an even better
working relatonship and understanding
when it began opening its stores there

Or take Tesco Operating in markets
acrass Europe, Asia and North America,

In 2010/11 1t once agan awarded Unilever
International Suppher of the Year

The 2010 Advantage International Survey,
the industry standard for measuring
business relationships In fast-moving
consumer goods, showed that our
position has improved In nine out of

15 countries surveyed, while holding
steady in two others Unilever is ranked
among the top third of supplers in nine
out of 15 countnies — compared 1o five
out of 1411 2009

Be an execution powerhouse

Qur progress In market development

and customer satisfaction s encouraging,
but 1t must be supported by excellence

in execution The everyday disaiplines

of ensurning that we are delivenng the
products customers want, in the quantities
they order, at the time they are needed,
have never been more important

In 2010, we continued to focus on 'sales
fundamentals’ — company-wide standards
which measure our in-store performance
in key markets We developed a scorecard
to track progress against these standards
and this has led to sustained improvement
In areas like on-sheif availability and speed
of bullding distribution for new products

‘Perfect stores”

Focusing on sales fundamentals has
added momentum to our ‘perfect store’
programme The programme Is based

on the concept that for every vanation

in geography and outlet size, from a US
superstore to a small-town independent
in Ching, there 1s an optimal merchandising
layout for seling Unilever categories and
brands We are promoting those ‘perfect’
models to retaillers

In 2010, we enlisted more than a million
stores across the Asia Africa CEE region
Already, retall outlets enrolled in the
programme have shown faster growth
than their competitors, while those
outlets which have taken on all our
"perfect store' recommendations are
growing faster still

We will extend the "perfect store”
programme to developed markets in
Europe and North America

The 2015 market place

We want to harness the energy from our
progress In customer development, and
in October 2010 we outlined a strategy
for the next five years — identifying the
most significant growth opportunities
across markets, channels and categories
We believe that implementing this
strategy will accelerate our growth

rates still further
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This i1s the way we brush our teeth
In Nigeria, our oral care brand leads the
market But whife & has 84% market
penetration, only 32% of people brush
their teeth twice daily, as dentists
recommend In 2010 we parinered
with schools and the Nigerian Dental
Association to encourage day and night
brushing — which will lead to healthier
teeth and healthier revenues

Fast and flexable = wainning in India

Unitlever has strong roots n india — a fast-developing market
Qur performance across a broad portfoho llustrates how

we wilbwin in this highly competitive market place

Dove From cream bar to leading personal care brand across
skin cleansing, skin care, har and deodorants in just three
years, Dove quadrupled its turnover between 2007 and 2010
Tea By marketing across pnce segments, re-packaging and
re-sizing faster than ever before, we achieved faster-than-
market volume growth, strengthening our leadership
Expanding footpnnt Direct distribution has been a source of
competitive advantage for us reactung a million stores across
urban and rural markets In 2010, we expanded this to a
further 630,000 stores covenng 110,000 new willages
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Speeding up innovation —
Wheel India

It ook Just 49 days  and left

the competition standing Wheel
detergent powder was re-launched
acress 25 states in India In
February 2010 - after a planned
Apnil launch was brought forward
Three formulations, amounting
to 650,000 tonnes of powder,
were produced by 21 factories

to make the deadline

Winning through
continuous Improvement

Continuous improvement means doing everything a little better,
every day It 1s the key to sustainable growth In 2010, we
concentrated on improving speed and agility in the supply chain,

while keeping costs competitive

Fast and flexible - and

increasingly competitive

Being competitive on cost I1s vital But our
customers’ needs are constantly changing,
and our markets are fast-moving — so

we also need to be fast and flexible along
our whole supply chain, from the field

to the shelf

In 2010, our philosophy of continuous
improvement was expressed through
simplifying the supply chan, superior
service and quality

Simphfying the supply chain

We have consolidated our single global
supply strategy, creating a globally-led,
flatter structure that makes decision-
making faster and makes us more
responsive to customers’ needs By
thinking differently about the supply chain,
we have become more flexible — and
created savings to reinvest in the business

Shampoo opera makes every

yuan count - Clear China
Reaching 448 million people every
time they tune in to a TV sernes
lasting 36 episodes Is an advertiser s
¢ream — and an example of our
constant search for better returns
on brand wnwvestment Sponsoring
a popular Chunese drama won
huge exposure for Clear shampoo
- at less than 15% of the cost

of conventional advertising
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The European Supply Chain
Responsiveness Programme (ESCRP)

is driving the delivery of Unilever's top
products to customers faster — on average
50% faster To achieve this, we have
developed various solutions across the
value chain, for example, alternative
sourcing, collaboration with suppliers,
advanced technology and improved
production efficency The success In
Europe has prompted a global roll-out
of the programme

Superior service

‘On-shelf availability’ {OSA) measures

our ability to get the nght product on

the nght shelf at the nght time — m other

words, ensunng shoppers can always find

our products in a store However efficent

our supply chain, Unilever products

cannot sell if they are not on the shelf !
So we work with retailers to ensure that

our products are readily available when
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customers come shopping We have
developed a unigue capability for this
collaboration with retatlers the 5 Step
Approach, which helps to identify
inefficencies and designs specific
solutions We work alongside customers
to improve our systems and thewrs

The global programme has mncreased
our OSA 1o 92%'

Quality

We are determined that consumer-
perceved quality is at the core of all that
we do We are intensifying our focus on
quality at every level of the organisation
and at every step in our processes,

from the raw matenal to presentation
on the shelf — and our results have been
encouraging In 2010, we had 11% fewer
consumer complaints and market quality
incidents were down 46%

Advantages of global scale

Qur global reach 1s the envy of many
competitors and we need to make the
most of our opportunities for finding
efftciencies through scale Key areas we
are focusing on include procurement
and business services

Procurement

Our move to a single global procurement
strategy has brought significant benefits
We have achieved significant savings

in indirect spend Success like this gets
noticed — Unilever’s Marc Engel was
named Chief Procurement Officer

of the year at the International Supply
Management Congress

A phased global supply chain change
programme gives an idea of the scope

and pace of improvement Rolled out first

across Europe and Asia, we launched the
programme 1n the Amenicas in Apnl 2010

to create a new business unit, the Unilever

Americas Supply Chain Company, which
will become operational in late 201
Bninging together common systems and
processes across all Unilever’s supply chain
operations, this will deliver even better

service to our customers and consumers
around the world

Bustness services

Business services account for nearly half
of Unilever’s indirect costs, and they can
benefit from economies of scale and
qualitative iImprovements just as much
as the supply chain in Aprl 2010 we
launched Enterprise Support (ES) as

our global shared services organisation,
bringing together our HR, IT, finance,
workplace and information management
support services ES has already secured
new global contracts with prowiders like
BT, Vodafone and Accenture as part of
a drive towards better services for less

The best return on brand

and customer investment

Unilever 15 the second biggest advertiser
in tha world In 2010 alone, we spent
around €6 billion on advertising and
promotions Improving the return on our
brand and customer support is one of the
most effective ways to achieve growth
We do not accept that this sort of return
on investment cannot be measured —
and we have challenged everyone in

the business to consider this return and
find ways to mprove it

The result has been an increase in ngour
across the board, in 2010 we ran over
500 more advertising pre-tests, and more
than doubled the number of projects
that were tracked globally We expanded
our analytical modelling and created a
strategy for improving agency costs and
trade premotional spend

Top products delivered
to customers

504

faster

=€6bn

spent on advertising and
promotions in 2010

' Unilever's OSA measurement
considers both Out of Stock
(CO0S) and Voud

Winning at the shelf

wWhen shoppers go into a store, we want them
always to find our products on the shelf That sounds
simple — but we can lose milllons of sales globally

because our products are not displayed to best
advantage On-shelf avadability’ is so cntical to our
success that we have dewsed an industry-leading
collaboration with customers Untlever experts go

nto a retatler’s operations o coach staff through our
5 Step Approach For example, tan Chnstian (nght)

has been working in numeraus stores and retal head
offices in Europe, helping customers boost their sales

- and ours
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nationalities among
our top tier managers

Closer to consumers,
closer to customers

Winning

with people

Doubling the size of the company presents major human resource
challenges We need to have in place the people and structures
necessary to succeed on double the scale This year we made great
progress in developing a team capable of delivering growth, and in
offering the career development possibilities and an environment
that make Unilever an attractive place to work

Leveraging our global scale

Our operating framework seeks to combine
global scale with local consumer intmacy
Getting that balance nght as the business
changes 1s essential This year, we assessed
the effectiveness of some of our most
cntical teamns, such as the global and local
marketing teams, with the aim of further
improving consumer understanding and
speed of execution We also reorganised
some of our key business functions to take
advantage of the benefits that come from
operating as a sngle global team Supply
chain and communications are good
examples of this change

Developing a team fit for growth
Some of our major markets are doubling in
size every five to six years Having enough
people with the rnght skifls in the right jobs

15 a challenge Getting the number and
quality of people in the pipeline requires an
understanding of what is already in the
business that can be built upon and what
will be needed as markets develop

in 2009 we launched our "talent and
organisation readiness programme’,
which assesses four areas — talent, skills,
orgarusation and culture, identifying the
1ssues and putting plans in place to
address them Hawing a standard global
approach enables us to rdentify
common themes and focus resources
on developing the nght plans

By the end of 2010 we had completed
assessments In units representing around
75% of Unilever’s turnover Many are
dlready delvering results

A performance culture demands
excellence from teams as well as
from ndmduals In August, 400
Unilever Germany employees worked
together in outlets of the REWE
supermarket network, getung closer
10 a key customer, seling margarine
to consurners —and raising €100,000
for the Warld Food Programme s
school meals project In Xenya
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In China, for example, we identified

a shortage of talent in the leadership
pipeline and difficultres in retaining young
talent So we developed a recruitment
scheme for students studying overseas,
offering opportunities back home once
they have firished their initial training
at Unitever after graduation In Latin
America, our Unilever in your Class
campus programme targeted college
students across eight countries The
programme has helped almost 1,700
students learn more about Unilever and
the consumer goods industry We wall
roll it out to more countries in 2011

Business Week Turkey recogrused us as
the best consumer goods employer in the
country, the first time we have achieved
this honour We were named most
preferred employer in the Benelux
countries In a number of surveys, Including
Universum and Qompas, and Unilever
indonesia recerved Asia’s Best Employer
Brand Award from the Employer Branding
Institute in conunction with the Chief
Marketing Officer (CMQ) Councll in Asia
Meanwhile in India, Unilever came in
ahead of all other consumer goods
companies and achieved a ranking of
third overall for business school students
in the Nielsen Employer of Choice national
employer survey

Dwersity

Unilever needs a diverse team — across
gender, nationality, race, creed and culture
—to be able to connect with the widest
range of consumers Currently, we have six
nationalities represented on the Unilever
Executive team and five on the Board of
Directors This diversity delivers a wealth of
expenence which is critical to our success

In terms of gender, the number of women
in semor positions increased from 23% In
2007 to 27% at the end of 2010
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Winning in the universiies — China

Talent 15 the most valuable resource in China's
developing market place Last year, Undever

China ran an initiative to assess how our talent and
organisational capabilities could best be harnessed
to our strategic ambitions for 2015 — with a particular
focus on attracting the best graduates

And we're winning graduates over After scaling

up our recruitment programme and strengthening
its international appeal Unlever China‘s employer
brand among graduating students at ten targeted
universities across the country moved from 38th in
2008 to the top ten in 2010 according to Universum

Unilever the place to succeed

Wwith the launch of the Compass strategy,
we developed a performance culture
toolkit and held workshops for all
managers across the company The
proegramme, run and owned by leaders
within the business, places strong emphasis
on leadership and personal responsibility

We know this i1s resonating with people
from the outstanding results of our annual
Global People Survey (GPS) Engagement
scores had been hovering around 65%
for a number of years, in 2010 1t was
73% We learnt that people are inspired
by the strategy and, while 1t 15 presenting
them with big challenges, they
understand what's expected of them

Ths level of engagement was also reflected
In our Compass Awards, launched in 2010
to celebrate employees who are making

a big contnbution to our success In all, we
receved over 1,400 entnes, representing
every part of our business, way beyond
what we expected

One of the winning entries was an
employee engagement programme run

In South Africa Aiming to rewitalise the
culture among all employees, from serior
management to the shop floor, the results
speak for themselves with the business
achieving one of the most pasitive trends
m the GPS survey

A genuine performance culture needs
to reward people and teams who deliver
This year we changed our incentives
and remuneration plans for all Unilever
managers They are now based entirely
on personal achievement, with personal
development goals also contributing

to people’s overall rating

But changing a company’s culture takes
time We are looking at a period of

2010 data 15 prebminary It will be iIndependenitly assured and reported in our onhine Sustainable
Development Report 2010 at www unilever com/sustainability

sustained effort over some time to get
all our people to work In new ways

Safety 1s essential

We take seriously our responsibility to
provide a safe workplace For us this
means the health, safety and well-being
of everyone working for or on behalf of
Unilever A key measure of progress I1s our
total recordable acadent frequency rate,
which counts all employee workplace
acadents except those requinng only
simple first axd treatment There was a
15 7%?* reduction in our total recordable
acadent frequency rate in 2010

Building a winnming culture
Ensuring a winning culture truly
comes alive involves everyone from
senior management to the shop
{floor One of our Compass Award
winners in 2010 was Unilever South
Africa They revitalised their business
through an employee engagement
drve, dramatically reducing staff
turnover and strengthening our
business where it counis —n

the market place
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consecutive years as foods
industry leader tn the Dow Jones
Sustainability Indexes, with an
overall score of 82% 1n 2010, well
ahead of the average industry
score of 49%

44%°reduct|on in

CO, from energy per tonne of
production 1995-2010

66 %ored uction Iin water

per tonne of production 1995-2010

73 %ored uction In total

waste per tonne of production
1995-2010

42010 data s preliminary It wilf be
independently assured and reported in our
online Sustainable Development Report 2010
at www unilever com/sustainabulity

To read more about our
Sustainable Living Plan, please visit
www unilever com/sustainability
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Sustainable
Living Plan

We have ambitious plans to grow the company But we recognise
that growth at any cost 15 not viable We have to develop new
ways of doing business which will decouple our growth from

our environmental impacts while at the same time increasing

the positive social benefits ansing from Unilever’s activities The
Unilever Sustainable Living Plan, launched in 2010, 1s our blueprint

for doing this

It's not a new concept for Unilever We
have long been working and reporting on
our iImpact on society and the environment
One example 15 our work to iImprove

the nutnitional quahty of our products
Since 2005 our Nutrition Enhancement
Programme has reviewed our entire
portfolio of foods — some 30,000
products As a result of this review we
have made reductions In saturated and
trans fat, sugar and salt in thousands of
our products, in hne with glohally
recognised dietary guidelines

Another example 1s the progress we have
made in reducing our CQ, emissions,
water and waste In factores Measured
per tonne of production, since 1995 we
have achieved reductions of 44%* in CO,
from energy, 66%?° In our use of water and

73%*® in the total waste sent for disposal
For 2010, these equate to annual reductions
of 6 7%°, 5%* and 0 9%?° respectively

The Sustainable Living Plan {the Plan)
brings together all the work we have been
doing and at the same time sets many
new targets to enable us to achieve our
growth ambitions sustainably

The Plan’s three outcomes

The Planr will result in three significant

outcomes by 2020

* We will help more than a billion people
take action to iImprave their health and
well-being

s We will halve the environmental impact
of the making and use of our products

* We will enhance the livelhoods of
thousands of people in our supply chain

Saving every drop

Many of our consumers do therr laundry
by hand, particularly in developing and
emerging markets Our Comfort One
Rinse fabnc conditioner needs only one
bucket of water for rinsing rather than
three - saving consumers time, effort
and around 30 hitres of water per wash




Why are we doing 1t?

The Plan 1s the rnght thing to do for
people and the environment But it's also
right for Unilever the busimess case for
Integrating sustanability into our brands
15 clear and persuasive

* A growing number of consumers want
reassurance that the products they buy
are sustamnably sourced and protect the
earth’s natural resources

Many retaiders have sustainability goals
of their own and need the support

of suppliers like Urilever if they are

to achieve them Thus collaboration

15 broadening and deepening the
relationships we have with our customers
Sustainability 1s a fertle area for product
and packaging innovation ks allowing
us to deliver new products with new
consumer benefits

Over half of Unilever’s sales are in
developing countries, the very places
which face the greatest sustainabiity
challenges — deforestation, water
scararty and poor sanitation These
countries represent major growth
markets for Unilever, so if we can
develop products today that help people
adapt to the changing environment

of tomorrow, it will help us grow faster
in future

Managing our business sustainably not
only generates ¢ost savings, it can also
save CONSUMers money

Improving health and well-being
Health and well-being are the starting point
of the Plan because these are the benefits
which our brands provide By delivering
good nutrniticn and improved hygiene our
products have a positive impact on two
of the world's biggest health 1ssues —
cardrovascular disease and diarrhoea

Nutrition

We cantinually work to improve the taste
and nutritional gquality of our products
By 2020 we will double the proportion
of our portfolio that meets the highest
nutritional standards, based on globally
recogrised dietary guidelines This will

help hundreds of millions of people
achieve a healthier dret

Hygiene

From our earliest days we have sought 1o
meet people’s need for good health and
hygiene By 2020 we will help more than
a billon people improve their hygiene
habits and bring safe drinking water

to 500 mulhon people

Reducng our environmental impact
Our aim is to halve the environmerital
footprint assocated with the making and
use of our products by 2020 This
commitment covers our entire ‘value
chair, from how we source our raw
matenals to how consumers use and
dispose of our products The vast majority
of the impacts of our products come
from these two ends of the value chan
In analysing our environmental
impact, we focus on the biggest
contributors greenhouse gases {GHG),
water, waste and sustainable agricultural
sourcing Our targets for 2020 are
e Greenhouse gases to halve the

GHG impact per consumer use of

our products
s Water to halve the water asscciated
wath the consumer use of our products,
tocusing on countries that are
water-scarce
Waste to halve the waste {per
consumer use) associated with the
disposat of our products
Sustainable agricultural sourong
to source 100% of our agncultural
raw matenals sustanably

Enhancing ivelihoods

We work with many thousands

of smallholder farmers, small-scale
distributors and micro-entrepreneurs,
particularly in the developing world,
helping them improve thewr skills and
increase productivity By 2020

we will ink more than 500,000
smallholder farmers and small-scale
distributors into our supply chan
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Sourcing tomatoes, sustainably

We are one of the world's largest !
buyers of tomatoes for processing,

taking an estimated 6% of the i
global yield In California we have

been working with our tomato

growers to test dnip irmgation

versus traditional furrow irngation

Studies show dnip irngation can

reduce water use by up 10 20%

an important consideration in

a state where water 15 costly and

often in short supply

Changing behaviour, saving lives
Lifebuoy soap ts one of our fastest growing
persanal care brands Introduced to make
hygiene affordable to the majonty of
people in Victonan Britan, ot s now making
a difference to people’s lives on a glcbal
scale A chimeal trial has shown that using
Lifebuoy at key hygiene occasions can
reduce diarrhoeal disease by 25% and
acute respiratory infections by 19% By
2015 Lifebuoy aims to change the hygiene
behaviour of 1 bilhon consumers across
Asia Africaand Latin America by promoting
the benefits of handwashing with soap at

key times
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Financial review 2010

The virtuous circle of growth is starting to work for us We have
successfully accelerated our growth and at the same time have
continued the steady and sustainable expansion of our underlying
operating margin and strong cash flow

Delivering against our priorities

Volume growth ahead of our markets

Underlying volume growth accelerated in 2010 to 5 8%, the best that Unilever has
achieved for more than 30 years We set out two years ago to reignite our volume
growth and to grow ahead of our markets That 1s what we are starting to do, our
volume shares are up in all regions and In most categories

Volume growth was broad based In our emerging markets business we grew volumas
by around 10% over the year as a whole, with the key businesses of China, Inda and
Turkey all delivering growth well into double digits Only in Central and Eastern Europe
did we see more subdued growth, although even here volumes were comfortably up in
difficult markets In the developed world, where growth has been very hard to achieve
over the recent past, our volumes were also up by around 2%, again ahead of the
market, in both Western Europe and North Amernica

We gained volume share 1n all regions, with particularly strong performance in key emerging markets such as China, Indonesia, South
Africa and Argentina Western Europe also saw strong volume share gains, led by the Netherlands, France and ltaly Volume shares
were also up In most of our core categories, with deodorants, skin dleansing, househald care, ice cream and dressings all achieving
notable gains dunng the year

Steady improvement in margin
Underlying Operating Margin for the year increased by 20 basis points It was another year
of the steady and sustainable improvement that we have been targeting

Cost saving programmes again delivered strongly, with €1 4 bilhion of savings in

the year following a similar amount in 2009 Much of the success in savings came i

the supply chain, and as a result gross margin, at constant currency, improved for the year
despite negative underlying price growth and modestly higher commodity costs Positive
mix and improved volume leverage also contributed positively to gross margin

At the same time as increasing underlying operating margin we also increased substantially

the advertising and promotions investment put behind our brands — at constant currency

the increase was more than €300 million or 30 basis points in the year This came after an

even bigger increase 1IN 2009, meaning an additional €700 million behind the building of

our brand equities over the last two years Aside from the gross margin increase, the key dniver of margin tmprovement was a
reduction in indirect costs, with the argamisation now leaner and a new discipline exerted in all areas of the cost base

Healthy cash delivery

Working capital reduced as a percentage of turnover and has now been negatwe for
over 12 months The cash converston cycle improved by 17 days, from 20 days in 2009
to Just three in 2010 We are close to best in class in our management of payables and
recenvables, but in inventones we still see scope for further improvement

This strong performance in working capital management was reflected i free cash flow,
which was again healthy at €3 4 billon Over the last two years cur combined free cash
flow of €7 4 billon represents around 90% of net profit Thisis robust performance,
particularly at a tme when we are investing heawily in the future growth of the business
In areas such as caprtal expenditure, as we buld new capaaty to support our rapid
volume growth in emerging markets The €0 7 billion reduction versus 2009 reflected

a smaller iInflow from working capital in 2010, following the exceptional benefit of
€17 billion taken in 2009
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Cleaning up in Asta

Consumers In Vietnam
Indenesia, Malaysia and the
Philippines have taken a shine
to Crf in a big way The roll-
out of our household cleaner
to these new markets was
behind its impressive volume
growth in 2010

Key performance indicators (KPIs}

We report our performance against four key financial indicators
* underlying sales growth,

underlying volume growth,

underlying operating margin, and

free cash flow {this has replaced operating cash flow)

The performance of the KPIs 1s described on page 22, on this
page and within the segmental commentaries on pages 24 to 27
The KPIs are described on pages 31 to 32 The non-financial KPls
are descnbed on pages 2, 19 and 20

financial overview 2010

Turnover at €44 3 billion increased 11 1%, with 7 3% due to
currency Underlying sales growth increased to 4 1%, dnven in
particular by an improvement in performance in Western Europe
Underlying volume growth of 5 8% was partially offset by the full
year price effect of negative 1 6%, though in the fourth quarter
priang turned positive on an in-quarter basis

Operating profit was €6 3 billion, compared with €5 0 billion

In 2009, with higher one-off profits ansing from the disposal

of group comparues and lower restructuring costs Underlying
operating profit increased by 12% to €6 6 bilhon, wath underlying
operating margin increasing by 20 basis points to 15 0%

The cost of financing net borrowings was €414 million, €15
milhon lower than last year, as the adverse impact of currency
was more than offset by lower average net debt The interest rate
on borrowings was 4 4% and on cash deposits was 1 7%

The charge for pensions financing was a credit of €20 million
compared with a net charge of €164 mithion in 2009

The effective tax rate was 25 5% compared with 26 2% in 2009
reflecting the geographic mix of profits and the impact of the
ltalian frozen foods disposal The underlying tax rate excluding
the effect of restructuning, disposals and impairments was 27 1%

Net profit from joint ventures and associates, together with other
income from non-current investments contnbuted €187 million
compared to €489 million in the prior year which benefited from
the €327 milllon gain on disposal of the majonity of the equrty In
JohnsonDiversey

Fully diluted earnings per share increased 25%, to €1 46 This
was dnven by improved underlying operatng profit, lower
restructuring charges, lower pension costs, the favourable impact
of foreign exchange and higher profit on business disposal
partially offset by a provision in respect of the European
Commussion Investigation into consumer detergents Business
disposals include the disposal of the Italian frozen foods business

Key performance indicators*

2010 2009 2008
Underlying sales growth (%) 41 35 74
Underlying valume growth (%) 58 23 01
Underlying operating margin {36} 150 48 146
Free cash flow (€ milion} 3,365 4,072 2,390
Consolidated income statement
(highlights} for the year ended 31 December

Increase/

€ million 2010 2009 (Decrease)
Turniover 44,262 39823 11 1%
Operating profit 6,339 5,020 26%
Profit before taxation 6,132 4,916 25%
Net profit 4,598 3,659 26%
Diluted earnings per share €146 €117 25%
Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December
€ milion 2010 2009
Non-current assets 28,683 26,205
Current assets 12,484 10,811
Current labilities (13,606) (11,599}
Total assets less current habilities 27,561 25417
Non-current habilities 12,483 12,881
Shareholders’ equity 14,485 12,065
Non-controlling interests 593 471
Total capital employed 27,561 25417
Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December
€ millon 2010 2009
Net cash flow from operating activities 5,490 5,774
Net cash flow fromAused In) mvesting actvities {1,164) {1,263)
Net cash flow fromAused n) financing actmities (4,609) (4 301)
Net increasef{decrease) n cash and cash equivalents {283) 210
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2,397 2,360
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes {148) (173)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1,966 2,397

* Certain measures used In our reporting are not defined under IFRS
For further information about these measures, please refer ta the
commentary on non-GAAP measures on pages 31 to 32
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Finanaial review 2010 continued

Asia, Africa and Central & Eastern Europe

The Americas

€million  €millon % €million € million %

Increase/ Increase/

2010 2009 (Decrease) 2010 2005 (Decrease)

Turnover 17,685 14,897 187 Turnover 14,562 12,850 133

Operating profit 2,253 1,927 165  Operating profit 2,169 1,843 177

Underlying operating margin (%) 134 i39 {05) Underlying operating margin (%) 160 161 ©1)
Underlying sales growth at constant rates (%) 77 77 Underlying sales growth at constant rates (%) 4 0 42
Underlying volume growth (%) 102 41 Underlying volume growth (%} 48 25
Effect of pnce changes (%) (2 2) 34 Effect of price changes (%) (o7 16

Turnover at current rates of exchange grew by 18 7% The
relative strength of most major currencies in the region against
the euro meant that the impact of exchange rates was significant,
contrnbuting 10 1% of the overall turnover growth Operating
profit at current rates of exchange grew by 16 9%

Market conditions were robust in most parts of the region
throughout the year, although the second half saw a modest
slowdown i markets hke China as interest rates were increased
N an attempt to contain inflationary pressures Market conditions
in Central and Eastern Europe, though improved from 2009,
were more subdued than in the rest of the region Competitive
intensity reached new heights in several key countnes in 2010,
with increased levels of mostly price-based competitive activity
particularly in India, China, Indonesia and Turkey

Against this competitive background, underlying sales growth
of 77% and volume growth of 10 2% represent strong and fully
competitive perfarmance Volume momentum was mantained
throughout the year, with all major units contnbuting volume
growth of at least 5% Several major markets achieved strong
double digit volume growth for the year, induding China, India,
Vietnam and Turkey Amongst the smaller businesses volume
strength was also broad-based Double digrt volume growth
was achieved In South Astan markets such as Bangladesh and
Pakistan, n Malaysia and the Philippines in South East Asia,
and in Afncan markets such as Kenya

Volume market share performance was positive for the region

as a whole, and for most major units Particularly strong progress
was made n China, Indonesia, Turkey and South Africa In the
highly competitive Indian market, volume growth was strong,
wath improved performance throughout the year and the fourth
quarter seeing the return of positive share momentum

Underlying price growth was negative 2 2%, reflecting actions
taken to ensure market positions were protected against high
levels of price competition Priang trends improved through

the year, and by the end of 2010 n-quarter pniang had turmed
positive Underlying operating margin for the year was down by
50 basis points, with gross margin stable, at constant currency,
but investment in advertising and promotions sigruficantly
increased

Other key developments in the year included the continued
successful roll-out of the regional IT platform to a vanety of
countries, indluding China, Australia and Vietnam, and the
opening of “Customer Insight and Innovation Centres’ n
Singapore and Shangha
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Turnover at current rates of exchange grew by 13 3% The
relative strength of most major currencies in the region against
the euro meant that the impact of exchange rates was sigrificant,
contributing 9 0% of the overali tuover growth Operating
profit at current rates of exchange grew by 17 7%

Market conditions in North Amenca remained challenging
throughout the year, with consumer confidence at low levels
and competition proving increasingly intense Latin Amernican
markets were generally much stronger, although levels of
competition were agan increased, particularly in Brazil

Undertying sales growth was 4 0% This was driven by strong
performance in Latin America, but was also supportad by
encouraging levels of growth in North Amenica Underlying price
growth was negative for the year as a whole, but had returned to
positive territory by the year end Given the competitive cimate,
volume growth of 4 8% represented strong performance, with
good momentum maintained throughout the year and all major
units contributing positive growth Leading contrbutions to
volume growth were made by our businesses in Argentina, Brazil
and Mexico

Volume market share performance was positive for the region as
a whole, and for most major units ParticUlarly strong progress
was made over the year in the food categories in Brazil and
Mextco, and in the Personal Care categones in Argentina In the
USA overall volurne share was flat for the year as a whole, with
gains in hair and skin deansing offset by share loss in spreads and
the weight management business

Underlying price growth was negative 0 7%, reflecting actions
taken to ensure market positions were protected aganst high
levels of pnice competibien, particularly in Brazil and the USA
Pricing trends improved through the year, led by the Latin
American businesses, and underlying price growth had turned
positive by the fourth quarter Underlying operating margin for
the year was down by 10 basis points, with investment in
advertising and promotiens increased from 2009 Gross margin
was slightly hugher, at constant currency, with strong
performance in cost saving programmes more than
compensating for the impact of lower prices and higher
commodity costs

A key development in the year was the announcement of an
agreement to acquire the Alberto Culver business This
transaction, which is still subject to regulatory approval, will
sigruficantly strengthen our positions in the hair and skin
categones in the USA and other markets in the region
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Western Europe

€million € mdlion %

Increase/

2010 2009 (Decrease)

Turnover 12,015 12,076 (05)

Operating profit 1917 1,250 534

Underlying operating margin {%) 161 144 17
Underlying sales growth at constant rates (%) (0 4) 19)
Underlying volume growth (%) 14 01
Effect of price changes (%) (18) 18

Turnover at current rates of exchange fell by 0 5% Operating
profit at current rates of exchange grew by 53 4% Although
undertying margin improvement made an impertant contribution,
the most significant factor behind this substantial increase was
the profit achieved on the disposal of the Italian frozen foods
business in the fourth quarter

Market conditrons were difficult in most parts of the region
throughout 2010, with Greece, Ireland and Spain proving
especally challenging Northern European markets were

more positive, particularly the UK and France, with consumer
confidence remaining relatively stable despite the imminent onset
of austenty packages Competition continued to be intense,

and in some markats and categories levels of price promotional
activity accelerated towards the end of the year This trend was
particularly marked in the Home Care category

Against this competitive background, underlying sales growth

of negative 0 4% represented robust performance Particularly
encouraging was volume growth, which at 1 49% was a step up
from the slight decline seen 1In 2009 Key countries contnbuting to
this positive growth momentum were the UK, France, ttaly and the
Netherlands, all of which grew volumes by 2% or more, in all cases
ahead of their respective markets Volumes in Germany were
broadly flat, and i Greece, Spain and Ireland volumes were down,
reflecting the very difficult conditions in each of those markets

Volume market share performance was positive for the region

as a whole, and for most major units with the exception of Spain
Particularly strong progress was made in the Netherlands, where
over the year majar share gains were seen n 1ce cream and
deodorants In the UK strong gams were made in dressings,

tea and laundry, and in Germany performance was strong in

1ce cream, spreads and deodorants

Underlying price growth was negative 1 8%, reflecting actions
taken to ensure market positions were protected against high
levels of pnce competition Underlying operating margin for the
year was up sharply, by 170 basis points This reflected the
success of cost saving initiatives, which reduced indirect costs
significantly Advertistng and promotions spend was also lower,
although investment levels remained competitive as reflected in
the improved volume and share performance

Qther key developments in the year focused on the sharpening
of the portfolio through acquisitions and disposals The sale

of the ttalian frozen foods business was completed in the fourth
quarter, as was the acquisition of the Personal Care business of
Sara Lee In addition, smaller bolt-on acquisitions were
announced in the ice cream business in Denmark and Greece,
and have subsequently been completed
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Finanaal review 2010 continued

Savoury, Dressings and Spreads

lce Cream and Beverages

€milhan € milion % €milion  €million %

Increase/ Increase/

2010 2009 (Decrease) 2010 1009 (Decrease)

Turnover 14,164 13,256 68 Turnover 8,605 7,753 10
Operating prefit 2,846 1,840 547  Operating profit 724 731 (10)

Underlying sales growth at constant rates (%) 14
Underlying volume growth (%) 25

Effect of price changes (%) (10}

Underlying sales growth at constant rates (%) 61
Underlying volume growth{%?} 59
Effect of price changes (%) 01

Turmover at current rates of exchange grew by 6 8% Operating
profit at current rates of exchange grew by 54 7% Although
underlying margin improvement made an important contnbution,
a significant factor behind this substantial Increase was the profit
achieved on the disposal of the Italian frozen foods business in
the fourth quarter

Underlying sales growth was 1 49 and volume growth was

2 5% Growth was strongest in the savoury category, driven by

a series of bigger and mare impactful nnovations  Knorr jelly
boutlon has proved a success across many markets in Europe and
Latn Amenca, Knorr Season and Shake baking bags have been
successfully launched in more than 20 markets, and PF Chang's
restaurant qualty frozen meals have been a great success in the
USA Volume shares were up in most areas of the savoury
business, with good progress in both boullons and soups

Dressings also saw positive volume growth, with volume share
gams in key markets in Western Europe and the Americas
including the UK, USA, Brazil and Mexico Performance was
particularly strong in Labin America, where double digit volume
growth was acheved through a senes of actions to broaden the
range of consumption occasions for mayonnaise Spreads saw
modestly negative underlying sales growth, but volume was
positive and performance improved through the year Pro activ
spreads continued to drive growth with their emphasis on core
heart health benefits Volume shares in spreads grew in the year,
especally in Western Europe

Underlying price growth was negative 1 0%, mostly reflecting
actions taken In Western Europe to ensure market positions were
protected against high levels of price competiton Operating
margin for the year was substantially up, by 620 basis points
Gross margins, at constant currency, were up In all three
categones, and advertising and promotions spend was broadly
unchanged from 2009 levels The major change in margins came
In restructunng, disposals and impairments, with significant
restructunng spend in 2009 replaced by the profit on disposal of
the lahan frozen foods business in 2010
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Turnover at current rates of exchange grew by 11 0% The
relative weakness of the euro in the year meant that the impact
of exchange rates was significant, contributing 6 8% of the
overall turnover growth Operating profit at current rates of
exchange fell by 10%

Underlying sales growth was 6 1%, almost entirely due to volume
which grew by 5 9% The fastest growth was in the soy-based
dnnks business in Latin America, where impactful new packaging
and advertising drove another year of strong performance Tea
also performed well, with volume share gains in a number of key
markets induding the UK and positive price growth alongside
rrud-single digit volume growth Aswell as actions to strengthen
the brand equity of Lipton, the tea category also benefited from
up-trading to new formats such as green tea in pyramid bags, the
development of milk teas in China and ongoing conversion from
loose tea to tea bags across many emerging markets

lce cream also saw robust volume growth and share gains in
most markets Volume share performance was particularly strong
in Western Europe, Mexico, Indonesia and Australia Innovation
performance was consistently high, with major success driven

by Magnum Gold?! and Cornetto Enigma in multiple markets
Product quality improvements helped Klondike achieve strong
results in the USA, and the successful Fruttare brand was
expanded from Its Latin American base into South East Asia

The Inmarko business In Russia also made good progress

Underiying price growth was 0 1%, with higher price growth

In tea and modestly negative growth in ice cream QOperating
margmn for the year was down by 100 basis points This largely
reflected shightly lower gross margins, at constant currency, with
commaodity costs higher in both tea and 1ce cream An additional
factor drving the minor reduction in margins was a step-up In
restructuring costs, particularly in the tea category
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Personal Care Home Care
€million  €million % €milhon  €miflion %
Increase/ Increase/
2010 2009 (Decrease) 2010 2009 {Decrease)
Turnover 13,767 11,846 162  Turngver 7,726 6,968 109
Cperating profit 2,296 1,834 252  Operating profit 473 615 (23 1)
Underlying sales growth at constant rates (%) 6 4 Underlying sales growth at constant rates (%) 30
Underlying volume growth (%) 79 Underlying volume growth (%) 82
Effect of price changes (%) (14) Effect of price changes (%) (4 8)

Turnover at current rates of exchange grew by 16 2% The
relative weakness of the euro in the year meant that the impact
of exchange rates was significant, contributing 8 5% of the
overall turnover growth Operating profit at current rates of
exchange grew by 25 2%

Underlying sales growth was 6 4% and volume growth was 7 9%
Growth was strongest in the deodorants categaory, driven by the
roll-out of Dove Men+Care, the launch of Rexona Chnical, vanious
new market launches and continued success with the Axe brand
Global market share continued to grow despite hugh levels of
competiton Good progress was also made In skin, particularly in
skin cleansing where Dove Nutrium maisture performed strongly
and several new market launches of Lifebuoy were completed

The harr category saw improved performance through the year,
with healthy volume growth and improved market share in
several key countries induding the USA, China and India
Innovation and new market launches were again key drivers, with
Dove Damage Therapy successfully rolled out, the Clear brand
extended into Latin America and a senes of naw launches under
the TiGi brand The oral category had a year of solid growth,
despite intensified competition n a number of markets The
White Now range has proved successful across more than 30
markets, and launches of anti-age vanants in Western Europe
have aisoc made a contnbution

Underlying price growth was negative 1 4%, with similar levels
seen In each of the Personal Care categories Operating margin
for the year was up by 120 basis points This reflected improved
gross margins, at constant currency, particularly in the skin
category and savings in Indirects, partly offset by increased
advertising and promotions spend

Acquisition activity In 2010 was concentrated in Personal Care,
with the announcement in September of an agreement to
acquire the Alberto Culver hair and skin business, and the
completion in December of the acquisition of the Persanal Care
business of Sara Lee

Turnover at current rates of exchange grew by 109% The
relative weakness of the euro in the year meant that the impact
of exchange rates was significant, contnbuting 8 3% of the
overall turnover growth Operating profit at current rates of
exchange fell by 23 1% A significant element of this fall was

a provision taken in relation to a European Commusston
investigation inte potential competition law infringements

Underlying sales growth was 3 0%, with volume growth
significantly higher at 8 2% This strong growth came in the
context of increasingly competitive markets, particularly in fabnic
cleaning, with high levels of price-based activity n both emerging
markets such as India or Brazil and developed markets such as the
UK

Volume growth was particularly strong in India, where the Rin
and Wheel detergents brands were successfully re-launched, and
in China, where the launch of Omo liquids helped to further close
the share gap to the rarket leader Liquids were also introduced
into a number of other markets during the year, including Turkey
and Vietnam, and the roll-out of the Surf brand continued into
several new markets Although our laundry business Is strongest
in emerging markets, performance was also encouraging In a
number of Western European markets, with good volume
growth and share gains in the UK, France and the Netherlands

Household cleaning continued to perform well, with high single
digit volume growth and share gains in a number of key markets
New market launches played a major role, with Cif rolled out to
vanous countries particularly in South East Asia and Domestos
launched into Italy and the Philippines Good progress was also
made in dishwash wath the launch of Sun Turbo All-in-1
concentrated gel in Europe

Underlying price growth was negative 4 8%, with high levels

of price competition in laundry for much of the year Operating
margin for the year fell by 270 basis points This reflected the
provision noted above, but also the impact of the highly
competitive environment in Home Care, wath lower gross
margins, at constant currency, due to pricing and higher levels of
adverbising and promotions spend
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Financial review 2010 continued
Balance sheet

€milbon  €millon

2010 2009
Goodwill and intangible assets 18,278 17,047
Other non-current assets 10,405 9,158
Current assets 12,484 10,811
Current habilities (13,606) (11,599}
Total assets less current hiabilities 27,561 25,417
Non-current iabilities 12,483 12,881
Shareholders’ equity 14,485 12,065
Non-controlling interest 593 471
Total capital employed 27,561 25,417

Goodwill and intangibles at 31 Decernber 2010 were €1 2 bilhon
hugher than in 2009, as a result of currency movements and the
Sara Lee acquisition, net of disposals, and the movements to
assets held for disposal The increase in other non-current assets
1s manly due to currency and an increase in property, plant and
equipment to €7 9 billon compared to €6 6 billon in 2009

Inventories were higher by €0 7 billion and trade and other
receivables were higher by €0 7 billion Cash and cash equivalents
were €0 3 billion lower at €2 3 billion

Current hiabilities were €2 0 billion higher at €13 6 billion mainly
due to an increase in trade payables and currency movements
Provisions remained at €0 4 billion

The overall net liability for all pension arrangements was

€2 1 billion at the end of 2010, down from €2 6 billion at the end
of 2009 Funded schemes showed an aggregate deficit of

€0 2 bilhon and unfunded arrangements a hability of €1 9 billion
The reduction in the overall balance sheet hability was due to
cash contnbutions made and good asset returns over the year
offset by the impact of lower corporate bond rates on the
calculation of pension liabilities

Shareholders’ equity rose by €2 4 billon in the year Net profit
added €4 2 billon, with currency and other movements adding
a further €0 5 billon Dmidends paid in the year totalled

€2 3 billon

Unilever’s contractual obligations at the end of 2010 included
capital expenditure commitments, borrowings, lease
commitments and other commitments A summary of certain
contractual obligations at 31 December 2010 1s provided in the
table below Further details are set out in the following notes to
the consolidated finanaial statements note 10 on page 89,
note 14 on pages 94 and 95, and note 25 on page 115
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Contractual obligations at 31 December 2010

€milkon  €milion €millon  €midlion € million

Due Due in

within Duen Due in over

Total I year 1-3years 3-5years 5 years

Long-term debt 8,003 958 2,611 2,017 2,417

Interest on financial

abilities 2,907 344 572 385 1,606
Operating lease

obligations 1,600 364 500 344 392

Purchase cblgations® 610 493 68 26 23

Finance leases 357 n 49 45 232
Other Yong-term

commitments 2,344 688 1,085 453 na

Total 15,821 2,878 4,885 3,270 4,788

(@ For raw and packaging matena's and finished goods

Off-balance sheet arrangements

SIC interpretation 12 ‘Consolidation — Spedal Purpose Entities’
(SIC 12) requires that entiies with which we have relationships
are considered for consolidation in the financial statements based
on relative shanng of economic nsks and rewards rather than
based solely on share ownership and voting nights We
penicdically review our contractual arrangements with potential
special purpose entities (SPEs) as defined by SIC 12 The most
recent review has conduded that there are no significant SPE
relationships which are not already appropriately reflected in
the consolidated financial statements Information concerning
guarantees given by the Group s stated in note 15 on page 99

Cash flow
€milien €milllon  €million
2010 2009 2008

Net cash flow from

operating actvities 5,490 5,774 3,87
Net cash flow frorm/(used in)

tnvesting activities {1,164} (1,263} 1,415
Net cash flow from#used in}

financing activities (4,609) (4,301} (3,130}

Net increase/{decrease) in cash

and cash equivalents (283) 210 2,156

Cash and cash equivalents reduced by €0 4 billion when
translated at average 2010 exchange rates After recognising the
changes in exchange rates, amounts in the balance sheet at

31 December 2010 were €0 3 billion lower at €2 3 billion

Net cash flow from operating actiwities of €5 5 bilion was

€0 3 billion lower tharn in 2009 Cash flow from operating
activities increased €0 1 bilhon, reflecting higher operating profit
and lower pension payments Further progress was made in
reducing working capital, building on the strong performance in
2009 Tax payments increased to €1 3 bilhlon Net capital
expenditure was €0 4 billion higher than in 2009 There was a
net cash outflow from acquisition and disposal activities, primarily
the acquisition of the Sara Lee brands and the disposal of the
ltalian frozen foods business The movement in financing
actmities 1s explained by an increase in dividends paid, an increase
In treasury stock purchases, partially offset by lower net outflow
on third party barrowings

At 31 December 2010, the net debt position was €6 7 billion, an
increase of €0 3 billlon compared to 2009
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Dividends and market capitahisation

Dividends per share

Final dvidends i respect of 2008 of €0 5100 per NV ordinary
share and £0 4019 per PLC ordinary share and interim dividends
In respect of 2009 of €0 2700 per NV ordinary share and

£0 2422 per PLC ordinary share were declared and paid in 2009

Four quarterly interm dividends were dedared and paid during
2010 These totalled €0 8190 per NV ordinary share and £0 7053
per PLC ordinary share

Quarterly dividends of €0 2080 per NV ordmary share and
£0 1775 per PLC ordinary share were declared on 3 February
2011, to be payable in March 2011

Unilever's combined market capitalisation rose from €63 4 billion
at the end of 2009 to €64 8 billon at 31 December 2010

Finance and hquidity

The Group’s finanaal strategy provides the financial flexibility to
meet strategic and day-to-day needs The key elements of the
financial strategy are

¢ appropriate access to equity and debt capital,

« sufficent flexibility for acquisitions that we fund out
of current cash flows,

s A+/A1 long-term credit rating,

& Al1/P1 short-term credit rating,

» sufficient resihence against economic and finanaal
uncertainty, and

+ optmal weighted average cost of capital, given the
constraints above

Unilever aims to concentrate cash in the parent and finance
companies in order to ensure maximum flexibiity in meeting
changing business needs Operating subsidianes are financed
through the mixture of retained earnings, third-party borrowings
and loans from parent and group finanang companies that is
most appropnate to the particular country and business concerned
Unilever maintains access to global debt markets through an
infrastructure of short-term debt programmes {prinapally US
domestic and euro commercal paper programmes) and long-term
debt programmes {principally a US Shelf registration and euromarket
Debt Issuance Programme) Debt in the international markets 1s,

in general, Issued in the name of NV, PLC, Unilever Finance
International BV or Unilever Capital Corporation NV and PLC

will normally guarantee such debt where they are not the issuer

In this uncertain emvaronment, we have continued to monitor dosely
all our exposures and counterparty hmits We were comfortable to
run a cash balance whuch was at a hugher level than was histoncally
the case

Unilever has commutted credit faalities in place to support

its commercial paper programmes and for general corporate
purposes The undrawn committed credit facilities in place on

31 December 2010 were US $6,050 millton, of which bilateral
committed crednt facihties totalled US $5,495 mullion and bilateral
money market comrmitments totalled US $555 milion Further
details regarding these faalities are given in note 15 on page 98

On 1 November 2010 we redeemed the US $1,750 million bonds
We did not ssue new notes during 2010

The main source of lquidity continues to be cash generated from
cperations Unilever I1s satisfied that its financing arrangements
are adequate to meet its working capital needs for the
foreseeable future

The currency distribution of total finanaial habilues {excuding the
currency leg of currency denivatives relating to intra-group loans)
at the end of 2010 was as follows 31% in US dollars (2009
36%) 28% In euros (2009 28%} and 22% In sterling (2009
189, with the remander spread across a number of currences

Unilever manages Interest rate and currency exposures of rts net debt
position Taking mto account the various cross-currency swaps and
other denvatives, 82% of Unilever's net debt was in US doltars {2009
89%) and 57% In sterling (2009 44%), partly offset by financial
asset balances in eurgs amounting to 70% of net debt (2009 59%)
and with the remainder spread over a large number of other
currencies

Treasury

Urulever Treasury’s role 1s to ensure that appropnate finanang

15 avallable for all value-creating Investments Additionally,
Treasury delivers financial services to allow operating companies
to manage their financial transactions and exposures in an
efficient, tmely and low-cost manner

Unilever Treasury operates as a service centre and s governed
by plans approved by the Boards In addition to guidelines
and exposure limits, a system of authorities and extensive
independent reporting covers all major areas of activity
Performance s monitored closely Reviews are undertaken
peniodically by the corporate internal audit function

The key financial instruments used by Unilever are short-term
and long-term borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, and
certain straightforward derivative instruments, principally
compnsing nterest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts
The accounting for denvative instruments Is discussed in note 15
on page 100 The use of leveraged instruments is not perrmitted

Unilever Treasury manages a variety of market nsks, nctuding the
effects of changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
hquidity Further details of the management of these nsks are
given in note 15 on pages 98 to 100, which are incorporated and
repeated here by reference

Acquisitions and disposals
Dunng 2010 Unilever has continued to shape the portfolio
through M&A actwities

The most significant were the acquisition of Sara Lee’s personal
care business, which completed on 6 December 2010, and the
definitive agreement to acquire the Alberto Culver Company,
which was announced on 27 September 2010 This remaimns
subject to regulatory approval

Detals of other acquistions and disposals during 2008, 2009 and
2010 can be found in note 26 on page 118
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Financial review 2010 continued

Sigmficant events after the balance sheet date

0On 10 February 2011 Unilever 1ssued a bond composed of two
senior notes (1) US $500 million 2 75% fixed rate note which will
mature In five years and (0 US $1,000 million 4 25% fixed rate
note which will mature in ten years

Basis of reporting
The accounting poliaes that are most significant in connection
with our financal reporting are set out on this page

Foraign currency amounts for results and cash flows are translated
from underlying local currencies into eurcs using average exchange
rates Balance sheet amounts are translated at year-end rates,
except for the ordinary capital of the two parent companies These
are translated at the rate referred to in the Equahsation Agreement
of 3%p = €0 16 {(see Corporate gavernance on page 51)

Certamn discussions withun this Financial Review 2010 include
measures that are not defined by the generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) of IFRS These indude underlying
sales growth {USG), underlying volume grawth (UVG),
restructunng, business disposals, impairments and other one-off
itemns (RDls), underlying operating margin, free cash flow (FCF)
and net debt We believe that these measures provide valuable
additional information on the underlying performance of the
business

These measures should not be considered in 1solation from, or

as a substitute for, financial Information presented in comphance
with [FRS These measures as reported by us may not be comparable
with smilarly titled measures reported by other companies

Further information about these measures 1s given on pages
31 to 32, Induding a reconailiation of the measures to GAAP
measures

Further information on underlying operating margin and the

impact of RDIs 1s given on the face of our income statement
and in note 3 on page 83
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Cntical accounting policies

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS
as adopted by the EU, as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board, and with UK and Dutch law In preparing these
accounts, we are required to make estimates and assumptians,
using judgement based on avalable information, Including
historical expenence We believe these estimates and assumptions
are reasonable and we re-evaluate them on an ongoing basis
However, some of these policies require difficult, subjective or
cormplex estimates from management and therefore the actual
amounts and future results could differ

Critical accounting polices and estmates are those which are

most important to the portrayal of Urilever's financial position

and results of operations and where 1t 15 reasonably likely that !
future financial performance could be Impacted by changes in

the estimates and assumptions made These cnitical accounting

policies and estimates are set out below

The Group's cnitical accounting policies and estimates are

« goodwill and intangible assets,
financial instruments,

pensions and similar cbligations,
provisions,

taxation, and

business combinations

The above critical accounting estimates and pohcies are descnbed
in note 1 to the consolidated financal statements on pages 79 to
80, under the heading ‘Cntical accounting estimates and
wdgements’ goodwill and intangible assets, pensions and similar
obligations, provisions, taxation, and business combinations The
entical accounting policy relating to finanaal instruments 1s
described below

Financial instruments

The Group uses certain financial nstruments to manage foreign
currency exchange rate, commadity price and interest rate risks
Financial instruments are dassified according to the purpose

for which the instruments were acquired This gives rise to the
following classes held-to-maturity investments, loans and
recevables, financial assets at far value through profit or loss,
and available-for-sale financial assets Please refer to note 1

on pages 77 and 78 for a description of each of these categories

Derivative financal instruments are reported at farr value, with
changes in farr values booked through profit or loss unless the
dervatives are designated otherwise and effective as hedges

of future cash flows, in which case the changes are recognised
directly in equity When the hedged cash flow results in the
recognition of an asset or a hability, the associated gains or losses
on the dervative that had previously been recognised in equity
are included in the measurement of the asset or hability For
hedged items that do not result in the recognition of an asset or
liability, amounts deferred in equity are recogmised in the income
staternent in the same penod in which the hedged item affects
net profit or loss

Changes in fair value of net investment hedges in relation to
foreign subsidianies are recognised directly in equity
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Non-GAAP measures

Certain discussions and analyses set out in this Annual Report
and Accounts include measures which are not defined by generally
accepted accounting prinaiples {GAAP) such as IFRS We believe
this information, along with comparable GAAP measurements,

15 useful to investors because It prowides a basis for measuning

our operating performance, ability 1o retire debt and invest In

new business opporturities Our management uses these finanaal
measures, along wath the most directly comparable GAAP financial
measures, in evaluating our operating performance and value
creation Non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered
n setatien from, or as a substitute for, finangal infermation
presented in comphance with GAAP Non-GAAP finanaal
measures as reported by us may not be comparable with

similarly titled amounts reported by other companies

In the following sections we set out our definittons of the
following non-GAAP measures and provide reconciliations
to relevant GAAP measures

= underlying sales growth,

» underlying volume growth,

+ underlying operating margin (including explanation
of restructunng, business disposals and other one-off
tems (RDIs)),

+ free cash flow, and

+ net debt

The Americas
2010 2009
vs$2009  vs 2008
Underiying sales growth (%) 40 42
Effect of acquisitions (%) 03 Q7
Effect of disposals (%) (0 4) 60
Effect of exchange rates (%) 90 (12)
Turnover growth (%) 1313 (26)
Western Europe
2010 2009
vs2009  vs2008
Underlying sales growth (%) (0 4) (19}
Effect of acquisitions (%) 05 05
Effect of disposals (%) (2 0} 22
Effect of exchange rates (%) 14 25
Turnover growth (%) (0 5) (6 0)
Underlying volume growth (UVG)
Underlying volume growth 1s underlying sales growth after
ehminating the impact of price changes The relationship
between the two measures Is set out below
2010 2009
vs2005  vs2008
Underlying volume growth (%6) 58 23
Effect of price changes (%) {16} 12
Underlying sales growth (%) 41 35

Underlying sales growth (USG)

USG reflects the change in revenue from continuing operations
at constant rates of exchange, excluding the effects of
acquisitions and disposals It 15 a measure that provides valuable
additional information on the underlying performance of the

business In particular, it presents the organic growth of our

business year an year and 15 usad internally as a core measure

of sales performance

The reconahiation of USG to changes in the GAAP measure

turnover 15 as follows

The UVG and price effect for each region and each category are
included within the tables on pages 24 to 27

Underlying operating margin

In our commentary on results of operations in each of our regions
and at Group level, we discuss trends in underlying operating
margins, by which we mean operating margin before the impact
of restructuning costs, business disposals, impairments and other
one-off items, which we refer to collectively as RDIs We believe
that giving this information allows readers of our financal
statements to have a better understanding of underlying trends
There is no recogrised GAAP measure that corresponds to this
measure

The reconchation of underlying operating profit and undertying
operating margin to the reported measures 1s as follows

Total Group
2010 2009
vs2009  vs 2008
Underlying sales growth (%) 41 35
Effect of acquisitions (%) 03 06
Effect of disposals (%) {0 8) 30
Effect of exchange rates (%) 73 27
Turnover growth (%) 111 a7n
Asia, Afnca and Central & Eastern Europe
2010 2009
vs 2009  vs 2008
Underlying sales growth (%) 77 77
Effect of acquisibons (%) 02 05
Effect of disposals (%) 01 09
£ffect of exchange rates (%) 101 40
Turnover growth (%) 187 29

€million €milion

2010 2009

Operating profit 6,339 5,020

Restructunng costs 589 897

Business disposals (468) )

Impatrments and other one-off items 160 (25)

Underlying operating profit 6,620 5,888

Turnover 44,262 39,823
Operating margin 4 3% 126%
Underlying operating margin 150% 148%

Further details of RDIs can be found in note 3 on page 83
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Financial review 2010 continued

Free cash flow (FCF}

Free cash flow represents the cash generation from the operation
and finanaing of the business The movermnent In FCF measures
our progress aganst the commitment to deliver strong cash flows
FCF 15 not used as a hquidity measure within Unilever

FCF includes the cash flow from Group operating activities, [ess
income tax paid, less net capital expenditure less net interest and
preference dwidends paid

The reconciiation of FCF to net profit is as follows

€milion € million

2010 2009
Net profit 4,598 3,659
Taxation 1,534 1,257
Share of net profit of joint ventures/associates
and other income from non-current investmenis {187) (489)
Net finance cost 394 593
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 993 1,032
Changes in working capital 169 1,701
Pensions and similar provisions less payments (472) (1,028)
Restructuning and other provisions less payments 72 (258)
Ehmination of {profits)/losses on disposals (476) 13
Non-cash charge for share-based compensation 144 195
QOther adjustments 49 58
Cash flow from operating activities 6,818 6,733
Income tax pad {1,328} (959)
MNet capital expenditure (1,701} (1,258)
Net interest and preference dividends paid (424)  (444)
Free cash flow 3,365 4,072
Net debt

Net debt is defined as the excess of total financial liabilities,
exduding trade and other payables, over cash, cash equivalents
and financial assets, exduding amounts held for sale and excluding
trade and other recevables It 1s a measure that provides valuable
additional information on the summary presentation of the
Group's net finanaal labilities and 1s a measure In common

use elsewhere

The reconciliation of net debt to the GAAP measure total

financial habilities s as follows
€milhon € million

2010 2009
Total financial habilities (9,534) (9,871)
Financial habilities due within one year (2,276) (2,279)
Financial babihties due after one year (7,258) (7,692)

Cash and cash equivalents as per balance sheet 2,316 2,642

Cash and cash equivalents as per

cash flow statement 1,966 2,397
Add bank overdrafts deducted therein 350 245
Financial assets 550 972
Net debt (6,668) (6,357)
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Longer-term trends

Finanacial records

Five years' trends of the KPIs and other finanaial measures can
be found under the heading ‘Financial record’ on pages 124 and
125

Unilever charts

Unilever charts available at www unilever com/investorrelations
provide ten years’ trends for selected financial and non-financial
measures

Laws and regulation

Unilever businesses are governed by laws and regulations
designed to ensure that products may be safely used for theirr
intended purpose and that labelling and advertising are truthful
and not misleading Unilever businesses are further regulated by
data protection and anti-trust legislation Important regulatory
bodies in respect of our businesses mclude the European
Commussion and the US Food and Drug Admiristration

We have processes in place to ensure that products, ingredients,
manufactunng processes, marketing matenals and activities
comply 1n all materal respects with the above-mentioned laws
and regulations

Legal proceedings

We are involved from time to time in legal and arbitration
proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business For
infarmation en current outstanding legal proceedings and
ongoing regulatory Investigations please refer to ‘Legal
proceedings’ within note 25 on page 116
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Outlook and risks

The following discussion about outlock and nsk management
activities indudes ‘forward-looking’ statements that involve nsk
and uncertainties The actual resuits could differ materially from
those projected See the ‘Cautionary statement’ on the inside
back cover

Outlook
Market condrions for our business were challenging m 2010 and
we do not anticpate this changing significantly in 2011

Economic pressures are expected to continue to wergh heawvily on
consumer spending, particularly in developed markets where the
combined iImpact of austerty measures and high unemployment
i5 likely to constran disposable incomes Emerging market growth
should continue to be robust, although even here we expect to
see a modest slowdown The most difficult environment 1s likely
to be in Western Europe, where higher taxes, lower public
expenditure and potenbally rising interest rates mean that, for the
short term at least, growth wall be imited In these conditions,
consumer confidence 15 not expected to nse significantly in the
year ahead and the search for value by the consumer waill
continue unabated

A further source of volatility in the year ahead is the return of
inflationary pressure, particularly in respect of key commodity
costs We anticipate significant commedity cost inflation for at
least the first half of 2011 If current trends continue then this
inflatonary pressure will extend also into the second half and
beyond In this environment we expect pnces to nse, albeit at a
lower rate than costs as competitors seek to protect market
positions and offset higher comrmodity costs with savings
elsewhere

Descnption of rnisk

The competitive environment for our business 1s likely to remain
mtense m 2011 Qur key competitors, both global and local, wall
be eager to rebuilld market share in many of our markets and
categones, and will design ther actity plans accordingly We
expect continued high levels of competitive challenge to our
many category leadership positions Some of this will be
price-based, as in 2010, but we also expect strong
nnovation-based competition backed by wide-ranging brand
support With the iImprovements we have been making to our
business we are well prepared for these challenges

Faced with these challenges we will continue to focus on our long
term strategic pnoribies of driving volume growth ahead of our
markets whilst providing a steady improvement in underlying
operating margin and strong cash flow We are well placed, with
an impressive presence In emerging markets, more than 75% of
our business in either category leadership or number two
positions, a portfolio of strong brands, an increasingly effective
Innovation prograrmrme and a dynamic new performance culture
These give us confidence that Unilever 1s fit to compete, whatever
the arcumstances

Principal risk factors

Risks and uncertainties could cause actual results to vary from
those described in forward-looking statements made within this
document, or could impact on our ability to meet our targets or
be detnmental to our profitability or reputation The nsks that we
regard as the most relevant to cur business are identified below
We have also commented on certain mitigabing actions that we
believe help us manage such nsks, however, we may not be
successful in deploying some or all of these mitigating actions

What we are doing to manage the nisk

Economic
* Decline In business duning an economic downturn
» Avoiding customer and suppher default

Unilever's business s dependent on continuing consumer demand
for our brands Reduced consumer wealth driven by adverse
economic conditions may result in our consumers becoming
unwilling or unable to purchase our products, which could adversely
affect our cash flow, turnover, profits and profit margins In addition
we have a large number of global brands, some of which have a
significant carrying value as intangible assets adverse economuc
condiions may reduce the value of those brands which could require
us to imparr thewr balance sheet value

Dunng economic downturns access to credrt could be constrained
This could impact the viability of our suppliers and customers and
could temperarly inhibit the flow of day-to-day cash transactions
wath suppliers and customers viz the banks

Adverse economic conditions may affect one or more countries
within a region, or may extend globally The impact on our overall
portfolic will depend on the seventy of the econornic slowdown,
the mix of countres affected and any government response to
reduce the impact such as fiscal stmulus, changes to taxation

and measures to minimise unemployment

The breadth of Unilever’s portfoho and our geographic reach help

to mitigate local economic nisks We carefully monitor economic
indicators and regularly model the mpact of different economic
scenarios We monitor consurmer behaviour through regular market
research and adopt a flexible business model which allows us to
adapt our portfalio and respond quickly to develop new offerings
that suit consumers’ and customers’ changing needs during economic
downturns We regularly update our forecast of business results and
cash flows and, where necessary, rabalance investment priorities We
undertake impairment testing reviews in accordance wath the relevant
accounting standards

We regularly monitor and review the health of our customers
and suppliers and implernent credit hmits and supply substittion
arrangements These reviews are undertaken more frequently
during economic downturns
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QOutlook and nsks continued

Description of nsk

What we are doing to manage the risk

Markets

e Managing the business across globally competitive markets
* Volatiity of emerging markets

* Building strategic alhances and partnerships

Unilever operates globally in competitive markets where the actmties
of other multinational companies, local and regronal companies and
customers which have a significant private label business may
adversely affect our market shares, cash flow, turnover, profits
and/or profit margins

In 2010, more than half of Unilever's turnover came from developing
and emerging markets including Brazl, India, Indonesia, Turkey,
South Africa, China, Mexico and Russia These markets are typically
more volatile than developed markets, 50 we are continually exposed
to changing economic, pelitical and social developments outside our
control, any of which could adversely affect our business Failure to
understand and respond effectively to local market developments
could put at nisk our cash flow, turnover, profit and/or profit margins

Qur strategy focuses on investing In markets and segments which
we identify as attractive, 1 e where we have or can bulld competitive
advantage and where we can consistently grow sales and margins
Many years of exposure to D&E markets has given us the ability to be
able to operate and develop our business successfully during penods
of economic, political or soal change

We seek in-fill acquisitions to support our category and geographic
ambitions and our New Business Board actively monitors
opportunities to invest In potential future businesses, new
technologies and different business models

We identify strateqic partnershups with specialists that enable us to
leverage external expertise to more effictently and cost-effectively
develop and manage our business

Brands and Innovation
= Design, development and roll-out of consumer/custormer
relevant products and services

Unilever’s Mission is to help people feel good, lock good and get
mare out of Iife with brands and services that are good for them
and goad for others This 1s achieved by designing and delivenng
superior branded products/services at relevant price points to
consumers across the globe Fallure to provide sufiicient funding

to develop new products, fack of technical capability in the research
and development function, lack of priontisation of projects and/or
faifure by operating management to successfully and quickly roll out
the products may adversely impact our cash flow, turnover, profit
and/or profit margins and may impact our reputation

We have processes 1o monitor external market trends and collate
consumer, customer and shopper insight in order to develop
lang-term category and brand strategies Our established innovation
management process uses comprehensive markatng tools and
techniques to convert category strategies into a series of projects,
bullding on internally developed know-how and expertrse It further
entifies, priontuises and allocates resources and develops relevant
brand communications We have well-established procedures to
plan and execute roll-out of products to our customers

Customer

» Buidlding long-term, mutually beneficial relationships
with customers

* Customer consolidation and growth of discount sector

Mantaiming successful relationships wath our customers is key to
ensunng cur brands are successfully presented to our consumers
and are available for purchase at all tirnes Any breakdown in the
relationships with customers could reduce the availability to our
consumers of existing products and new product launches and
therefare impact our cash flow, turnover, profits and/or profit
margins

The retail industry continues to consolidate in many of cur markets
Further consolidation and the continuing growth of discounters
could increase the competitive retail environment by increasing
customers purchasing pawer, Increasing the demand for competitive
promotions and pnce discounts increase cross-border sourang to
take advantage of pncing arbitrage and thus adversely impact our
cash flow, turnover, profits and/or profit margins Increased
campetition between retailers could place pressure on retaler
margmns and increase the counterparty nsk to Unilever
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We build and maintain trading relationships across a broad
spectrum af channels ranging from centrally managed, multinational
customers, to ‘discount’ chains and to the “tradiional’ trade via
distnbutors (n many developing countries We develop joint business
plans with all our key customers, including detailed investment plans
and customer service objectives, and regularly monitor progress
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Description of risk

What we are doing to manage the nisk

Finanaal/Treasury
* Funding the ongoing operation of the business
« Counterparty default in a financal institution
* Managing currency and interest rate differences
and movements
= Efficiently meeting our pension fund and tax cbligations

As a global organsation Unilever's asset values, earnings and cash
flows are influenced by a wide variety of currencies, interest rates,
tax junsdictons and diffenng taxes If we are unable to manage our
exposures to any one, or a combination, of these factors, this could
adversely impact our cash flow, profits and/or profit margins

A matenal and significant shartfall in net cash flow could undermine
Unitever's credit rating, imparr investor confidence and hinder our
ability to raise funds, whether through access to credit markets,
commercial paper programmes, long-term bond 1ssuances

or otherwise In tmes of financal market volatility, we are also
potentially exposed to counterparty nsks with banks

We are exposed to market interest rate fluctuations on our floating
rate debt Increases in benchmark interest rates could increase
the interest cost of our floating rate debt and increase the

cost of future borrowings Our inability to manage the interest
cost effectively could have an adverse impact on our cash flow,
profits and/or profit margins

Because of the breadth of our international operations we are
subject to nisks from changes to the relative value of currencies
which can fluctuate widely and could have a significant impact on
our assets, cash flow, turnover, profits and/or profit marging Further,
because Unilever consolidates its financial statements in eurcs it s
subject to exchange nisks assogated with the translation of the
underlying net assets of its foreign subsidianes We are also subject
to the imposition of exchange controls by ndividual countrnes which
could hmit cur ability to import matenals paid by foreign currency or
to remit dividends to the parent company

Certain businesses have defined benefit pension plans, most now
closed to new employees, which are exposed to movements in
interest rates, fluctuating values of underlying investments and
increased life expectancy Changes in any or ali of these inputs could
potentially mcrease the cost to Unilever of funding the schemes and
therefore have an adverse impact on profitability and cash flow

In view of the current economic cimate and deteriorating
government deficit positions, tax legislation in the countres in
which we operate may be subject to change, which may have
an adverse impact on our profits

A key target for the Group 1s to manage our financal affairs so as

to maintain our Al/A+ credit rating, which gives us continued access
to the global debt markets, even when the overall finangal markets
are under stress We seek to manage our quidity requirements by
maintaining access to global debt markets through short-term and
long-term debt programmes In addition, we have committed credit
facibties to underpin our commergal paper programme and for
general corporate purposes We regularly update cur cash flow
forecasts and assess the range of volatiity due to pension asset
values, interest rates and currencies \We concentrate cash in parent
and finance companies to ensure maximum flexibility for meeting
changing business needs We finance our operating subsidiaries
through a rixture of retained earnings, third-party borrowngs and
loans from parent and group companies Group Treasury regularly
manitors exposure to our third-party banks, tightening counterparty
limits where appropnate The Group actively manages its banking
exposures on a daily basis

In order 1o minimise interest costs and reduce volatility, our interest
rate management approach aims 1o achieve an appropnate balance
between fixed and floating rate interest exposures on forecast net
debt levels for the next five years We achieve this through a
combmation of 1ssuing fixed rate fong-term debt and by madifying
the Interest rate exposure of debt and cash posttions through the
use of interest rate swaps

in order to manage currency exposures Unilever's operating
compantes are required to manage trading and financial foreign
exchange exposures within prescribed hmits and by the use of
forward foreign exchange contracts Regronal groups monitor
comphance wath this requirement Further, operating companies
borrow In local currency except where inhibited by local regulations,
lack of local hquidity or local market conditons For those countnies
that, in the view of managerent, have a substantial retranslaton
nsk we may decde to hedge such net investmenit through the use
of foreign currency borrowing or forward exchange contracts

Our pension (nvestment standards require us to invest across a range
of equities, bonds, praperty, hedge funds and cash such that the
faiture of any single investment will not have a matenal impact on
the overall value of assets The majonty of assets, including those
held in cur ‘pooled” Investment vehicle, *Univest’, are managed by
external fund managers and are regularly monitored by pension
trustees and central penstons and investment teams

On tax, we maintain high quality tax compliance procedures and
documentation, execute prudent tax planning strategies and make
proper provision for current and deferred taxation Deferred tax
assets are rewiewed regularly for recoverability

Further information on financial instruments and treasury risk
managerment 1s included 0 note 15 on pages 98 to 104
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Outlook and nisks continued

Description of sk

What we are doing to manage the nisk

Consumer safety and sustainability
+ Maintaning high soaal and environmental standards
» Designing and producing products that are safe
for consumers
* Bulding a sustainable business

Unilever has developed a strong corporate reputation over many years
for its focus on soaal and environmental 1ssues, including promoting
sustainable renewable resources

The Unilever brand logo 1s now displayed on all our products, and
increasingly displayed n our advertising, increasing our external
exposure In 2010 we launched the Unilever Sustainable Living Plan
that sets out our soaial and environmental ambitions for the
coming decade

The environmental measures that we regard as most significant are
those relating 1o CO: from energy that we use, the water we
consume as part of our production processes and the amount of
waste that we generate for disposal {see page 2) Failure to design
products with a lewer environmental footpnnt could damage our
reputation and hence long-term cash flow, turnover, profits and/or
profit margins

Should we fail to meet high product safety, social, environmental
and ethical standards across all our products and in ali our operations
and actwities 1t could impact our reputation, leading to the rejection
of products by consumers, damage to our brands including growth
and profitability, and diversion of management time into rebuilding
our reputation

Our Code of Bustness Principles, Supplier Code and other operational
and business policies are designed to ensure that we consistently
maintain high social and environmental standards, and we have
estabhshed processes to track performance in these areas The
Unilever Sustainable Living Plan benefits from the insights of the
Unifever Sustainable Development Group, comprising five external
specialists In corporate responsitility and sustainability, that guide
and cniique the development of our strategy

Progress against the ambiticns in the Sustainable Lving Plan wil
be momitored by the Unifever Executive and Board and progress
published annually

Detailed operational policies and procedures ensure that quality and
safety are built in to the design, manufacture and distnbution of all
of our praducts Procedures are also in place to respond quickly to
consumer safety and quality inaidents including provision to initiate
product recalls where necessary

Operations

* Securing raw materials and key third-party services

+ Maintaining safe, secure and operational production
and distnbution capability

* Maintaining a competitive cost structure

s Handling major incidents and crises

Our ability 10 make products s dependent on securing timely and
cost-effective supplies of production matenals, some of which are
globally traded commodities The price of commodities and other key
matenals, labour, warehousing and distribubon fluctuates according
to global economic conditions, which can have a significant impact
on our product costs We saw commodity prices nse dunng the
second hatf of 2010 and this looks set to continue in 2071 If we are
unable to Increase prices to compensate for higher input costs, this
could reduce our cash flow, profits and/or profit margins If we
increase pnces more than our competitors, this could undermine our
competitiveness and hence market shares

Further, two-thirds of the raw matenals that we buy come from
agniculture Changing weather patterns, water scarcity and
unsustainable farming practices threaten the long-term viability
of agricultural production A reduction i agncultural production
may limit our ability to manufacture products in the long term

We are dependent on regional and global supply chains for the
supply of raw matenals and services and for the manufacture,
distribution and delivery of our products We may be unable to
respond to adverse events occurning in any part of this supply
cham such as changes in local legal and regulatory schemes, labour
shortages and disruptions, environmental and industnal acodents,
bankruptcy of a key suppher or {alure to deliver supphes on time
and in full, which could impact our ability to deliver orders to our
customers Any of the foregoing could adversely impact our cash
flow, turnaver, profits and/or profit margins and harm our reputation
and our brands
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We have processes In place to monitor short- and long-term raw
material demand forecasts These are used to determine future
production requirements and faclitate the forward-buying of traded
commodities to reduce future volatility of commodity costs

We have contingency plans 1o enable us to secure alternative
key matenal supplies at short notice, to transfer/share production
between manufacturing sites and to use substitute matenals in
our product formulations and recipes

We have programmes of regular preventative maintenance for key
lines and production sites We have in place mandatory occupational
health and safety policies to ensure the well-being and safety of our
ernployees, including procedures for regular self-certification

We regularly undertake value improvement programmes to identify
cost/value opportunities in direct and indirect costs We benchmark
internal product and service costs agamst external providers and we
regularly mode! our production, distnbution and warehousing
capability to optimise capacity utilisaticn and cost

We routinely assess potential threats to our operations that could, if
they materialise, give nse to a majer inadent or crsis We review the
appropriateness of our incident response, business continuity and
disaster recovery plans taking into account external developments
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Description of risk

What we are doing to manage the nsk

People and talent
¢ Aftracting, developing and retaining a skilled workforce
to build and maintan a fit-for-purpose orgarisation

Attracting, developing and retaining talented employees is essential
to the delivery of our strategy If we fail to determine the approprnate
mix of skills required ic implement our strategy and subsequently

fall to recruit or develop the nght number of appropriately qualified
pecple, or if there are hugh levels of staff turnover, this could
adversely affect our ability to operate successfully, and hence

grow our business and effectively compete in the marketplace

Resource Commuittees have been established and implemented
throughout our business  These commuitiees have responsibiity for
identifying future skills and capability needs, defining career paths
and professional traiming programmes, benchmarking the elements
of reward structures, both short- and long-term, and identifying the
key talent and feaders of the future Regular internal surveys are
conducted 10 gauge employee views and obtain feedback

We have an integrated management development process which
indudes regular performance review, underpinned by a common set
of 'Standards of Leadership’ behawviours, skills and competency
profiling, mentoring, coaching and training

Legat and regulatory
¢ Compiying with and anticipating new iegal
and regulatory requirements

Unilever is subject to local, regional and global rules, laws and
regulations, covenng such diverse areas as product safety, product
clams, trademarks, copynight, patents, employee health and safety,
the environment, corporate governance, hsting and disclosure,
employment and taxes Important requlatory bodies in respect of
our busmness nclude the European Commission and the US Food
and Drug Administration Failure to comply with laws and regulations
could leave Unilever open to avl and/or cnminal legal challenge and,
if upheld, fines or Mpnsonment imposed on us or our employees
Further, our reputation could be significantly damaged by adverse
publicity relating to such a breach of laws or regulations and such
darnage could extend beyond a single geography

There 15 a Code Policy on legal consultation which sets out our
comrmitment to complying with laws and regulations of the countries
in which we operate and the speafic activities and processes for
which employees must seek the agreement of internal legal counsel
in advance of making a commitment In speaalist areas the relevant
teamns at global regional or focal level are responsible for setting
detailed standards and ensuring that all employees are aware and
comply with regulations and laws speafic and relevant to their roles
Internal competition law compliance procedures and training are
reinferced and enhanced on an ongoing basis

Integration of acquisitions, restructuring and change
management

+ M&A integration

= Delivenng major restructuring projects effectively

Since 2009, Unilever has announced €4 6 bithon of acquisitions and
our global and regional restructunng pregrammes will continue in
2011 In the event that we are unable to successfully implernent
these changes in a tmely manner or at all, or effectively manage
third-party relatianships and/or outsourced processes, we may not
be able to realise some or all of the antiopated expense reductions

In addition, because some of the restructunng changes involve
important functions, any disruption could harm the operations of our
business, our reputation and/or relationship with our employees

All M&A and sigruficant global and regional restructuring projects
are sponsored by a Unilever Executive member Regular progress
updates are provided to the Unilever Executive

Sound project disciplines are used in all M&A and restructuring
prajects clearly articulated project objectives, scope and deliverables,
an approved and properly authonsed business case updated over
time as necessary, detaled and up-to-date project planning,
resourcing by appropriately qualfied personnel, an effective
communication and change management plan, and proper

closure, where learnuings are capiured and disseminated

Other risks

Unilever 1s exposed to varying degrees of nsk and uncertainty related
to other factors including physical, environmental, political, sooal and
terronsm nsks within the environments in which we operate falure to
complete planned divestments, taxation nsks, fallure to resolve
Insurance matters within current estrnates and changing pnonties of
our boards of directors All these nsks could matenally affect the
Group's business, our turnover, operating profits, net profits, net
assets and hquidity There may be nisks which are unknown to Unilever
orwhich are currently believed to be immatenal
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QOutlook and nisks continued

Risk Management Approach

The dentificabion and management of nisk 1s integral to Urnilever’s
strategy and to achieving its long-term goals The Boards have
overall responsibiity for the management of nsk and for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control

and risk management approach

We believe that good risk management 1s fundamental to good
business management and that our success as an organisation
depends on our ability to identify and then exploit the key nisks
and opportunities for the business Successful businesses
manage nisks and opportunities 1n 3 considered, structured,
controlled and effective way Qur nsk management approach

1$ embedded in the normal course of business and 1s summarised
In the diagram below

Our approach 1s designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance that our assets are safeguarded, the risks
faaing the business are being addressed and all nformation
required to be disclosed 1s reported to the Group’s serior
management including, where appropriate, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Finanaal Officer

Organisation

The Boards have estabhshed a clear organisational structure,
including formally delegated authorities, that responds to the
Principal Risk Factors that Unilever faces in the short, medium
and longer term

Foundation and Principles

Unilever's approach to doing business 1s framed by our Corporate
Mission Our Code of Business Principles sets out the standards of
behaviour that we expect all employees to adhere to Day-to-day
responsibility for ensunng these principles are apphed throughout
Unilever rests with senior management across regions, categories,
functions and operating companies A network of Code Officers
and Committees supports the responsible operational leaders
with the activities necessary to communicate the Code, deliver
training, maintain processes and procedures to report and
respond to alleged breaches (including ‘hotlines’), and to capture
and communicate learnings
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We have a framework of Code Pohaes that underpin the Code
and set out the non-negotiable standards of behaviour expected
from all cur employees and those acting on our behalf Unilever's
Standards define detalled mandatory requirements for a range of
specialist areas Together these caver mary areas of the business
including employee health & safety, product safety & quality, the
emaronment, ethical research, use of certain ingredients in our
products, nsk management, accounting and reporting, share
dealing, corporate disclosure, pension fund management,
treasury management and transfer pricing

Processes

Unilever operates a wide range of processes and activities
across all 1ts operations covenng strategy, planning, execution
and performance management These are formalised and
documented as procedures at a global, regional or local

level as appropnate Increasingly, these procedures are being
centralised globally and automated inte transactional and
other tnformation technolagy systems

Assurance and Re-Assurance

Senior management provide an annual Code and Code Policy
Declaration that 1s monitored by the Chief Legal Officer and
Regional Presidents

There are also specialist ongoing compliance programmes that
supplement the Code and Code Policy declaration Examples
of these Include Health, Safety & Environment, Product Safety
and Quality, Information Technology, Finance and Pensions
Management

The Corporate Audit function plays a key role in providing to both
management and the Boards an objective view and reassurance
of the effectiveness of the systems of internal control and nisk
management throughout Unilever
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Boards’ assessment of comphance with the

Risk Management frameworks

The Boards, through Committees where appropniate, regularly
review significant nisk areas and decisions that could have a
matenal iImpact on Unilever These reviews consider the risks
that Unilever 1s prepared to accept or tolerate, and how to
manage and control those risks

The Boards, through the Audit Committee, have reviewed the
assessment of nsks, internal controls and disclosure controls and
procedures that operate in the Group and have considered the
effectiveness and remedial actions where applicable for the year
covered by this report and up to the date of its approval by

the Boards of Directors Details of the activities of the Audit
Committee In relation to this can be found in the Report of

the Audit Commitiee on pages 56 and 57

Further statements on compliance with the specific risk
management and control requirements in the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code, the UK Combined Code and the US Secunties
Exchange (1934) & Sarbanes-Oxley {2002) Acts can be found on
pages 52 and 53, 54 and 55 respectively
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Biographies

Board of Directors

Chairman

Michael Treschow

Nauonality Swedish Aged 67
Chairman since May 2007 Chairman
Telefonakuebolaget L M Encsson Non-
Executive Director, ABB Group Board
member Knut and Alice Wallenberg
Foundation Member of the European
Advisory El Lilty and Company
Chairman AB Electrolux 2004-2007
and Confederation of Swedish
Enterprise 2004-2007

Non-Executive Directors

Louise Fresco

Nationality Dutch Aged 59
Appointed May 2009 Professor
of tnternational Development and
Sustainabiity at the University of
Amsterdam Supervisory Director
RABQ Bank Member, SER Trustee
Roosevelt Academy

Hixonia Nyasulu

Mationality South African Aged 56
Appomted 2007 Charrnan, Sasol g
Non-Executive Director Barloworld

Ltd Member Adwisory Board of JP
Morgan SA

Vice-Chairrman &
Semor Independent Director

Jeroen van der Veer
Nationality Dutch Aged 63
Appointed 2002 Non-Executive
Drirectar, Royal Dutch Shell pic
Member Supervisory Board of Philips
and Vice-Charman ING Member
Superwisory Board of De Nederlandsche
Bank NV 2{(00-2004

Ann Fudge

Nattonality Amencan Aged 59
Appointed May 2009 Non-Executive
Directar Novartis AG, General Electric
Co and Buzzient Inc Chawrman,

US Programs Adwisory Panel of Gates
Foundation Honorary diractor

of Catalyst

Sir Malcolm Rifkind
Nationality Bntish Aged 64
Appointed May 2010 AQueens
Counsel Served in Cabinets of
Margaret Thatcher and John Major,
last position being that of Foraign
Secretary Non-Executive Director
Aberdeen Asset Management
Naon-Executive Director Adam
Smith International

Executive Directors
Paul Palman

Cheef Executive Officer

Nationality Dutch Aged 54
Appointed Chief Executive Officer
January 2009 Appomted Director
October 2008 Non-Executive Diretor
The Dow Chemtcal Company President,

Kilimanjaro Blind Trust Procter & Gamble

Co 1979-2001, Group President Europe
and Officer, Procter & Gamble Co 2001-
2006 Chief Finanaal Officer, Nestié S A
2006-2008 Executive Vice President and
Zone Director for the Amencas 2008

Charles E Golden

Nationality Amencan Aged 64
Appomted 2006 Non-Executive Director
Inthana University Health, Hill-Rom
Holdings Eaton Corporation and the
Lilly Endewment Member of Finance
Commuttee, Indianapolis Museum of Art
Executive Vice-Fresident, Chief Financial
Officer and Director El Lilly and
Company 1996-2006

Kees J Storm

Nationality Dutch Aged 68
Appomted 2006 Chairman Supenisory
Board and Member of the Audit
Commitiee KLM Royal Dutch Airines NV
Membes, Supersory Board AEGON NV
Board member and Chairman of Audit
Committee Anheuser-Busch InBev S A
Board member and member of the

Audit Committee Baxter International
Inc Charman Supervisory Board

Pon Holdings 8V Chawrman Executive
Board, AEGGN NV 1993-2002

Unilever Executive (UEX) For Paul Polman and Jean-Marc Huet see above

Doug Bailhe

Chief HR Officer

Nationality Briush Aged 55
Appanted Chief HR Qfficer in February
2011 Joined Unilever 1978 Previous
posts include Appainted to UEx as
President of Western Europe in May
2008 CEQ Hindustan Unilever Limited,
Group Vice President South Asia 2006,
Group Vice-President - Afnca, Mikddle
East & Turkey (AMET) 2005 President
Afnca Regional Group 2004, Natonal
Manager Unilever South Africa 2000

Michael Polk

President Global Foods

Home & Personal Care

Nationality American Aged 50
Appointed Pressdent Global Foods
Home and Personal Care in March 2010
Previous posts Appointed to UEx as
President Amenicas i March 2007,
President Unilever USA Joined Uniever
2003 Poor to Unilever, he held sentor
positions at Kraft Foods induding
President Nabisco Sector and President
Asia Paarfic External Non-Executve
Director Newell-Rubbermaid Director
Students in Free Enterprise and Grocery
Manufacturers of Amenca

Professor Genevieve Berger

Chief Research & Development Officer
Nationality French Aged 56
Appointed to UEx in July 2008
Previously, Chairman of the Health
Adwvisory Board for the European
Commussion and a Professor at the
Unwversity of Pans and La Pitié-Salpétnére
Teaching Hospital and Director General
of the French Centre Nauonal dela
Recherche Scientifique Appomted Non-
Executrve Director to Smuth & Nephew in
March 2010

Pier Luign Sigismondi

Chief Supply Chain Officer
Natonahty taltan Aged 45
Appointed to UEX In September 2009
Prior to his appointment at Unilever, he
Joned Nestlé S A i 2002 Maoved to
Nestié Mexico in 2005 as Vice President
of Operations and R&D Prior to

Nestlé 5 A he was Vice President

of Operations for A T Kearney
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Dave Lewis

President Americas

Nationality British Aged 4%
Appainted to UEx In May 2010 Joined
Undever 1987 Prewvious posts mclude
Charman Undever UK and reland
Managing Director UK home and
persanal care business Servor Vice
President for Home and Personal Care
Central and Eastern Europe Managimg
Director in Indonesia Marketing
Director in South Amenca

Keith Weed

Chief Marketing and

Communication Officer

Nationality British Aged 49
Appointed to UExin Apnl 210 Joined
Unilever 1983 Previous posts include
Executive Vice President for Glabal
Home Care & Hygiene, Charrman of
Lever Fabergé, SVP Harr and Oral Care,
senior positions in France the Uruted
States, and global roles Qutside
Unilever a Non-Executwve Director of
Sun Products Corporation

Jean-Marc Huet

Chief Finanaial Officer

Nationality Dutch Aged 41
Appointed Chief Finanaal Officer
February 2010 Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer Bnstol-
Myers Squbb Company 2008-2009
Non-Executive Director Mead Johnson
Nutntion 2009 Chief Finanaial

Officer Royal Numico NV 2003-2007
Investment Banking Goldman Sachs
International 1993-2003 Clement
Trading 1991-1993

Byron E Grote

Nationality: American/Brissh Aged 62
Appointed 2006 Chief Financial

Officer BP pl¢ Member, UK Business

- Government Forum on Tax and
Globalisation 2008-2010 Vice-
chairman, UK Government s Public
Services Productivity Panel 1998-2000

Paul Walsh

Nationality Bntish Aged 55
Appomnted May 2009 Chuef Executive
Officer of Diageo Non-Executive
Director FedEx Corporation in¢
Chairman, The Scotch Whisky
Assodation Member Business
Adwisory Group Advisor to the
Department of Energy and Chmate
Change Member International
Business Leaders Forum

Harish Manwani

President Asia Africa CEE

Nationality Indian Aged 57
Appointed to UEx in April 2005 as
President Asia Africa Apponted
President Asia Africa Central & Eastern
Europe in May 2008 Joined Unilever
1976 He 15 also Non-Executive
Chairman Hindustan Lever Premous
posts include Business Group Presiden
Home and Personal Care North America
2004

Jan Zyderveld

President Western Europe
Nationality Dutch Aged 46
Appointed 1o UEx in February 2011
Joined Unilever in 1988 Previous posts
nglude EVP of South East Asia and
Australasia Chairman of Unilever
Middle East North Africa, Chairman of
the Nordic ice-cream business
Marketing Director Raly, European Olive
QilCategory Dwector and General
Manager - Sauces and Dressings
Europe the first Europeanisation of
Unilever's foods business based in

the Netherlands
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Corporate governance

Michael Treschow, Charman

Our Governance Structure and the Boards

Introduction

Unilever 1s subject to vanious corporate governance
requirements and best practice codes, the most relevant being
those in the Netherlands, the United Kingdom and the Urited
States As stated in our Code of Bustnass Principles, Unilever
“will conduct its operations in accordance with internationally
accepted pnnaples of good corporate governance” Itis
therefore Unilever’s practice to comply where practicable with
the best practice represented by the aggregate of these best
practice codes

The Dual Structure

Since 1930 when the Unilever Group was formed, NV and PLC,
together with therr group companies, have operated as nearly
as practicable as a single economic entity This Is achieved by

a series of agreements between NV and PLC (the Foundation
Agreements, further described on page 51), together with
special provisions In the Articles of Association of NV and PLC

“Unilever recognises the importance of good
corporate governance and behaviour, and this
has been a pnimary focus for the Boards
Michael Treschow

However, they remain separate legal entities with different
shareholder constituencies and separate stock exchange
Iistings Shareholders cannot convert or exchange the shares
of one for the shares of the other

NV and PLC have the same Directors, adopt the same
accounting prinaiples, and pay dwvidends to their respective
shareholders on an equahsed basis NV and PLC and therr
group comparnies constitute a single reporting entity for the
purposes of presenting consolidated accounts Accordingly,
the accounts of the Unilever Group are presented by both
NV and PLC as therr respective consolidated accounts

NV and PLC are holding and service companies, and the
business actvity of Unilever s carmed out by thewr subsidianes
around the world Shares in group companies may ultimately
be held wholly by erther NV or PLC or by the two companies
N varying proportions
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Our Governance Structure and the Boards continued

The Boards

The Boards are responsible for the long-term success of Unilever
and are accountable to their respective shareholders for the
performance of the business

It 1s of profound significance for Unilever, with its dual structure
of two parent companes and two different shareholder
constituencies, that 1t 15 able to operate effectively as a single
economic entity This objective 15 achieved by securing unity

of management of NV and PLC

it has always been a requirernent of Unilever that the same
people be on the Boards of the two parent companies This
ensures that all matters are considered by the Boards as a single
intellect, reachung the same conclusions on the same set of

facts save where specific local factors apply It1s essential that in
reaching the same decsions the NV and PLC Boards identify and
resolve any potential conflicts of interest between NV and PLC

This 1s of significance both to the strategic and the day-to-day
operation of Unilever It ensures that Unilever achieves the
substance of a single parent group but without the form

The Boards are one-tier boards, compnsing Executive Directors
and, in a majerity, Non-Executive Directors The Boards have
ultimate responsibility for the management, general affairs,
direction and performance and long-term success of our business
as awhele The respansibility of the Directors 1s collective, taking
into account their respective roles as Executive Directors and
Non-Executive Directors

The Boards are responsible for the overall conduct of the Group,
induding the management, direction and perfarmance of NV and
PLC The Boards have, with the exception of certain matters
which are reserved for them, delegated the operational running
of the Group to the Chief Executive Officer The Chief Executive
Officer i1s responsible to the Boards as a whole, and is in turn able
to sub-delegate any of his powers and discretions Matters
reserved for the Boards include structural and constrtutional
matters, corporate governance, approval of dvidends, approval
of overall strategy for the Group and approval of signeficant
transactions or arrangements in relation to mergers, acquisitions,
jomnt ventures and disposals, capital expenditure, contracts,
Iitigation, financing and penstons

The Boards have also established committees whose actions are
regularly reported to and monitored by the Boards, and these are
described on pages 47 and 48 Further detalls of how our Boards
effectively operate as one board, govern themselves and delegate
their authonties, are set out in the document entitled

"The Governance of Unilever’, which can be found at

www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance
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Board meetings

There 15 a minimum of five meetings held throughout the
calendar year These are compnsed of quarterly meetings,

to consider the results statements of the Group, and a meeting
to approve the Annual Report and Accounts Board meetings
are also held to discuss matters such as Group strategic 1ssues
and the Financial Plan

In addition to the above, our Boards will consider during the year
Important corporate events and actions, such as

oversight of the performance of the business,
review of nsks and controls,

authonsation of major transactions,

declaration of dwidends,

convening of shareholders’ meetings,
nominations for Board appointmenits,

approval of Board remuneration pohcy,

review of the functioning of the Boards and theirr
Committees, and

¢ Corporate Social Responstbility

Our nsk management approach and assoaiated systems of
internal control are of upmost importance to the Boards and
are described further on pages 33 to 39

Meetings of the Boards may be held either m London or
Rotterdam or such other locations as the Boards think fit,
with one or two off-site Board meetings a year

Board induction, training and support

Upon election, Birectors receive a comprehensive Directors'
Information Pack and are briefed thoroughly on their
responsibilities and the business Ongoing traming 1s provided
for Directors by way of site wisits, presentations, circulated
updates, and teach-ins at Board or Board Committee meetings
on, among cther things, Unilever's business, environmental,
social and corporate governance, regulatory developments and
investor relations matters In 2010, Board meetings were held at
the offices of Unilever in both Sao Paulo in Brazil and Hamburg
n Germany In both locations the Boards wisited Unilever factories
and learnt more about the supply chain in both these regions,
and in Brazil induded customer visits to local retaill outlets Visits
such as these allow the Non-Executive Directors to meet senior
managers around Unilever's global business and in turn allow
them to gain a deeper understanding of the business

A procedure s In place to enable Directors, if they so wish,
to seek mndependent advice at Unilever’s expense
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Board evaluation

The Chairman, in conjunction with the Vice-Chairman & Sernior
Independent Director, leads the process whereby the Boards
formally assess ther own performance, with the am of helping
to improve the effectiveness of the Boards and their Committees
The evaluation process consists of an internal exercise performed
annually with an independent third-party evaluation carned

out when the Boards consider appropriate The last time an
independent third-party evaluation was carried out was in 2006

The Boards have acknowledged the recommendation of the
new UK Corporate Governance Code to conduct an external
board evaluation at least once every three years and have
determined to conduct their 2011 evaluation process using
an independent external third-party consultant The Boards
then intend to continue to conduct annual evaluations with
an evaluation faclitated by an independent third-party
consuttant at least once every three years

The internal evaluation process includes an extensive bespoke
and confidential questionnaire for all Directors to camplete

The detalled questionnaire Invites comments on a number of
areas, including board responsibility, performance, operations,
effectiveness, training and knowledge [n addition, each year the
Chairrman conducts a process of evaluating the performance and
contnbution of each Director, including an interview with each
The evaluation of the performance of the Chairman is led by the
Vice-Chairman & Senior Independent Director and the Chairman
leads the evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer, both by means
of confident:al, bespoke questionnaires Committees of the
Boards evaluate themselves annually under supervision of their
respective chairmen taking into account the views of respective
Committee members and the Boards

Action taken in 2010

Following the 2009 evaluations, the Boards agreed to an enhanced
Board training programme in 2010 that would concentrate on
further instruction and famibansation with Unilever and its
businesses, and this has been achieved via formal knowledge
sessions for the Non-Executive Directors on Urilever's operations
In addition, Directors were, and continue to be, actively
encouraged to attend events of importance in Unilever's calendar
such as Investor Relations seminars

2010 process and recommendations

In 2010 the results of the vanous evaluations were discussed

by the Boards to address any 1ssues or areas for improvement
The results of the 2010 Board evaluation were summansed in

a presentation by the Chairman at 1ts meeting in December
Companison was made with the 2009 Board evaluation resullts,
and in general, the results showed an improvement i scores
from the 2009 process indicating that the Directors considered
that no major changes were required to Board and Committee
processes The overall conclusion was that indvidual Directors
continue to be satisfied that the Boards work well, and function
efficently during the year, and that all the Directors continue to
contnbute effectively and demonstrate full comritment to therr
duties

There were however various recornmendations of opportunities
for enhancement in certam areas Notably, going forward, Board
meetings will be orgarused to ensure there is sufficent tme to
allow for greater contnbutions from the Non-Executive Directors

Appointment of Directors

Dwrectors are normally appointed by shareholders at the AGMs
All existing Directors, unless they are retinng, submit themselves
for re-election every year, and shareholders vote to re-appoint
them by a simple majority vote A list of our current Directors
and the periods dunng whuch they have served as such 15 set
cut on page 40

In order to seek to ensure that NV and PLC have the same
Directors, the Articles of Association of NV and PLC contain
provisions which are designed to ensure that both NV and PLC
shareholders are presented with the same candidates for election
as Directors This 1s achieved through a nomination procedure
operated by the Boards of NV and PLC through Unilever’s
Nomination Committee

Based on the evaluation of the Boards, its Committees and its
indvidual members, the Nomination Committee recommends
to each Board a list of candidates for normination at the AGMs
of both NV and PLC In addition, shareholders are able to
nommate Directors, and to do so they must put a resclution

to both AGMs in line with {ocal requirements However, in order
to ensure that the Boards remain identical, anyone being electad
as a Director of NV must also be elected as a Director of PLC
and vice versa Therefore, if an individual fails to be elected to
both companies then he or she wll be unable to take therr place
on either Board

The provisions in the Articles of Assoaaton for apponting
Directors cannot be changed without the permission, in the
case of NV, of the holders of the special ordinary shares
numbered 1 to 2,400 inclusive and, n the case of PLC, of the
holders of PLC's deferred stock The NV special ordinary shares
may only be transferred to one or more other holders of such
shares The joint holders of both the NV special ordinary shares
and the PLC deferred stock are NV Elma and United Holdings
Limited, which are joint substdianes of NV and PLC The Boards
of NV Elma and United Holdings Limited comprise the members
of the Nomuination Commuttee, which comprise Non-Executive
Directors of Urilever only

Group Secretary

The Group Secretary supports the Charrman in ensuring that
Unilever’'s governance framework rermains fit for purpose at all
times and 15 subject to regular review, and has a key role to play
in facilitating the effective functioning of the Boards, advising

of any improvemenits and imitiatives which could add value

to the governance of the Group The Group Secretary 1s avallable
to advise all Directors and ensure that Board procedures are
comphed with

The Group Secretary works with the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer to faaltate the umely presentation of board information
In order to aid their deliberations and deasion making, whilst
ensunng that the Boards’ time 1s used effectively and 15 focused
on relevant 1ssues

The Boards have the power to appoint and remove the Group

Secretary The current Group Secretary 1s Tonia Lovell, who
replaced Steve Williams in that role in July 2010
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QOur Governance Structure
and the Boards continued

Board changes
The current Directors, with thewr biographuies, are shown on
page 40

At the 2010 AGMs, Leon Brittan, Wim Dik and Narayana Murthy
retired as Non-Executive Directors

Following his appointment as Chief Finanaal Officer in February
2010, Jean-Marc Huet was elected as an Executive Director at
the 2010 AGMs

Pau! Polman was re-elected as an Executive Director, and

Louise Fresco, Ann Fudge, Charles Golden, Byron Grote, Hixonia
Nyasulu, Kees Storm, Michael Treschow, Jeroen van der Veer and
Paul Walsh were re-elected as Non-Executive Directors, at the
2010 AGMs In addition, Sir Malcolm Rifkend was appointed as

a Non-Executive Director

At the 2011 AGMs all current Executive and Non-Executive
Directors will be nominated for re-election, with the exception
of Jeroen van der Veer who wall be retiring as a Non-Executive
Director, and will also step down as Vice-Chairman & Senior
Independent Director, and Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee In addition, Mr Sunil
Bharti Mittal will be proposed for election as a Non-Executive
Director at the 2011 AGMs Mr Mittal 1s the Founder, Chairman:
& Group CEQ of Bharti Enterpnises and his appointment

will bring business bullding expenence in developing markets
ranging from the entrepreneunal to large-scale corporate
activities Biographical details for Mr Mittal are contained in

the 2011 AGM Notices, which are available on our website at
www unilever com/agm
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Our Directors
Non-Executive Directors

Chairman

Unilever has a separate independent Non-Executive Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer There is a clear dmsion of
responsibilities between their roles

The Chairman Is primarly responsible for leadership of the Boards
and ensuring their effectiveness The Chairman also takes the
lead in creating effective Boards, managing the relationships
between Directors, and working closely with the Chuef Executive
Officer to ensure the successful functioning of the Boards whilst
evaluating and monitonng compliance with Unilever's Code
Policies and governance processes

The Charrman ensures that the Directors receive accurate,
timely and clear information, in particular about the Group's
performance, to enable the Boards to take sound decisions,
monitor effectively and provide advice to promote the success
of the Group

In conpunction with the Chief Executve Officer and the Group
Secretary, the Chairman sets the agenda and 1s prvotal In

creating the conditions for overall Board and indwidual Director
effectiveness With the Group Secretary, the Chairman will take
the lead in providing a properly constructed induction programme
for new Directors that 1s comprehensive, formal and tallored The
Charrman'’s role 1s also to promote effective relationships and open
communication, both Inside and outside the boardroom, between
the Non-Executive Directors and the Executive Directors, and

to create an environment that allows constructive debate and
challenge from all Board members The Chairman will also act

on the results of the annual Board evaluation

The Chairman makes sure that effective processes are
established relating to succession planning and the composition
of the Boards The Charrman addresses the development needs
of the Boards as a whole with a view to enhancing its overall
effectiveness as a team, and identifies the development needs
of individual Directors by regularly reviewing a personalised
approach to training and development with each Director

Together with the Vice-Chairman & Senior Independent Director
and the Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman maintains effective
communication with major shareholders so as to ensure that the
Boards develop an understanding of their views

Senior independent Director

The Non-Executive Directors have appointed Jeroen van der Veer
as Senior Independent Director He acts as their spokesman, and
serves as an intermediary for the other Directors when necessary
He 15 also, n appropnate cases, a point of contact for sharehclders
and other stakeholders in order to help develop a balanced
understanding of their 1ssues and concerns Upon leroen van der
Veer's retirement, 1115 intended that he will be succeeded by Kees
Storm, with effect from the conclusion of the 2011 AGMs
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Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors share responsibility for the
execution of the Boards' duties, taking into account therr specific
responsitihties, which are essentially supervisary In particular,
they compnse the principal external presence in the governance
of Unilever, and provide a strong independent element

Role and Responsibilities
The key elements of the role and responsibilities of our
Non-Executive Directors are

* supervision of and adwice to the Chief Executive Officer,

» developing strategy with the Chief Executive Officer,

+ scrutiny of performance of the business and
Chief Executive Officer,

* oversight of risks and controls,

¢ reporting of performance,

+ remuneration of and succession planning for Executive
Dwrectors, and

« governance and compliance

Our Non-Executive Directors are chosen for their broad and
relevant expenence and international outlook, as well as for their
independence They form the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate
Responsibifity and Reputation Commuttee, and the roles and
membership of these Board committees are descnibed below

In consultation with the Nomination Commuittee, the Boards
review both the adequacy of succession planning processes

and succession planning itself at both Board and UEx level

The profile set by the Boards for the Non-Executive Directors
provides guiding principles for the composition of the Unilever
Boards in line with the recommendations of applicable
governance regulations and best practice, and takes into
account the balance of skills, knowledge and expernience

on the Boards The profile set by the Boards for the
Non-Executive Directors and the schedule used for orderly
succession planning can be found on our website at

www unilever com/finvestorrelations/corp_governance

Meetings

The Non-Executive Directors meet as a group, without the
Executive Directors present, under the leadership of the Charrman
to consider speafic agenda items and wide-ranging business
matters of relevance to the Group In 2010 they met 5 times

In addition, the Non-Executive Directors (induding the Chairman}
usually meet before each Board meeting with the Chief Executive
Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, other senior executives and
the Group Secretary

Independence

Taking into account the role of Non-Executive Directors, which

1s essentially supervisory, and the fact that they make up the key
Commuttees of the Boards, It Is important that our Non-Executive
Directors can be considered to be independent Our definition of
independence for Directors is set out in the document entitled
‘The Governance of Unilever’, and s dernived from the applicable
definitions in use in the Netherlands, the UK and the US

The UK Combined Code suggests that length of tenure 1s a
factor to consider when determining independence of a
Non-Executive Director The UK Cormbinad Code also provides
that a Non-Executive Director who serves more than six years
should be subject to parucularly ngorous review, and if more than
nine years should be subject to annual re-election However, it is
Unilever's standard practice for all Directors to seek re-election
annually

Following the conclusion of a thorough review of all relevant
relationships of the Non-Executive Directors, and therr related or
connected persons, our Boards constder all of our Non-Executive
Directors to be independent of Unilever A number of
relationships, such as non-executive directorships, exist between
various of our Non-Executive Directors and companies that
provide banking, insurance or financal advisory services to
Unilever Our Boards considered in each case the number of ather
companies that also provide or could readily provide such services
to Unilever, the significance to those comparies of the services
they provide to Unilever, the roles of the Non-Executive Directors
within those companies and the sigmificance of those roles to our
Non-Executive Directors

The Boards concluded that none of these relationships impact
the independence of the Non-Executive Directors concerned,
and have satisfied themselves that the services provided by
Barloworld Limited, of which Hixonia Nyasulu 1s a director,

to Unilever South Africa 1s not material The Boards also gave
special consideration to the postion of Jeroen van der Veer
following his appomtment as supervisory director of ING Group,
holder of a large number of preference shares in NV and with
whom Unilever has a commeraal refationship The Boards
concluded that Mr van der Veer continues to demonstrate the
essential charactenstics of independence

None of our Non-Executive Directors are elected or appointed
under any arrangement or understanding with any major
shareholder, customer, supplier or otherwise

Remuneration

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors (s determined
by the Boards, within the overall it set by the shareholders
at the AGMs in 2007, and 1s reported on page 67 We do not
grant our Non-Executive Directors any personal loans or
guarantees nor are they entitled to any severance payments
Details of the engagement of our Non-Executive Directors

can be seen on the Unilever website at

www unilever comvinvestorrelations/corp_governance

Tenure

Our Non-Executive Directors submit themselves for re-election
each year at the AGMs Although the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code sets the suggested length of tenure at a
maximum of twelve years for Non-Executive Directors, they
normally serve for a maximum of nine years in accordance
with the UK Combined Code Their nommation for re-election
15 subject to continued good performance which is evaluated by
the Boards, based on the recommendations of the Nomination
Commuttee The Nomination Committee carefully considers
each nomination for re-appointment
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QOur Directors continued

Other appointments

Non-Executive Directors may serve on hoards of other companies,

provided such service does not involve a conflict of interest or
restrict their ability to discharge therr duties to Umilever

Executive Directors

Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer has the authonty to determine which
duties regarding the operational management of the companies
and ther business enterprises will be carried out under his
responsibility, by one or more Executive Directors or by one or
more other persons This provides a basis for the Unilever
Executive team (UEx) that I1s chaired by and reports to the Chief
Executive Officer For UEx members’ biographies see page 40

Executive Directors

Dunng 2010, Unilever had two Executive Directors, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, who were also
members of UEx, and are full-tme employees of Unilever

The Executive Directors submit themselves for re-election at

the AGMSs each year, and the Nomination Committee carefully
considers each nomination for re-appomntment Executive Directors
stop holding executive office on ceasing to be Directors The
Remuneration Committee takes the view that the entitlement
of the Executive Directors to the secunty of twelve months’ notice
of termination of employment 15 1n ine with both the practice
of many comparable companies and the entittement of other
senior executives within Unilever His our policy to set the level
of severance payments for Executive Directors at no more than
one year's salary, unless the Boards, at the proposal of the
Remuneration Commuttee, find this manifestly unreasonable
given the arcumstances or unless dictated by apphcable law

We do not grant our Executive Directors any personal loans
or guarantees

There are no family relationships between any of our Executive
Directors, other key management personnel or Non-Executive
Directors, and none of our Executive Directors or other key
management personnel are elected or appointed under any
arrangement or understanding with any major shareholder,
customer, supplier or otherwise

Qutside appointments

Unilever recognises the benefit to the indmdual and to the Group
of involvement by Unilever senior management acting as directors
of other companies outside the Unilever Group, broadening their
expenence and knowledge The number of outside directorships of
tisted companies is generally imited to one per indvidual, and in the
case of publidy hsted companies approval 1s required from the
Chairman Qutside directorships must not involve an excessive
commitment or conflict of interest, and Unilever serior
management rmust at all imes ensure that their tme commitment
to Unilever takes precedence over any outside directorship Fees
paid In connection with an outside directorshi may be retained by
the indwidual, reflecting that any outside directorship is for the
responsibility of the individual and that Unilever takes no
responsibility in this regard
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Director matters

Conflicts of interest

We attach speoal importance to avording conflicts of interest
between NV and PLC and their Directors The Boards are
responsible for ensuring that there are rules in place to avoid
conflicts of interest by Board members Conflicts of interest
are understood not to include transactions and other activities
between companies in the Unilever Group

Authorisation of situational conflicts s given by the Boards to the
relevant Director in accordance with the Articles of Assoaation of
PLC The authonsation indudes conditions relating to keeping
Unilever information confidential and to the exclusion from
receving and discussing relevant information at Board meetings
Situational conflicts are revewed annually by the Boards as part
of the determination of Director independence, and in between
those reviews Directors have a duty to Inform the Boards of any
relevant changes to the situation A Director may not vote on,

or be counted in a quorum in relation to, any resolution of

the Boards in respect of any contract in which he or she has

a material interest The procedures that Unilever have put in
place to dea! with conflicts of interest have operated effectively

Varnous formal matters

The borrowing powers of NV Directors on behalf of NV are not
limited by the Artides of Association of NV PLC Directors have
the power to borrow on behalf of PLC up to three times the
adjusted capital and reserves of PLC, as defined in its Articles
of Association, without the approval of shareholders (any
exceptions requiring an ordinary resolution)

The Articles of Assoaation of NV and PLC do not require
Directors of NV or Directors of PLC to hold shares in NV or PLC
However, the remuneration arrangements applicable to our
Executive Directors require them to bulld and retain a personal
shareholding in Unilever

Indemnification

Directors' indemnification, nduding the terms thereof, is
provided for in Article 19 of NV's Artides of Assoaation The
power to indemnify Directors 1s provided for in PLC's Articles
of Association and deeds of indemnity have been 1ssued to alt
PLC Directors Appropnate quahfying third-party Directors’ and
Officers’ hability insurance was in place for all Unilever Directors
throughout 2010 and 1s currently in force

In addition, PLC provides indemnities (ncluding, where
applicable, a qualifying pensicn scheme indemnity provision)

to the Directors from time to time of two subsidiaries that act
as trustee respectively of two of Unilever's UK pension schemes
Appropnate trustee hability insurance 1s also in place
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Our Committees

Board Committees

The Boards have estabhished the committees described below,
all formally set up by Board resclutions with carefully defined
remits They are made up solely of Non-Executive Directors and
report regularly to the Boards For all committees, If Directors
are unable to attend a meeting, they are given the opportunity
before the meeting to discuss with the Chairman of the
committee any agenda items or committee papers

Audit Committee

The Audit Commuttee assists the Boards in fulfiling

their oversight responsibilities in respect of the integrity

of Unilever’s financal statements, nsk management and
internal control arrangements, comphance with legat and
regulatory reguirements, the performance, qualifications
and independence of the external auditors, and the
performance of the internal audit function The Audit
Commuttee 1s supplied with all information necessary for
the performance of its duties by the Chief Auditor, Chief
Finanaial Officer, Group Controller and external auditors,
and both the Chief Auditor and the external auditors have
direct access to the Audit Commitiee separately from
management The Audit Committee 15 directly responsible,
subject to local laws regarding shareholder approval, for the
nomination, compensation and oversight of the external
auditors The Audit Committee 1s comphant wath the rules
regarding audit committees applicable in the Netherlands, the
UK and the US

The Audit Cemmittee 1s comprnised only of independent
Non-Executive Directors with a mimimum requirement of
three such members 1t 1s chaired by Kees Storm, and 1ts
other members are Charles Golden and Byron Grote Wim
Dik stepped down as a member of the Committee following
his retirement as a Director at the 2010 AGMs in May The
Boards have satisfied themselves that all the current members
of the Audit Committee are competent in financial matters
and have recent and relevant expenence and that, for the
purposes of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Kees Storm
15 the Audit Committee’s financal expert The Audit
Committee’s meetings are attended, by invitation, by the
Chref Financial Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, the Group
Controller, the Chief Auditor and our external auditors

See the Report of the Audit Committee to the shareholders
on pages 56 and 57

Corporate Responsibility and Reputation Committee
The Corporate Responsibility and Reputation Committee
has responsibility for the oversight of Unilever’s conduct
with regard to rts corporate and societal obligations and its
reputation as a responsible corporate atizen it comprises a
mirumum of three Non-Executive Directors It 1s chawed by
Sir Malcolm Rifkind and its other members are Louise Fresco
and Hixoria Nyasulu Narayana Murthy stepped down

as a member of the Committee fallowing his retirement

as a Director at the 2010 AGMs in May

See the Report of the Carporate Responstbility and
Reputatton Committee to shareholders on pages 58 and 59

All committees are provided with sufficent resources

to undertake ther duties, and the terms of reference

for each commutiee are contaned within ‘The Governance of
Unilever' and are also available on our website at

www unilever comvinvestorrelations/corp_governance

Nomination Committee

The Nommation Commuttee recommends to the Boards
candidates for the positions of Director It also has
responsibilities for succession planning and oversight

of corporate governance matters It 1s supphed with
information by the Group Secretary

The Nomination Committee comprises a minimum of two
independent Non-Executive Directors and the Chairman
The Nomination Committee is chaired by Jercen van

der Veer, and its other members are Michael Treschow

and Paul Walsh Fellowing Jeroen van der Veer's retirement
at the end of the 2011 AGMs, 1t 15 intended that Paul Walsh
will succeed him as Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and both Ann Fudge and Kees Storm will become members
of the Commttee

See the Report of the Norination Committee to the
shareholders on page 60

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee reviews Directors’
remuneration and 1s responsible for the executive
share-based incentive plans It makes proposals to the
Boards, within the parameters set by our shareholders, on
speafic remuneration arrangements for each of the
Executive Directors, the remuneration scales and
arrangements for Non-Executive Directors and the policy for
the remuneration of the tier of management directly below
the Boards The Committee 15 advised by the Group
Secretary on matters of corporate governance

The Remuneration Committee comprises a minimum of three
independent Non-Executive Directors The Remuneration
Committee 1s chaired by Jeroen van der Veer Its other
rnembers are Ann Fudge, Michael Treschow and Paul Walsh
Following Jeroen van der Veer's retirement at the end of the
2011 AGMs, 1t &5 intended that Paul Walsh wall succeed him
as Charrman of the Remuneration Committee and Kees
Storm will become a member of the Committee

The Directors’ Remuneration Report 1s found on pages
61 to 67
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Our Committees continued

Corporate governance framework

Attendance

The following tables show the attendance of Directors at Board
and Committee meetings for the year ended 31 December 2010
If Directors are unable to attend a meeting, they have the
opportunity before the meeting to discuss with the Chairman
any agenda tems or Board papers

Attendance 1s expressed as the number of meetings attended out
of the number eligible to attend

Board Directors

Name Attendance
Michael Treschow 10 of 10
Jeroen van der Veer 9of 10
Paul Polman* 10of 10
Jean-Marc Huet* (from 12 May 2010} Gofé
Leon Brittan (to 12 May 2010} 4ofa
Wim Dik (to 12 May 2010) Jofa
Louse Fresco 100of 10
Ann Fudge 10 of 10
Charles Golden 90of 10
Byron Grote 10 of 10
Narayana Murthy (to 12 May 2010) 3ofa
Hixonia Nyasulu 8of 10
Sir Malcoim Rifkund {(from 12 May 2010) 6af 6
Kees ) Storm 10 of 10
Paul Walsh 9of 10

*Executive Director

Disclosure Committee

Audit Committee

Name Attendance
Keas Storm (Charrman) 50f 5
wim Dik (to 12 May 2010} 3of3
Charles Golden 50of 5
Byron Grote 50f 5

Corporate Responsibility and Reputation Committee

Name Attendance
Leon Bnttan (Chairman to 12 May 2010) 20f2
Sir Malcolm Ridkind {Chairman from 12 May 2010) qof4
Lowise Fresco 6of6
Narayana Murthy {to 12 May 2010) 20f2
Hixonia Nyasulu 50f6

Nomination Committee

Name Attendance
teroen van der Veer (Charrman} Tof?
Michael Treschow 7of7
Paul Walsh 7of7

Remuneratton Committee

Name Attendance
Jeroen van der Veer (Chairman) 70f?
Ann Fudge Tof?
Michae! Treschow 7of7
Paul Walsh 7of7

The Boards have set up, through the Chief Executive Officer, a Disclosure Committee which is responsible for helping the Boards
ensure that financal and other information required to be disclosed publicly 15 disclosed 1n 2 tmely manner and that the information

that s disclosed 1s complete and accurate in all matenal aspects

The Committee comprises the Group Controller (Chairman), the Group Secretary and Chief Legal Officer, the Group Treasurer

and the NV Deputy Secretary
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Our Shareholders

Shareholder matters

Relations with shareholders and other investors
We believe it 1s important both to explan our business developments
and financal results to investors and to understand their objectives

The Chief Finanaal Officer has lead responsibility for investor
relations, with the active involvement of the Chief Executive
Officer They are supported by our Investor Relations department
which organises presentations for analysts and investors, and
such presentations are generally made available on our website
Briefings on quarterly results are given wia tefeconference and are
accessible by telephone or via our website For further information
visit our website at www unilever com/investorrelations

The Boards are briefed on reactions to quarterly results
announcements They, or the relevant Board Committee, are
briefed on any issues raised by shareholders that are relevant to
therr responsibilittes Our shareholders can, and do, raise 1ssues
directly with the Charrman and, f appropriate, the Senior
Independent Director

Both NV and PLC communicate with therr respective shareholders
at the AGM:s as well as responding to their questions and
enguinies dunng the course of the year We take the views of our
shareholders into account and, in accordance wath all applicable
legislatton and regulations, may consult them in an appropnate
way before putting proposals to our AGMs

General Meetings of shareholders

The business to be conducted at the AGMSs of NV and PLC

Is set out In the separate Notices of AGM for NV and PLC It
typically includes approval/consideration of the Annual Report
and Accounts and remuneration framework, appointment of
Directors, appointment of external auditors, and authorisation
for the Boards to allot and repurchase shares, and to restrict
pre-emptive nights of shareholders

At the AGMs, a review 1s given of the progress of the business
over the last year and there 15 a discussion of current issues
Shareholders are encouraged 10 attend the meetings and ask
questions, and the question and answer sessions form an
important part of the meetings

General Meetings of shareholders of NV and PLC are held

at times and places decided by our Boards NV meetings are
normally held in Rotterdam and PLC meetings are normaily held
In London, on consecutive days The notices calling the meetings
normally go out more than 42 days pnor to the meetings and
are placed on the website

We welcome our external auditors to the AGMs and they are
entitled to address the meetings

Voting rights

Shareholders that hold NV shares on the record date are entitled
to attend and vote at NV General Meetings Duch law requires
that the record date 1s set at a date 28 days before the meeting,
and shares are not blocked between the record date and the date
of the meeting NV shareholders can cast one vote for each €0 16
nominal capital that they hold This means that they can cast one
vote for each NV ordinary share, or NV New York Registry Share
Shareholders can vote in person or by proxy Similar

arrangements apply to holders of depositary receipts issued

for NV shares and the holders of NV preference shares PLC
shareholders can cast one vote for each 3'%p nominal capital that
they hold This means shareholders can cast one vote for each PLC
ordinary share, or PLC Amencan Depositary Receipt of shares Proxy
appointments need to be with our Registrars 48 hours before the
meeting, and the shareholding at this time wall determine both the
right to vote and the ability to attend the meeting

Mare information on the exerase of voting rights can be found
in NV's and PLC's Articles of Association and in the respective
Notices of Meetings which can be found on our website at
www unilever com/finvestorrelations/corp_governance

Holders of NV New York Registry Shares or PLC Amercan Depositary
Receipts of shares will receve a proxy form enabling them to
authonise and instruct a notary public or Citbank, N A respectvely
to vote on their behalf at the General Meeting of NV or PLC

NV Ema and United Holdings Limited (the holders of NV's speaal
shares), other group companies of NV which hold ordinary or
preference shares, and Urited Holdings Limrted, which owns half of
PLC's deferred stock, are not permitted to vote at General Meetings

Voting on each of the resolutions contained in the Notice of
AGMs 1s conducted by poll The final vote 1s published at the
meetings and the outcome of the votes, including the proxy
votes, 1s put on Unilever's website

Shareholder proposed resolutions

Shareholders of NV may propose resolutions if they individually
or together hold 1% of NV's issued capital in the form of shares
or depaositary receipts for shares, or if they individually or together
held shares or depositary receipts warth or representing the
market value In shares as set in respect thereto by or pursuant

to the law (currently €50 million) They must submit these
requests at least 60 days before the date of the General Meeting
Shareholders who together represent at least 10% of the 1ssued
capital of NV can also requisition Extraordinary General Meetings
to deal with speaific resolutions

Sharehclders who together hold shares representing at least 5%
of the total voting nghts of PLC, or 100 shareholders who hold on
average £100 each in nominal value of PLC capital, can require PLC
o propose a resolution at a General Meeting PLC shareholders
helding in aggregate 5% of the 1ssued PLC ordinary shares are able
to convene a General Meeting of PLC

Required majonties

Resolutions are usually adopted at NV and PLC shareholder
meetings by an absolute majority of votes cast, unless there
are other requirements under the applicable laws or NV's or
PLC's Articles of Association For example, there are special
requirements for resolutions relating to the alteration of the
Artides of Assocation, the liquidation of NV or PLC and the
alteration of the Equalisation Agreement

A proposal to alter the Articles of Association of NV can only

be made by the Board of NV A proposal to alter the Articles

of Assoaation of PLC can be made erther by the Board of PLC

or by shareholders in the manner permitted under the UK
Companies Act 2006 Unless expressly specified to the contrary
in the Articles of Association of PLC, PLC's Articles of Association
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Our Shareholders continued

may be amended by a speqal resclution Proposals to alter the
provisions In the Artides of Assocation of NV and PLC respectively
relating to the urity of management require the prior

approval of meetings of the holders of the NV special shares
and the PLC deferred stock The Articles of Assoaation

of both NV and PLC can be found on our website at

www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance

Right to hold shares

Unilever's constitutional documents place no imitations on the
right to hold NV and PLC shares There are no limitations on the
night to held or exercise voting nights on the ordinary shares of
NV and PLC imposed by foreign law

Electronic communication

We are committed to efforts to continue more effective ways

of communication with our shareholders around the AGMs
Electronic communication is already an important and established
medium for shareholders, providing ready access to shareholder
information and reports, and for voting purposes

Shareholders of PLC can choose to receive electronic notification
that the Annual Report and Accounts and Notice of AGMs have
been published on our website, instead of recenving printed
copes, and can also electronically appoint a proxy to vote on
their behalf at the AGM

Registration for electronic communication by shareholders of

PLC can be made at www unilever comyshareholderservices

The UK Companes Act 2006 contains provisions facilitating
communications between companies and ther sharehelders
electromically and PLC has established such a faclity after consuling
with its shareholders to offer them the opportunity to review their
method of receiving shareholder communications tn the future

Share capital matters

Margarine Union {(1930) Limited Conversion Rights

The first Viscount Leverhulme was the founder of the company
which became PLC When he died in 1925, he left in hiswill a
large number of PLC shares in vanous trusts

When the wall trusts were varied in 1983, the interests of the
beneficanes of his will were also preserved Four dasses of

special shares were created in Margarine Union (1930} Limited,

a subsidiary of PLC One of these dasses can be converted at the
end of the year 2038 into 70,875,000 PLC ordinary shares of
3%peach This currently represents 5 4% of PLC's issued ordinary
capital These convertible shares replicate the nghts which the
descendants of the first Viscount would have had under his will
This dass of the speaal shares only has a nght to dvidends in
speafied arcumstances, and no dwvidends have yet been paid PLC
guarantees the dividend and conversion nghts of the speaal shares

Foundation Unilever NV Trust Office

The Foundation Unilever NV Trust Office (Stichting
Administratiekantoaor Unilever N3 s a trust office with a board
independent of Unilever As part of its corporate objects, the
Foundation issues depositary receipts in exchange for the ordinary
and 7% preference shares it holds in NV These depositary receipts
are listed on Euronext Amsterdam, as are the NV ordinary and 7%
preference shares themselves
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Holders of depositary receipts can under all arcumstances
exchange their depositary receipts for the underlying shares
(and wvice versa), and are entitted to dvidends and all economic
benefits on the underlying shares held by the Foundation

The Foundatior's shareholding fluctuates daily — its holdings on

28 February 2011 were

* NV ordinary shares of €0 16 1,268,224,230 (73 96%), and

* NV 7% cumulative preference shares of €428 57 9,776
(3371%)

The members of the board at the Foundation are Mr ) H Schraven
{chairman), Mr P P de Koning, Prof Emertus Dr L Koopmans and Mr
A A Olyslager The Foundation reports penodically on its actvities

Further information on the Foundation, including its Articles of
Association and Conditions of Administration, can be found on
its website at www administratiekantoor-unilever nl

Voting by holders of depositary receipts

Although the depositary receipts themselves do not formally have
voting rights, holders of depositary receipts are in practice equated
with shareholders They can attend all General Meetings of NV,
erther personally or by proxy, and also have the nght to speak The
holders of the depositary receipts will then automatically, without
limitation and under all arcurnstances, receive a voting proxy on
behalf of the Foundation to vote on the underlying shares

The Foundation i1s obliged to follow the voting mstructions of
holders of depositary receipts The same applies to the voting
instructions of holders of depositary receipts not attending a
shareholders’ meeting and who 1ssue voting instructions to the
Foundation via the Dutch Shareholders” Communication Channel

Voting by the Foundation Unilever NV Trust Office

Shares for which the Foundation has not granted voting proxies
or for which it has not receved voting Instructions are voted on
by the Foundation in such a way as it deems to be in the interests
of the holders of the depositary receipts This voting policy 1s laid
down in the Condiions of Administration that apply to the
depositary receipts

Specific provisions apply in the event that a meeting of the
helders of NV 7% cumulative preference shares 15 convened

If a change to shareholders’ nghts I1s proposed, the Foundation
will let shareholders know if it intends to vote, at least 14 days
in advance of the meeting If possible

Hitherto the majority of votes cast by ordinary shareholders at
NV meetings have been cast by the Foundation Unilever and
the Foundation have a policy of actively encouraging holders of
depositary receipts to exercse ther voting nghts in NV meetings

Unilever considers the arrangements of the Foundation
appropriate and in the interest of NV and its shareholders
given the size of the voting nghts attached to the financing
preference shares and the relatively low attendance of holders
of ordinary shares at the General Meetings of NV

Further information on the share capital of NV and PLC 1s given
on pages 139 and 140
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Foundation Agreements

The Unilever Group is created and maintamed by a senes of
agreerments between the parent companies, NV and PLC, together
with speaal provisions in their respective artides of assoaation,
which are together known as the Foundation Agreements These
agreements enable Urilever to achieve unity of management,
operations, shareholders’ nghts, purpose and rission and further
nformation on these agreements 1s provided in the document
entitled "The Governance of Unilever' which 15 avaitable on our
website at www unilever com/nvestorrelations/corp_governance

NV's Articles of Association contain, among other things, the
objects dause, which sets out the scope of activities that NV 1s
authonsed to undertake They are drafted to give a wide scope
and provide that the primary objectives are to carry on business
as a holding company, to manage any companies in which it has
an interest and to operate and carry into effect the Equalisation
Agreement At the 2010 PLC AGM, the shareholders agreed that
the objects dause be removed from PLC’s Articles of Association
sa that there are no restrictions on 1ts objects

Equalisation Agreement

The Equalisation Agreement makes the economic position

of the shareholders of NV and PLC, as far as possible, the same
as If they held shares in a single company The Equalisation
Agreement regulates the mutual nghts of the shareholders of
NV and PLC Under the Equalisatron Agreement, NV and PLC
must adopt the same financal penods and accounting policres

Each NV ordinary share represents the same underlying economic
mterest in the Unilever Group as each PLC ordinary share

The Equalisation Agreement can be found on our website at
wwaw unilever comvinvestorrelations/corp_governance

The Deed of Mutual Covenants

The Deed of Mutual Covenants provides that NV and PLC and
thewr respective subsidiary companies shall co-operate in every
way for the purpose of maintaining a common operating pohcy
They shall exchange all relevant information about their respective
businesses — the intention being to create and maintain a
common operating platform for the Unilever Group throughout
the world The Deed also contans provisions for the allocation

of assets between NV and PLC

The Deed of Mutual Covenants can be found on our website at
www unilever comvinvestorrelations/corp_governance

The Agreement for Mutual Guarantees of Borrowing

Under the Agreement for Mutual Guarantees of Borrowing
between NV and PLC, each company will, if asked by the other,
guarantee the borrowings of the other The two companies

also jointly guarantee the borrowings of therr subsidiaries These
arrangements are used, as a matter of finanaial policy, for certain
significant public borrowings They enable lenders to rely on our
combined financial strength

The Agreement for Mutual Guarantees of Borrowing can be found on

our website at waww unilever comvinvestorrelahons/corp_governance

Our requirements and compliance

Requirements and compliance — general

Unilever 1s subject to corporate governance requirements in the
Netherlands, the UK and as a foreign private issuer in the US

In this section we report on our compliance wath the corporate
governance regulations and best practice codes apphcable in the
Netherlands and the UK and we also describe compliance with
corporate governance standards in the US

Under the European Takeover Directive as implemented in the
Netherlands and the UK, the UK Companies Act 2006 and rules
of the US Secunities and Exchange Commission, we are required
to provide information on contracts and other arrangements
essential or matenal to the business of the Group We believe
we do not have any such contracts or arrangements

Cur governance arrangements are designed and structured

to promote and further the interests of our companies and their
shareholders The Boards however reserve the right, in cases
where they deade such to be in the interests of the comparues
or our shareholders, to depart from that which is set cutin

the present and previous sections in relation to our corporate
governance Any such changes will be reported in future Annua!
Reports and Accounts and, when necessary, through changes
to the relevant documents published on our website As
appropnate, proposals for change will be put to our shareholders
for approval

Further information can be found on our website and in the
document entitled ‘The Governance of Unilever” This describes
the terms of reference of our Board Commuttees, including their
full responsibilities it will be kept up to date with changes in
our internal constitutional arrangements that our Boards may
make from time tc time and 1t 15 available on our website at
www unilever comAnvestorrelations/corp_governance
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Our requirements and compliance continued

Requirements — European Union

Following implementation of the European Takeover Directive,
certain Information 1s required to be discdosed in relation to
control and share structures and interests of NV and PLC Such
disclosures, which are not covered elsewhere in this Annual
Report, include the following

« there are no requirements to obtan the approval of NV
or PLC, or of other holders of secunties in NV or PLC, for a
transfer of such securities The NV special ordinary shares may
only be transferred to one or more holders of such shares,

» there are no arrangements by which, with NV's or PLC's
cooperation, financial nghts carned by securities are held by
a person other than the holder of such securities,

¢ NV and PLC are not aware of any agreements between
holders of secunties which may result in restrictions on the
transfer of such secunties or on voting rights,

* nerther NV nor PLC are parties to any significant agreements
whuch include provisions that take effect, alter or terminate
such agreement upon a change of control following a
takeover bid,

* NV and PLC do not have any agreements with any Director or
employee that would provide compensation for loss of office
or employment resulting from a takeover except that most of
Unilever's share schemes contain provisions which operate in
the event of a takeover of Unitever, which provisions may for
Instance cause options or awards granted to employees under
such schemes to vest after a takeover or be exchanged into
new awards for shares in another entity, and

= the Trustees of the PLC employee share trusts may vote or
abstain in any way they think fit and in doing so may take
into account both financial and nen-finanaal interests of the
beneficianes of the employee share trusts or their dependants
Histoncally the Trustees tend not to exercise this right
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The Netherlands

NV 1s required to state in its Annual Report and Accounts whether
it comphes or will comply with the Pninciples and best practice
provisions (bpp") of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code (the
Dutch Code) and, if it does not comply, to explain the reasons for
this As will be clear from the description of our governance
arrangements, NV complies with aimost all of the principles and
best practice provisions of the Dutch Code, a copy of whichis
availlable at www commussiecorporategovernance nl The text that
follows sets out certain statements that the Dutch Code invites us
to make to our shareholders that are not included elsewhere In this
Annual Report and Accounts as well as areas of non-comphance

Unilever places a great deal of importance on corporate
responsibility and sustainatulity as 1s ewdenced by our mission to
double the size of the company while reducing our environmental
impact With respect to our performance measures Unilever 1s
keen 10 ensure focus on key finanaal performance measures
which we believe to be the drivers of shareholder value creation
and relative total shareholder return Unilever therefore believes
that the interests of the business and shareholders are best served
by linking the long-term share plans to the measures as described
m the Directors’ Remuneration Report and has not incuded a
non-financial performance indicator (Pnnciple It 2 and bpp 11 2 3)

Board and Committee structures

NV has a one-tier board, consisting of both Executive and, in a
majonty, Non-Executive Directors We achieve compliance of our
board arrangements wath the Duich Code, which 15 for the most
part based on the customary two-tier structure In the Netherlands,
by, as far as 1s possible and practicable, applying the provisions of
the Dutch Code relating to members of a management board to
our Executive Directors and by applying the provisions relating to
members of a supervisory board to our Non-Executive Directors
Management tasks not capable of delegation are performed by
the NV Board as a whole

Risk management and control

Our principal nsks are described on pages 33 to 37 Our approach
to nisk management and systems of internal control i1s based on
the COSO framework and 1s described on page 38

As a result of the review of the Audit Commuttee (as descnbed in
its report on pages 56 and 57) the NV Board believes that as
regards financial reporting nsks the nsk management and control
systems provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements do not contain any errors of matenal importance and
the risk management and control systems have worked properly
1 2010 (bpp ll 1 5}

The aforesaid statements are not statements in accordance with
the requirements of Section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

Retention penod of shares

The Dutch Code recommends that shares granted to Executive
Directors must be retained for a period of at least five years
(bpp 11 2'S) Our shareholder-approved remuneration policy
requires Executive Directors to buld and retain a personal
shareholding in Unilever The Boards believe that this is in line
with the spint of the Dutch Code
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Severance pay

It 1s our policy to set the level of severance payments for Directors
at no more than one year's salary, unless the NV Board, at the
proposal of the Remuneraticn Committee, finds this manifestly
unreasonable given circumstances or unless otherwise dictated
by applicable law (bpp 1 2 8)

Conflicts of interest

In the event of a potential conflict of interest, the provisions

of the Dutch Code (Prinaples Il 3 and Il 6) are applied Conflicts
of interest are not understood to Include transactions and other
activities between companies in the Unilever Group

Financing preference shares

NV 1ssued 4%, 6% and 7% cumulative preference shares
between 1927 and 1970 Theirr voting nights are based on

their nomunal value, as prescribed by Dutch law The Dutch
Code recommends that the voting nghts on such shares should,
n any event when they are newly 1ssued, be based on therr
economic value rather than on their nominal value (bpp V1 2)
NV agrees with this principle but cannot unilaterally reduce
voting nghts of its outstanding preference shares

Following the approval by the NV shareholders duning the NV
AGM on 11 May 2010 to reduce the capital with regard to
the 4% cumulative preference shares agamst repayment and
amendment of the Articles of Association, the 4% cumulative
preference shares were cancelled by way of an amendment of
the NV Articles of Assoaation, effective 9 August 2010

Anti-takeover constructions and control over the company
NV confirms that it has no anti-takeover constructions, in the
sense af constructions that are intended solely, or primarily,

to block future hastile public offers for its shares (bpp IV 3 11)
Nor does NV have any constructions whose specific purpose Is
to prevent a bidder, after acquinng 75% of the capital, from
apponting or dismissing members of the Board and subsequently
agltering the Articles of Association The acquisition through a
public offer of a majority of the shares in a company does not
under Dutch law preclude in all circumstances the continued
nght of the board of the company to exercse its powers

Provision of information

We consider it important to comply with all applicable statutory
regulations on the equal treatment of sharehclders and provision
of information and communication with shareholders and other
parties (Principles IV 2 and IV 3)

Meetings of analysts and presentations to investors

We have extensive procedures for handiing relations with

and communicating with shareholders, ivestors, analysts

and the media (also see page 49) The important presentations
and meetings are conducted as far as practicable in accordance
with the Dutch Code (bpp IV 3 1) Due to their large number and
overlap in information, however, some of the less important ones
are not announced in advance, made accessible to everyone

or put on our website

Corporate Governance Statement

NV 1s required to make a statement concerning corporate
governance as referred to in article 2a of the decree on
additional requirements for annual reports (Vaststelingsbesluit
nadere voorschnften inhoud jaarverslag) with effect from

1 January 2010 (the ‘Decree’) The information required to be
induded n this corporate governance statement as described
in articles 3, 3a and 3b of the Decree can be found in the
following sections of this report

= the information concerning compliance with the Dutch
Corporate Governance Code, as required by article 3 of the
Decree, can be found under ‘Corporate Governance” within
the section 'Requirements — the Netherlands’ in this report,

= the information concerning Unilever’s nisk management and
control frameworks relating to the financial reporting process,
as required by article 3a@) of the Decree, can be found under
"‘Outlock and risks’ on pages 33 to 39 and within the relevant
sections under ‘Corporate Governance' Iin this report,

+ the information regarding the functioning of Nv's General
Meeting of shareholders, and the authonity and rights of NV's
shareholders, as required by article 3a(b) of the Decree, can
be found within the relevant sections under ‘Corporate
Governance' in this report,

* the Information regarding the composition and functioning
of NV's Board and 1ts Committees, as required by article 3afg)
of the Decree, can be found within the relevant sections
under ‘Corporate Governance’ in this report, and

* the information concerning the inclusion of the information
required by the decree Artide 10 European Takeover Directive,
as required by article 3b of the Decree, can be found within
the relevant sections under ‘Corporate Governance’ and
within the section 'Shareholder information, Analysts of
shareholding’ in this report
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Our requirements and compliance continued

The United Kingdom

PLC 1s required, as a company that is incorporated in the UK
and hsted on the London Stock Exchange, to state how it has
applied the main principles and how far it has complied with
the provisions set out in Section 1 of the 2008 UK Combined
Code on Corporate Governance ('the Combined Code’),

a copy of which 15 availlable at www frc org uk

In the preceding pages we have described how we have applied

the main prinaples and the provisions in the Combined Code
In 2010, PLC complied with all Code provisions
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Risk management and control
Our prinapal nsks and our approach to risk management and
systems of internal control are described on pages 33 to 39

This approach to nsk management and systems of internal
control is In line with the recommendations in the report on
‘Internal Control — Revised Guidance for Directors on the UK
Combined Code’ { The Turnbull Gwdance’)

The effectiveness of the system of internal control, induding
processes In relation to financial reporting and preparation

of consolidated finanoal statements, has been reviewed by the
Audit Committee

The Audit Commuttee reviewed Unilever’s overall approach

to risk management and control, and 1ts processes, outcomes
and disclosure, and detalls of the activities of the Audit
Committee in relation to this can be found in the Report of the
Audit Committee on pages 56 and 57

It 1s Unilever's practice to bring acquired companies within the
Group's governance procedures as soon as 1s practicable and
in any event by the end of the first full year of operation
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The United States

Both NV and PLC are listed on the New York Stock Exchange
and must therefare comply with such of the requirements of
US legislation, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
regulations enacted under US secunties laws and the Listing
Standards of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) as are
applicable to foreign private 1ssuers, copies of which are
avarlable at www sec gov and www nyse com In some cases
the reguirements are mandatory and in other cases the
obligation 1s to ‘comply or explan’

We have complied i all matenal respects with the requirements
concerning corporate governance that were in force dunng
2010 Attention is drawn in particular to the remit of the

Audit Committee on page 47 and the Report of the Audit
Committee on pages 56 and 57

Actions already taken to ensure compliance in all matenal
respects that are not specfically disclosed elsewhere or
otherwise clear from reading this report include

» the Code of Business Principles and Code Policy dedlaration
undertaken by all senior financial officers,

+ the issuance of instructions restncting the ermnployment of
former employees of the audrt firm, and

= the estabhishment of a policy on reporting requirements
under SEC rules relating to standards of professional
conduct for US attorneys

In each of these cases, existing practices were revised
and/or documented in such a way as to conform to the
new requirements

All senior executives and sentor finanaal officers have declared
their understanding of and comphiance with Unilever's Code

of Business Principles and the underpinning Code Policies

No wawver from any provision of the Code of Business Principles
or Code Policies was granted to any of the persans falling withir:
the scope of the SEC requirernents in 2010 The Code Polices
nclude mandatory requirements covering (but not mited to)
the following areas Accurate records, reporting & accounting,
Anti-bnbery, Avoiding conflicts of interest, Gifts & entertainment,
Preventing insider trading, Political actvities & political donations,
Contact wath government, regulators & non-governmental
organisations, Respect, dignity & farr treatment, External
communications — the media, investors & analysts Qur Code of
Business Principles 15 available on our website at

www unilever comvinvestorrelations/corp_governance

We are required by US securities laws and the Listing
Standards of the NYSE to have an Audit Committee that
satisfies Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act and the Listing
Standards of the NYSE We are compliant with these
requirements We are also required to disclose any sigrificant
ways in which our corparate governance practices differ from
those typically followed by US companies listed on the NYSE
In addition to the information we have given to you in this
repont about our corporate governance arrangements, further
details are provided in the document entitled *The Governance
of Unilever’, which is on our website at

www unilever com/Anvestorrelations/corp_governance

We are comphant with the Listing Standards of the NYSE
applicable to foreign private 1ssuers Qur corporate governance
practices do not significantly differ from those required of US
companies listed on the NYSE

We also confirm that our shareholders have the opportunity
1o vote on certain equity compensation plans

Risk management and control
Cur prinopal nsks and our appreach to nsk management and
systemns of internal control are described on pages 33 to 39

Based on an evaluation by the Boards, the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer conduded that the
design and operation of the Group’s disclosure controls and
procedures, ncluding those defined in United States Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 - Rule 13a — 15(¢), as at 31 December
2010 were effective, and that subsequently until the date of
the approval of the Annual Report by the Boards, there have
been no significant changes in the Group’s 1nternal controls,
or in other factors that could significantly affect those controls

Unilever 1s required by Section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 to report on the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting This requirement will be reported
on separately and will form part of Unilever's Annual Report
on Form 20-F
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Report of the Audit Committee

The role and terms of reference of the Audit Comnuttee are to
assist the Boards in fulfilling their oversight responsibiliies
regarding the integrity of Unilever’s financial statements, nsk
management and internal control, comphance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the external audrtors’ performance,
qualfications and independence, and the performance of the
internal audit function During the year, prinaipal actvities were
as follows

Financial statements

The Committee considered reports from the Chief Financial
Officer on the quarterly and annual financial statements,
including other financal statements and disclosures prior to ther
pubtlication and 1ssues reviewed by the Disclosure Committee
They also reviewed the Annual Report and Accounts and Annual
Report on Form 20-F, the quarterly results and accompanying
press releases pnor to publication These reviews incorporated the
accounting policies and key judgements and estimates
underpinning the financial statements including

goodwill and intangible assets
provisions

business combinations
financial instruments

pensions

taxation, and

going concern assessment

The Committee was satisfied with the accounting treatment
adopted

Risk management and internal control arrangements
The Cammittee reviewed Unilever's overall approach to nsk
management and control, and its processes, outcomes and
disdosure It reviewed

= the Controller’s Quarterly Risk & Control Status Report (which
includes matters ansing from the Global Code and Policy
Committee), incduding Code cases relating to frauds, and
significant complaints received through the global Ethics
Hotline,

¢ Corporate Risks, induding the 2011 Focus Risks identified by
the Unilever Executive,

* iManagement’s work to Introduce a simplified policy
framework that directly underpins the Code of Business
Principles,

+ the application of information and commurmcation
technology,

= tax planrung and related nsk management,

» treasury polices, ncluding debt issuance and hedging,

¢ commodity nsk management, governance and derivatives
hedging, and

= litigation and regulatory investigations presented by the Chief
Legal Officer

The Committee reviewed the application of the requirements
under Section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 with
respect to internal controls over financial reporting

In addition, the Committee reviewed the annual financial plan and
Unilever's dwvidend palicy and dividend proposals
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In fulfiling its oversight responsibilities in relation to nsk
management, internal control and the finanaial statements, the
Committee met regularly with senior members of management
and are fully satisfied with the key jJudgements taken

Internal audit function

The Committee reviewed Corporate Audit's audit plan for the year
and agreed its budget and resource requirernents | reviewed
nterim and year-end summary reports and management'’s
response The Commuttee carried out a formal evaluation of the
performance of the internal audit function and were satisfied with
the effectveness of the function The Committee met
independently with the Chief Auditer durng the year and
discussed the results of the audits performed dunng the year The
Committee approved the appointment of the new Chief Audrtor

Audit of the Annual Accounts

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Unilever’s external auditors, reported m
depth to the Committee on the scope and cutcome of the annual
audrt, including thetr audit of internal controls over financial
reporting as required by Section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 Therr reports ncluded accounting matters, governance
and control, and accounting developments

The Committee held independent meetings with the external
auditors dunng the year and discussed and challenged their audit
plan, incdluding their assessment of the financial reporting nsk
profile of the Group The Committee discussed the views and
conclusions of PricewaterhouseCaopers regarding management’s
treatment of sigruficant transactions and areas of judgement
dunng the year and PricewaterhouseCoopers confirmed they were
satisfied that these had been treated appropriately in the finanaal
statements

External auditors

The Audit Committee conducted a formal evaluation of the
effectiveness of the external audit process The Commuttee has
considered the tenure, quality and fees of the auditors and
determined that a tender for the audit work is not necessary As a
result, the Committee has approved the extension of the current
external audit contract by one year, and recommended to the
Boards the re-appointment of the external auditors On the
recommendation of the Audit Committee, the Directors will be
proposing the re-appointrment of PricewaterhouseCoopers at the
AGMs 1n May 2011 (see pages 132 and 137)

Both Unulever and the auditors have for many years had safeguards
In place to avoid the possibility that the auditors’ objectwity and
independence could be compromised The Committee reviewed
the report from PricewaterhouseCoopers cn the actions they take
to comply with the professional and regulatory requirements and
best practice designed to ensure their Independence from Unilever

The Commutiee also reviewed the statutory audst, other audi, tax
and other services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers, and
complhance with Unilever's documented approach, which
prescribes in detail the types of engagements for which the
external auditors can and cannot be used

« statutory audit services - including audrt of subsidianes,
« other audit services — work which regulations or agreements
with third parties require the auditors to undertake,
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» cther services — statutory auditors may carry out work that
they are best placed to undertake, ncluding internal control
reviews,

s acquisition and disposal services —where the auditors are
best placed to do this work,

» tax services — all sigificant tax consulting work 1s put to
tender, except where the auditors are best placed to do
this, and

» general consulting — external auditors may not tender for
general consulting work

All engagements over €100,000 require specific advance
approval of the Audit Committee Chairman These authorities
are reviewed regularly and, where necessary, updated in the
light of internal developments, external developments and best
practice

Audit Commuttee terms of reference

The Audit Committee’s terms of reference are reviewed
annually by the Committee taking into account relevant
legislation and recommended good practice The terms of
reference are contained within ‘The Governance of Unilever”
and are also avallable on our website at

www unilever comvinvestorrelations/corp_governance

Board Assessment of the Audit Committee
The Board evaluated the performance of the Committee and
the Committee carried out a self-assessment of its perforrnance

Kees Storm

Chairman of the Audit Commititee
Charles Golden

Byron Grote
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Report of the Corporate Responsibility and Reputation Committee

Terms of reference

The Corporate Responsibility and Reputation Committee
aversees Unilever's conduct as a responsible multinational
business The Commuttee 1s also charged with ensuning that
Unilever's reputation 1s protected and enhanced A key elerent
of the role 1s the need to identify any external developments
which are likely to have an influence upon Unilever’s standing
In society and to bring these to the attention of the Boards

The Committee comnpnses three independent Non-Executive
Dhrectors Sir Malcolm Rifkind, Hixorna Nyasulu and Lowise Fresco
Two members of the Committee retired at the AGM in May
2010 - Leon Bnttan and Narayana Murthy Sir Malcolm Rifkind
Joined the Board at the AGM and succeeded Leon Brittan as
Chairman of the Committee

In addition to the expertise that individual members bring

to Unilever, the Committee’s discussions are informed by the
perspectives of our two sustanabiiity leadership groups The first
i1s the Unilever Sustainable Development Group (USDG) - five
experts from outside the company wha meet formally twice a
year to advise Unilever's senior leadership on the development of
its sustainability strategy The second is the Unilever Sustainable
Lwing Plan Steerning Team, the group of senior executives who are
accountable for the delivery of the Plan (see below) Drawing on
the insights from these groups helps to keep the Boards informed
of current and emerging trends and any potential risks arising
from sustainability 1ssues

The Committee's Terms of Reference are contained within “The
Governance of Unilever' and are also available on our website at
www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance Details of
the Unilever Sustainable Development Group are available on our
website at www unilever com

Meetings
Meetings are held quarterly and ad hoc as required The
Committee Chairman reports the conclusions to the Boards

In 2010 the Committee reviewed a range of topics including
Unilever's Code of Business Principles and supporting corporate
policies, compettion-related ssues, nanotechnology, armmal
testing, sensitive territones such as Zimbabwe, human nights,
labour relations, and particular elements of the Unilever
Sustainable Living Plan such as packaging and sustainable
agncultural sourang as well as the development of the Plan itself

Code of Business Principles and supporting policy review
The Committee Is respansible for the oversight of the Unilever
Code of Business Pnnciples which sets out the standards of
conduct we expect of our employees

The Committee ensures that the Code remains fit for purpose
and 1s appropriately applied Infringements of the Code are
monitored by the Commattee In this regard the Committee
complements the role of the Audit Committee which considers
the Code as part of its remit to review nisk management
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A review of all corporate policies was undertaken in 2010 The

review was led by the Controller's Department and formed part

of the ongoing work to simplify business processes across the !
company The previous 86 poliaes have been replaced by a

more concise framework of 26 Code Policies, such as the Unilever
Supplier Cade and our Occupational Health and Safety Palicy, that
complement and support the Code of Business Pinaples More
detalled mandatory requirements in speaalist areas have been
reclassified as Unilever Standards The new Code Policies were
communicated to all senior managers and therr review and
acknowledgement of these is underway The communication and
training programme will be extended to all managers dunng 2011
and will nclude the development of new training and sign-off
systems

The Committee followed the review dunng the course of the
year and scrutinised a number of the revised palicies Members
welcomed the outcome of the review as it ensures that the
principles of the Code are embedded directly In Unilever policy
and the simplified processes give employees a better
understanding of Unilever’s standards and provide danty as

to where they will be held accountable

Competition investigations

Pursuant to the remit of the Committee, the Boards have expressly
delegated to the Committee day-to-day oversight of the conduct
of Unilever's response to the ongoing investigations by the
Eurcpean Commussion and other national authorrties into alleged
infringements of competition law The Chief Lega! Officer and
external counsel report to the Committee in this regard and
matters are then considered by the full Boards For further
information, please refer to 'legal proceedings’ within note 25 on
page 116

Human nights

The Committee reviewed the Urited Nation's Framewark for '
Business and Human Rights The Framework outlines three

principles the state’s duty to protect aganst human rights abuses

by third parties, including business, the corporate responsibility

to respect human nghts, and the need for greater access by

victims to effective remedies

Urilever has supported the Framework by working with nine
other companies as part of the Netherlands chapter of the Unrted
Nations Global Compact to publish a practical toolkit called ‘How
to do business wath respect for Buman Rights’ It has also
contributed to research for the ‘State of Play’, a review of human
nghts due diigence conducted by the Institute for Human

Rights and Business that will inform further development of

the UN Framework
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Labour relations

The Committee maintains a watching brief on Unilever's
relationshtps with its workforce In November 2007 a complaint
was brought to Unilever’s attention by the International Union
of Food, Agncultural, Hotel, Restaurant, Caterning, Tobacco and
Alhed Workers' Assoaations (IUF) The complaint was refuted by
our Inchan business, Hindustan Unilever It alleged that Hindustan
Unilever had conspired to force workers at its Doom Dooma
factory in Assam to join a new trade union as a pre-conditien
for their continued employment at the factory If proven this
would have constituted a breach of the freedom of assocaation
provisions of the QECD Guidehnes for Multinational Enterprises
Under the terms of the OECD procedures, the unions referred
their complaint to the QECD's National Contact Poirit in the UK
for investigation

After a senes of meetings with the IUF and with the help of

the National Contact Point’s conclation service, a methodology
for resolving the issue was agreed with the IUF This centres on
a process for venfying union membership to the satisfaction of
the 1UF, the local trade union and the state government labour
department Hindustan Unilever is seeking to implement this
approach and discussions are ongoing to ensure that all
concerned acknowledge the validity of the process

Unilever Sustainable Living Plan

The year was a significant ane for Unilever November marked
the launch of an ambitious set of sustainability targets in the
shape of the Unilever Sustainable Living Plan The Plan auns to
improve sustainability across not only Unilever’s own business
practices, but those of its suppliers and consumers (see pages 20
and 21)

The Committee played an active role in monitoring the
development of the Plan throughout the year It reiewed some
of the potential nsks that could damage the credibihity of the Plan,
commented in detall on the ambition of the targets and advised
how they should be communicated As the Plan is central to
Unilever’s mission, the Committee will continue to monitor its
delivery

Evaluation of the Committee

The Commuttee carried out a self-assessment of its performance,
led by the Commuttee Charman Members agreed to adopt a
more forward-looking approach and to review issues according
to strategic business and reputational prionties The Boards also
evaluated the performance of the Committee

Sir Malcolm Rifkind

Chairman of the Corporate Responsibility
and Reputation Committee

Louise Fresco

Hixoma Nyasulu
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Report of the Nomination Committee

Terms of Reference

The Nommation Committee comprises two Independent
Non-Executive Directors and the Chairman It is chaired by Jeroen
van der Veer and its other members are Michael Treschow

and Paul Walsh Jeroen van der Veer will step down from the
Committee at the conclusion of the 2011 AGMs, and Paul Walsh
will be recommended to the Boards to Charr the Committee
The Group Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for drawing up
selection critena and appeintment procedures Under Unilever's
corporate governance arrangements Executive and Non-Executive
Directors offer themselves for electron each year at the Annual
General Meetings The Nomination Committee 1s responsible for
recommending candidates for nomination as Executive Directors
(ncluding the Chief Executive Officer) and Non-Executive Directors
each year based on the process of evaluatons referred to below
After Directors have been appointed by shareholders the
Committee recommends to the Boards candidates for election

as Chairman and the Vice-Chairman & Serior Independent
Director The Committee also has responsibility for supervising
the policy of the Chief Executive Officer on the selection

cntera and appointment procedures for senior management
and 1t keeps oversight of all matters relating to corporate
governance, bnnging any issues to the attention of the Boards
The Committee’s Terms of Reference are contained within

The Governance of Unilever” and are also available on our website
www unilever com/fnvestorrelations/corp_governance

Process for the appointment of Directors

Urilever has formal procedures for the evaluation of the Boards, the
Board Committees and the indvidua! Directors The Chaiman, 1n
conjunction wrth the Vice-Chairman & Senior Independent Director,
leads the process whereby the Boards assess their own performance
and the resuits of the evaluations are provided to the Committee
when it discusses the nominattons for re-election as Directors

Where a vacancy arises on the Boards, the Committee may

seek the services of speaalist recruitment firms and other external
experts to assist in finding indviduals with the appropnate skills
and expertise The Committee reviews candidates presented

by the recruitment firm, or by Directors and rembers of

the Unilever Executive, and all members of the Committee are
involved in the Interview process before making therr
recommendations to the full Boards for approval

In nominating Directors, the Committee follows the agreed
Board profile of potential Non-Executive Directors, which takes
inte account the roles of Non-Executive Directors set out in

the Dutch Corporate Governance Code and the UX Combined
Code on Corporate Governance Under the terms of “The
Governance of Unilever’ the Boards should comprise a majority
of Non-Executive Directors To represent Unilever’s areas of
interest, the profile also indicates there should be a strong
representation from Developing and Emerging markets as

well as from Europe and North America Non-Executive Directors
should be independent of Unilever and free from any conflicts
of interest The profile looks at diversity i terms of nationality,
race, gender and relevant expertise and directs that, wherever
possible, the Boards should reflect Unilever’s consumer base

ft 1s recognised that Executive Directors may be invited to become
a Non-Executive Director of another company and that such an
appointment, subject to the approval of the Chairman and where
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relevant the Chief Executive Officer, may broaden the knowledge
and experience to the benefit of the Group (see page 40 for details
in the biographiesy

Activities of the Committee during the year

The Committee met seven times in 2010 All meetings were
attended by Jeroen van der Veer, Michael Treschow and Paul
Walsh Other attendees at Committee meetings (or part thereof)
were the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief HR Qfficer, the Group
Secretary and, where appropriate, external advisers

The Committee proposed the nomination of all Directors offering
themselves for re-election at the 2010 AGMs in May 2010 Dunng
2010, the Comnmuttee also proposed the nominations of Jean-Marc
Huet as an Executive Director and Sir Malcolm Rifkind as a
Non-Executive Director at the 2010 AGMs In May Jean-Marc Huet was
chosen because the Boards believe that his expenence in the
corporate and financal world would be a great asset to the business,
and Sir Malcolm Rifkind was chosen because, with his broad
background in intermational affairs, he wiould be a valuable addition to
the Boards Upcn appointment as a Non-Executive Director Sir Malcolm
Rifkind was subsequently appointed as Chairman of the Corporate
Respansibility and Reputation Committee In making these
appointments the Nomination Committee was supported by an
independent executive search firm chosen by the Committee which
had been engaged to identify suitable candidates for the roles required
Following his appointment at the 2010 AGMs, the Committee
approved an extensive induction programme for Sir Malcolm Rifkind

The Normination Committee recommended the appointment
of Tonia Lovell as the Group Secretary following Steve Willams'’
retirement in July 2010

Supported by an independent executive search firm, the Committee
carried out a search for a new Non-Executive Director and 1s
delighted that Mr Surul Bhart Mittal has agreed to join our Boards
it 1s believed that Mr Mittal would further strengthen the range of
expertise avalable on the Boards, as well as meeting our
Non-Executive Director profile Mr Mittal has been proposed by the
Committee for election as a Non-Executive Director at the 2011
AGMSs in May 2011

As part of its corporate governance responsibilities, during the year
the Committee considered the new UK Corporate Governance
Code, which will apply to Unilever from 1 January 2011, and will
continue to ensure that Unilever complies with the new provisions,
where appropnate, for our 2011 reporting year

Annternal evaluation was undertaken by the Chairman and the
Vice-Chairman & Sertor Independent Director with the assistance of the
Group Secretary during 2010 10 relabion to the performance of the
Boards, of the Chairman, of the indvidual Directors and of the Board
Committees Feedback from Directors was obtained through detailed
questionnaires which were used as the basis for the overall evaluation of
the Boards and Board Committees, and a senes of interviews with the
Chairman and indmdual Directors The Commuttee also carned out an
assessment of 1ts own performance, led by the Cormmittee Chairman
The resutts of the Board, the Board Committees and Chairman
evaluations were discussed at the December 2010 Board Meetings

Jeroen van der Veer Chairman of the Nommation Comrmittee
Michael Treschow
Paul Walsh




Report of the Directors Governance

Directors’ Remuneration Report

The Commttee aims to ensure that remuneration arrangements
for Unilever's Executive Directors support the achievement of the
company's strategic goals and the delvery of competrtive
performance relative to our peers

As disclosed In last year's report and following consultation with
shareholders, the Committee has overseen the introduction of

a hew remuneration structure, which enables us to place more
focus on rewarding higher standards of long-term performance
through vanable pay

Executive Directors and Unilever sentor managers now need to
achreve and mamtain higher personal shareholding imits than
before, 400% of salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 300%
of salary for the Chief Finanaal Officer Senior managers also
have the opportunity under the Management Co-Investment
Plan {MCIP) to Invest up to 60% of their annual bonus in respect
of 2010 1n Unilever shares and subject to the maintenance of that
investment they may earn matching shares from Unilever i
demanding performance conditions are achieved over the
following three years Executive Directors are excluded from the
MCIP in respect of their annual bonus for 2010

Despite strong business results in a challenging economic
environment, the Committee has deaded not to raise our
Executive Directors’ base salanes for the third consecutive year
During 2011 the Committee will need to take a close look at the
competitive position of our Executive Directors' salanes

The old Executive Directors’ Share Matchmg Plan expires in 2011
and we have deaided to invite the Chuef Executive Officer and the
Chief Financial Officer to participate 1n the MCIP alongside their
semor management colleagues in respect of any bonus awarded
to them for 2011 Under the MCIP approved by shareholders

last year, Executive Directors, like other seror managers, will be
required to nvest @ minimum of 25% of their bonus in shares but
may elect to invest up to 60% Addiional matching shares are
earned from Unilever under the MCIP only to the extent that
stretchung periormance conditions are met

Given Unilever's success In achieving strong trade working capital
levels well ahead of target in 2010, the Committee has decided
1o replace that performance indicator For the annual bonus in
2011, our three main performance indicators will be underlying
sales growth, underlying volume growth and improvement in
underying operating margin These align closely with our
long-term strategic goals and continue to raise our standards of
performance in a challengmng inflationary environment

Our new remuneration structure encourages greater commmitment
and engagement around the business with dearer long-term
focus Having noted the step-up in this year's results, the
Committee will keep the effectiveness of our new approach to
pay and performance under further renew dunng 2011

Jeroen van der Veer Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
Ann Fudge

Michael Treschow

Paul Walsh

Remuneration Committee

The role of the Remuneration Committee 15 to make proposals

to the Boards for decisions on

= the remuneration and benefits of Directors,

= the remuneration policy for the Unilever Executive and the
Chief Auditor, Group Controller, Chief Legal Officer and
Group Secretary, and

« the design and terms of all share-based incentive plans

The Committee’s key responsibilities In respect of Executive

Directors nclude making proposals to the Boards on

» the remuneration policy,

» ndividual salary levels, bonuses and other benefits,

* performance frameworks, targets setting and performance
review, and

e determining contractual terms

The Committee's Terms of Reference are contained within “The
Governance of Unilever' and are also available on Unilever's
website at www unitever com/finvestorrelations/corp_governance
Details of Committee meeting attendance are contained in the
section on ‘Corporate Governance’ on page 48

During 2010 the Commuttee compnsed Jeroen van der Veer
(Charman), Michael Treschow, Ann Fudge and Paul Walsh

While 1t 1s the Comrmittee’s responsibiity to exercise independent
judgement, the Committee does request advice from
management and professional advisers, as appropnate, to ensure
that its decisions are fully informed given the internal and external
environment In 2010 the Committee engaged Deloitte LLP to act
as advisor to review the performance conditions proposed for
the Global Share Incentive Plan (GSIP) from 2010 cnwards and,
where compansons could be made, to provide assurance that the
Committee had set conditions that were no easier to satisfy than
thaose which had previously applied During the year, Deloitte

has also provided speafic tax services, mainly outside the UK,
and some technaology consultancy services to Unilever These
additional services did not raise any confiict of interest The
Commuttee does not have any formal advisory arrangements
with other professional advisers

During the year the Committee also sought input from the

Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Human Resources Officer
on vanous subjects incdluding the remuneration of senior
management The Commuittee also received legal and complance
advice from the Chief Legal Officer and Group Secretary

Executive Directors

Our aims and guiding principles

The overnding aim of the Committee 1s to ensure that the
remuneration arrangemenits for Executive Directors support the
longer-term objectives of Unilever and, in turn, the longer-term
interests of shareholders

This means that we must ensure that

* the fixed elements of the remuneration package offered
to Executive Directers are sufficiently competitive to attract
and retain hughly experienced and talented individuals, and

+ the performance-related elements are structured so that
target levels are competitive but Executive Directors ¢an
only earn higher rewards (f they exceed the ongaing
standards of performance that Unilever requires

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2010 61




Report of the Directors Governance

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

The Committee’s guiding principles are therefore that the
remuneration arrangements for Executive Directors should

* support Unilever’s business strategy,

+ sharpen Unilever’s performance culture through more
exacting standards,

* increase the difference in reward between modest,
target and outstanding performance achievements,

+ support share ownership and strong shareholder
alignment, and

¢ be simple and transparent

Below we have summarised the key remuneration policies
for Executive Directors that flow from and support the
Committee’s ams

The supporting policies

Our emphasis on performance-related pay

It 1s Unilever's policy that the total remuneration package for
Executive Directors should be competitive with other global
companies and that a significant proportion should be performance-
related Over two-thirds of the target remuneration for the
Executive Directors are linked to performance, with the majority
of this hinked to shareholder-aligned longer-term performance

The Committee has reviewed the impact of different performance
scenartos on the reward opportunitres potentally to be received
by Executive Directors and the alignment of this with the returns
that might be received by shareholders

The remuneration structure 1s generally consistent for Executive
Directors and senior management of Unilever Executive Directors’
benefits are also established in hne with those for other employees
on the basis of local market practices The Committee periodically
monitors pay and employment conditions of other employees
within Unilever to ensure alignment and consistency with
remuneration of senior management and Unilever’s remuneration
objectives

The Committee believes that Unilever’s nsk management
processes provide the necessary controls to prevent inappropriate
risk taking For example, when the Committee reviews the
structure and levels of performance-related pay for Executive
Directors and other members of the Unilever Executive, it
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considers whether these might encourage behaviours
incompatible wath the long-term interests of Unidever and its
shareholders The Committee beheves that the significant
shareholding requirements placed on Executive Directors and
other senior managers guard against this nsk, 400% of salary
for the Chief Executive Officer, 300% for the other Executive
Directors and the members of the Unilever Executive and 150%
for the "top 100’ management layer below

Our linkage between business objectives and
performance-related pay

It 1s Unilever's policy for the performance-related pay of Executive
Directors to be hnked to key Group measures that are aligned
with strategy, business objectives and shareholder value

Unitever’s main business objective Is to restore volume and
underlying sales growth while steadily improving operating margins
and cash flow There are a number of strategic priorities which
support this cbjective It is this combination of top-line revenue
growth and bottom-line profits growth that Unilever believes will
build shareholder value over the longer term It 1s Unilever's
objective to be among the best performers in its peer group

In hne wath these objectives

— the annual bonus measures for the Executive Directors for
2011 are
underlying volume growth,
underlying operating margin improvement, and
underlying sales growth {replacing trade working capital
improvement}

— the GSIP and the MCIP measures from 2010 onwards are
three-year

underiying sales growth,

underlying operating margin improvement,

operating cash flow, and

relative total shareholder return

Further details are in the Annual Bonus, Share Matching Plan,
GSIP and MCIP sections later in this report

Claw back

The Cormmittee 1s authonised to redlaim or ‘claw back’
performance-related pay components paid to Executive Directors
in the event of a signrficant downward rewision of the financal
results of the Group This includes the annual bonus and awards
that have been made and/or vested shares that have been 1ssued
or transferred under the Share Matching Plan, the GSIP and the
MCIP

Executive Directors’ contracts

Executive Directors are required to submit themselves for
re-election at the AGMs each year and the Nomination
Committee carefully considers each nomination for
reappomntment Executive Directors stop holding executive office
on ¢easing 1o be Directors The Committee takes the view that
the entittement of Executive Directors to the secunty of twelve
months' notice of terrmination of employment 1s in line with both
the practice of many comparable companies and the entitlement
of other senior executives in Unilever It 1s our policy to set the
{evel of severance payments for Executive Directors at no more
than one year's salary, unless the Boards, at the proposal of the
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Committee, find this manifestly unreasonable given the
arcumstances or unless dictated by apphcable law The date of
contract for Paul Polman was 7 October 2008 and for Jean-Marc
Huet 19 March 2010 Executive Directors’ contracts end by notice
of etther party

Our remuneration practices

Base salary

Base salaries for Executive Directors are reviewed annually taking
Into account our competitive market position, individual
performance, Unilever's overall performance and levels of
increase in the rest of the organisation

2010 outcomes

Base salaries for Executive Directors were not increased from

1 January 2010 As Executive Directors’ salanes were not
Increased in 1 January 2009, this means that there have been no
increases for three years

Pension and other benefits

The policy 1s that Executive Directors are members of the
all-employee pension arrangement in their home country (or an
alternative of simdar value) and make personal contnbutions at
the same rate as other employees in that arrangement Both the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are members
of a defined contribution arrangement

Executive Directors enjoy similar benefits to those enjoyed by
many other sermor management employees of Unilever

Annual bonus

For 2010 the target bonus for the Chief Executive Officer was
113% of salary and the maximum would have been 200% of
salary The target bonus opportunity for the Chief Finanaal Officer
was 100% of salary and the maximum would have been 150% of
salary Demanding targets for finanaal results mean that maamum
bonus lavels are only payable for exceptional performance

The Executive Director’s annual bonus opportunity 1s based on
Unilever’s results referenced aganst financial targets set at the
beginnung of the year For 2010, targets were set by the
Commuttee for underlying volume growth, underlying operating
margin improvement and trade working caprtal improvement
over the previous year With these results in view, the Committee
then assessed the quality of performance, both in terms of
business results and leadership, induding corporate social
responsibility, to determine the actual bonus award for Executive
Directors

2010 outcomes

The annual bonus awards for 2010 reflect Unilever’s strong
performance achieved across the business and were 160% of
base salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 120% for the
Chief Financial Cfficer

Actual performance aganst the three main indicators for the
annual bonus met or exceeded the mid-point of the performance
ranges set by the Committee at the beginning of 2010 Underlying
volume growth at 5 8% was towards the top end of the range,
well above the market overall and demonstrated the strongest
growth achieved by Unilever in over 30 years Underlying
operating margin improvement was on target at 20bps and

average trade working capital reduced further than we had
targeted Based on this, the Committee tock the view that
performance was above target and in ne wath last year despite
overall better results This ngour accords with our ambition to
consistently raise standards of performance and establish a
stronger performance culture within Unilever

Share Matching Plan

Under the Share Matching Plan, Executive Directors are required to
invest 25% of their bonus into shares and hold them for @ minimum
period of three years The Executive Directors receive a matching
award of 25% of therr annual bonus in the form of NV and PLC
shares The matching shares normally vest after three years prowided
that the underlying shares have been retained duning this penod
and the Executive Director has not resigned or been dismissed

The Committee considers that there 1s no need for further
performance condiions on the vesting of the matching shares
because the number of shares is directly inked to the annual bonus
(which 1s itself subject to demanding performance conditions) In
addtion, duning the three-year vesting period the share price of NV
and PLC 1s Influenced by the performance of Unilever This, m turn,
affects the ultimate value of the matching shares on vesting

The 2011 grant relating to the annual bonus earned for 2010 will be
the last grant under the Share Matching Plan from 2011 Executive
Directors, like all other semior managers of Unilever, will participate
in the MCIP

Global Share Incentive Plan

Executive Directors receive annual awards of NV and PLC shares
under the GSIP The number of shares that vest after three years
depends on the satisfaction of performance conditions

The current maximum grant levels were agreed by sharehotders
In 2008 and are 200% of salary for the Chief Executive Officer
and just below 180% for other Executive Directars The vesting
range 1s between 0% and 200% of grant level

When the GSIP was introduced in 2007 the performance
conditions were

= underlying sates growth,

¢ ungeared free cash flow performance, and

» relatve total shareholder return

In 2010 the performance conditions were changed to the
following

= underlying sales growth,

+ operating cash flow,

» underlying cperating margin improvement, and

= relate total shareholder return

These performance conditions are identical to the performance
conditions of the MCIP

The new condrions apply to GSIP awards made in 2010 and
onwards and to the final two performance years of the GSIP
awards made n 2009

The structure of vesting will remain the same as for previous
awards except that for Executive Directors and the Unilever
Executive the four measures will be equally weighted (25% each)}
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For the three internal business-focused conditions there will be no
vesting if performance 1s below the minimum of the range, 25%
vesting for achieving threshold performance and 200% vesting
only for performance at or above the top end of the range In
addrtion, the performance condittons underlying sales growth
and underlying operating margin improvement must reach the
threshold of the performance range for both performance
conditions before any shares subject to either performance
condition can vest At the end of the three-year performance
peried the Commuttee will also assess Unilever's performance
against the three internal conditions relative to the performance of
peer group companies to ensure that vesting levels are appropriate

For the relative total shareholder return (TSR} performance
condiion, Unilever’s TSR 1s measured relative to a group of 20
other companies TSR measures the return receved by a
shareholder, captunng both the increase in share pnce and the
value of dvdend income {assuming dvidends are reinvested)
The TSR results are compared on a single reference currency
basis No shares in the portion of the award subject to TSR vest
if Unilever 1s ranked below position 11 in the peer group at the
end of the three-year penod, 50% vest if Unilever is ranked 11th,
100% if Unilever 15 ranked 7th and 200% If Unilever 1s ranked
3rd or above Straight-ine vesting occurs between these points

As per 2010 the current TSR peer group 15

Avon Heinz Nestlé

Belersdorf Henkel PepsiCo
Campbell Kao Procter & Gamble
Coca-Cola Kellogg Reckitt Benckiser
Colgate Kimberly-Clark Sara Lee

Danone Kraft Shiseide

General Mills L'Oreéal

2010 outcomes

As the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer joined
Unilever in 2008 and 2010 respectively they have no grants under
the GSIP that vested in 2010

New Management Co-Investment Plan

This new plan was approved by shareholders at the 2010 AGMs
When proposing the MCIP last year we notified shareholders that
the Executive Directors were technically eligible to particpate in
the plan, although the Remuneration Committee had decided to
defer therr particpation for at least the first year of the plan’s
operation it was introduced to support Unilever's drive for
profitable growth by encouraging Unilever’s managers to take a
greater financial interest in the performance of the Group and
the value of Urulever shares over the long term

The MCIP replaces the Share Matching Plan and allows Unilever's
managers to Invest up to 60% of their annual bonus in shares in
Untlever ('Investment Shares’) and to receive a corresponding
award of performance-related shares (the ‘Award’) The Award
will vest after three years, depending on Unilever’s performance,
continued employment and mantenance of the underlying
Investment Shares The performance conditions are 1identical to
the performance conditions of the GSIP to ensure alignment with
the drive for profitable growth As under the GSIP, vesting levels
will be between 0% and 200% However, the Remuneration
Committee has deaded to limit the maximum vesting level for
the Executive Directors to 150% To allow shareholders more
transparency around the performance conditions related to our
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jong-term incentives we Intend, after the vesting, to disclose
where each performance condition ended up on a range from
threshald to maximum Executive Directors, the Unilever
Executive and the top 100 managers are required to invest at
least 25% of their annual bonus in Unilever's shares

The MCIP will first be operated In 2011 1n respect of annual
bonuses relating to the 2010 financal year

Ultimate remedy

Grants under the GSIP and MCIP are subject to ultimate

remedy Upon vesting of an award, the Committee shall have

the discretionary power to adjust the value of the award if the
award, in the Committee’s opinion taking all arcumstances into
account, produces an unfar result In exercising this discretion the
Committee may take into account Unilever's performance against
non-finanaal measures The Committee will only adjust the value
of a vesting award upwards after obtairing shareholder consent

Dividend reinvestment

Both GSIP and MCIP provide that dwidends will also be
re-invested In respect of the shares under award but will only
be paid out to the extent that the underlying shares vest

Serving as non-executive on the board of another company
Executive Directors serving as a non-executive director on a board
of another company are permitted to retain all remuneration and
fees earned from outside directorships subject to a maximum of
one outside listed directorship {see Other appointments on page
40 for further detaills) Paul Polman 1s a non-executive director of
The Dow Chemical Company and received an annual fee of
€86,727 (based on the average exchange rate over the year

€1 =US $1 326} In addition he received a restricted award of
3,540 ordinary shares with a nominal value of US $2 50 per share
in the capital of The Dow Chemical Company The shares include
the rights to vote and to receive dividend thereon The shares
cannot be sold or transferred until Paul Polman leaves the board
of directors of The Dow Chemical Company, but not earlier than
5 March 2012

Arrangements for iim Lawrence

Jim Lawrence left Unulever in December 2009 The final tranche
of the 2007 restricted share award vested in September 2010,
the 2007 GSIP performance award vested in November 2010
but has been tme-proportioned The shares awarded in 2008
under the Share Matching Plan will vest in March 2011

Proposed changes from 2011 onwards

The Committee will continue to place emphasis on vanable

pay and performance but, having frozen the salares of Executive
Directors and other senior managers for three consecutive years,
which was the nght deasion in the economic arcumstances at
the time, the Committee will take a close look at the competitive
position of Unilever’s senior management pay dunng 2011 to
determine whether salary adjustments are justified

For 2011, the Commitice has adjusted the Chief Executive
Officer's target annual bonus upwards from 113% to 120% of
salary With the expiry of the Share Matching Plan we have
deaded to invite the Executive Directors to participate in the
MCIP In 2012 1n respect of any bonus earned for 2011 Under the
MCIP Executive Directors will continue to be required to invest a
minimum of 25% of therr bonus in shares but may elect to invest
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up to 60% Unlhke the Share Matching Plan, which had no performance targets, additional matching shares under the MCIP are
earned only to the extent that stretching performance targets are met

Following our review of 2010 performance the Committee has deaded to replace trade working capital improvement with undertying
sales growth as one of the three main performance indicators for the annual bonus in 2011 This more closely aligns these indicators
with our long-term strategic goals Nonetheless, we will continue to monitor a wader range of performance indicators to ensure that
annual bonus outcomes for Unilever's Executive Directors and sentor managers continue to reflect farly the performance of the
business and their indmadual contribution

Executive Directors’ remuneration in 2010

Remuneration fer individual Executive Directors {audited)
Annual Emecluments 2010

Allowances
Base and other Value of
salary payments*® benefits Bonus Total
Name and base country €'000 €000 €°'000 €'000 € 000
Jean-Marc Huet (UK)* 528 934= 5% 634 2,1
Paul Polman (UK} 1,072 ag" 20 1,715% 2,877
Total 2010 1,600 1,022 7 2,349 4,978
Total 2008 (including former Directors) 1,849 419 6 2,605 4,879

* This does not indude the cash bonus of £680,000 paid te Jean-Marc Huét for forfeiture of incentives from his former employer which was paid
before he was appainted as Executive Director, as disclosed in last year’s report

(3) Chief Financial Officer, appointed as Executive Director at May 2010 AGMs Base salary set in sterling was £680,000 per annum

(b} Includes allowance in lreu of company car, entertaining allowance and, as Mr Huet had to re-locate to the UK on appointment in 2010, he was
compensated for the costs associated with purchasing a home in the UK €795,844 of the payment reported above represents once-only
non-recurnng payments

{0} Includes benefits for private use of chauffeur-dniven car and medical insurance

(d) Chief Executive Officer Base salary set in sterling was £920,000 per annum

(e} Indudes allowance in heu of company car, entertaning allowance and payment for social security obligations in country of residence in 2010

(i) Includes benefits for private use of chauffeur-driven car

(g) Bonus for the year 2010 Includes the value of both the cash element and the element paid in shares of NV and PLC under the Share Matching
Plan It does nat include matching shares awarded on a conditional basis in addition to the element of the bonus paid i shares which 1s
disclosed in the Share Matching Plan table below

In addition, Unilever prowvides support to Executive Directors in relation to spouses’ travel expenses when travelling together on
company business This amount Is capped at 5% of base salary and the maximum limit for 2010 was €80,031

Amounts have been translated into euros using the average exchange rate over the year €1 = £0 858 (2009 €1 = £0 8905)
and €1 = US $1326 (2009 €1 =US $1 388)

Pensions (audited)

Both Jean-Marc Huet and Paul Polman are members of a defined contnbution pension arrangement The total pension cost for
Jean-Marc Huet including death in service benefits and admimistration costs was €112,000 This incdluded a company pension
contnbution of €77,000, a further company contnbution of €15,000 made in return for his indwvidual salary sacnfice and €20,000
for death i service and administration costs The total pension cost for Paul Polman including death in service benefits and
administration costs was €352,000 This induded a company pension contribution of €280,000 (of which €124,000 acaued to
compensate for the forferture of pension from his previous employer, which will vest at age 60 or later at actual retirement date),
a further company contnbution of €31,000 which was made n return for hus indivdual salary sacnfice and €41,000 for death in
service benefits and administration costs

Share Matching Plan (audited)

Balance of Balance of

conditional conditienal

shares shares at

at 1 January Conditional shares 31 December

2050 awarded in 2010% 2010

Share No of No of Price at No of

type shares shares award shares

Paul Polman NV 3.413 9,484 €22 53 12,897
PLC 3,413 9,484 £19 44 12,897

(a} Each award of matching shares 1s conditional and vests three years after the date of the award subject to continued employment and
maintenance of the underlying bonus shares The 2010 award was made at grant date 18 March 2010

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2010 65




Report of the Directors Governance

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Global Share incentive Plan {audited)

The followang conditional shares were granted during 2010 and outstanding at 31 December 2010 under the Global Share

Incentive Plan
Balance of
conditional shares at
1 January 2010

Conditonal grant 2010
{Performance period
1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012)*

Balance of
conditional shares at
31 Becember 2010

Share type No of shares No of sharas® Price at award No of shares

Jean-Marc Huet NV - 30,906 €72 53 30,906
PLC - 30,906 £19 44 30,906

Paul Polman NV 127,962 44,137 €2253 172,099
PLC 127,962 44 137 £1944 172,099

(@) Each award of conditional shares vests three years after the date of the award, subject to performance conditions as set out on page 63
The 2010 award was made at grant date 18 March 2010

{b) This Includes a grant of 58,752 of each of Unilever NV and PLC shares made on 6 Navember 2008 and a grant of 69,210 of each of Unilever Nv
and PLC shares made on 19 March 2009, that will vest on 6 November 2011 and 13 March 2012 respectively

Both Jean-Marc Huet and Paul Polman receved a one-off restricted stock award on joining Unilever under the GSIP Detalls of balances,
grants and vesting during 2010 are shown below

Balance of Balance of

shares at shares at

1 January 31 December

2010 Granted in 2010 Vestng in 2010 2010

Share type No of shares Price at award No of shares Price at vesting No of shares

Jean-Marc Hugt® NV - 65,650 €2253 n/a 65,650
PLC - 65,650 £1944 n/a 65,650

Paul Polman® NV 45,102 n/a 22,551 €22 56 22,551
PLC 45,102 nfa 22 551 1901 22,551

{a) Award agreed on joining Unilever Award was made 18 March 2010 and will vest 1/3, 1/3, 1/3 on respectively the first second and third
anniversary of the award, provided he has not resigned or been dismissed as a Executive Director at each vesting date

{b) Vesting on & Nevember 2010 of 1/3 of oniginal award (made 6 Novemnber 2008 at €18 93 and £14 39) The first 1/3 of the onginal award
vested on 6 November 2009 The remaining 1/3 of the onginal award 15 expected to vest on & November 2011 provided he has not resigned or
been disrmissed as a Executive Director before such date

Share Save plan (audited}
Options under the PLC Share Save Plan are subject to five-year vesting penods and vesting 1s contingent on continued employment
with Unilever

Balance of Balance of
optiens at options at First Final
Share 1 January Granted 31 December exercisable expiry
type 20104 In 2010 2010 date date
Paul Polman PLC 1,042 - 1,042 01/10/2014 01/04/2015

(a) Option price at grant was £14 92
The highest and lowest share price per ordinary PLC 3%p share during the year were £19 97 and £16 88

Executive Directors’ interests in shares (audited)

Shares held at Shares held at

Share type* 1 January 2010™ 31 Decamber 2010®
Jean-Marc Huet NV - 23,000
PLC - 23,000
Paul Polman NV 25,964 111,953
PLC 25,964 70,033

(a) NV shares are ordinary €0 16 shares and PLC shares are ordinary 3%p shares
(b) Numbers are excluding awards and options over shares which are disclosed above

The table shows the interest In NV and PLC ordinary shares of Executive Directors and their connected persons as at 31 December
2010 There has been no change in these (nterests between 31 December 2010 and 1 March 2011

The voting nights of the Directors who hold interests in the share capital of NV and PLC are the same as for other holders of the dass
of shares indicated None of the Directors’ (Executive and Non-Executive) or other executive officers’ shareholdings amounts to more
than 1% of the 1ssued shares In that class of share Except as stated above, all shareholdings are benefical
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Non-Executive Directors

Policy
Non-Executive Directors recewve annual fees from NV and PLC No
other remuneration is given in respect of therr non-executive duties

The Boards determine non-executive fee levels wathin a total
annual imit speafied in PLC's Articles of Association In 2007
shareholders approved an increase in the imit for PLC to
£2,000,000 and €3,000,000 for NV

Unilever's fee levels reflect the commitment and contnibution
expected by the Group Fee levels are also benchmarked at
regular intervals agamst those paid In other global non-financial

companies based in Europe
Fee levels
The fee levels remamed unchanged over 2010 and are as follows
NV PLC

Chairman €355,000 and £237,500
Vice-Chairman/Senior Independent

Chrector €85,800 and £82,500
Chairman of the Audit Committee €55,000 and £38,000
Board Committee Charman €50,000 and £35,000
Non-Executive Directors €45,000 and £31,000

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration in 2010 {audited)

Total fees  Total fees

paid pad
n 20104 i 2009*
Non-Executive Directors €000 €000
Michael Treschow™ 638 635
Leon Brittan® 38 96
Wim Dik®™ 34 93
Louise Fresco 88 60
Ann Fudge 120 79
Charles Golden 120 12
Byron Grote a8 93
Narayana Murthy" 53 106
Hixonia Nyasulu 120 112
Sir Malcolm Rifkind® 64 -
Kees Storm 106 107
Jeroen van der Veer 188 152
Paul Walsh 88 60
Total 1,745 1,786

{a) Covers {ees receved from both NV in euros and PLC in sterling
Includes set fees for intercontinental travel of €3,625 (via NV) and
£2,500 {via PLC) per Board meeting, if applicable Total amount for
travel fee in 2010 1s €183,000

{b} Chairman

{c) Retired at AGMs In May 2010

{d} Appointed at 2010 AGMs

Non-Executive Directors” interests in share capital (audited)

Shares Shares

held at 1 held at 31

Share  January December
type” 2010" 2010

Charles Golden NV NY - 1,000
PLC ADRs - -

Byron Grote NVNY 4,300 5300
PLC ADRs 3,500 5000

Louise Fresco NV - 1,000
PLC - -

Ann Fudge NV NY - -
PLC ADRs - 1,000

Michael Treschow NV 15,158 15,158
PLC 15,000 15,000

Jeroen van der Veer NV 156,800 16,800
PLC - -

Paul Walsh NV - -
PLC - 1,000

a) NV shares are ordinary €0 16 shares and PLC shares are ordinary
3%p shares

The table shows the interests in NV and PLC ordinary shares of
Non-Executive Directors and their connected persons as at

31 December 2010 There has been no change in these interests
between 31 December 2010 and 1 March 2011 other than Byron
Grote purchased 700 NV NY shares on 18 February 2011 at a
share price of US $29 95 each

Additional statutory disclosures

Unilever is required by UK regulation to show its relative share
performance, based on Total Shareholder Return, against

a holding of shares in a broad-based equity index for the last
five years The Committee has deaded to show Unilever's
performance against the FTSE 100 Index, London and also the
Euronext 100 index (AEX), Amsterdam as these are the most
relevant indices in the UK and the Netherlands where we have
our principal listings

Five-Year Historical TSR Performance

The table below includes

- Growth in the value of a hypothetical £100 holding over five years
FTSE 100 companson based on 30-trading-day average values, and

- Growth in the value of a hypothetical €100 investment over five
years AEX companson based on 30-trading-day average values

[ Lol

pailin. i
This Directors’ Remuneration Report has been approved by the

Boards and signed on their behalf by Torua Lovell - Chief Legal
Officer and Group Secretary
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

Annual accounts

The Directors are required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Cvil Code in
the Netherlands and the United Kingdom Companies Act 2006

to prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and farr
view of the state of affairs of the Unilever Group, and the NV and
PLC entities, as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or
loss and cash flows for that year

The Directors consider that, in prepanng the accounts, the Group
and the NV and PLC entities have used the most appropriate
accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all
International Financizl Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
and as 1ssued by the International Accouniing Standards Board

{in the case of the consolidated financial statements) and United
Kingdom accounting standards (in the case of the parent company
accounts) which they consider to be applicable have been followed

The Directors have responsibility for ensuring that NV and PLC keep
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy their
finanoial posttion and which enable the Directors to ensure that the
accounts comply with the relevant legislation They also have a
general respansibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open
to them to safeguard the assets of the Group, and to prevent and
detect fraud and other wrregularities

This statement, which should be read in conjunction wath the
Auditors’ reports, 15 made with a view to distinguishing for
shareholders the respective responsibilities of the Directors
and of the auditors In relation to the accounts

A copy of the financial statements of the Unilever Group

I1s placed on our website at www unilever com/investorrelations The
maintenance and integrity of the website are the responsibiity of the
Directors, and the work carned out by the auditors does not involve
consideration of these matters Accordingly, the auditors accept no
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial
statements since they were initially placed on the website Legislation
in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other junsdictions

UK law sets out additional responsibilities for the Directors of PLC
regarding disclosure of information to auditors Disclosure in respect
of these responsibilities 1s made on page 137

Directors’ responsibility statement
Each of the Directors confirms that, to the best of his or her
knowledge

» The financial statements which have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
EU and as issued by the international Accounting Standards Board
{m the case of the consolidated financial statements) and United
Kingdom accounting standards (in the case of the PLC parent
company accounts) and United Kingdom acceunting standards
and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code (in the case of the NV
parent company accounts), gve a true and fair view of the assets,
liabtlties, financial posrtion and profit or loss of the Group and
the NV and PLC entities taken as a whole

s The Report of the Directors incdudes a fair review of the
development and performance of the busmess and the position
of the Group and the NV and the PLC entities taken as a whole,
together with a description of the principal nisks and uncertainties
they face

The Directors and their functions are histed on pages 40 and 48

Going concern

The activities of the Group, togather with the factors likely to affect
its future development, performance the financial position of the
Group, its cash flows, iqundity pesition and borrowing facliies are
descnibed in About Unilever and the Financial review 2010 on pages
1 to 32 In addition, we describe in note 15 on pages S8 to 104 the
Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, its
financial nsk management objectives, details of its financial
nstruments and hedging activities, and its exposures to credit and
kquidity nsk

The Group has considerable financial resources together with

established business relationships with many customers and suppliers

In couniries throughout the world As a consequence, the Directors

believe that the Group 5 well placed to manage its business risks ‘
successfully despite the current uncertain outlook

After making enguines, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future Accordingly, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis in prepaning the Annual Report

and Accounts

Intemal and disclosure controls and procedures
Please refer to pages 33 to 37 for a discussion of Unilever's principal
risk factors and to pages 38 and 39 for commentary on the Group’s
approach to risk management and control
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Auditor’s report Netherlands
Independent auditor’s report

To: the General Meeting of Shareholders of Unilever
NV,

Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the consolidated finanaal statements as set out on
pages 72 to 123 and 126 to 127 which are part of the Annual Report
and Accounts 2010 of the Unilever Group for the year ended 31
December 2010, which comprise the conschdated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive Income, consolidated
statement of changes In equity, consolidated balance sheet,
consolidated cash flow statement and the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, compnsing a summary of significant accounting
policies and cther explanatory information

Directors’ responsibility

The directors are responsible for the preparation and farr
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reperting Standards as
adopted by the Eurcpean Union and as issued by the Internaticnal
Accounting Standards Board and with Part 9@ of Book 2 of the Dutch
Cwil Cede, and for the preparation of the Report of the Directors In
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civii Code
Furthermore, the directors are responsible for such internal control as
they determine 1s necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from matenal
misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility 15 to express an opihion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audt We conducted our audit In
accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on
Auditing This requires that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtam reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstaternent
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
Judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the company’s preparation and
tar presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropnate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the company’s internal contral An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion

Opinion with respect to the consohdated financial
statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial staterments give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Unilever Group as at

31 December 2010, and of 1ts result and 1ts cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reperting
Standards as adopted by the European Union and as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board and with Part 9 of Book 2
of the Dutch Civil Code

Separate report on company accounts
We have reported separately on the company accounts of Unilever
NV for the year ended 31 December 2010

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Pursuant to the legal requirement under Section 2 393 sub 5 at

e and f of the Dutch Civil Code, we have no deficencies to report as
a result of our examination whether the Report of the Directors, to
the extent we can assess, has been prepared in accordance with Fart
9 of Book 2 of this Code, and whether the information as required
392 sub 1 at b-h has been annexed Further we
port of the Directors, to the extent we can assess,
he consclidated financial statements as required
uby 4 of the Dutch Civil Code

, The Netherlands, 1 March 2011
cuseCoopers Accountants NV

R A J Swaak RA
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Auditor’s report United Kingdom

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Unilever PLC

We have audited the group financial statements of Unilever Group
for the year ended 31 Decernber 2010 which comprise the
consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity,
consolidated balance sheet, consolidated cash flow statement, and
the related notes on pages 72 to 123 and 126 to 127 The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in therr preparation 1s
applicable law and International Financia! Repoerting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

As explained more fully In the Statement of Directors’ responsibilitres
set out on page 69, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the Group financial statements and for being satsfied that they
give a true and far view Qur responsibility 1s to audit and express an
optnion on the group financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
ireland) Those standards require us to comply waih the Auditing
Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only
for the cornpany's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and {or no other purpose We
do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for
any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaiming evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to
the Group's circumstances and have been consistently appled and
adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the
financial statements

Opimion on financial statements
In our opinion the Group financial statements

* give a true and farr view of the state of the Group's affairs as at
31 December 2010 and of its profit and cash flows for the year
then ended,

* have been properly prepared in accordance with [FRSs as adopted
by the European Union, and

» have been prepared n accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the |AS Regulation

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as 1ssued by the |ASB
As explained in note 1 to the Group financial statements, the Group
in addition to complying with its legal obligation to apply IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, has also applied IFRSs as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)

In our opinion the Group finanaal statements comply with IFRSs as
1ssued by the 1AS8

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies
Act 2006

In our opinion, the information given in the Report of the Directors
for the financial year for which the Group financial statements are
prepared Is consistent with the Group financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required o report to you If,
in Qur opiron

» certain disclosures of directors' rernuneranon speafied by law are
not made, or

» we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

the Directors’ statement, set out on page 69, In relation to going
concern,

the part of the Corporate Governance statement relating to the
company's comphance with the nine provisions of the June 2008
Combined Code specified for our review and

certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on
directers’ remuneration

Other matters

We have reported separately on the parent company financal
statements of Unilever PLC for the year ended 31 December 2010
and ¢n the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that 1s
described as having been audited

Richard Sexton

(Servor Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London, United Kingdom

1 March 2011
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Financial statements Unilever Group

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December

€rmilhon €milion € rmilion
2010 2009 2008
Turnover 2 44262 39,823 40,523
Operating profit 2 6,339 5,020 7187
After {charging)/crediting
Restructuning 3 {589) (897) (868)
Business disposzls, impairments and other one-off items 3 308 29 2,137
Net finance costs 5 (394) (593) (257)
Finance wncome 77 75 106
Finance costs {491} (504) (506)
Pensions and similar obligations 20 (164) 143
Share of net profit/loss) of joint ventures 11 120 m 125
Share of net profit/{loss) of associates 11 9) 4 6
QOther income from non-current investments 11 76 374 88
Profit before taxation 6132 4,916 7129
Taxation 6 (1.534) (1,257) (1,844)
Net profit 4,598 3,659 5,285
Attributable to
Non-controlling interests 354 289 258
Shareholders” equity 4,244 3,370 5,027
Combined earnings per share 7
Basic earnings per share 151 179
Diluted earnings per share 146 173

References in the consoldated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
In equrty, consolidated balance sheet and consolidated cash flow statement relate to notes on pages 76 to 123, which form an integral part

of the consohdated financial statemenits

Accounting policies of the Unilever Group are set out in note 1 on pages 76 to 80
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December

€ million € million € milion
2010 2009 2008
Farr value gains/{losses) net of tax
On cash flow hedges a1 40 {(18)
On available-for-sale financial assets 2 65 46)
Actuanal gains/{losses) on pension scheres net of tax 105 18 (2,293)
Currency retranslation gans/losses) net of tax™ 460 396 (1,688)
Net income/{expense) recognised directly in equity 6038 519 {4,145)
Net profit 4,598 3,659 5,285
Total comprehensive income 20 5,206 4178 1,140
Attributable to
Nan-controlling interests 412 301 205
Shareholders’ equity 4,794 3,877 935
(3) Includes fair value gains/(losses) on net nvestment hedges of €107 million (2009 €(58) million, 2008 €(S60) million}
See also note 20 on page 111
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December
€ millon € milion €million
2010 2009 2008
Equity at 1 January 12,536 10,372 12,819
Total comprehensive iIncome for the year 5,206 4,178 1,140
Dwidends on ordinary capital (2,309) (2,115) (2,052)
Movement In treasury stock {126) 129 (1,417)
Share-based payment credit 144 195 125
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (289) (244) (208)
Currency retranslation gains/losses) net of tax 2 3 (38)
Other movements in equity (86} 18 3
Equity at 31 December 21 15,078 12,536 10,372

Far further infarmation on movements In equity please refer to note 21 on page 112
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Financial statements Unilever Group

Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December

€mullion € milion
2010 2009
Gocdwill 9 13178 12,464
Intangible assets 9 5100 4,583
Property, plant and equipment 10 7854 6,644
Pension asset for funded schemes in surplus 19 910 758
Deferred tax assets 17 607 738
Other non-current assets 11 1,034 1,017
Total non-current assets 28,683 26,205
Inventones 12 4309 3,578
Trade and other current recevables 13 4135 3,429
Current tax assets 298 173
Cash and cash equivalents 14 2,316 2,642
Other financial assets 14 550 972
Non-current assets held for sale 27 876 W7
Total current assets 12,484 10,811
Finanaal habilites 14 (2,276} (2,279
Trade payables and other current habilities 16 {10,226) (8,413)
Current tax habilities (639) (487)
Prowisions 138 {408) {420)
Liabiities directly associated wath non-current assets held for sale 27 (57) -
Total current habilities (13,606) {11,599)
Net current assets/(Llabilities) (1,122) (788)
Total assets less current habihities 27,561 25,117
Financial labibities due after one year 14 7,258 7,692
Non-current tax habiliies 184 107
Pensions and post-retirement healthcare habilities
Funded schemes in defict 19 1,081 1,519
Unfunded schemes 19 1,899 1,822
Provisions 18 886 729
Deferred tax habilites 17 880 764
Other non-current liabiities 16 295 248
Total non-current habilities 12,483 12,881
Share capital 21 484 484
Share premium 21 134 131
Other reserves 21 {5,406) (5,900)
Retained profit 21 19,273 17,350
Shareholders’ equity 14,485 12,065
Non-controlling interests 21 593 471
Total equity 15,078 12,536
Total capital employed 27,561 25,417

Commitments and contingent labilities are shown in note 25 on pages 115 and 116

These fln ncial statements, tpgether with the Report of the Directors, have been approved by the Directors

Aaf fwé/

The Board of Directors
1 March 2011
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December

€million €million € mithon
2010 2009 2008
Cash flow frorm operating activires 28 6,818 6,733 5,326
Income tax pawd {1.328) (959) (1,455}
Net cash flow from operating activities 5,430 774 3.871
Interest received 70 73 105
Purchase of intangible assets {177} 121} (147)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,638) (1,248) (1,142)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 114 m 190
Acquisition of group companies, joint ventures and associates {1,252) (409) (211}
Disposal of group companies, joint ventures and associates 891 270 2,476
Acquisition of other non-current investments (85) (95) {126}
Disposal of other non-current Investments 151 224 47
Dwidends from joint ventures, assocates and other non-current investments 184 201 132
(Purchase)/sale of financial assets 578 (269) 91
Net cash flow (used in}/from mvesting activities (1,164) (1,263) 1,415
Dwidends paid on ordinary share capital (2,323) (2,106} (2,086)
Interest and preference dividends paid (494) (517 487)
Addtional financial habilities 40 2,913 4,544
Repayment of financal habilites {1.391) (4,456) (3.427)
Sale and leaseback transactions resulting in finance leases - - m
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (22) {24) (66)
Share buy-back programme - - (1,503}
Other movements on treasury stock {(124) 103 103
Other financing activities {295) {214} (207
Net cash flow {used in)/from financing activities (4,609) (4,301 (3,130)
Net increase/{decrease)} in cash and cash equivalents (283) 210 2,156
Cash and cash eguivalents at the beginning of the year 2,397 2,360 901
Fffect of foreign exchange rate changes (148} (173} {657)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14 1,966 2,397 2,360

The cash flows of penston funds {ather than contributions and other direct payments made by the Group in respect of pensions and similar

obligations) are not included in the consolidated cash flow statement
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements Unilever Group

1 Accounting information and policies

The accounting policies adopted are the same as those which applied
for the previous financial year, except as set out below under the
heading ‘Recent accounting developments’

Unilever

The two parent companies, NV and PLC, together with their group
companies, operate as a single economic entity (the Unilever Group,
also referred to as Unilever or the Group) NV and PLC have the same
Directors and are inked by a senes of agreements, indluding an
Equalisation Agreement, which are designed so that the position of
the shareholders of both companies is as nearly as possible the same
as If they held shares in a single company

The Equalisation Agreement provides that both compantes adopt the
same accounting principles and requires as a general rule the dividends
and other nghts and benefits (iIncluding nghts on hquidation) attaching
to each €0 16 nominal of ordinary share capital of NV to be equal In
value at the relevant rate of exchange to the dividends and other nights
and benefits attaching to each 3'sp nominal of ordinary share capital
of PLC, as if each such umit of capital formed part of the ordinary
capital of one and the same company For additional information
please refer to ‘Corporate governan<e’ on page 51

Basis of consolidation

Due to the operational and contractual arrangements referred to
above, NV and PLC form a single reporting entity for the purposes of
presenting consohidated financial statements Accordingly, the accounts
of Unilever are presented by both NV and PLC as therr respective
consolidated financial statements Group companies included in the
consolidation are those companses controlled by NV or PLC Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities

The net assets and results of acquired businesses are included in the
consohdated financial statements from their respective dates of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtatns control The
results of disposed businesses are included in the consclidated financial
statemnents up to ther date of disposal, being the date control ceases

Inter-cormpany transactions and balances are eiminated

Compantes legislation and accounting standards

The consohdated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
adopted by the European Union (EU), IFRIC Interpretations and i
accordance with Part 9 of Bocok 2 of the Cwil Code in the Netherlands
and the United Kingdom Companies Act 2006 They are alse in
comphance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board

These accounts are prepared under the histarical cost convention unless
otherwise indicated

Goodwill

Goodwill anses on business combinations 1115 calculated as the excess
of the total fair value of consideration transferred plus the amount of
any non-controlling Interest in the acquiree plus the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity Interest In the acquiree, less the farr
value of the Group s share of the identifiable net assets acquired
Goodwill 15 capitalised and s not subject to amortisation 1t 1s carned
at cost but subject to impairment testing annually, or more frequently
if events or circumstances indicate this 1s necessary Any imparment

1s charged to the income statement as 1t anses

Goodwill acquired in a business combination 1s allocated to the Group’s
cash generating units, or groups of cash generating umits, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination These
might not always be precisely the same as the cash generating units
that the assets or liabilities of the acquired business are assigned

to Each unit or group of umits to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill 1s
monitored for internal management purposes, and I1s not larger than

an operating segment
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Intangible assets

On acquisitton of new interests in group companies, Unilever recognises
any specifically identifiable intangible assets separately from gocdwill
Intangible assets are iniwally measured at fair value as at the date of
acquisition Separately purchased intangible assets are initrally

measured at cost

Finite-lived intangible assets mainly comprise patented and non-patented
technology, know-how and software These assets are capitahsed and
amortised on a straight-line basis in the income statement over the
period of their expected useful lives, or the period of legal nghts 1f
shorter None of the amoruisation penods exceeds ten years and
peniods in excess of five years are used only where Unitever 1s satisfied
that the life of these assets will clearly exceed that perod

Indefinite-lived intangibles mainly compnse trademarks These assets

are caprtalised but are not amortised They are subject to an annual

review for impairment or more frequently if events or arcumstances

indicate this is necessary Any imparment 15 charged to the income |
statement as 1t arises |

Unilever monitors the level of product development costs against all

the criteria set out in 1AS 38 These include the reguirement to establish

that a flow of economic benefits 1s prabable before costs are

capitalised For Unilever this s ewident only shortly before a product 1s

launched inte the market The level of costs incurred after these critena |

have been met 1s currently insigruficant |
|

Pensions and similar obhigations

For defined benefit plans, the operating and fmancing <osts are recognised |
separately in the income statement The amount charged to operating ‘
cost in the Income statement Is the cost of accruing pension benefits

promised to employees over the year plus the costs of individual events

such as past service benefit enhancements settlements and ‘
curtailments (such events are recognised immedsately in the income

statement) The amount charged to financing costs includes a credit

equivalent to the Group's expected return on the pension plans’ assets

over the year, offset by a charge equal io the expected increase in the

plans’ llabilities over the year Any differences between the expected

return on assets and the return actually achieved, and any changes in

the liabilities over the year due to changes in assumptions or experience

within the plans, are recognised immedrately in the staterment of

comprehensive Income

The defined benefit plan surplus or deficit in the balance sheet
compnses the total for each plan of the fair value of plan assets less the
present value of the defined benefit chligation {using a discount rate
based on high quality corporate bonds)

Al defined benefit plans are subject to regular actuanal review using
the projected unit method, erither by external consultants or by
actuanes employed by Unilever The Group policy is that the most
important plans, representing approxmately 80% of the defined
benefit iiabilities, are formally valued every year Other principal plans,
accounting for approximately a further 15% of Labilities, have their
liabilities updated each year Group policy for the remaining plans
requires a full actuanal valuation at least every three years Asset
values for all plans are updated every year

For defined contrbution plans, the charges to the income statement
are the company contributions payable, as the company’s obligation is
himited to contributions paid into the plans The assets and habihtes of
such plans are not included In the balance sheet of the Group

Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and
deferred tax Income tax 15 recogrised in the iIncome statement except
to the extent that it relates to iterns recognised directly in equity

Current tax 15 the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date, and any adjustmenis to tax payable in respect of prewious years
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1 Accounting information and policies {continued)

Deferred taxation is recognised using the liability method on taxable
temporary differences between the tax base and the accounting base
of tems included in the balance sheet of the Group Certain temporary
differences are not provided for gocdwill not deductible for tax
purposes, the initial recogrition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the
forseeable future The amount of deferred tax provided 1s based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrymg amount
of assets and labilities, using tax rates prevailing at the year end unless
future rates have been enacted or substantively enacted

A deferred tax asset 1s recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset ¢can
be utilsed Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that itis no
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realsed

Provisions

Provisions are recognised where a legal or constructive obligation exists
at the balance sheet date, as a result of a past event and where the
amount of the obhigation can be relably estmated

Business combinations

Bustness combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
accounting method This involves recognising identifiable assets and
habthties of the acquired business at fair value as at the date of
acquisition Adjustrments are made to align accounting policies, and the
fair value of the assets and habilibes of the acquired entity 15 calculated

Changes in ownership interest that do not result in 2 change of contrel
are accounted for as equity transactions whereby the difference
between the consideration and the non-controlling share of the net
assets acquired 1s recognised in reserves within shareholders' equity

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 1s stated at cost less depreciation and
impairment It 1s imitially recognised at cost, including ehgible borrewing
costs Deprecation s provided on a straight-line basis based on the
expected average useful lives of the assets and their residual values
Residual values are reviewed at least annually Estimated useful lives

by major ¢lass of assets are as follows

Freehcid buldings 40 years
(no depreciation on freehold land)
Leasehold bulldings

Plant and equipment

40 years*
2-20 years

*ar Ife of lease If less than 40 years

Property, plant and equipment is subject to review for impairment if
triggenng events or arcumstances indicate that this s necessary Any
impairment 1s charged to the Income statement as 1t anses

Revenue recognition

Turnover compnses sales of goods and services after the deduction of
discounts, salas taxes and estimated returns It dees not include sales
between group companies Discounts given by Unilever include rebates,
price reductions and incentives given to customers, promotional
couponing and trade communication costs

Turnaver Is recognised when the nisks and rewards of the underlying
products and services have been substantially transferred to the
customer Depending on indwvidual customer terms, this can be at
the time of dispatch, delivery or upon formal customer acceptance
Revenue from services is recognised as the services are perfarmed

Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in eurcs The
functional currenaes of NV and PLC are euros and sterling respectively
Items indluded in the finanaal staternents of iIndividual group companies
are recorded in therr respective functional currency which is the currency
of the primary economic environment in which each entity operates
Foreign currency transactions in individual group companies are
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates

prevaiiing at the dates of the transactions Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transact:ons and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and habilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised In the Income
statement, except when deferred In equity as qualifying hedges
Foreign exchange gains and losses ansing on trading transactions are
taken to operating profit, those arising on cash, financial assets and
financal habibties are classified as finance ncome or cost

In prepanng the consolidated financial statements, the balances in
individual group companies are translated from their functional
currency into euros The income statement, the cash flow staternent
and all other movements In assets and habilities are translated at
average rates of exchange except where the use of such average rates
does not approximate to the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction, in which case the transaction rate 1s used The balance
sheet, other than the ordinary share capital of NV and PLC, Is translated
at year-end rates of exchange In the case of hypennflationary
economies the accounts are adjusted to refiect current price levels and
remove the influences of inflation before being transiated intc euros

The ordinary share capital of NV and PLC 15 translated in accordance
with the Equalisation Agreement The difference between the resulting
value for PLC and the value derived by applying the year-end rate of
exchange Is taken to other reserves (see note 23 on page 113)

The effects of exchange rate changes during the year on net assets at
the beginning of the year are recorded as a movement in shareholders’
equity, as 1s the difference between profit of the year retained at
average rates of exchange and at year-end rates of exchange For these
purposes net assets include loans between group comparies and any
related foraign exchange contracts where settlement 1s nerther planned
nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future Exchange gains/losses on
hedges of net assets are alsc recorded as a movement In equity

Cumulative exchange differences arising since the date of transition to
{FRS of 1 January 2004 are reported as a separate component of ather
reserves (see note 23 on page 114) In the event of disposal or part
disposal of an interest in a group company either through sale or as a
result of a repayment of capital, the cumulative exchange difference

15 recognised In the ncome statement as part of the profit or loss

on disposal of group companies

Finanaal instruments

Financial assets

Finanaial assets are classified into one of four categories The classification
of financial assets s determined at initial recognition depending on the
purpaose for which they were acquired Any impairment 1s recognised

In the Income statement as (t anses

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-matunty investments are assets with set cash flows and fixed
maturrties which Unilever intends to hold to matunty They are held at cost
plus interest using the effective interest method, less any impairments

Loans and receivables

Loans and recevables have set payments and are not quoted in an
active market They arnise when the Group provides money, goods or
services Loans and recewvables are included in the halance sheet at
amortised cost

Short-term loans and receivables are initially measured at onginal
nvoice amount less any impatrments

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are in this category of they are intended to be sold in the
short term They are currant assets if they are expected to be realised
within 12 months Transaction costs related to the purchase of the
assets are expensed as incurred Denvatives are dlassified here unless
they are designated as hedges Gains and losses arising from changes
n value are included :n the income statement
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1 Accounting information and policies {(continued)

Avallable-for-sale financial assets

Avallable-for-sale financial assets are assets that are designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other categones They are
non-current assets unless the Group intends to dispose of thern wathin
12 months Changes in value are recognised n equity until the
investment 1s sold or impaired, when they are included in the Income
statement

Interest on avatlable-for-sale secunties i1s calculated using the effective
interest method and recogmised within other income Dmdends on
equity Investments are also recognised within other iIncome

Financial habilities

Financial iabilities are recognised initiaily at fair value, net of transaction
costs They are subsequently held at amortised cost unless they are part
of a farr value hedge Any difference between the amount on mitial
recognition and the redemption value 1s recognised in the Income
statement using the effective interest method

Short-term financial labilities are measured at cnginal invoice amount

Derivatives

Dervatives are measured on the balance sheet at farr value and are
used primarily to manage the nsks of changes in exchange and interest
rates The Group uses derivatives such as fareign exchange forward
contracis, Interest rate swap contracts and forward rate agreements
to hedge these exposures The Group also uses commaodity contracts
to hedge some raw matenals Contracts that can be settled in cash

are treated as financal instruments The Group does not use dervative
financial instruments for speculative purposes

Changes In the far value of derwatwes that do not qualify for hedge
accounting and any hedge ineffectiveness are recognised in the income
statement as they anse

Cash flow hedges

Changes in the value of derivatives used as hedges of future cash flows
are recogmised in equity with any neffective portion recognised in the
income statement If the cash flow hedge results in the recognition of
a non-financial asset or a lability the gain or loss on the denvative 1s
included in the imstial measurement of that asset or habthty For other
cash flow hedges amounts deferred in equity are taken to the income
statement when the hedged item affects profit or loss

When a hedging instrument no longer quahifies for hedge accounting,
any cumulatve gain or loss 1s retained in equity untl the forecasted
transaction occurs If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to
oceur, the cumnulative gain or loss 1s transferred to the iIncome
statement

Fair value hedges

In an effective fair value hedge, the hedged item 1s adjusted for
changes in fair value, with the corresponding entry in the income
statement Gains and losses on the hedging mstrument are recogrised
tn the Income statement In a fully effective hedge the adjustments

1o the ncome statement are of equal and opposite vatue For
nion-denvatives only the foreign currency element can be a hedging
mstrument

Net investment hedges

Net investment hedges are hedges of exchange nsks from investments
in foreign subsidianies Gains and losses are recognised In equity The
accumulated gains and losses are taken to the income statement when
the foreign operation 1s sold or partially disposed

Valuation principles

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices
For listed secunties where the market 1s not hquid, and for unlisted
secunties, the Group uses valuation techniques These incfude the use
of recent arm's-length transactions, reference to other instrurnents that
are substantially the same and discounted cash flow calculations
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impairment of finanaial instruments

At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there s
evidence that financial assets are imparred A significant or prolonged
fall in value below cost 15 considered in determining whether an asset
1s ympawred For available-for-sale financial assets the curmnulative loss s
removed from equity and recognised in the income statement Any
subsequent reversals of impairment losses on avalable-for-sale equity
instruments are not recognised in the income statement

Cash and cash equivalents

In the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash at
bank and in hand, short-term highly iquid interest-bearing secunties
with onginal matunties of three months or less, Investments in money
market funds that are readily convertible into cash with insignificant nsk
of changes in value, and bank overdrafts

Other non-current assets

laint ventures are undertakings in which the Group has an interest
and which are jointly controlled by the Group and one or more other
parties Associates are undertakings where the Group has an
investment in which it does not have control or joint control but can
exercise significant influence

Interests in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the
equity method and are stated in the consclidated balance sheet at cost,
adjusted for the movement i the Group’s share of therr net assets and
liabilities The Group's share of the profit or loss after tax of joint
ventures and associates Is included in the Group’s consolidated profit
before taxation

Segment information

Segment nformation is provided based on the geographic segments
of the management structure of the Group Additional information 1s
provided by product area

Inventories

Inventones are valued at the lower of weighted average cost and net
realisable value Cost comprnises direct costs and, where appropriate,
a proportion of attributable production overheads

Assets held for sale

Assets and groups of assets and labilties which comprise disposal
groups are classified as ‘held for sale’ when all of the following ¢niteria
are met a decision has been made to sell, the assets are available for
sale immediately, the assets are being actively marketed, and a sale
has been or is expected to be concluded within twelve months of the
balance sheet date Assets and dispaosal groups held for sale are valued
at the lower of book value or farr value less disposal costs Assets held
for sale are not depreciated

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantally all the nsks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee All other leases are classified as operating leases

Assets held under finance leases are recogrnised as non-current

assets of the Group at the lower of therr fair value at the date of
commencement of the lease and at the present value of the mimimum
lease payments These assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term The
correspending hability to the lessor s included in the balance sheet as
a finance lease obligation Lease payments are apportioned between
finance costs in the income statement and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the hability

Lease payments under operating leases are charged to the tncome
statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease

Research and market support costs
Expenditure on research and market support, such as advertsing,
15 charged to the income staternent when incurred
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Share-based payments

The farr value of the share awards and the share options at the grant date
15 determined by option pricing models, pnncipally adjusted Black-Scholes
models or a multinormial pricing model The fair value of the share awards
and the share options s charged to the income statement over the
vesting peniod The value of the charge 15 adjusted to reflect expected
and actual levels of awards vesting, except where the falure to vest is
as a result of not meeting a market condition Cancellations of equity
instruments are treated as an acceleration of the vesting pentod and

any outstanding charge 1s recognised 1n the income statement
immedtately

Shares held by employee share trusts

Certain PLC trusts, NV and group companies purchase and hold NV
and PLC shares to satisfy options granted Their assets and habilities are
included in the consolidated financial statements The book value of
shares held 1s deducted from other reserves, and trusts' borrowings are
included n the Group's habiities The costs of the trusts are Included in
the results of the Group These shares are excluded from the calculation
of earnings per share

Crnitical accounting estimates and judgemaents

Estmates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the crcumstances

The preparation of financial statements requires management to

make estimates and assumptions concerning the future The resulting
accounting estimates will, by defintion, seldom equal the related actual
results The estimates and assumptions that have a significant nsk of
causing a materal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below

Income statement presentation

On the face of the income statement, costs and revenues relating to
restructuring, business disposals and impairments are disclosed In
addition, indmdual items judged to be significant are disclosed
separately These are material in terms of nature and amount 1AS 1,
Presentation of Financial Statements, provides no definitive guidance as
to the format of the income statement, but states key lines which should
be disclosed It also encourages the disclosure of additional [ine items and
the re-ordering of items presented on the face of the income statement
when appropriate These disclosures are given In order to provide
addional information to help users better understand financial
performance

Goodwill and intangible assets

The Group recognises goodwill and intangible assets which have
ansen through acquisitions The most significant balances of goodwill
and intangible assets relate 1o the regional savoury and dressings
sub-product groups

These assets are subject to impairment reviews 1o ensure that the
assets are not carned above therr recoverable amounts for goodwill
and indefinite-hived intangible assets, reviews are performed at least
annually or more frequently If events or crcumstances indicate that this
15 necessary, for other intangible assets, reviews are performed if events
or arcumnstances indicate that this 1s necessary

impairment reviews are performed by companng the carrying value
of the cash generating unit concerned to that cash generating unit's
recoverable amount being the higher of value in use and farr value
less costs 1o sell Value In use 15 a valuation derived from the discounted
future cash flows of cash generating units The most important
estimates in these forecast cash flows are the long-term growth rates
used to calculate revenue growth in perpeturty and the discount
rates which are applied to the future cash flows These esumates

are rewiewed at least annually and are believed to be appropriate
However, changes in these estimates could change the outcomes of
the impairment reviews and therefore affect future finanaal results
The effects would be recognised in the income staternent, through
operating profit

Thne Group has reviewed the carrying value of the cash generating units
by considening expected future cash flows based on historical
experience and planned growth rates and margins for the product
groups

Please refer also to note 9 on pages 87 and 88

Pensions and similar obligations

The Group operates a number of pension plans, including defined
benefit plans The defined benefit plan surplus or deficit in the balance
sheet compnses the total for each plan of the far value of plan assets
less the present value of the defined benefit chligation (using a
discount rate based on high-quality corporate bonds)

Pension accounting requires certain assurmptions to be made in order
to value our obligations and to determine the charges to be made

to the Income statement These figures are particularly sensitive

to assumptions for discount rates, inflation rates, mortality rates

and expected long-term rates of return on assets Information about
sensitivity to certain of these assumptions i1s given in note 19 on page
108

The following table sets out these assumptions {except for mortality
rates), as at 31 December 2010 in respect of the four largest Unilever
penston plans Further details of assumptions (ncluding mortality rates)
made are given in note 19 on pages 108 and 109

% % % %
Nether- United

UK lands States  Germany
Discount rate 54 a7 52 47
Inflation 31 18 23 18
Expected long-term rate of return
Equities 77 70 74 70
Bonds 46 43 44 42
Praperty 62 55 59 55
Others 71 56 17 55

These assumptions are set annually by reference to market conditions at
the valuation date Actual experience may differ from the assumpuons
made The effects would be recognised In the statement of
comprehensive iIncome

Demographic assumptions, such as mortahty rates, are set having
regard to the latest trends in fife expectancy, plan experience and other
relevant data The assumptions are reviewed annually and updated

as necessary as part of the periodic actuarnal valuation of the pension
plans

Prowvisions

The Group records provision for matters where a legal or constructive
obligation exists at the balance sheet date, as a result of a past event
and a reliable estimate can be made of the obhigation These matters
might include restructurng projects, legal matters, disputed indirect
taxes and other items These obligations may not be settled for a
number of years and a reliable estimate has to be made of the likely
outcome of each of these matters

These provisions represent our best estimate of the costs that will

be mcurred but actual expenence may differ from the estimates made
and therefore affect future financal results The effects would be
recognised in the income statement, prnimarily through operating profit
and finance costs See also note 18 on page 106
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Taxation

The Group makes estimates in respect of tax labvlities and tax assets
Full provision 1s made for deferred and current taxation at the rates

of tax prevailing at the year end unless future rates have been
substantively enacted These calculations represent cur best estimate of
the costs that will be incurred and recovered but actual experience may
differ from the estimates made and therefore affect future finanaal
results The effects would be recognised in the income statement,
primanly through taxation See also note 6 on page 85

Companies within the Group have tax lrabilities on therr taxable profits
and some are involved in tax audits and local enquines usually in
relation to prior years Investrgations and negotiations wath local tax
authorities are ongoing in vanous Junsdictions at the balance sheet date
and, by their nature, these can take considerable time to conclude In
assessing the amount of any provisians to be recognised in the financal
statements for these matters, estmation 1s made of the expected
successful settlement of these matters Estimates of interest and
penalties on tax habilities are also recorded

Deferred tax assets anse in respect of unutilised losses and other timing
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be utihsed In assessing
recoverability, estimation 1s made of the future forecasts of taxable
profit If these forecast profits do not matenalise, they change, or there
are changes in tax rates or to the period over which the lgsses or timing
differences might be recognised, then the value of deferred tax assets
will need to be revised n a future penod

The Group has losses and other timing differences for which no value
has been recognised for deferred tax purposes in these finanaal
statements This sttuation can anise in loss-making subsidianes where
the future economic benefit of these timing differences 1s estimated
to be not probable 1t can also anse where the timing differences are
of such a nature that therr value 15 dependent on only certain types
of profit being earned, such as capiial profits If trading or other
appropriate profits are earned in future in these companies, these
losses and other tuming differences may yield bepefit to the Greup

in the form of a reduced tax charge

Business combnations

During 2010, the Group completed the acquisitton of the Personal
Care business of the Sara Lee Corporation The Group has recorded a
provisional valuation of the assets and habilities of the Personal Care
business The most important estimates i the provisional valuation
relate to the intangible assets and the fair value adjustments to the
existing assets and habilitres of the business For intangible assets, the
following are estimated useful economic life, expected profitability,
long-term growth rates, praduct Iifecycles and market position The
Group has also estimated the value of the Sanex brand in the Eurcpean
market which will be disposed of during 2011

Changes in these estimates could change the provisional valuations
within the balance sheet, pnmarily goodwill, iIntangible assets and other
assets and habilities Changes in estimates later than one year from the
acquisition date would most likely be recorded in the income statement

Recent accounting developments

Adopted by the Group

From 1 January 2010, the Group adopted IFRS 3 ‘Business
Combinations (Revised)’ and 1AS 27 'Consolidated and Separate
Finanaal Statements (Amended)’ {effective for periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2009) which affects acquisitions or loss of control of
subsidianes and transactions with non-controlling interests Prior year
numbers are not restated
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The Group has also adopted the following new and amended IFRSs
and IFRIC interpretations with no material impact

¢ |FRS 2 (Amendments) ‘Group cash-settled and share-based payment
transactions’ was effective from 1 January 2010

« Amendment to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and
Measurement - Elgible Hedged ltems’ was effective for periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009

¢ |FRIC 17 ‘Distnbution of non-cash assets to owners’ was effective for
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

* ‘Improvements to IFRS’ (issued Apnl 2009) was effective for penods
beginning on or after 1 January 2010

Not adopted by the Group

The Group 15 currently assessing the impact of the following revised
standards and interpretations or amendments that are not yet effectve
These changes will be adopted on the effective dates noted and are
not expected to have a matenal impact on the Group's results of
operations, financal positon or disclosures

= |AS 24 'Related Party Disclosures (Revised)” will be effective for
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 The changes primarily
relate to government-related entities and the definiion of a related
party

¢ IAS 32 (Amendments) ‘Financial Instruments Disclosuze” wall

be effective for periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010

The changes primarly relate to the classification of nghts, options

and warrants

IFRIC 19 “Extingurshing Financial Liabities with Equity Instruments’ s

effective for penods beginming on or after 1 July 2010

IFRIC 14 ‘Minimum Funding Requirement {Amendment)’ is effective

for periods beginning on or after 1 Jfanuary 2011

‘Improvements 10 IFRS’ (issued May 2010) 1s effective for penods

beginning on or after 1 July 2010

The Group is currently assessing the impact of the following revised
standards and interpretations or amendments that are not yet effective
These changes have not yet been endorsed by the EU so will not
necessarily be adopted by the effective dates noted

= |FRS 9 'Financial Instruments’ 1s effective for periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013 amends the classification and measurement for
financial assets
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2 Segment information

Our operating and reportable segments are the three operating regions of Asia Africa and Central & Eastern Turope (Asia Africa CEE),
The Amencas and Western Europe Additional information 1s provided by product area, our products are sold across all eperating regions

The analysis of turnover by geographical area 1s stated on the basis of onigin Inter-segment sales are carmed out at arm’s length Inter-segment
sales were not matenal Other non-cash charges include charges to the income statement duning the year In respect of the share-based
cormpensation, iImpairment and provisions Segment results are presented on the basis of operating profit

€ million €million €mdlion €million
Asia Afnca The Waestern
CEE Amencas Eurape Total

2010
Turnover 17,685 14,562 12,015 44,262
Operating profit 2,253 2,169 1,917 6,339
Restructunng, disposals, imparrments and other one-off 1tems (RDIS)? (108) {159) (14) (281)
Operating profit before RDIs 2,361 2,328 1,931 6,620
Share of net profitAloss) of joint ventures {1 69 52 120
Share of net profit/loss) of associates - - (9) 9)
Deprecation and ameortisation (323) (292) (378) (993)
Impairment and cther non-cash charges (48) {188) (290) (526)
2009
Turnover 14,897 12,850 12,076 39,823
COperating profit 1,927 1,843 1,250 5,020
Restructuring, disposals, impairments and other one-off items (RDIs)* (147 (231) (490) (B68)
Operating profit before RDIs 2,074 2074 1,740 5,888 '
Share of net profit{loss) of joint ventures - 62 49 m ,
Share of net profit/{loss) of associates - - 4 4
Depreciation and amortisation (301 (311) 407) {1.019)
Impairment and other non-cash charges {111} (196) (194) (501)
2008
Turnover 14,471 13,199 12,853 40,523
Operating profit 1,701 2,945 2,521 7167
Restructuring, disposals, impairments and other one-off items (RDIsy™ 6 907 356 1,269
Operating profit before RDIs 1,695 2,038 2,165 5,893
Share of net profit/{loss} of joint ventures 2 63 60 125
Share of net profit/{loss} of associates - - 6 6
Depreciation and amortisation (247) (283) (426) (956)
Impairment and other nen-cash charges @7 (236) (293) (556) ‘

{a) Restructuning, disposals, impairrments and other one-off items See note 3 on page 83 for further information !
{b) Including the reversal of provisions following sale of edible ol business in Cote d’lvoire (see note 26 on page 118)
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2 Segment information (continued)

The home countnies of the Urulever Group are the Netherlands and the United Kingdom Turnover and non-current assets {other than other
non-cusrent finanoal assets, deferred tax assets and pension assets for funded schemes in surplus) for these two countries combined the USA and
Brazil (being the two largest countries outside the home countnes) and all other countries are

€million €million €rmillion € million € million
Netharlands/
United All other

2010 Kingdom usAa Brazil countries Total
Turnover 3,490 6,725 3,502 30,545 44,262
Non-current assets 2,602 5,960 2,681 15,412 26,655
2009
Turnover 3,384 6,332 2,796 27,31 39,823
Non-current assets 2,434 5,498 2,412 13,879 24,223
2008
Turnover 3,543 6,606 2,746 27,628 40,523

No other country had turnover or non-current assets (as shown above) greater than 10% of the Group total

Addiional information by product area

Although the Group's operations are managed on a geographical basis, we provide additional information based on brands grouped into four
pnnopal areas, as set out below

Savoury, Dressings and Spreads — including sates of soups, boulllons, sauces, snacks, mayonnaise, salad dressings, margannes and spreads,
and cooking products such as hquid margarines

lce Cream and Beverages — including sales of ice cream, tea-based beverages, weight management products, and nutntionally enhanced staples
sold in developing markets

Personal Care - including sales of skin care and hair care products, decdorants and anti-perspirants, and oral care products

Home Care - including sales of home care products, such as laundry tablets, powders and liquids, scap bars and a wide range of deaning producis

€ million €millien €million € million € millien
Savoury lce Cream
Dressings and Personal Home
and Spreads Beverages Care Care Total

2010
Turnover 14,164 8.605 13,767 7.726 44,262
Operating profit 2,846 724 2,296 473 6,339
Share of net profit/loss) of joint ventures 18 92 7 3 120
Share of net profit{loss) of associates - - - (9) (9)
2009
Turnover 13,256 7,753 11,846 6,968 39,823
Operating profit 1,840 N 1,834 615 5,020
Share of net profitdloss) of joint ventures 14 87 4 6 11
Share of net profitdfoss) of associates - - - 4 4
2008
Turngover 14,232 7,694 11,383 1,214 40,523
Operating profit 3,216 915 1,824 1,212 7.167
Share of net profit/lloss) of joint ventures 15 98 5 7 125
Share of net profitlloss) of associates - - - 6 6
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3 Gross profit and operating costs

€ million € million € millon

2010 2009 2008

Turnover 44,262 39,823 40 523
Cost of sales {23,054) {20,580) (21,342}
Gross profit 21,208 19,243 19,181
Distnbution and selling costs® {11,730) {9,468) (9,309)
Administrative expenses (3.139) (4,755) (2,705
Research and development (928) (891} 927
Other®™ (2.211) {3.864) (1,778)
Operating profit 6,339 5,020 7.167

(a) Duning 2010, the Group reassessed the presentation of certain casts which in prior years have been presented within "Administrative
expenses — ather” These are considered to be more appropnately recorded in “Distnibution and selling costs” and in 2010 €1,445 mullion has
been reported here, rather than within "Administrative expenses - ather” as they would have been in pnor years The comparative information
has not been re-presented There 15 no impact on gross profit or eperating profit in 2010, 2009 or 2008

(b} Includes gan on disposals of group companies, amortisation of finite-ved intangible assets and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Gams on business disposals were parttcularly sigmificant in 2008 (see below and note 26 on page 119)

The following tems are disclosed on the face of the income statement to provide additional information to users to help them better understand
underlying business performance

€ million € millien € mition
2010 2009 2008

Restructuring (589) (897) {868)
Business dispasals, impairments and other one-off items

GainKloss) on disposals of group companies 468 4 2,190

Impairments - - (53)

{Provision for)/release of Brazilan sales tax - 25 -

Prowision for EL) competition investigations (110) - -

Acquisition and integration costs (50) - -

Restructuring costs are incurred as Unilever continues to simplify the crgarusation, reorganise operattons and support functions and redevelop the
portfolio They primarily relate to redundancy and retirement costs Business disposals generate both costs and revenues which are not reflective
of underlyng performance Imparment charges are primarily recogmised for goodwill other than where included in restructuring or as part of
business disposals Acquisition and integration costs are one-off expenses incurred in relation to the purchase of businesses

Other items within operating costs include

€million € millon € million

2010 2009 2008
Staff costs 4 (5,599) (5.223) (5,274}
Raw and packaging matenals and goods purchased for resale {17,636) {15,267} (16,489)
Amortisation of finite-lived intangible assets and software (174) (168) {168)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (819) (851) {788)
Advertising and promotions {6,064) {5.302) (5,055)
Exchange gains/(losses) 7 (33) 108
On underlying transactions (36} (19) 77

On covenng forward contracts 43 (14) N
Lease rentals (465) 472) (487)
Minimum operating lease payments (485) (475) 495)
Contingent operating lease payments (4 (3) -
Less Sub-lease income relating to operating lease agreements 4 [ 8
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4 Staff and management costs

€mithon € milkran € million
Staff costs 2010 2002 2008
Remuneration of employees {4,572) {4,162) (4,193)
Pensions and other post-employment benefits {276) (256) {329)
Social secunty costs {607) (610) {627)
Share-based compensation costs {144} (195) {125)

(5,599) (5,223} (5,274)

‘000 0oo 000

Average number of employees duning the year 2010 2009 2008
Asia, Africa and Central & Eastern Europe 96 98 100
The Amencas 40 41 42
Western Europe 29 29 32
165 168 174

€milhion €rmillion €million

Key management compensation 2010 2009 2008
Salanies and short-term employee benefits 7} (13) (16)
Non-Executive Directors’ fees () 2 2
Post-employment benefits (2} 2 (5)
Share-based benefits {10} (7) )
(31) (24) (30)

Of which

Executive Directors @ (7) (16)
Non-Executive Directors 2) (2) (2)
Other (22) (15) (12)
(31) (24) (30)

Key management personnel are defined as the members of UEx and the Non-Executive Directors

Detalls of the remuneration of Directors are given in the parts noted as audited in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 61 to 67

5 Net finance costs

€ milhion € million € millivn

Finance costs 2010 2009 2008
finance costs (491) (504) (506)
Bank loans and overdrafts (38) 47 (73)
Bonds and other loans {441) (429) (429)
Dmdends paid on preference shares (&) [#2] (7)

Net gain/loss) on denvatives for which hedge accounting 15 not applled"} (6) 21} 3

On foreign exchange dervatives {601) (168) (221}
Exchange difference an underlying items 595 147 224

Finance iIncome 77 75 106
Pensions and similar obhgatlons“" 20 {164) 143
{394} (593) (257)

{a) For further details of derivatives for which hedge accounting 15 not apphed please refer to note 15 on page 101
{b) Net finance costs In respect of pensions and similar obligations are analysed in note 19 on page 110
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6 Taxation

€ milhon €milion € milhon
Tax charge In Income statement 2010 2009 2008
Current tax

Current year (1,479) {1,263) {1,650)
Overfunder) prowded In prior years” 88 151 80
(1.391) (1,112) (1,570}

Deferred tax
Onigination and reversal of temporary differences (237 (276) (271)
Changes i tax rates (2) 3 3)
Recognition of previously unrecognised losses brought forward 96 128 -
{143) (145) (274)

(1,534) (1,257) (1,844)

{8} Provisions have been released following the favourable settlement of prior year tax audits in a number of countries, none of which is
indwidually matenal

The reconciliation between the computed weighted average rate of income tax expense, which is generally applicable to Unilever companies,
and the actual rate of taxation charged 15 as follows

% % %
Reconcihation of effective tax rate 2010 2009 2008
Computed rate of tax” 28 29 30
Differences due to
incentive tax credits 5) {6} (5)
Withholding tax an dwvidends 2 2 2
Adjustments to previous years (3) (3 (2)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpcses 1 1 §
Other 3 3 - |
Effective tax rate 26 26 26

{b) The computed tax rate used 1s the average of the standard rate of tax applicable in the countries in which Unilever operates, weighted by the
amount of profit before taxation generated in each of those countries For this reason the rate may vary from year to year according to the mix
of profit and related tax rates
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7 Combined earnings per share

€ € €
Combined earnings per share 2010 2008 2008
Basic earnings per share 1.51 121 179
Diluted earnings per share 146 117 173

Basis of calculation
The calculations of combined earmings per share are based on the net profit atinbutable to ordinary capital divided by the average number of share
units representing the combined ordinary share capital of NV and PLC n issue during the year, after deducting shares held as treasury stock

The calculations of diluted earnings per share are based on (1) conversion into PLC ordinary shares of those shares in a group company which are
convertible in the year 2038, as described in Corporate governance on page 50, and (1) the effect of share-based compensation plans, details
of which are set out in note 29 on pages 121 to 122

Millions of share units

Calculation of average number of share units 2010 2009 2008
Average number of shares NV 1,714.7 1,714 7 1,M47
PLC 1,310.2 1,3102 1,3102
Less shares held by employee share trusts and compantes {212.6) (228 &) (215 3)
Combined average number of share units for all bases except diluted earnings per share 2,812.3 2,796 3 2,809 6
Add shares issuable in 2038 70.9 709 709
Add ddutive effect of share-based compensation plans 21.9 228 254
Adjusted combined average number of share units for diluted earnings per share basis 2,905 1 2,890 0 28059
€million € mihon € mithon
Calculation of earnings 2010 2009 2008
For earnings per share from total operations
Net profit from total operations 4,598 3,659 5,285
Non-¢controlling interest in total operations {354) (289) (258)
Net profit attributable to ordinary capital for total operations 4,244 3,370 5,027

The numbers of shares included in the calculation of earrings per share 15 an average for the period These numbers are influenced by the share
buy-back programmaes that we undertook during 2008 During this penicd the following movements in shares took place

Millions of share units

2010 2009 2008
Number of shares at 1 January {net of treasury stock) 2,804 2 27891 28531
Net movements in shares under incentive schemes 56 151 14
Share buy-back - - (75 4)
Number of shares at 31 December 2,809 8 2,804 2 2,789 1
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8 Dividends on ordinary capital

€milhon €million emilion
Divtdends paid on ordinary <apital during the year 2010 2008 2008
Final NV dwidend for the prior year - (786) {779)
Final PLC dmvidend for the prior year - (570) {548)
Interim NV dividend for the current year - 47 (397)
Interim PLC dividend for the current year - (342) {328)
NV quarterly dividend announced with Q4 2009 results (301) - -
NV quarterly dwidend announced wath Q1 2010 results (323) - -
NV quarterly dividend announced with Q2 2010 resulis (323) - -
NV quarterly dividend announced with Q3 2010 results (323) - -
PLC quarterly divtdend announced with Q4 2009 results (251) - -
PLC quarterly dwidend announced with Q1 2010 results (265) - -
PLC quarterly dwidend announced with Q2 2010 results (255) - -
PLC quarterly dvidend announced with Q3 2010 results (268) - -
(2,309) (2,115) (2,052)

Of which
NV drdends (1,270} {1,203) (1,176)
PLC dividends {1.039) (912} (876)

Full details of dividends per share for the years 2006 to 2010 are given on page 125

9 Goodwill and intangible assets

Indefinite-lived intangible assets prinaipally comprise those trademarks for which there (s no foreseeable limit to the peniod over which they are
expected to generate net cash inflows These are considered to have an indefinite life, given the strength and durability of our brands and the
level of marketing support Brands that are classified as indefinite-lived have been in the market for many years, and the nature of the industry we
operate in 1s such that brand obsolescence 1s not common, if appropriately supported by adveruising and marketing spend Finite-lived intangible
assets, which pnmanty compnse patented and non-patented technology, know-how, and software are capiabsed and armorused in operating

profit on a straight-line basis over the period of ther expected useful lives, none of which exceeds ten years The level of amortisation for

finite-fived intangible assets 1s not expected to change matenally over the next five years

€million € milhon
At cost less amortisation and impairment 2010 2009
Goodwill 13,178 12,464
Intangible assets 5.100 4,583
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 4,532 4,050
Finite-lived intangible assets 104 153
Software 464 380
18,278 17,047
€ million €rmullion €milbon € million € million
Indefinite- Finite-
lived lived
intangible intangible
Movements during 2010 Goodwill assets assets  Software Total
Cost
1 January 2010 13,408 4,269 611 687 18,975
Acquisitons of group companies 259 256 1 - 516
Disposals of group companies (222) (1) - - (223)
Reclassed to held for disposal (82) - - - (82)
Additions - 1 1 180 182
Disposals 14)) (8) - {16) (25)
Currency retranslation 823 250 n 48 1,152
31 December 2010 14,185 4,767 644 899 20,495
Amortisation and impairment
1 January 2010 (944) (219} (458) (307) {1.928)
Disposal of group companies - - - - -
Amortisation for the year - - (58) (116) {174)
Disposals - - - 6 6
Currency retranslation (63) (16} (24) (18) (121)
31 December 2010 (1,007) (235) (540) (435) (2.217)
Net book value 31 December 2010 13,178 4,532 104 464 18,278
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9 Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

€ milbon € milion €million € mllion € million
Indefirute- Firnte-
lived lived
intangible intangible
Movements during 2009 Goodwill assets assets Software Total
Cost
1 January 2009 12,617 4,107 598 580 17,902
Acquisitions of group companies 350 105 1 - 456
Disposals of group companies - (N - - m
Additicns - 1 - 149 150
Disposals - - - (72) (72}
Currency retranslation 444 57 12 30 540
31 December 2009 13,408 4,269 611 687 18,975
Amortisation and impairment
1 January 2009 (952) (221) (392} {246) (1,811)
Dusposal of group campanies - - - - —
Amortisation for the year - - (58) {(110) (168)
Disposals - - - 62 62
Currency retranslation 8 2 (8) {13) (11)
31 December 2009 (944) 219} (458) (307) (1,928)
Net book value 31 December 2009 12,464 4 050 153 380 17,047

There are no significant carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets that are altocated across multiple cash generating units {CGUs)

Impairments charge in the year
There were no matenal impairments m either 2010 or 2009

Significant CGUs

The goodwaiil and indefinite-lived intangible assets {(predominantly Knorr and Hellmann's) held in the regional Savoury, Dressings and Spreads CGUs
are considered significant in comparison to the total carrying amounts of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets at 31 December 2010

No other CGUs are considered significant in this respect

The goodwill and indefinite-hved intangible assets held in the regional Savoury and Dressings CGUs are

€hillion €billion € pillion €bithon

2010 2010 2009 2009

Indefinite- Indeftrute~

lived lived

Goodwill intangibles Goodwill  intangibles

Western Europe 52 14 52 i3
The Americas 42 1.5 39 13
Asia Africa CEE 18 06 19 06

During 2010, we conducted an impairment review of the carrying value of these assets Value in use in the regional Savoury, Dressings and
Spreads CGUs has been calculated as the present value of projected future cash flows A pre-tax discount rate of 10% was used

The following key assumptions were used n the discounted cash flow projections for the regional Savoury, Dressings and Spreads CGUs

¢+ a longer-term sustamable growth rate of 2% to 3% for Western Europe, 3% to 5% for The Americas and 8% to 9% for Asia Africa CEE,

¢ average near-term nomnal growth rates for the major product groups within the CGUs of 2% Western Europe, 4% The Amencas, 10% for Asia
Africa CEE, and

« average operatmg margins for the major product groups within the CGUs ranging from 18% to 21% Wastern Europe, 17% to 23%
The Americas and 10% to 14% Asia Africa CEE

The growth rates and margins used to estimate future performance are based on past performance and our experience of growth rates and
margins actuevable in our key markets We believe that the assumptions used i estimating the future performance of the regional Savoury,
Spreads and Dressings CGUSs are consistent with past performance

The projections covered a penod of ten years as we believe this to be a suitable timescale over which to review and constder annual performance
before applying a fixed termnal value multiple to the final year cash flows of the detailed projection Stopping the detaled projections after five
years and applying a terminal value muftiple thereafter would not result in a value in use that would cause rmpairment

The growth rates used to estimate future performance beyond the penieds covered by our annual planning and strategic planning processes
do not exceed the long-term average rates of growth for similar products

We have performed sensitivity analyses around the base case assumptions and have concluded that no reasonable possible changes in key
assumptions would cause the recoverable amount of the regional Savoury, Spreads and Dressings CGUs to be less than the carrying amount
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10 Property, plant and equipment

€milhien €millon
At cost less depreciation and imparrment 2010 2009
Land and buildings 2,373 2,148
Plant and equipment 5,481 4,496
7,854 6,644
ncludes freehold land 211 160
Commitments for capital expenditure at 31 Decernber 409 291
€ million € mithon €million
Land and Plant and
Maovements during 2010 buildings equipment Total
Gross
1 lanuary 2010 3,237 10,408 13,645
Acquisition of group companies 46 28 74
Disposals of group companies {18) (142) (160)
Additions 215 1,486 1,701
Disposals (65) (496) (561)
Currency retransiation 224 671 895
Reclassification as held for sale (40) (105} (145}
Other adjustments (17) {14) (31}
31 December 2010 3,582 11,836 15,418
Depreciation
1 January 2010 (1,089) (5,912) (7,001)
Disposals of group comparies 7 85 92
Depreciation charge for the year {119) (700) (819}
Disposals 51 436 487
Currency Retranslation (65) (358) {423)
Reclassification as held for sale 14 56 70
Other adjustments (8} 38 30
31 December 2010 (1,209) {6,355} {7.564)
Net book value 31 December 2010 2,373 5481 7,854
Includes payments on account and assets in course of construction 153 997 1,150
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10 Property, plant and equipment {cantinued)

€million € millon € milkon
Land and Plant and

Movements during 2009 buldings  equpment Total
Gross
1 January 2009 2,840 9,519 12,359
Acquisition of group compantes 21 5 26
Disposals of group companies an (3) (14}
Additions 315 1,047 1,362
Disposals (36) {513) (549)
Currency retranslation 114 406 520
Reclassification as held for sale (9 (N (26)
Other adjustments 3 (36) (33)
31 December 2009 3,237 10,408 13,645
Depreciation
1 January 2009 {981} (5,421) (6,402}
Dhsposals of group companies 8 2 10
Depreciation charge for the year {103) (748) (851}
Disposals 15 431 446
Currency retranslation (34) (203) (237}
Reclassification as held for sale 3 6 9
Other adjustments 3 21 24
31 December 2009 (1,089) (5,912) (7,001}
Net book value 31 December 2009 2,148 4,496 6,644
Includes payments on account and assets i1 course of construction 203 709 912

Included in the above 15 property, plant and equipment under a number of finance lease agreemenis, for which the book values are as follows

€ million € million € million
Plant and
Net book value Buldings  equipment Total
Gross book value 197 205 402
Depreciation (36) {160) (196)
31 December 2010 161 45 206
Gross book value 189 207 396
Deprectation (24) (150} {174}
31 December 2009 165 57 222
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11 Other non-current assets

€ million €million

2010 2009

Interest in net assets of joint ventures 44 B0
Interest in net assets of associates 45 42
Other non-current financial assets™ 511 485
Loans and recevables 2 2
Available-for-sale financial assets™ 406 436
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss® 103 47
Long-term trade and other recevables™ 154 212
Fair value of biological assets 34 32
Other non-financial assets 246 186
1,034 1,017

(@) Predomnantly consist of investments in a number of companies and financial institutions in India, Europe and the US, inctuding €128 million
(2009 €129 million) of assets in a trust to fund benefit obligations in the US (see also note 19 on page 110)

(b} Includes unlisted preferred shares ansing in connection with US laundry disposal

{©) Methods of valuation techniques used to determine fair values are givers in note 15 on page 102

{d) Classified as loans and receivables

€ mithon € million
Movements during 2010 and 2009 2010 2009
Joint ventures”
1 January 60 73
Additions 3 -
Dividends recewved/reductions (148) {145)
Share in net profit 120 i
Currency retranslation 9 21
31 December 44 60
Associates”
1 January 42 87
Acquisitions/(disposals) 18 -
Dvidends recewed/reductions (6) (32)
Share in net profit )] 4
Currency retranslation - 3
31 Decermnber a5 a2

(e) Our principal joint ventures are Urnilever Jerdnima Martins in Portugal, Pepsi Lipton International and the Pepsi/Lipton Partnershap in the US
{f} Associates as at 31 December 2010 pnimanly comprise our investments in Langholm Capital Partners and Physic Ventures Other Unilever
Ventures assets are included under ‘Other non-current financial assets” above

€ million € million

Analysts of [isted and unlisted investments 2010 2009
Investments listed on a recognised stock exchange 50 60
Unlisted investments 461 425
SN 485

€ million €million € milion

Other income from non-current investments 2010 2009 2008
Income from other non-current investments 76 47 19
Profit/loss) on disposal® - 327 69
76 374 88

(g} For 2008 includes disposal of Palma plantations
For 2009 includes €327 million profit from the disposal of the majonty of our equity interest in JohnsonDiversey

The joint ventures and associates have no sigiificant contingent habilities to which the Group 1s exposed, and the Group has no significant
contingent habilties n relation to its interest in the joint ventures and associates

The Group has no outstanding capital commitments to joint ventures

Outstanding balances with joint ventures and associates are shown in note 30 on page 122
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12 Inventories

€ rmullion € mulkon

Inventories 2010 2009
Raw matenals and consumables 1,554 1,298
Finished goods and goods for resale 2,755 2,280
4,309 3,578

Inventories with a value of €132 milion (2009 €91 million) are carried at net realisable value, this beng lower than cost Durnng 2010,

€135 muflion (2009 €200 million) was charged to the income statement for damaged, obsolete and lost inventories tn 2010, €42 million

{2009 €19 million) was utilised or released to the income statement from inventory provisions taken in earlier years

In 2010, inventories with a carrying amount of €3 millicn were pledged as security for certain of the Group's borrowings (2009 €10 mullion)

13 Trade and other recevables

€mithon € milhon

Trade and other receivables 2010 2009
Due within one year

Trade receivables 2,541 2.314

Prepayments and accrued income 622 472

Other recewvables 972 643

4,135 3,429

Credit terms for custormers are determined in individual terntories Concentrations of credit nsk with respect to trade recevables are hmited, due

to the Group's customer base being large and diverse Qur historical experience of collecting receivables, supported by the level of default, 15 that
credit sk 15 low across terntones and so trade receivables are considered to be a single class of financial assets Other receivables comprise loans
and receivables of €286 milhon (2009 €221 million) and other non-financial assets of €686 million (2009 €422 millon) We do not consider the
fair values of trade and other recevables to be significantly different from thewr carrying values Balances are considered for impairment on an

individual basis rather than by reference to the extent that they become overdue

€millton € million
Ageing of trade receivables 2010 2008
Total trade recevables 2,658 2,443
Less impairment provision for trade recevables (117} (129)
2,541 2,314
Of which
Not overdue 2,228 1,768
Past due less than three maonths 242 443
Past due more than three months but less than six months 56 81
Past due more than six months but less than one yeer 22 57
Past due more than one year 110 94
Impatrment provision for trade recevables (117) {129)
2,541 2,314
€ million €million
Impairment provision for trade and other receivables — current and non-current tmpairments 2010 2009
1 lanuary 157 165
Charged to current year income statement 24 27
Reductions/releases (35) (40)
Currency retranslation 10 5
31 December 156 157

Other classes of assets in trade and other receivables do not indude any impared assets
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14 Financial assets and liabilities

€ mitlion € millicn
Summary of financial assets and labilities” 2010 2009
Financial habihties as per balance sheet (9,534) {9,971)
Financiat habilities due within one year (2,276) {2.279)
Financial habibties due after one year {7.258) (7,692)
Cash and cash equivalents as per balance sheet 2,316 2,642
Cash and cash equivalents as per cash flow staternent 1,966 2,397
Add bank overdrafts deducted therein 350 245
Other financial assets 550 972
Net financial assets and habilities (6,66£8) (6,357)
(a) Excluding trade and other payables/receivables
€ million € milion
Cash and cash equivalents and other finanaal assets 2010 2009
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand 732 744
Shori-term deposits with matunty of less than three months 383 748
Other cash equivalents™ 696 1,150
2,316 2,642
Other finanaal assets™
Loans and receivablas 3 —
Available-for-sale financial assets™ 127 613
Financia! assets at fair value through profit or loss™*" 420 359
550 972
Of which
Listed 40 94
Unlisted 510 878
550 972

(b) Other cash equivalents are wholly compnsed of avallable-for-sale financial assets and include investments in money market funds

of €603 million (2009 €1,096 million} for which the nisk of changes in value 1s insigrificant
(¢} Other finanaial assets include government securities, A-minus or lugher rated money and capital market instruments and derivatives
(d) Financial assets at far value through profit or loss include derivatives amounting to €403 million (2009 €271 million) The farr value of

denivatives 15 determined by calculating the discounted value of the related future cash flows Discounting of the cash flows 1s done based

an the relevant yield curves and exchange rates as per the end of the year
(e} Methods of valuation technigue used to determine farr value are given in note 15 on page 102

{fy Includes €4 milhion (2009 €70 million) fair value through profit or loss and €nil {2009 €393 million) available-for-sale, both relating

1o an employee savings programme
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14 Finanaal assets and habilities (continued)

€million € million
Fnancal abilities 2010 2009
Preference shares 99 124
Bank loans and overdrafts 1,678 1,415
Bonds and other loans
At amortised cost 4,924 5,805
Subject to fair value hedge accounting 2,331 2,308
Finance lease creditors 25 208 212
Denvatives 303 107
9,534 9,971
All the preference shares and the bank loans and averdrafts are valued at amortised cost
€ million € milion
Financial habilities - additional details 2010 2009
The repayments fall due as follows
Within one year
Bank lgans and overdrafts 1,164 450
Bonds and cther loans 814 1,713
Finance lease creditors 19 22
Dernvatives 279 94
Total due within one year 2,276 2,279
After one year but within two years 1,469 834
After two years but within three years 1,188 1,328
After three years but wathin four years 988 1,159
After four years but within five years 1,054 929
After five years 2,559 3,442
Total due after more than one year 7.258 7,692
Secured hinancial liabilities 93 83
Of which secured against praperty, plant and equipment 90 76
€mllion €miltion € millton € milion
1ssued
Number Nominat Number called up
of shares value of shares and fully Statutory
Preference shares authorised  Authonsed per share 1ssued paid Reserve Total
Preference shares NV as at 31 December 2010
7% Cumulative Preference( 75,000 32 €428 57 29,000 12 1 13
6% Cumulative Preference® 200,000 86 €42857 161,060 69 4 73
Share premium 4 - 4
118 85 5 20
Preference shares NV as at 31 Decernber 2009
7% Cumulative Preference 75,000 32 €428 57 29,000 12 1 13
6% Cumulative Preference™ 200,000 86 €428 57 161,060 69 4 73
4% Cumulative Preference” 750,000 32 €42 86 750,000 32 2 34
Share premium 4 4
150 117 7 124

(g) The 6% cumulative preference shares are traded in the market in units of one tenth of theirr nominal value
The 6% and 7% cumulative preference shares of NV are entitled to dividends at the rates indicated
{h} The 4% cumulative preference shares were redeemed on 9 August 2010 against repayment of the face value
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14 Financial assets and habilities (continued)

Addrtional details
Details of speafic bonds and other loans are given below

€ million € million € milhon €milhon
Amortised Fair Amorused Faw
cost value cost value
2010 20107 2009 2009"
Unilever N V.
3 625% notes 2011 {Swiss francs} 320 - 27 -
3125% notes 2012 {Swiss francs) 200 - 169 -
4 625% Bonds 2012 ()" - 759 - 749
4 875% Bonds 2013 (€) - 806 - 81
3125% Bonds 2013 (US §) 336 - 313 -
3 500% notes 2015 (Swiss francs) 279 - 236 -
3 375% Bonds 2015 (€)* - 766 - 748
Other 33 - 33 -
Total Unilever NV 1,168 2,331 1,022 2,308
Umlever PLC
4 000% Bonds 2014 (f) 403 - 3N -
4 750% Bands 2017 (£) 461 - 447 -
Total Untlever PLC 364 - 838 -
QOther group companies
At amortised cost
Netherlands
Comn}emal paper (€} 203 - - -
Other® 39 - 440 -
Unsted States
7125% Bonds 2010 {US $) - - 1,218 -
3650% Notes 2014 (US §) 559 - 521 -
7000% Bonds 2017 (US §) 109 - 102 -
4 800% Notes 2019 (US $) 559 - 521 -
7 250% Bonds 2026 (US $) 215 - 200 -
6 625% Bonds 2028 (US §) 165 - 153 -
5900% Bonds 2032 {US $} 735 - 686 -
5 600% Bonds 2097 (US §) 68 - 64 -
Commercial paper (US $) 224 - 10 -
Other 1 - 10 -
South Africa
Commercal paper (South African rand) - - 14 -
Other countries 5 - 5 -
Total other group companies 2,892 - 3,945 -
Total bonds and other loans 4,924 2,331 5,805 2,308

() As required by fair value hedge accounting, the farr value of the bonds and other loans is based on their amortised cost adjusted for the fair
value effect of the rnisk being hedged

() Reclassifications During 2009 Unilever started fatr value hedge accountng for the 4 625% Euro bonds and the 3 375% Euro bonds

(k} 2009 included €427 millon financial habilities repaid during 2010 in relation to the closure of an employee savings programme
For related assets see page 93
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14 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Interest rate profile and currency analysis of financial assets

The table set out below takes into account the various interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency contracts entered into by the Group,

detals of which are set out in note 15 on pages 98 to 104

The interest rate profiles of the Group's financial assets analysed by principal currency are set out in the table below

€milbon €million €million
Fixed Fixed Fixed Floating Floating
rate raté rate rate rate Total
Amount Average Weighted Interest
of fixing  interest rate average rate for
for following  for following fixing following
year yeaf perniod year
Assets — 2010
Eure 66 31% 03 years 9,469 11% 9,535"
Sterling - 24 08% 24
US dollar - 47 03% a7
Indhan rupee - 628 S 6% 628
Brazihan real - 67 10 7% 67
Other - 648 42% 648
o 66 10,883 10,949
Euro leg of currency denivatives mainly relating to intra-group loans {8,083)
Total 2,866™
Assets — 2009
Eurc 351 23% 02 years 7.802 09% 8,153"
Sterling - 36 08% 36
US dollar - 71 04% 71
Indian rupee - 472 6 6% 472
Brazilan real - 36 87% 36
Other - 735 52% 735
351 9,152 9,503
Euro leg of currency derivatives mainly relating to intra-group loans® (5,889}
Total 3,614™

(I} Includes the euro leg of the currency denvatives relating to intra-group loans, amounting to €8,083 milion (2009 €5,88% million) These
dervatives create a euro interest rate exposure However, to reconcle the total assets wath the balance sheet, the total value s eliminated
again The other leg of the currency denvauves 1s shown on page 97 as part of the interest rate profile of financial habilities

{m) Includes far value of financal habiity-related derivatives amounting to €403 million (2009 €271 million)
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14 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Interest rate profile and currency analysis of finanaal liabilities

The table set cut below takes into account the vancus interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency contracts entered (nto by the Group,
details of which are set out in note 15 on pages 98 to 104 The interest rate profiles of the Group’s finanaal habiliies analysed by principal

currency are set out In the table below

€ million € milhon €milhon
Fixed Fixed Fixed Floating Floating
rate rate rate rate rate Total
Amount Average Weighted Interest
of faung  interest rate average rate for
for following  for following fixing following
year year period year
Liabilities - 2010
Eurg™ 90 61% 50 years 4,770 12% 4,860
Sterling 1,014 48% 7 3years 2,816 10% 3,830
Us dollar 2,838 53% 13 1years 2,704 05% 5,542
Swiss frangs 773 35% 2 1years (145) 02% 628
lapanese yen - 551 12% 351
Swedish krona - 415 25% 415
Russian rouble - 262 52% 262
Chinese yuan - 200 64% 200
Thai baht 58 40% 09years 148 20% 206
Australian dollar - 138 S1% 138
Other 239 87% 25Syears 746 62% 985
5,012 12,605 17,617
Foreign currency leg of currency derivatives relating to intra-group Joans”™ (8.083)
Total 9,534"
Liabilities — 2009
Eurc™ 124 56% 50 years 4,274 10% 4398
Sterling 1,428 38% 57years 1,436 09% 2,864
US dollar 4,391 51% 8 8years 1,368 05% 5.759
Swaiss francs 678 36% 3 1years (106) 04% 572
Japanese yen - 451 03% 451
Swedish krona - 352 10% 352
Russian rouble - 190 10 8% 190
Chinese yuan - 186 23% 186
Thai baht 52 40% 19years 124 13% 176
Austrahan dollar 2 53% 100 years 164 48% 166
Other 108 104% 34 years 638 56% 746
6,783 9,077 15,860
Foreign currency leg of currency dervatives relating to intra-group loans™ (5,889)
Tatal 9'971.rnl

{n) Euro finanoial habilities include €90 million 2009 €124 millon) preference shares that provide for a fixed preference dividend

{0} Includes the foreign currency leg of the currency denvatives relating to our intra-group [oans, amounting to €8,083 million
(2009 €5,889 millicn) These dervatives create an interest rate exposure in mainly stering and US dollars However to reconcile the total
hability with the balance sheet, the total value 1s eiminated again The other leg of the currency derivatives 1s shown on page 96 as part of

the interest rate profile of financial assets

{p} Includes finance lease creditors amounting to €208 millien (2009 €212 million} and fair value of financial hability-related derivatives amounting

to €303 million (2009 €107 millior)

Interest rate

The average interest rate on short-term borrowings in 2010 was 2 4% (2009 2 3%)
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15 Ffinanaal instruments and treasury risk management

Uncertainty and volatility in the financal markets impact on Treasury
To cope with the contihuing uncertainty in the finanoial markets, we maintained a cautious funding strategy

Liguidity management

* We have 1un a cash balance duning most of 2010, resulting from a strong cash delivery of the business, proceeds from bond 1ssuances in 2009
and disposal proceeds,

* We have invested this cash conservatively with safe counterparties at short maturities up to six months

Counterparty exposures

We regularly reviewed and tightened counterparty imits Banking exposures were actively monitored on a daily basis Unilever benefits from
collateral agreements with our principal banks (see also page 100) based on which banks need to deposit securities and/or cash as collateral for
their obligations in respect of denvative financial instruments

Bank faclity renewal
Qur bank faclities are renewed annually On 31 December 2010 we had US $6,050 million of undrawn commutted facilities For further details,
see ‘Liquidity nsk’ section below

Treasury nsk management
Unilever manages a variety of market nisks, including the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates, hquidity and counterparty risks

Currency nsks

Because of Unilever's broad operational reach, 1t1s subject to nsks from changes in foreign currency values that could affect earmings As a
practical matter, 1t 1s not feasible to fully hedge these fluctuations In order to manage currency exposures, operating companmes are required to
manage trading and financial foraign exchange exposures wathin prescribed imits This is achieved pnmanty through the use of forward foreign
exchange contracts Regiona! groups monitor compliance with this requirement At the end of 2010, there was no material exposure from
companies holding assets and habilties other than in therr functronal currency

In addition, as Unilever conducts business in many fereign currencies but publishes its financial staternents and measures its performance in euros,
1t 15 subject to exchange nsk due to the effects that exchange rate mavemenits have on the translation of the underlying net assets of its foreign
subsidiaries Unilever arrns 1o mimimise its foreign exchange exposure 1n operating companies by borrowing in the local currency, except where
inubited by local regulations, lack of local hquidity or local market conditions For those countries that in the view of management have a
substantial re-translation nisk, Unilever may decide on a case-by-case basis, taking into account amongst other factors the impact on the income
statement, to hedge such net investments This 1s achieved through the use of forward foreign exchange contracts on which hedge accounting

1$ appled Nevertheless, from time to time, currency revaluations on unhedged investments will tngger exchange translation movements in the
balance sheet

Interest rate risks

Umlever has an interest rate management approach aimed at achieving an optirnal balance between fixed and floating rate interest rate exposures
on expected net debt (gross borrowings minus cash and cash equivalenis) for the next five years The objective of this approach is to minimise
annual Inferest costs and te reduce volatility This 1s achieved by issuing fixed rate long-term debt and by medifying the interest rate exposure of
debt and cash positions through the use of interest rate swaps

At the end of 2010, interest rates were fixed on approxamately 66% of the projected net of cash and finanaal hability positions for 2011 and 63%
for 2012 {compared with 95% for 2010 and 75% for 2011 at the end of 2009)

Ligquidity nsk
A matenal and sustained shortfall in our cash flow could undermine our credit rating and overall mvestor confidence and could restrict the Group’s
abulity to raise funds

QOperational cash flow prowvides the funds to service the finanaing of financial liabilities and enhance shareholder return Unilever manages the
liquidity requirements by the use of shert-term and long-term cash flow forecasts Unilever matntains access to global debt markets through an
infrastructure of short-term and long-term debt programmes In addition to this, Unilever has committed credit faclities in place to support its
commercial paper programmes and for general corporate purposes During 2010 we did not utilise the commutted facihities

Unilever had US $6,050 million of undrawn committed faclities on 31 Decembar 2010 as follows

» revolving 364-day bilateral credit faclities of in aggregate US $5,495 million (2009 US 35,285 million) out of which US $5,495 milion
{2009 US $5,285 million) wath a 364-day term out, and

e 364-day bilateral money market commitments of in aggregate US $555 muilion (2009 US $765 million), under which the underwriting banks
agree, subject to certain conditions to subscrnbe for notes with maturities of up to three years

As part of the regular annual process these faclities are to be renewed in 2011
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15 Financial instruments and treasury risk management {contunued)

The following table shows Unilever's contractually agreed (undrscounted) cash flows payable under financial habilities and dernivative assets and

habdities as at the balance sheet date

€milion €mifhon €milion €milliorn €million €rmidlion €milllon € millton
Net
carrying
Due Due Due Due amount as
Due between between between  between Due shown in
within 1 and 2 and 3and 4 and after balance
Undiscounted cash flows 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years 5 years Total sheet
2010
Non-derivative financial habilities
Financial labihties excluding related denvatives
and finance lease habilittes (1,983} (1.436) (1.113) (979} (1.031) (2.466) (9,008) (9.,023)
Interest on financial habihties {344} {313) (259) (211} {17a) (1,606) (2,907}
Finance lease creditors including related finance cost (31} (25) (24) (23) (22} (232) (357} (208)
Trade payables and other liatubities
excluding social secunity and sundry taxes”™ (9,824) (295) - - - - (10,139} (10,119)
Issued financial guarantees (69) - - - - - {69)
(12,251) (2,069) (1.396) (1.213) (1,227} (4,304) (22,460)
Denvative financial habilities
Interest rate derivatives
Derwative contracts = receipts 52 60 239 73 27 36 487
Denvative contracts — payments (62) (81) {256) (75) (27) (34) {535)
Foreign exchange derivatives
Denvative contracts — recaipts 11,477 - - - - - 147
Dervative contracts — payments {11,797} - - - - - (11,797
(330} 21 an 2 - 2 (368)  (366)"
31 December (12,581 (2,090) (1.413) (1,215 (1.227) (4,302) (22,928)
2009
Non-derivative finanaal iabilities
Finanaal habiities excluding related denvatives
and finance lease creditors (2.167) @17 0317 (1,088 (928) {3,347) (9.664) (9,652)
Interest on financial habilities 411) (315) (299) {248) (201)  (1,669) (3,143
Finance lease creditors mcuding related finance cost (34) (28) (22 v4]] {20} (244) (369) (212)
Trade payables and other habihities
excluding social security and sundry taxes™ (8,071 (248) - - - - (8,319) (8,319)
Issued financial guarantees (48) - - - - - (48)
(10,731 (1,408 (1,638) (1,357} (1,149) (5260) (21,543}
Denvative financial iabilities
Interest rate denvates
Derivative contracts — receipts 66 64 62 23 - - 215
Derivative contracts — payments (70 {68) (68) (24 - - {230)
Foreign exchange dernvatives
Dernvative contracts — receipts 6,138 6 - - - - 6,144
Derivative contracts — payments (6,265) N - - - - (6,272)
(131) (5 (6) Q) - - (143) (43
31 December (10,862) {1,413) (1,644) (1,358) {1,149) (5,260) (21,686)

(@) See note 16 on page 104

(b) Includes financial hability-related derivatives amounting to €{303) million {2009 €(107) milkon)
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15 Financial instruments and treasury risk management (continued)

Credit risk on hanks and received collateral

Credit nisk related to the use of treasury instruments 1s managed on a graup basis This risk arises from transactions with banks like cash and cash
equwalents, deposits and dervative financial instruments To reduce the credit nisk, Unilever has concentrated its main actwities with a imited
group of banks that have secure credit ratings Per bank, indvidual risk imits are set based on its financial position, credit ratings, past experience
and other factors The utilisation of credit Imits 1s regularly monitored The carrying amount of financial assets best represents the Group’s
exposure of credit nsk at the reporting date without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements To reduce the credit
exposures, netting agreements are in place with Unilever's princaipal banks that allow Unilever, in case of 2 default, to net assets and labilities
across transactions To further reduce Umilever’s credit exposures, Unilever has collateral agreements with Unifever’s principal banks based on
which they need to deposit secunties and/or cash as a collateral for their obhigations in respect of dervative financial instruments At 31 December
2010 the collateral receved by Unilever amounted to €58 million (2009 €208 million), of which €38 milhion (2009 €14 million) was cash and the
fair value of the bond secunities amounted to €20 million (2009 €194 million} Although contractually Unilever has the right to sell or re-pledge
the collateral, it has no intention to do s¢ As a consequence, the non-cash collateral has not been recognised as an asset In our balance sheet

Derivative finanaial instruments

The Group has an established system of control in place coverning all derivative finanaial instruments, including guidelines, exposure imits, a system
of authonities and imdependent reporting, that 1s subject to penodic review by internal audit These instruments are used for hedging purposes
Hedge accounting principles are described in note 1 on page 78 The use of leveraged instruments 1s not permitted In the assessment of hedge
effectiveness the credit risk element on the underlying hedged item has been excluded Hedge ineffectiveness s immatenal

The Group uses the following types of hedges

» cash flow hedges used to hedge the nisk on future foreign currency cash flows, floating interest rate cash flows, and the pnce nsk on future
purchases of raw materials,

= far value hedges used to convert the fixed interest rate on financial liabilities into a floating interest rate,

* netinvestment hedges used te hedge the investment value of our foreign subsichanes, and

= denvatives for which hedge accounting 1s not applied

Details of the various types of hedges are given below

The farr values of forward foreign exchange contracts represent the gain or loss on revaluation of the contracis at the year-end forward exchange
rates The fair values of interest rate derivatives are based on the net present vatue of the antiaipated future cash flows

Cash flow hedges

The fair values of dervatves hedging the nisk on future foreign currency cash flows, floating interest rate cash flows and the price nisk

on future purchases of raw matenals amount to €35 million (2009 €(10) million) of which €59 million relates to commodity contracts

(2009 €7 million), €(i4) milhen to foreign exchange contracts (2009 €(13) million) and €(9) mull:on to interest rate derivatives {2009 €2 million)
Of the total fair value of €35 million (2009 €(10) million), €45 milhion 1s due wathin one year {2009 €{12) million)

The foltowing table shows the amounts of cash flows that are designated as hedged items in the cash flow hedge relations

€milion € million € mtlhon €million €million € milhon € million

Pue Due Due Due Due Due

within between between between between after

tyear 1andZyears 2and3years 3anddyears 4and5vyears S years Total
2010
Foreign exchange cash inflows 844 - - - - - 844
Foreign exchange cash outflows (411) - - - - - {411)
Interest rate cash flows - 2n 37) {51 51 (88) {254)
Commodity contracts cash flows (317) - - - - - 317
2009
Foreign exchange cash inflows 797 - - - - - 757
Foreign exchange cash outflows (304) - - - - - (304)
Interest rate cash flows - - (9) {9} (1)) (7 (44)
Commodity contracts cash flows {125) - - - - - (125)

Fair value hedges

Tne fair values of derivatives hedging the farr value interest rate risk on fixed rate debt at 31 December 2010 amcunted to €114 million
{2009 €92 million) which is included under other financial assets

Net investment hedges

The following table shows the far values of dervatives outstanding at year end designated as hedging instruments in hedges of net investments in

foreign operations

€milhon €mitlion €million € million

Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities

Fair values of derivatives used as hedges of net investments in foreign entities 2010 2009 2010 2009
Current

Faretgn exchange derivatives 125 38 76 100

Of the above-mentioned farr values, an amaunt of €125 million (2009 €38 million} 1s included under other financial assets and €(76) millon

{2009 €(100) miliion} is included under financial labilities
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15 Financial instruments and treasury risk management (continued)

The impact of exchange rate movements on the far value of forward exchange contracts used to hedge net iInvestments 1s recognised in reserves
Derivatives for which hedge accounting is not apphlied

This relates to dervatives that hedge a balance sheet item Both the denvative and hedged item revalue through profit or loss This also relates

to certain commadity dervatives that are entered into for nisk management purposes but that cannot be brought under hedge accounting due
to the strict requirements In 1AS 39, ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement’

The following table shows the fair value of derivatives outstanding at year end for which hedge accounting s not apphed

€ mullion € million €msllion €milien
Assets Assets Liabilsties Liabihties
Fair values of derivatives for which hedge accounting ts not applied 2010 2009 2050 2009
Current

Interest rate derivatives - 1 - 1
Commodity contracts 1 - - -
Cross-currency swaps - - 6 4
Foreign exchange dervatives 172 267 210 17
173 268 216 122

Non-current
Interest rate derivatives - - 1 1
Cross-currency swaps - - 23 13
- - 24 14
173 268 240 136

Of the fair values of derwatives disclosed above, the far value of financial hability-related dervatives at 31 December 2010 amounted to
€(63) muilbon 2009 €132 mullion) of which €164 million (2009 €139 mithion) 1s included under other financial assets and €(227) millon
(2009 €(7) milhon) is incfuded under financial hablities

Sensitivity to not applying hedge accounting
Dervatives have to be reported at far value Those denvatives used for cash flow hedging and net investment hedging for which we do not apply
hedge accounting will cause volatility in the income statement Such denvatives did not have a matenal impact on the 2010 income statement

Embedded dernivatives
In accordance with 1AS 39, Unilever has reviewed all contracts for embedded dervatives that are required to be separately accounted for if they do
not meet specific requirements set out in the standard, no matenal embedded denvatives have been identified

Fair values of finanaal assets and finanaal labilities

The following table summarises the fair values and carrying amounts of the various classes of finanaal assets and financial habiliies All trade

and other recevables and trade payables and other habilities have been excluded from the analysis below and from the interest rate and currency
profiles in note 14 on pages 96 to 97, as their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of therr fair value, because of therr short-term nature

€milhon € milhon €miltion € million
Fair Fair Carrying Carrying
valuve value amount amgunt
2010 2009 2010 2009
Finanaal assets
QOther non-current assets 5N 485 5N 485
Cash and cash equivalents 2.316 2,642 2,316 2,642
Other financial assets 147 701 147 701
Dervatives related to financial labilities 403 271 403 271
3,377 4,099 3,377 4,099
Financial habilities
Bank lcans and overdrafts (1,678) (1,419) {1.678) (1,415)
Bonds and other loans (7,775) (8,569} (7.255) (8113)
Finance lease creditors (220) (218) {208) {212)
Preference shares (116) (118) (90) {124)
Dervatives related to financial habilities (303} {107) {303) {(107)

(10,092) (10,431) {9,534) (9.971)
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15 Financial instruments and treasury risk management (continued)

The fair values of the finanaal assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instruments could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parues other than in a forced or hquidation sale The following methods and assumptions were used to estumate
the farr values

Cash and cash equivalents, other financial assets, bank loans and overdrafts have fair values that approximate to their carrying amounts because

of therr short-term nature

The fair value of unquoted avallable-for-sale assets 1s based on recent trades in hquid markets, observable market rates and statrstical modelling

technigues such as Monte Carlo simulation

The fair values and the carrying amounts of all other hsted investments included in financial assets and preference shares included in finanaal
labilities are based on their market values

The fair values of listed bonds are based on thesr market value

Non-listed bonds and other loans are based on the net present value of the anticipated future cash flows associated with these instruments
using rates currently available for debt on similar terms, credit nisk and remamning maturites

Fair values for finance lease creditors have been assessed by reference to current market rates for comparable leasing arrangements

The Group enters into denvative financial instruments with vanous counterparties Denvatives valued using valuation techruques with

market cbservable inputs are mainly interest rate swaps, foreign exchange forward contracts and commaodity forward contracts The models
mncorporate vanous inputs ncluding the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates, interest rate curves and
forward rate curves of the underlying commodity In the balance sheet the value of bonds and other loans 1s shown at amortised cost unless
the bonds are part of an effective farr value hedge accounting relationship, m which case the value of the bond 1s adjusted with the market

value of the related denvative

Fair value hterarchy

IFRS 7, 'Financial mstruments Disclosures', requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement
tuerarchy

+ level 1 quoted pnices for iIdentical Instruments,
+ Level 2 directly or indirectly observable market mputs other than Leve! 1 inputs,
+ Level 3 Inputs which are not based on observable market data

As at 31 December 2010 the Group held the following finanaal instruments measured at fair value in each level descnibed above

€ millign €milhan € million €million
Teotal fair
value
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2010
Assets measured at fair value
QOther non-current financal assets 11
Available-for-sale financial assets 197 187 22 406
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 56 - 47 103
Cash and cash equivalents 14
Avalable-for-sale financial assets - 696 - 696
Other financial assets 14
Available-for-sale financial assets - 127 - 127
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 17 - 17
Denvatives related to financial habilities - 403 - 403
Dervatives used for hedging trading activities (part of Trade and other recevables) - 91 - 94
Other derivatives {part of Trade and other receivables) - - - -
Liabilities measured at fair value
Bonds and other loans, subject to far value hedge accounting 14 - (2,331) - (2.331)
Derivatives related to financial kabilities 14 - {303) - (303)
Derivatives used for hedaing trading actvities (part of Trade payables and other habilities) - {63) - (63)
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15 Financial instruments and treasury nsk management (continued)

As at 31 December 2009, the Group held the following financial instruments measured at fair value in each level descnbed above

€million €million € milian € million
Total far
value
Level Level 2 Level 3 2009
Assets measured at fair value
Other non-current financial assets 11
Avatlable-for-sale financial assets 178 237 21 436
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 47 - - 47
Cash and cash equivalents 14
Avallable-for-sale financial assets - 1,150 - 1,150
QOther financial assets 14
Available-for-sale financial assets - 613 - 613
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - g8 - 88
Derwatives related to financal habilities - 2N - 271
Dervatives used for hedging trading actvities {part of Trade and other receivables) - 22 - 22
Other denvatives (part of Trade and other receivables) - - 25 25
Liabilities measured at fair value
Bonds and other loans, subject to fair value hedge accounting 14 - (2,308) - {(2,308)
Dervatives related to financal habilities 14 - (107) - (107)
Derwvatives used for hedging trading activities (part of Trade payables and other labilities) - (36) - (36)

During the reporting period ending 31 December 2010, there were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers

into and out of Level 3 far value measurements

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets is given below

€ million € million € million € million € million € milion € million € million
Assets at Assets at
Other fair value Other fair value
derivative through  Available dervagve through Available
financal profit for sale financial profit for sale
assels or loss assets Total assets or loss assets Total
2010 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009 2009
Opening balances 25 - pal 46 - - 11 11
Total gains or losses
In profit or loss - 22 - 22 - - - -
in other comprehensive income - - 1 1 - - 10 10
Purchases, 1ssuances and settlements - - - - 25 - - 25
Transfers in and out of Level 3 {25) 25 - - - - - -
Closing balances - 47 22 69 25 - 21 46

Commadity contracts

The Group uses commaodity forward contracts and futures to hedge against price risk in certain commedities All commodity forward contracts
and futures hedge future purchases of raw matenials Settlement of these contracts wall be in cash or by physical delivery Those contracts that will
be settled in cash are reported in the balance sheet at fair value and, to the extent that they are considered as an effective hedge under IAS 39,

far value movernents are recognised in the cash flow reserve

Capital management

The Group's financial strategy provides the finanoal flexility to meet strategic and day-to-day needs The key elements of the financial strategy

are
appropriate access 1o equity and debt markets,

A+/A1 long-term credit rating,
Al1/P1 short-term credit rating,

sufficient resiience agamnst economic and financial uncertainty, and
optimal weighted average cost of capital, given the constraints above

sufficient flexibility for acquisitions that we fund out of current cash flows,

For the A1/P1 short-term credit rating and for the A+/A1 long-term credit rating, Unilever monitors the qualitative and quantitative factors utilised
by the rating agencies This imformation 1s publicly available and 1s updated by the credit rating agencies on a regular basis

The capital structure of Unilever 1s based on management’s judgement of the appropnate balanang of all key elements of 1ts finanoal strategy in order
to meet its strategic and day-to-day needs We consider the amount of caprtal in proportion to risk and manage the capital structure and make
adystments to 1t in the light of changes in econamic canditians and the nsk charactenstics of the undertying assets Urulever will take appropriate

steps In order to maintain, or If necessary adjust, the capital structure Annually the overall funding plan is presented to the Board for approval

Unilever 1s not subject to covenants in any of its sigrificant financing agreements
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15 Finanaal instruments and treasury risk management {(continued)

Income statement sensitivity to changes in foreign exchange rates

The values of debt, investments and related hedging instruments, denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the entities
holding them, are subject to exchange rate movements The translation nisk on the foreign exchange recewables and payables s excluded from this
sensitivity analysis as the nisk 1s considered to be immaterial because positions will remain within prescribed imis (see currency nisks on page 98)

The remaining unhedged foreign exchange positions at 31 December 2010 amcunt to €52 million (2009 €2 millien) A reasonably possible 10%
change in rates would lead to a €5 millien movement I the income statement (2009 €0 2 millon), based on a linear calculation of our exposure

Income statement sensitivity to changes in Interest rate

Interest rate risks are presented by way of sensitivity analysis As described on page 98, Unilever has an tnterest rate management approach armed
at optimising net interest cost and reducing volatility In the income statement As part of this approach, part of the financial assets and finangial
liabilities have fixed interest rates and are no longer exposed to changes In the fioating rates The remamning floating part of our finanaial assets
and finanoal habilities (see interest rate profile tables on pages 96 for the assets and 97 for the habiliwes} 1s exposed to changes in the floating
interest rates

The analysis below shows the sensitivity of the income statement to a reasonably possible one percentage pointincrease in floating interest rates
on a full-year basis
Sensitivity to a reasanably possible
one percentage point Increase n
floating rates as at 31 December

€ million € milion

2010 200%

Financiat assets 109 92
Financial iabilities (126) Q1)

A reasonably possible one percentage point decrease In floating interest rates on a full-year basis would have the equal but oppaosite effect

Netinvestment hedges sensitivity relating to changes in foreign exchange rates

To reduce the re-translation nsk of Unilever's investments in foreign subsidianies Unilever uses net investment hedges The fair values of these net
investment hedges are subject to exchange rate movements and changes in these fair values are recognised directly in equity and will offset the
re-translation impact of the related subsichary

At 31 December 2010 the nominal value of these net investment hedges amounted to €4 4 billlon 2009 €4 9 billon} mainly consisting of US $/€
contracts A reasonably possible 10% strengthening of the euro against all other currencies would lead to a farr value movement of €395 million
{2009 €486 milion) A reasonably possible 10% weakening of the euro against all other currencies would have the equal but opposite eifect
The fair value movemnent would be fully offset by an opposite movement on the re-translabon of the book equity of the foreign subsichary

Cash flow hedges sensitivity relating to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates

Unilever uses on a hmited scale both interest rate and forex cash flow hedges The fair values of these instruments are subject to changes in
interest rates and exchange rates Because of the imited use of these instruments and the amount of Unilever's equity, possible changes i interest
rates and exchange rates will not lead to fair value movements that will have a material impact on Unilever’s equity

16 Trade payables and other liabilities

€ milhon € milhion
Trade and other payables 2010 2009
Due within one year

Trade payables 6,017 3,582
Accruals 3,318 3,504
Social securnity and sundry taxes 402 342
Others 489 585
10,226 8,413

Due after more than one year
Accruals 109 104
Others 186 144
295 248
Total trade payables and other habilities 10,521 8,661

The amounts shown above do not include any payables due after more than five years Trade payables and other labilities are valued at historic
cost, which where appropnate approximates their amortised cost
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€ milhon € million € milion €million

Asati Asat 31

January Income December

Movements in 2010 2010 statement Equity® 2010
Pensions and similar obligations 592 {133) (19} 440
Provisions 651 10 40 701
Goodwlll and intengible assets (944) {53) (125) (1,122)
Accelerated tax depreciation {525) 12 27 (540)
Tax losses 82 27 8 117
Farir value gains (24) - (1)) {25)
Fair value losses 2 - 1 13
Share-based payments 126 {25) {1) 120
Other (6) 19 10 23
(26) (143) {104) (273)

€million € millien € milhon € million

Asati Asat 31

January income December

Movements in 2009 2009 statement Equity 2009
Pensions and similar obhgations 809 (206} () 592

Provisians 612 (46) 85 651
Goodwill and ntangible assets {823) (61) {60) (944)
Accelerated tax depreciation (555) 49 19 (525)
Tax losses 105 61 (84) 82
Fair value gains {6} - (18} 24)
Fair value losses 40 2 [&:10)] 2
Share-based payments 100 24 22 146
Other ) 8 (10) {6)
278 {169} {135) (26)

{a) Of the total movement in equity of €0104) million, €(1) milkon anses as a result of currency re-translation and €(55) million as a result of
acquisitions and disposals

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of €1,515 million and tax credits amounting to €78 million available for offset against
future taxable profits Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of unused tax losses of €1,109 million and tax credits of €78 million,
as 115 Not probable that there will be future taxable profits withn the entities against which the losses can be utihsed The majonty of these tax
losses and credits anse in tax Junisdictions where they do not expire with the exception of €524 milion of state and federal tax losses in the US
which expire between now and 2030

Other deductible temporary differences of €83 milion have not been recognised as a deferred tax asset There 1s no expiry date for these
differences

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which
deferred tax habilies have not been recegrised was €1,633 miflion {2009 €1,319 milhon} No liability has been recognised in respect of these
differences because the Group 15 in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences, and 1t 1s probable that such
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Umilever Anpual Report and Accounts 2010 105




Finanaal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements Unilever Group

17 Deferred taxation {continued)

Deferred income tax assets and habilities are offset when there s a legally enforceable nght to set off current tax assets against current tax

abilities and when the deferred iIncome taxes relate to the same fiscal authonty The following amounts determined after appropriate offsetting,

are shawn In the consolidated balance sheet

€ million €millon €million € million €milhon €millien
Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities Total Total
Deferred tax assets and labilities 2010 2008 2010 2009 2010 2009
Pensions and similar obhgatons 556 574 (11e) {82) 440 592
Provisions 537 556 164 95 M 651
Goodwilk and intangible assets (475) (370) (647) (574) {1.122) (944)
Accelerated tax deprecation (238) (302) {302) {223) (540) {525)
Tax losses 71 68 46 14 117 a2
Fair value gains (13) {7 7} vl {25) (24
Fair value losses 1 3 12 {1 13 2
Share-based payments 120 104 - 42 120 146
Other 53 22 (30) 28 23 (€)
607 738 (880} (764} (273) {26)
Of which deferred tax to be recovered/(settled} after
more than 12 months 296 408 (957} {741) (661) (333)
18 Provisions
€million €rmilhon
Prowvisions 2010 2009
Due within one year 408 420
Due after one year 886 729
Total provisions 1,294 1,149
€ million € milhon € million € millign €million
Disputed
indirect
Movements during 2010 Restructuring Legal taxes Cther Total
1 January 2010 400 36 447 266 1,149
Disposal of group companies - @ - @ (6)
Income staterment
New charges 185 138 164 69 556
Releases (73) ) (71} (28) (179)
Utilisation (233) (6) {20) (53) {312)
Currency translation 13 1 60 7 81
31 December 2010 292 165 580 257 1,294

Restructuring prowisions primarily relate to early retirement and redundancy costs, the most significant of which relate to the formation of new
multi-country organisations and several factory closures, no projects are individually material Lega! provisions are compnsed of many claims,
including a €110 million prowision regarding potential competition law infringement in the European Union in relation to consumer detergents Further

infarmation is given in nate 25 on page 116

The provision for disputed indirect taxes 1s comprnised of a number of small disputed items The largest elernents of the provision relate to disputes
with the Brazihan authorties Because of the nature of the disputes, the timing of the utilisation of the prowvisions and any associated cash outflows

15 uncertain The majority of the disputed items attract an interest charge

No mdiidual item within the other provisions balance 1s significant Unilever expects that the issues relating to these restructunng, legal and other

provisions will be substantively resolved over the naxt five years
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19 Pensions and similar obligations

Description of plans

In many countries the Group operates defined benefit pension plans based on employee pensionable remuneration and length of service

The majonty of these pfans are externally funded The Group also provides other post-employment benefits, mainly post-employment healthcare
plans in the United States These plans are predominantly unfunded The Group also operates a number of defined contribution plans, the assets
of which are held in external funds

The majority of the Group’s externally funded plans are established as trusts, foundations or similar entities The aperation of these entities
15 governed by local regulations and practice in each country, as is the nature of the relationship between the Group and the trustees
{or equivalent) and their composition

Exposure to risks

Pension assets and habilines (pre-tax} of €15,974 million and €18,044 million respectively are held on the Group's balance sheet as at 31 December
2010 Movements in equity markets, interest rates, inflation and life expectancy could matenally affect the level of surpluses and deficits in these
schernes, and could prompt the need for the Group to make additional pension contributions, or to reduce pension contributions, in the future
The key assumptions used to value our pension liabiliues are set out below and on pages 108 and 109

Investment strategy

The Group's investment strategy in respect of 1ts funded pension plans is implemented within the framework of the various statutory requirements
of the terntories where the plans are based The Group has developed policy guidelines far the allocation of assets to different classes with the
objective of controlling risk and maintaining the nght balance between nisk and long-term returns in order to Iimit the cost to the Group of the
benefits provided To achieve this, iInvestments are well diversified, such that the failure of any single investment would not have a material impact
on the overall level of assets The plans invest the largest proportion of the assets In equities which the Group believes offer the best returns over
the long term commensurate with an acceptable level of risk The pension funds also have a proportion of assets invested In property, bonds,
hedge funds and cash The majority of assets are managed by a number of external fund managers with a small proportion managed in-house
Unilever has a pooled mvestment vehicle {Univest) which it believes offers rts pension plans around the world a simplified externally managed
investment vehicle to iImplement therr strategic asset allocation models, currently for bonds, equities and hedge funds The aim is to provide a
high quality, well-diversified, nsk-controlled vehicle

Assumptions

With the abjective of presenting the assets and liabilities of the pensions and other post-employment benefit plans at thewr farr value on the

balance sheet, assumptions under IAS 19 are set by reference to market conditions at the valuation date The actuanal assumptions used to

celculate the benefit obhigations vary according to the country 1 which the plan s situated The following table shows the assurptions weighted

by Labilities, used to value the principal defined benefit plans (which cover approximately 95% of total pension habilities) and the plans providing '
other post-employment berefits, and in addition the expected leng-term rates of return on assets, weighted by asset value

31 December 2010 31 December 2009 31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Other Other Other Other
Prinapal post-  Principal post= Principal post-  Principal post-
defined employ- defined employ- defined employ- defined employ-
benefit ment benefit ment benefit ment benefit ment
penston benefit pension benefit pensian benefit pension penefit
plans plans plans plans plans plans plans plans
Discount rate 52% 55% 55% 58% 61% 58% 58% 61%
Inflation 25% n/a 26% n/a 24% n/a 2 6% nfa
Rate of increase in salaries 35% 4 0% 37% 4 0% 35% 4 0% 38% 4 0%
Rate of increase for pensions
In payment {where provided) ‘ 25% n/a 2 6% n/a 2 4% n/a 25% nfa
Rate of increase for pensions in
deferment {where provided) 27% n/a 28% n/a 26% n/a 27% n/a
Long-term medical cost inflation nfa 50% n/a 50% nfa 50% nfa 50%
Expected long-term rates of return
Equities 74% 79% 74% 8 0%
Bonds 4 6% 4 8% 4 7% 4 9%
Property 59% 6 4% 58% 6 6%
Others 63% 6 0% 54% 6 3%
Weighted average asset return 63% 67% 6 3% 70%
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19 Pensions and similar obligations (continued)

The valuations of other post-employment benefit plans generally assume a higher imitial level of medical cost inflation which falls from 8 0%
to the fong-term rate within the next five years Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for
healthcare plans A one percentage peint change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effect

€ million € million

1% point 1% posnt

Increase decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components 1 1
Effect on total benefit obhgation 18 (17)

The expected rates of return on plan assets were determined, based on actuarial advice, by a process that takes the long-term rates of return on
government bonds available at the balance sheet date and applies to these rates suitable risk premiums that take account of historic market returns
and current market long-term expectations for each asset class

For the most important pension plans, representing approximately 80% of all defined benefit plans by habirties, the assumptions used at
31 December 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007 were

United Kingdom Netherlands
2010 2009 2008 2007 2010 2009 2008 2007
Discount rate 5.4% 57% 65% 58% 47% 51% 59% 5 5%
Inflation 31% 31% 28% 30% 18% 19% 20% 19%
Rate of increase in salanes 41% 4 6% 43% 4 5% 23% 2 4% 2 4% 24%
Rate of increase for pensions
n payment (where provided} 30% 31% 28% 30% 18% 19% 20% 19%
Rate of increase for pensions in
deferment (where provided) 31% 31% 28% 30% 18% i9% 20% 19%
Expected long-term rates of return
Equities 77% 80% 78% 8 0% 70% 77% 72% 81%
Bonds 4 6% 49% 50% 50% 43% 4 6% 50% 47%
Property 6 2% 65% 6 0% 6 5% 55% 6 2% 57% 6 6%
QOthers 71% 67% 56% 6 3% 5 6% 53% 56% 4 1%
Weighted average asset return 6 9% 72% 70% 712% 59% 6 4% 62% 6 8%
Number of years a current pensioner 1s expected to
Ive beyond age 65
Men 215 214 213 212 214 208 207 207
Women 234 228 228 227 233 218 219 219
Number of years a future pensioner currently aged
45 15 expected to hve beyond age 65
Men 233 235 235 235 230 208 207 207
Women 251 259 259 259 242 219 219 219
United States Germany
2010 2009 2008 2007 2010 2009 2008 2007
Discount rate 52% 56% 56% 59% 47% 51% 59% 55%
Inflation 2 3% 24% 21% 23% 18% 19% 20% 19%
Rate of increase in salarnies 4 0% 4 0% 4 0% 4 0% 28% 28% 2 8% 2 8%
Rate of increase for pensions
in payment (where provided) 00% 00% 00% 00% 18% 19% 20% 19%
Rate of increase for pensions in
deferment (where provided) 0 0% 00% 00% 00% 00% 00% 00% 00%
Expected long-term rates of return
Equities 74% 78% 6 0% 78% 70% 77% 72% 81%
Bonds 4 4% 50% 51% 45% 42% 4 6% 42% 47%
Property 59% 63% 45% 63% 55% 6 2% 57% b 6%
Others 17% 20% 12% 37% 55% 55% 4 4% 5 8%
Weighted average asset return 62% 6 6% 57% 6 8% 5 5% 59% 53% 6 5%
Nurmber of years a current pensioner Is expected to
live beyond age 65
Men 190 188 188 194 190 179 179 179
Women 209 208 208 215 233 214 214 214
Number of years a future pensioner currently aged
45 |5 expected to hive beyond age 65
Men 205 205 204 194 190 179 179 179
Women 22 4 224 224 215 233 214 214 214

108 Unitever Annual Report and A¢tounts 2010




Financial statements

19 Pensions and similar obligations (continued)

Demographic assumptions, such as mortality rates, are set having regard to the latest trends in ife expectancy (including expectations of future

improvements), plan expenence and other relevant data These assumptions are reviewed and updated as necessary as part of the penodic

actuanal valuation of the pension plans The years of life expectancy for 2010 above have been translated from the following tables

(11 UK the year of use S1 series all pensioners (“S1AP") tables have been adapted, which are based on the experience of UK pensicn schemes
over the period 2000-2006 Scaling factors are appled reflecting the expenence of our pension funds appropriate to the members’ gender
and status Future improvements in longevity have been allowed for in line with the 2009 CMI Core Projections and a 1% pa long-term
improvement rate

(1} the Netherlands the Dutch Actuanal Society's AG Prognosetafel 2010 — 2060 table 1s used with correction factors to altow for the typically
longer life expectancy of pension fund members relative to the general population This table has an in-built allowance for future
improvements in longevity

{n) United States the table RP-2000 with projected mortality improvement using Projection Scale AA from 2000 to 2017 for annurtants and
to 2025 for non-annuitants This table has an in-built allowance for future iImprovements in longevity

{v) Germany fund specific tables are used which broadly equate to Heubeck 1998 with a scaling factor of 75%

Assumptions for the remaining defined benefit plans vary considerably, depending on the economic conditions of the countries where they
are situated

Balance sheet

The assets, habilities and surplusfdeficait) position of the pension and other post-employment benefit plans and the expected rates of return on the
plan assets at the balance sheet date were

31 December 2010 31 December 2009 31 December 2008 !
€milhon €million % € milion € million % € mithon € millien %
Other post-  Long-term Other post- Long-term Other post= Long-term
employment rates of employment rates of employment rates of
Pension benefit return Pension benefit return Pension benefit return
plans plans expected plans plans expected plans plans expected
Assets of pnnopal plans
Equities 7,690 - 7.4% 7,359 - 79% 6,044 - 74%
Bonds 5,013 - 4 6% 4,040 - 4 8% 3,244 - 47%
Property 915 - 2.9% 792 - 6 4% 1053 - 58%
Other 1,931 - 6 3% 1,867 - 6 0% 1069 - 5 4% .
Assets of other plans 419 6 8 3% 348 7 79% 303 6 83% |
15,968 6 14,406 7 1,713 6 :
Present value of habilities
Principa! plans {16,540) - (15,602) - (13,682) -
Other plans (842) {662) (744) (649) (682) (737)
(17,382) {662) (16,346) (649) {14,364) (737)
Aggregate net deficit of the plans  (1,414) (656) (1,940) {642) {2.651) (731}
Irecoverable surplus® - - - - - -
Pension hability net of assets (1.414) (656} (1,940) {642) {2,651) (731)
Of which in respect of
Funded plans n surplus
Liabilities {5.519) - - (4,733) - (3,600) -
Assets 6,429 - - 5,492 - 4,025
Aggregate surplus 910 - - 755 - 425
Irrecoverable surplus™ - - - - - - -
Pension asset net of liabilities 910 - - 759 - 425 -
Funded plans in deficit
Liabilities (10,592) (34) - (10,407) (33) (9,484) (30}
Assets 9,53% 6 - 8,914 7 7,688 [
Penston liability net of assets  {1,053) (28} - (1,493) (26) (1,796) (24}

Unfunded plans
Pension habihity 1,.271) (628) - (1,206) {616) (1,280) (707N

(&) A surplus i1s deemed recoverable to the extent that the Group s able to benefit econorucally from the surplus

Liabihties of €150 million were transferred from the UK unfunded plan to the funded plan in 2009 This followed the payment to the UK funded
plan in 2008 In expectation of a transfer in 2009 and 2010 During 2008 some previously unfunded habilities were funded utilising existing
surpluses As a consequence of this the habilities of €24 million were moved from unfunded to funded in the table above for 2008
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19 Pensions and similar obligations (continued)

In 2010, agreement was reached with local insurers to externally insure most of our existing Swedish pension obligation Consequently,
€150 milhon halities were considered settled and removed from the table above The remaining liability in Sweden of €6 mullion 15 included
in unfunded plans

Equity securities include Unilever securities amounting to €50 million {0 3% of total plan assets) and €37 million {0 3% of total plan assets)
at 31 December 2010 and 2009 respectively Property includes property occupied by Unilever amounting 10 €14 midhon and €12 mitlion at
31 December 2010 and 2009 respectively

The pension assets above exdude the assets in a Special Benefits Trust amounting to €128 million (2009 €129 million) to fund pension and smilar
abligations in the US {see also note 11 on page 91)

The sensitivity of the overall pension Jiabilities to changes in the weighted key financial assumptions are

Impact on
Change in overall
assumptian habilities

Discount rate
Inflation rate

Increase/decrease by 0 5%
Increase/decrease by 0 5%

Decrease/increase by 7 0%
Increase/decrease by 6 0%

Income statement
The charge to the income statement comprises

€million € milhon € millkon
2010 2008 2Q08
Charged to operating profit
Defined benefit pension and other benefit plans
Current service cost (261) (228) {272)
Employee contributtons 13 12 12
Special termination benefits (22) (50) (54}
Past service cost 60 50 24
Settlements/curtallments 6 20 16
Defined contribution plans (72) (60) (55)
Total operating cost 4 {276) (256) (329}
Charged to other finance ncome/{cost)
Interest on retirement benefits {963) {340) (988}
Expected return on assets 983 776 1,131
Total other finance iIncome/(cost) 5 20 {164) 143
Net impact on the income statement (before tax} (256) (420) (186}

Cash flow
Group cash flow in respect of pensions and similar post-employment benefits comprises Company contributions patd to funded plans and benefits
paid by the Company in respect of unfunded plans, as set out in the following table (including the current estimate of contributions for 2011)

€million €million € mifion €million
2011E 2010 2009 2008
Company contributions to funded plans

Defined Benefit (DB} 295 4382 968 531
Defined Contribution {DC) 85 72 60 55

Benefits paid by the Company in respect of unfunded plans
Defined Benefit (DB} 170 187 234 233
Group cash flow in respect of pensions and simular benefits 550 7N 1,262 819

Contrbutions to funded defined benefit plans are subject to perrodic review, taking account of local legislaton 2009 contributions paid to funded
plans include around €370 millien of future years’ contnbutions accelerated into 2009 2008 contributions to funded plans include €254 million to
the UK pension plan to cover the transfer of unfunded habilities into the plan in 2009 and 2010
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Statement of comprehensive income
Amounts recognised In the statement of comprehensive income

€milhon € milion € million € milion € million € milion
Cumulative
since
1 lanuary
2010 2008 2008 a7 2006 2004
Actal return less expected return on pension and other benefit
plan assets 677 1,277 (4,243) (236) 533 (31}
Experience gains/losses) ansing on pension plan and ather
benefit plan habilities 197 250 - 103 51 581
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the
pension and other benafit plan iabiities (716} {1,489) 1,116 946 474 (2,422)
Actuanal gain/loss) 158 38 {3.127) 813 1,058 (1,872)
Change in unreccgnised surplus - - - - 142 103
Refund of unrecognised assets - - - - - 15
Net actuanal gain/{loss) recognised in statement of comprehensive
income {before tax) 158 38 (3,127) 813 1,200 {1,754)
Reconciliation of change in assets and habilities
Movements in assets and habiities during the year
€ milhion € miliion € million € million € million € million
Assets Assets Assets Liabilities Lrabihties Liatilihas
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
1 lanuary 14,413 1,719 17,253 {18,995) (15,101) (18,342)
Acquisthions/disposals 3 - - 4) - 2
Current service cost - - - {261} (228} (272)
Employee contributions 13 12 12 - - -
Special termination benefits - - - (22) (50) (54)
Past service costs - - - 60 50 24
Settlements/curtalimeants (162) 9) (12) 168 29 28
Expected returns on plan assets 983 776 1,131 - - -
Interest on pension habilities - - - (963) (940) (988)
Actuanal gainf(loss) 677 1,277 {(4,243) {519) (1,239) 1117
Employer contrbutions 669 1,202 754 - - -
Benefit payments (1,146} (1,204) (1,367) 1,146 1,204 1,367
Reclassification of benefits® 19 - n (28) - 7
Currency re-translation 505 640 (1,802) (626) (720} 2,010
31 December 15,974 14,413 1,719 (18.044) (16,995) (15,01)

(b) Certain obligations have been reclassified as employee benefit obligations
The actual return on plan assets dunng 2010 was £1,660 millon 1 e the sum of €983 million and €677 million from the table above (2009 €2,053 million}

Funded status of plans at the year end

€million €million € million € million € millien

2010 2008 2008 2007 2006

Total assets 15,974 14,413 11,719 17,253 17,278

Total pension hablities {18,044) (16,99%) (15,101) (18,342) (20,358}

Net habilities (2,070) {2,582) (3,382) (1,089) (3,080)

Less unrecognised surplus - - - _ -

Pension habilities net of assets (2,070} {2,582) (3.382) (1,089) {3,080)

20 Comprehensive income

Tax effects of the components of other comprehensive income were as follows

€mihon € milion €million €millign € millien € mithion

Tax Tax

Before  {charged)/ After Before (chargeay After

tax cradit tax tax credit 1ax

2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009

Fair value gatns/(losses) on finanaal instruments a1 2 43 163 (58) 105

Actuanal gains/{losses) on pension schemes 158 (53) 105 38 (20) 18

Currency redistribution gansf(lasses) 450 - 480 396 - 396
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21 Equity
€million €million €muillion €mill:on € milhon € milhion € million
Called up Share Total Non-
share premium Other Retained shareholders controlling Total
Consohidated statement of changes In equity capital account reserves profit equity interests equity
1 January 2008 484 153 {3.412) 15,162 12,387 432 12,819
Total comprehensive inceme for the year - - (1,757 2,692 935 205 1,140
Dwvidends on ordinary capital - - - (2,052) (2,052) - (2,052)
nMovements in treasury stock® - - (1,304) (113) (1.417) - (1,417)
Share-based payment credit™ - - - 125 125 - 125
Dvidends paid 1o non-contrelling interests - - - - - (208) (208)
Currency re-translation gains/losses) net of tax - {32) - - (32 (3] (38)
Other movements in equity - - 4 @ 2 1 3
31 December 2008 484 121 (6,469) 15,812 9,948 424 10,372
Total comprehensive Income for the year - - 339 3,538 3,877 301 4,178
Duraidends on crdinary capital - - - (2,115} 2,115) - (2,119)
Movements in treasury stock® - - 224 (95) 129 - 129
Share-based payment credit™ - - - 195 185 - 199
Divdends pad to non-controlhng interests - - - - - (244) (244)
Currency re-translation gains/(losses) net of tax - 10 - - 10 {7) 3
Other movernents in equity - - 6 15 21 (3) 18
31 December 2009 484 131 (5,900) 17,350 12,065 an 12,536
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 465 4,329 4,794 412 5,206
Dividends on ordinary capital - - - (2,309) (2,309) - (2,309
Movements in treasury stock™ - - 28 (154) {(126) - (126}
Share-based payment cradit™ - - - 144 144 - 144
Dwidends paid to non-controlling interests - - - - - (289) (289)
Currency re-translation gains/(losses) net of tax - 3 - - 3 (1} 2
Qther movements in equity - - 1 {87) (86) - (86)
31 December 2010 484 134 (5,406) 19,273 14,485 593 15,078

(@) Includes purchases and sales of treasury stock, and transfer from treasury stock to retained profit of share settled schemes arising from pror

years and differences between exercise and grant price of share options

(b} The share-based payment credit relates to the reversal of the non-cash charge recorded against operating profit in respect of the farr value

of share options and awards granted to employees
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22 Share capital
€milhon £million
Called up share capital 2010 2009
Ordinary share capital of NV 274 274
Ordinary share capital of PLC 210 210
484 484
issued, Issued,
Number Neminal Number ¢alledup and cafled up and
of shares  Authonised  Authorsed value of shares fully paid fully paid
Ordinary share capital authonsed” 2010 2009 per share 1ssued 2010 2009
€ mullion € million €million €milion
NV ordinary shares 3,000,000,600 430 480 €016 1,714,727,700 274 274
NV ordinary shares {shares nurmbered
1 t0 2,400 — 'Speoal Shares’) 1 1 €428 57 2,400 1 1
Internal holdings eliminated
on consolidation (€428 57 shares) - - {1} (1)
481 481 274 274
£ million £ milhon
PLC ordinary shares 3wp  1,310,156,361 308 408
PLC deferred stock £1 stock 100,000 01 [¢]
Internal holding eliminated
on consolidation {£1 stock) (0 1) on
40.8 408
Euro equivalent in millions {at £1 00 = €5 143) 210 210

{a) The reguirement for a UK company to have an authonised share capital was abolished by the UK companies Act 2006 In May 2070 sharehalders
approved new Articles of Association which reflect this

For information on the nghts of shareholders of NV and PLC and the cperation of the Equalisation Agreement, see Corporate governance cn
page 51

A nominal dividend of €% 1s paid on the deferred stock of PLC, which 1s not redeemable

Internal holdings

The ordinary shares numbered 1 to 2,400 {inclusive) in NV {'Special Shares’) and deferred stock of PLC are held as to one half of each class

by NV Elma — a subsidiary of NV — and one half by United Heldings Limited - a subsidiary of PLC This capital 1s ehminated on consolidation
For informaticn on the nghts related to the aforementioned crdinary shares, see Corporate governance on pages 49 and 50 The subsidiaries
mentioned above have waived their nghts to dividends on their ordinary shares in NV

Share-based compensation

The Group operates a number of share-based compensation plans involving optiens and awards of ordinary shares of NV and PLC Full details
of these plans are given in note 29 on pages 121 and 122

23 Other reserves™

€milion  €millon  €million €midhion €millon  &€milhon €milbon  €mllion  €mlion

NV NV NV PLC PLC PLC Total Total Total

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2008 2008

Fair value reserves 61 16 41 13 26 (22) 74 42 63)
Cash ftow hedges 45 1 22 3 b (11} 48 ? {33)
Avallable-for-sale financial assets 16 15 (19 10 20 (11} 26 35 (30)
Currency retranslation of group companies 861 42 64 (1,887) (1,501 (1,053) {(1,026) (1,459  (1,693)

Adjustment on translation of PLC s ordinary

capital at 3'ep = €0 16 - - - (164) (165  (169)  (164)  (165) (169)
Capital redemption reserve 16 16 16 16 16 16 32 32 32
Book value treasury stock (3,725) (3,703) (3,886) (597) (647) {690y (4.322) (4,350) (4,576)

(2,787) (3,629} (4551 (2,619) (2271 (1,918} (5,406} (5900) (6.469)

(8} The movements in other reserves are analysed between the NV and PLC parts of the Group, aggregated according to the relative legal
ownership of indwidual entities by NV or PLC

Unilever acquired 9,059,547 NV ordinary shares through purchases on the stock exchanges during the year These shares are held as treasury stock
as a separate component of other reserves No PLC ordinary shares were purchased duning the year The total number held at 31 December 2010 15
170,380,550 (2009 170,178,644) NV shares and 44,748,743 (2009 50,546,934) PLC shares Of these, 28,819,921 NV shares and 18,051,749 PLC

shares were held in connection with share based compensation plans (see note 29 on pages 121 and 122)
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23 Other reserves (continued)

€ million € milhon
Treasury stock — movements during the year 2010 2009
1 January (4,350) (4,576)
Purchases and other utilisations 28 226
31 December (4,322) (4,350)
€ milhon € mithon
Currency retranslation reserve — movements during the year 2010 2009
1 January (1,459) (1,693)
Currency re-translation during the year 314 292
Movement In net iInvestment hedges 118 (58)
Recycled 1o Income statement 1 -
31 December (1,026) (1,459)
24 Retained profit®
€million €milion €milion €milhion €millon €milllon €mullion €millon €million
NV NV NV PLC PLC PLC Yotal Total Total
Movements during the year 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 008 2010 2009 2008
1 January 16,458 15,343 10,403 892 469 475 12,350 15,812 15,162
Recognised income and expense through
retained profit 2,556 2,583 1,742 1,773 955 950 4,329 3,538 2,692
Dividends on ordinary capital (1,270) (1,203) (1,176) (1,039) 912) (876) (2,309) (2,115) (2,052)
Utilisatren of treasury stock (60} (33) (86) (94) {62) 47 (154) (95) {113)
Share-based compensation credit™ 75 115 79 69 80 46 144 195 125
Adjustment arising from change in structure
of group companies® 1,126 (363) 4,346 (1,126) 363 (4,346) - - -
Other movements in retained profit (a0) 16 15 (CX)) {}] (n {87) 15 (2}
31 December 18,845 16,458 15,343 428 892 469 19,273 17350 15,812
Of which retained by
Parent compantes 10,790 10,857 10,602 2,425 2,373 1,996 13,215 13,030 12,598
Other group companies 8,003 5,730 4,732 (1,780 (1,267) {1,348 6,223 4,463 3,384
Joint ventures and associates 52 71 9 217) (214) (179) (165) (143) (170
18,845 16,458 15,343 428 892 469 19,273 17350 15,812
(2) The movements in retained profit are analysed between the NV and PLC parts of the Group, aggregated according to the relative legal

ownership of ndwvidual entities by NV or PLC
{b

=

value of share options and awards granted to employees

—

{

The share-based compensation credrt relates to the reversal of the non-cash charge recorded against operating profit in respect of the farr

As part of the review of Unilever’s corporate structure, and in the hght of the constitutional and operational arrangements which enable Unilever

NV and Unilever PLC to operate as nearly as practicable as a single company, the Directors have been authonised to take any action nacessary or
desirable In order to ensure that the ratio of the dividend generating capacity of PLC to that of NV does not differ substantially from the ratio of
the dividend entitlement of ordinary shareholders in PLC to that of ordinary sharehelders in NV In 2008 shareholdings in the Unilever companies
in Belgium, Austria, the Netherlands, Poland and Switzerland were transferred to 100% NV ownership In addition, shareholdings in Canada and
Indonesia were re-aligned between NV and PLC In 2009 there were no significant changes in group structure In 2010 shareholdings in the
Unilever companies in Poland were transferred to 100% PLC ownership In addition, further re-alignments of shareholdings, mainly in Turkey,

were made between NV and PLC intermediate holding companies
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25 Commitments and contingent liabilities

€ million € million €milhen € millien €million € miion
Future Future
mmnimum minmmum
lease Finance Present lease Fimance Present
payments cost value payments cost value
Long-term finance lease commitments 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009
Bulldings® 336 148 188 340 156 184
Flant and machinery 21 1 20 29 1 28
357 149 208 369 157 212
The commitments fall due as follows
Within 1 year 3 12 19 34 12 22
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 94 47 47 91 46 45
Later than 5 years 232 90 142 244 99 145
357 149 208 369 157 212
(@) All leased land s classified as operating leases
The Group has not sublet any part of the leased properties under finance leases
€ million € million
Long-term operating lease commitments 2010 2009
Land and buildings 1,233 1,240
Plant and machinery 357 248
1,600 1,488
€million € milon €millien €million
Other Other
Operating Cperating commit- commit-
leases leases ments ments
Operating lease and other commitments fall due as follows 2010 2009 2010 2009
Within 1 year 364 301 1,181 884
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years B44 782 1,632 1,328
Later than 5 years 392 405 141 164
1,600 1,488 2,954 2,376

The Group has sublet part of the |eased properties under operating leases Future minimum sublease payments of €57 million are expacted to

be received

Other commitrments principally compnse commitments under contracts to purchase materials and services They do not include commitments for

capital expenditure, which are reported in note 10 on page 89

Contingent habiiities are erther possible obligations that will probably not require a transfer of economic benefits, or present obligations that may,
but probably will not, reguire a transfer of economic benefits It 1s not appropriate 1o make prowisions for contingent liabilities, but there 1s a chance
that they will result in an obhgation in the future The Group does not believe that any of these contingent habilities will resultin a material loss

Contingent habilities arise in respect of iigation against group comparues, investigations by competition, regulatory and fiscal authorities and
obligations ansing under environmenta’ legislation The estimated total of such contingent habilities at 31 December 2010 was some €228 million

{2009 €205 million)
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25 Commitments and contingent habilities (continued)

Legal proceedings
Detarls of significant outstanding legal proceedings and ongoing regulatory investigations are as follows

Competition investigations

As previously reported, in June 2008 the European Commission initiated an investigation into potential competition law infringements in the
European Unien in relation to consumer detergents While the mvestigation 1s ongoing, Uniever has concluded that 1t 1s appropriate to take
a provision of €110 milion

In addrtion and as previously reported, Unilever is mvolved in a number of other ongoing investigations by national competition authorities in a
number of European countnes including Greece, France, the Netherlands, Belgium and Germany These investigations are at vanous stages and
concern a vanety of product markets Provisions have been made to the extent appropriate

It 1s Unilever's policy to co-operate fully with the competition authonities in the context of all ongoing investigations In addition, Unilever reinforces
and enhances its internal competition law compliance procedures on an ongoing basis

Tax case Brazil

During 2004 1n Brazil, and in common with many other businesses operating in that country, one of our Brazilian subsidiaries receved a notice

of infingement from the Federal Revenue Service The notice alleges that a 2001 recrganisation of our local corporate structure was undertaken
without valid business purpose The dispute 1518 court and if upheld, will result In a tax payment relating to years from 2001 to the present day The
2001 reorganisation was comparable with restructurings done by many companies in Brazil We believe that the likelihoad of a successful challenge
by the tax authornties 1s remate, however, there can be no guarantee of success in court
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26 Acquisitions and disposals

Sara Lee’s Personal Care business

Cn 6 December 2010 we completed the purchase of 100% of Sara Lee’s Perscnal Care business This acquisition adds brands including Radox

Duschdas and Neutral to Unilever's existing portfolio

The consideration was €1,456 milion in cash The fair values shown below are provisicnal and are based upon the fair value work that has

been performed since the acquisttion date The acquisition accounting will be finahised in 2011

The intangible assets of the Personal Care business are principally brands Therr fair values have been provisionally determined pending the

completion of valuations in 2011

The prowisional estimate of the goadwill arising on the acquisition of the Personal Care business 15 €25t million It relates to the value of the
anticipated synergies to be realised from the acquisition, together with the market position and the assembled workforce

The following table summanses the consideration paid and assets and llabilities recogmised at the acguisition date for the Group's acquisition

of the Personal Care business

€ million
Intangible assets 256
Property, plant and equipment 64
QOther non-current assets 5
Total non-current assets 325
Inventories 53
Trade and other current receivables 96
Current tax assets 2
Cash and cash equivalents 306
Assets held for sale 657
Total current assets 1,114
Financial iabilities )
Trade payables and cther current habilities (112}
Current tax habilities (19}
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale (57}
Total current habilities (195)
Pensions and pest-retirement healthcare habiities (11}
Deferred tax labilities (24)
Other non-current habilities (4}
Total non-current habilities (39}
Total identihable net assets 1,205
Consideration - cash 1,456
Goodwill on acquisition 251

Acquisition-related costs of €12 million are included in administrative expenses in the income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010

These acquisition-related costs are presented within RDI in calculating underlying operating profit

Since acquisition, the Personat Care business has contributed €43 million to Group revenue and €8 million to Group operating profit If the
personal care business acquisition had taken place at the beginning of the year, Group revenue would have been €754 million and Group

operating profit would have been €118 million
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26 Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

Other 2010 acquisitions and disposals

On 18 January 2010 we announced a definitive agreement with Hormel Foods Corporation to sell our Shedd’s Country Crack branded side dish
business in the US The transaction was complated in February 2010 Under the terms of the agreement, Hormel will market and sell Shedd's
Country Crock chilted side-dish products, such as homestyle mashad potatoes, under a licence agreement

On 26 Apni 2010 we announced the agreement with Strauss Holdings Ltd to increase the Unilever sharehalding in Glidat Strauss Israel from
51% 10 90% for an undisclosed sum The transaction was completed on 7 October 2010

On 1 June 2010 we comnpleted the disposal of the Brunch brand in Germany to Bongrain

On 9 August 2010 we announced an asset purchase agreement with the Norwegian dairy group TINE, to acquire the lce Cream operations
of Diplom-Is in Denmark, as of 30 September 2010 The value of the transaction 1s undisclosed

On 24 September 2010 we announced a definitive agreement to sell our consumer tomato products business in Brazil to Cargill for approximately
R$600 millon The assets and habilities related to this business are reported as held for sale

On 27 September 2010 we announced a definitive agreement to acquire Alberto Culver Company for US33 7 bilien in cash The acquisition has
recerved shareholders approval but it 15 subject to regulatory approval

On 28 September 2010 we announced an agreement to buy EVGA's ice cream brands and distnbution network in Greece for an undisclosed sum
The transacuon was completed on 27 January 2011

The disposal of our frozen foeods business in Italy for €805 millon to Birds Eye Iglo was completed on 1 October 2010

2009

On 2 April 2008 we announced the completion of our purchase of the global TIGI professional hair product business and its supporting advanced
education academies TIGI's major brands incdlude Bed Head, Catwalk and S-Factor Turnover of the business worldwide in 2008 was around

US 3250 milion The cash consideration of US $411 5 million was made on a cash and debt free basis In addition, further lirmited payments related
to future growth may be made contingent upon meeting certain thresholds

On 23 June 2009 we announced that we had increased our holding in our business in Vietnam to 100%, following an agreement with Vinachern
wha previously owned 33 3% of the business

On 3 July 2009 we completed the acquisition of Baltimar Holding ZA0's sauces business in Russia The acquisition includes the ketchup,
mayonnaise and termato paste busness under the Baltimor, Pomo d*Cro and Vostochnly Gourmand brands — and a production facility at Kelpino,
near St Petersburg

On 3 September 2009 we announced the sale of our oif palm plantation business in the Democratic Republic of Congo to Feronia Inc, for an
undisclosed sum

On 24 November 2008 we completed the sale of our interest in JohnsonDiversey The cash consideration receved was US $390 million, which
included both the onginally announced cash consideration of US $158 millien plus the proceeds af the sale of the 10 5% senior notes in
JohnsonDiversey Holdings, Inc We retain a 4% interest in JohnsonDiversey in the form of warrants See also note 11 on page &1

2008

With effect from 1 January 2008, we entered into an expanded international partnership with PepsiCo for the marketing and distribution
of ready-to-drink tea products under the Lipton brand

On 3 january 2008 we completed the sale of the Boursin brand to Le Groupe Bel for €400 million The turnover of this brand in 2007 was
approximately €100 mitlion

On 2 April 2008 we completed the acquisition of Inmarko, the leading Russian ice cream company The company had a turnover in 2007
of approximately €115 million

On 31 July 2008 we completed the sale of our Lawry's and Adolph's branded seasoning blends and marinades business in the US and
Canada to McCormick & Company, Incorporated for €410 millon The combined annual turnover of the business In 2007 was approximately
€100 milion

On 9 Septernber 2008 we completed the sale of our Narth Amencan laundry business in the US, Canada and Puerto Rico to Vestar Capital
Partners, a leading global private equnty firm, for consideraton of approximately US $1 45 billion, consisting mainly of cash, along with preferred
shares and warrants These businesses had a combined turnover in 2007 of approximately US $1 0 billion

On 5 Novernber 2008 we completed the sale of Komili, our olive oil brand in Turkey, to Ana Gida, part of the Anadolu Group

On 4 December 2008 we completed the sale of our edible ol business In Céte d'lvoire, together with interests in local oil palm plantations
Palma and PHCI, to SIFCA, the parent company of an lvorian agro-industry group, and to a 50 50 joint venture between twa Singapore-based
cornpanies, Wilmar International Limited and Olam International Limited At the same time we acquired the soap business of Cosmivaire,

a subsidiary of SIFCA

On 23 Becember 2008 we completed the disposal of our Bertolli olive ol and vinegar business to Grupe $OS for a consideration of €630 million

The transaction was structured as 2 worldwide perpetual licence by Unilever of the Bertoll brand in respect of olive oll and premium vinegar The
transaction included the sale of the Itallan Maya, Dante and San Giorgio olive oil and seed oil businesses, as well as the factory at Inveruno, Italy
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26 Acquisitions and disposals (continued)

€ million €milion € million

Disposals 2010 2009 2008
Goodwill and intangible assets 223 1 17
Other non-current assets 105 1 145
Current assets 151 3 227
Trade creditors and other payables {51} - 61)
Provisions for habilities and charges a7 1 (5)
Net assets sold 411 6 423
(Gain)/loss on recycling of currency re-translation on disposal 1 - ()
Profit on sale attnbutable to Unilever 467 7 2,237
Consideration 879 13 2,654
Cash 891 1" 2,453
Cash balances of businesses sold 1 - (15)
Financial assets, cash deposits and finaricial habihties of businesses sold (14) 2 15

Non-cash items and deferred consideration 1 - 20

The results of disposed businesses are included in the censolidated financial statements up to their date of disposal

The following table sets out the effect of acquisiions in 2010, 2009 and 2008 on the consolidated balance sheet The farr values currently
established for all acquisitions made in 2010 are provisional The goodwill ansing on these transactions has been capitahised and 1s subject to an
annual review fer impairment (or more frequently If necessary) in accordance with our accounting policies as set out In note 1 on page 76 Any
imparment 1s charged to the Income statement as £ anses Detailed information relating to goodwall 1S given in note 9 on pages 87 and 88

€million €millien € millien
Acquisitions 2010 2009 2008
Net assets acquired 1,217 128 151
Goodwill anising in subsidianas 259 350 60
Consideration 1,476 478 211
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27 Assets held for sale

€million € million
2010 2009
Disposal group held for sale on acquisition
Assets 657 -
Liabilities (57} -
600 -
Other disposal groups held for sale
Goodwill and intangibles 82 -
Property, plant and equipment 63 7
Inventones 53 1
Trade and cther recevables 1 -
199 8
Non-current assets held for sale
Property, plant and equipment 20
20

On 6 December 2010, the Group acquired the Sanex brand as part of the acguisition of Sara Lee’s Personal Care business The Eurcpean
Competition Authonity’s approval of the acquisition was cantingent on the divestiture of the Sanex brand in the European Econcmic Area The

divestiture will be completed during 2011

28 Reconciliation of net profit to cash flow from operating activities

€mullion €milion € million

Cash flow from operating activities 2010 2009 2008
Net profit 4,598 3,659 5,285
Taxation 1,534 1,257 1,844
Share of net profit of joint ventures/associates and cther income from non-current investments (1a7) {489) (219}
Net finance costs 394 593 257
Finance income (77} (75) (106)
Finance cost 491 504 506
Pensions and similar obhgations (20} 164 (143)
Gperating profit 6,339 5,020 7,167
Depreciation, amartisation and impawrment 993 1,032 1,003
Changes in working capital 169 1,701 {161)
Inventories {573) 473 (345)
Trade and other current recewvables (343) 640 (248)
Trade payables and other current Labilities 1,085 588 432
Pensions and similar provisions less payments {472) (1,028} (502)
Provisions less payments 72 (258) 62)
Eimination of (profitsi/losses on disposals (476) 13 {2,259)
Non-cash charge for share-based compensation 144 155 125
Other adjustments 49 58 15
Cash flow from operating activities 6,818 6,733 5,326

The cash flows of pension funds {other than contnbutions and other direct payments made by the Group in respect of pensions and similar

obligations) are not included in the Group cash flow statement

120 Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2010




Financial statements

29 Share-based compensaticn plans

As at 31 December 2010 the Group had share-based compensation plans in the form of performance shares, share options and other share
awards Starting in 2007, performance share awards and restricted stock awards were made under the Global Share Incentive Plan (GSIP),
except n North America where awards were made under the Unilever North America 2002 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan

The numbers in this note include those for Executive Directors shown in the Directors’ Remunaration Report on pages 61 to 67 and those
for key management personnel shown In note 4 on page 84 No awards were made to Executive Directors in 2008, 2009 or 2010 under
the Unitever North America 2002 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan Non-Executive Directors do not participate in any of the share-based
compensation plans

The economic fair value of the awards 1s calculated using option pricing models and the resultung cost I1s recognised as remuneration cost
amortised over the vesting period of the grant

Unilever wall not grant share options in total n respect of share-based compensation plans for mare than 5% of its 1ssued ordinary capital,
and for all plans together, for more than 10% of its issued ordinary capital The Board does not apportion these imits to each plan separately

The actual remuneration cost charged in each period 1s shown helow, and relates almost wholly to equity settled plans

€ million €rmillion € milion

Income statement charge 2010 2009 2008
Performance share plans (120) (166) 97
Other plans® (24) 29 28)
(144} (195} (125)

(a) The Group also prowides a Share Matching Plan {no awards after 2011), an All-Employee Share Option Plan, a TSR Long-Term incentive Plan
(no awards after 2006) and an Executive Option Plan (no awards after 2005}

Performance Share Plans

In 2007 we introduced the Global Share Incentive Plan {GSIP) The provisions of this plan are comparable with the GPSP, with the same
performance conditions of underlying sales growth and ungeared free cash flow for middle management, and the additional target based on

TSR ranking for senior executives Starting in 2008, awards made to GSIP participants normally vest at a level between 0% and 200% Starting

In 2010, GSIP performance conditions changed to underlying sales growth underly:ing operating margin improvement and cumulative operating
cash flow for middle management, and the additional target based on TSR ranking for senior executives 2010 GSIP performance conditions apply
to GSIP awards made in 2009 with respect to 2010 and 2011 performance years Monte Carle simulation 1s used to value the TSR companent of
the awards

North America managers participate in the North America Performance Share Programme (NA PSP) {no awards after 2010), that awards Urilever
shares of North America company performance conditions are met over a three-year penod The amount to be paid to the company by participants
to obtan the shares at vesting 15 zero Performance conditions for 2010 NA PSP awards are the same as GSIP performance conditions

The Global Performance Share Plan (GPSP) was introduced 1n 2005 Under this plan, managers were awarded conditional shares which vest
three years later at a level between 0% and 150% (for middle management} or 200% {for senior executives) The GPSP performance conditions
for middle management were achievement of underlying sales growth and ungeared free cash flow targets over a three-year period For senior
executives, in addiion te these two conditions, there was an additicnal target based on TSR ranking in companson with a peer group over the
three-year pened (see description an page 63 and 64)

A summary of the status of the Performance Share Plans as at 31 December 2010, 2009 and 2008 and changes during the years ended on these
dates 15 presented below

2010 2009 2008

Number of Number of Number of

shares shares shares

Qutstanding at 1 January 17,536,148 16,353,251 16,843,769
Awarded 9,292,689 8,867,844 6,887,890
Vested {8,626,7468) (6,278,634y (6,415,295}
Forfeited {961,715) (1,406,313} (963,113}
Qutstanding at 31 December 47,240,376 17,536,148 16,353,251
Exercisable at 31 December - - -
2010 2009 2008

Share award value information

Fair value per share award dunng the year €21.49 €1302 €131
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29 Share-based compensation plans {continued)

Additional information

At 31 December 2010, there were options outstanding to purchase 32,928,946 (2009 41,786,145) ordinary shares in NV or PLC 1n respect of
share-based compensation plans of NV and its subsidiaries and the North Amencan plans, and 12,217,128 {2009 14 260,636) ordinary shares
In NV or PLC in respect of share-based compensation plans of PLC and its subsidiaries

To satisfy the options granted, certain NV group companies hold 42,033,393 {2009 45,317,466) ordinary shares of NV or PLC, and trusts in Jersey
and the Urited Kingdom hold 4,838,277 (2009 7,150,549) PLC shares The trustees of these trusts have agreed, until further notice, to waive
dividends on these shares, save for the nominal sum of O 01p per 3%p ordinary share Shares acquired during 2010 represent 0 53% of the
Group's called up capital The balance of shares held in connection with share plans at 31 December 2010 represented 1 5% (2009 17%) of the
Group's called up capital

The book value of €937 million (2009 €965 million} of all shares held in respect of share-based compensation plans for both NV and PLC

i1s eiminated on consolidation by deduction from other reserves (see note 23 on page 113) Their market value at 31 December 2010 was
€1,083 million (2009 €1,187 milion)

At 31 December 2010 there were no options for which the exercise price was above market pnce

Shares held to satisfy options are accounted for in accordance with 1AS 32 and SIC 12 All differences between the purchase price of the shares
held to satisfy options granted and the proceeds received for the shares, whether on exerase or lapse, are charged to reserves The basis of the
charge to operating profit for the economic value of options granted 1s discussed on page 121

Between 31 December 2010 and 28 February 2011, no grants were made and 329,486 shares were forfeited related to the performance share plans

30 Related party transactions

The following related party balances existed with associate or joint venture businesses at 31 December

€million € million
Related party balances 2010 2009
Trading and other balances due from joint ventures 233 231
Trading and other balances due from/to) associates - 5

Joint ventures

Sales by Unilever group companies to Unilever Jeronimo Martins and Pepsi Lipton International were €83 million and €12 million in 2010 (2009
€91 million and €14 million) respectively Sales from Jerénimo Martins to Unilever group companies were €43 million in 2010 (2009 €46 milion)
Balances owed by/(to} Unilever Jerdrimo Martins and Pepsi Lipton International at 31 December 2010 were €233 million and €0 3 midlion (2009
€230 million and €1 milion) respectively

Assocates

Langholm Capital Partners invests In private European companies with above-average longer-term growth prospects Since the Langholm | Fund
was launched in 2002, Unilever has invested €83 million in Langholm |, with an cutstanding commitment at the end of 2010 of €2 7 million
Unilever has received back a total of €127 million m cash from its investment in Langholm |

Langholm Capital Partners Il was launched in 2009, Unilever has invested €9 million in Langholm II, with an outstanding commitment at the end of
2010 of €66 million

Physic Ventures 1s an early stage venture capital fund based in San Francisco, focusing on consumer-driven health, wellness and sustainable hiving
Unilever has mvested €33 million in Phystc Ventures since the launch of the fund in 2007 At 31 December 2010 the outstanding commitment
with Physic Ventures was €35 millon
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31 Remuneration of auditors

€ million € million € millon
2010 2009 2008
Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers® for the audit of the consolidated and parent
company accounts of Unilever NV and Unilever PLC N {5} (7}
Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers® for the audit of accounts of subsidiaries of
Unilever NV and Unilever PLC pursuant to the legislation {11) (14) {15)
Total statutory audit fees® (18) a9 22)
Other services supplied pursuant to such legislation 4] - 1)
Other services relevant to taxation (1) {2 (Z)
Services relating to corporate finance transactions 4] - (03]
All other services {2) {0 {1
(a) Of which

€1 milion was pard to PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants NV (2009 €1 million, 2008 €2 milion), and
€6 million was paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (2009 €4 million, 2008 €5 million)

(b) Comprises fees paid 1o the network of separate and independent member firms of PnicewaterhouseCoopers International Limited for audit
work ¢n statutory finanaal statements and group reporting returns of subsidiary companies

(© In addiion, €1 million of statutory audit fees were payable to PncewaterhouseCoopers in respect of services supplied to asscciated pension
schemas (2009 €1 million, 2008 €1 million)

32 Events after the balance sheet date

On 3 February 2011 Unilever announced a quarterly dividend with the 2010 fourth quarter results of €0 2080 per NV ordinary share and £0 1775
per PLC crdinary share

On 10 February 2011 Unilever issued a bond composed of two senior notes () US $500 milion 2 75% fixed rate note which will mature in five
years and {1) US $1,000 million 4 25% fixed rate note which will mature in ten years
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Financial record Unilever Group

In the schedules below, figures within the iIncome statement and for earnings per share reflect the classification between centinuing
and discontinued operations which has applied for our reperting during 2006-2010

€ milhan €milion €million € million € million
Consolidated income statement 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Continuing operations
Turnover 44,262 39,823 40,523 40,187 39,642
Operating profit 6,339 5,020 7,167 5,245 5,408
Net finance costs {394) {593) {257) (252) (727)
Income from non-current investments 187 489 219 191 144
Profit before taxation 6,132 4916 7,129 5,184 4,831
Taxation {1,.534) (1,257) (1,844) (1,128) (1,146)
Net profit from continuing aperations 4,598 3,659 5,285 4,056 3,685
Net profit from discontinued operatiens - - - 80 1,330
Net profit 4,598 3,659 5,285 4136 5,015
Attributabie to
Non-controlling interests 354 289 258 248 270
Shareholders’ equity 4,244 3,370 5,027 3,888 4,745
€ € € € €
Combined earnings per share® 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Continuing operations
Basic earnings per share 151 121 179 132
Diluted earnings per share 146 117 173 128
Total operations
Basic earnings per share 151 121 179 135 165
Diluted earnings per share 146 117 173 131 160
€million €million €million € mithon € milkon
Consolidated balance sheet 2010 7009 2008 2007 2006
Non-current assets 28,683 26,205 24,967 27,374 27,571
Current assets 12,484 10,811 11,175 9,928 9,501
Total assets 41,167 37016 36,142 37,302 37,072
Current habihities (13,606) (11,599} (13,800} (13,559) (13,884)
Total assets less current iabilities 27,561 25,417 22,342 23,743 23,188
Non-current habilities 12,483 12,881 11,970 10,924 11,516
Shareholders’ equity 14,485 12,065 9,948 12,387 11,230
Non-controlling interests 593 47 424 432 442
Total equity 15,078 12,536 10,372 12,819 11,672
Total capital employed 27,561 25,417 22,342 23743 23,188
€million € million € milhon €million € milion
Consolidated cash flow statement 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Net cash flow from operating activities 5,490 5,774 3,871 3,876 4,51
Net cash flow from/Aused in) investing activities {1,764} (1,263) 1,415 (623) 1,155
Net cash flow fram/{used in} fimancing actinties (4,609} (4,301) (3,130) (3,009 (6,572}
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents {283) 210 2,156 244 {306)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2,397 2,360 901 710 1,265
Effect of foreign exchange rates {148) (173) (697) (53) 351
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1,966 2,397 2,360 901 710

{a} For the basis of the calculations of combined earnings per share see note 7 on page 86

124 Uniever Annual Report and Accounts 2010




Financial statements

Key performance indicators 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Underlying sales growth (%)™ a1 35 74 55 38
Underlying volume growth (%)™ 58 23 01 37 28
Underlying operating margin (%) 150 148 146 145 120
Free cash flow (€ million)®™ 3,365 4,072 2,390 2,487 3,097
Ratios and other metrics 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Operating margin (%} 14.3 126 177 131 136
Net profit margin (%) 96 25 124 97 120
Net debt (€ milliony™ 6,668 6,357 8,012 8,335 7523
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges (umes)® 107 828 17 83 75

() Non-GAAP measures are defined and described on pages 31 and 32

(c) Net profit margin 1s expressed as net profit attributable to shareholders’ equity as a percentage of turnover from continuing operations

d) In the ratio of earmings to fixed charges, earmings consist of net profit from continuing operations excluding net profit or loss of joint ventures
and assocates increased by fixed charges, iIncome taxes and dividends received from joint ventures and associates Fixed charges consist of
interest payable on debt and a portion of lease costs determined to be representative of interest This ratio takes ne account of interest
receivable although Urilever's treasury operations involve both borrowing and depositing funds

Exchange rates
Unilever reports rts financial results and balance sheet position in eurcs Other currencies which may significantly impact our financial statements
are sterling and US dollars Average and year-end exchange rates for these two currencies for the last five years are gven below

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Year end
£1=Us§ 1337 1433 1417 1471 1317
€1=¢ 0 862 0888 0977 0734 G671
Average
€1=Us% 1326 1388 1468 1364 1254
El=¢ 0 858 08N 0788 0682 0682

Dividend record

The following tables show the dividends declared and dividends paid by NV and PLC for the last five years, expressed tn terms of the revised share
denominations which became effective from 22 May 2006 Differences between the amounts ultimately receved by US holders of NV and PLC
shares are the result of changes in exchange rate between the equalisation of the dividends and the date of payment

Following agreement at the 2009 AGMSs and separate meetings of ordinary shareholders, the Equalisation Agreement was modified to faclitate
the payment of quarterly dividends from 2010 enwards

2010 2008 2008 2007 2006%
Dividends declared for the year
NV dwidends
Dwvidend per €016 €083 €046 €077 €075 €070
Dvidend per €0 16 (US Registry) $113 %0 67 $1 02 $113 $093
PLC dividends
Dividend per 3'%p £071 04 £0 &1 £0 51 £0 48
Dmvidend per 3Yeap (US Registry} $113 3067 $0 94 $10 $093
Dividends paid duning the year
NV dividends
Cimvdend per €0 16 €0 82 €078 €076 €072 €067
Divdend per €0 16 (US Registry) $111 $109 $1 1 $100 4085
PLC dividends
Dwidend per 3Yap £F0M 064 £0 55 £0 49 1046
Dwvidend per 3Ysp {US Registry) 111 3100 $099 $099 $0 86

(e) tn addition to the amounts shown above for 2006, a one-off dividend amounting to €0 2600 per NV share {£0 1766 per PLC share,
$0 3316 per NV (US registry) share and $0 3372 per PLC (US registry) share) was declared and paid in that year
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Principal group companies and non-current investments Unilever Group

as at 31 December 2010

Group companies (continued}

The companies listed below and on page 127 are those which, in the

opinion of the Directors, princpally affect the amount of profit and % Ownership
assets shown in the Unilever Group accounts The Directors consider Germany
that those companies not listed are not significant in relation to Maizena Grundstucksverwaltung
Unilever as a whole GmbH & Co OHG h
Pfanni GmbH & Co OHG Stavenhagen d
Full information as reguired by Articles 379 and 414 of Book 2 of Pfann Werke Grundstucksverwaltu?'lg
the Cl Code in the Netherands has been filed by Unilever NV GmbH & Co OHG h
with the Cormmercial Registry in Rotterdam UBG Vermietungs GmbH |
Unilever Deutschland GmbH d
Particulars of PLC group companies and other significant holdings Unilever Deutschland Holding GmbH d
as required by the United Kingdom Companies Act 2006 will be Unnlever Deutschland Immabilien Leasing
annexed tc the next Annual Return of Unilever PLC GmbH & Co OHG i
Unil Deutschland Produktions GmbH & Co OHG d
Unless atherwise indicated, the comparnues are incorporated and fever Zeutschiand Troduktions am 9
principally operate in the countries under which they are shown Greece
Elais Unilever Hellas SA a
The aggregate percentage of equity capstal directly or ndirectly held
by NV or PLC 15 shown In the margin, except where 1t1s 100% All India
these percentages are rounded down to the nearest whole number 52 Hindustan Unilever Ltd b
Indonesia
The percentage of Unilever’s shareholdings held either directly or 85 PT Unilever Indonesia Thk d
indirectly by NV and PLC are identified in the tables according to the
following code Italy
Unilever Italy Holdings Srl d
NV 100% a Japan
PLC 100% b Unilever Japan KK a
NV 55%, PLC 45% c Mexico
NV 65%, PLC 35% d
NV 30/:, PLC 9792 e Unilever de Méxicos deRL deCV d
NV 15%, PLC 85% f The Netherlands
NV 18%, PLC 82% 9 Mixhold BV d
NV 64%, PLC 36% h Unilever Finance International BV a
NV 66%, PLC 34% 1 Unilever N V@
Unilever Nederland BV a
Due to the indusion of certain partnarships in the consolidated UNUS Holding BV ¢
group financial statements of Unilever, para 264(b} of the German Poland
trade law grants an exemption frorm the duty to prepare individual Unilever Polska § A b
statutory financal statements and management reporis i accordance
with the requirements for hmited liability companies and to have these Russia
audited and published 000 Unilever Rus g
Group compan South Africa
p panies 74 Upnlever South afnca (Pty) Limited f
% Ownership
Spain
Argentina Unilever Espafia § A a
Unitever de Argentina S A d
Sweden
Australia Unilever Sverige AB a
Uniever Australia Ltd b
Switzerland
Belgium Unilever Supply Chain Company AG a
Unilever Belgium NV/SA a Unilever Schweiz GmbH a
Brazil Thailand
Unilever Brasil Ltda d Unilever Thai Trading Ltd d
Canada (a) See ‘Basts of consclidation’ in note 1 on page 76
Unilever Canada Inc d
Chile
Unilever Chile SA d
China
Unilever Services {He Fel) Co Limited a
France
99 Unilever France d
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Group companies (continued)

% Ownership
Turkey
Unilever Sanayi ve Ticaret Turk A S d
United Kingdom
Unilever UK Ltd e
Unilever PLC?
Unilever UK Holdings Ltd b
Unilever UK & CN Holdings Ltd e
Uruted States of Amenca
Conopco, Inc C
Unilever Capital Corporatien C
Unilever United States, Inc ¢

(@) See 'Basis of consolidation’ in note 1 on page 76

lomnt ventures

% Ownership
Portugal

55  Unilever Jernimo Martins, Lda b
United States of Amenica

S0 PepsiLipton Partnership C

Associates

% Ownership
United Kingdom

40  Langholm Caprtal Partners L P b

In addition, we have revenues either from our own operations

or through agency agreements in the following locations Albania,
Algena, Andorra, Angola, Antigua, Armema, Austna, Azerbaian,
Bahamas, Bahrain, Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belize, Benin,
Bhutan, Bolivia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Botswana, Brunel, Bulgana,
Burkina Faso, Burund), Cambodia, Cameroon, Cape Verde, Colombia,
Comoros, Congo, Costa Rica, Cote d'Ivoire, Croatia, Cuba, Cyprus,
Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of Congo, Denmark, Djbout,
Dominica, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Equatorial
Guinea, Eritrea, Estonia, Ethiopia, Fip, Finland, Gabon, Gambia,
Georgia, Ghana, Grenada, Guatemala, Gunea, Guinea-Bissay, Guyana,
Harti, Honduras, Hong Kong, Hungary, Iceland, Iran, Iraq, Ireland, Israel,
Jamaica, Jordan, Kazakhstan, Kenya, Kiribati, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan,
Latwvia, Lebanon, Lesotho, Libera, Libya, Lithuania, Luxembourg,
Macao, Macedonia, Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, Mah, Malta,
Marshall [slands, Mauritania, Maunitius, Moldova {(Republic of),
Monaco, Mongalia, Montenegro, Morocco, Mozambique, Namibra,
Nepal, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Oman,
Pakistan, Palestine, Panama, Papua New Guinea, Paraguay, Peru,
Philippines, Portugal, Qatar, Réunion, Romania, Rwanda, Saint Kitts and
Newis, Saint Lucia, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Samoa, San
Marino, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Serbia, Seychelles, Sierra Lecne,
Singapare, Slovakia, Slovenia, Sclomon Islands, Somalia, South Korea,
Sn Lanka, Sudan, Suriname, Swaziland, Syna, Tamwan, Tajkistan,
Tanzana, Timer-Leste, Tonga, Trinidad & Tobago, Tunisia,
Turkmenistan, Uganda, Ukraine, United Arab Emirates, Uruguay,
Uzbekistan, Vanuatu, vVenezuela Vietnam, Yemen, Zambia and
Zimbabwe
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Company accounts Auditor's report — Unilever NV

Independent auditor's report
To the General Meeting of Shareholders of Unilever N V.

Report on the company accounts

We have audited the company accounts 2010 as set out on pages 129 to
131 of the Annual Report and Accounts 2010 of Unilever NV, Rotterdam,
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2010, the profit and
loss account for the year then ended and the notes, comprising a summary
of accounting policies and other explanatory information

Directors’ responsibility

The directors are responsibile for the preparation and fair presentatton
of these company accounts n accordance with United Kingdom
accounting standards and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Ciwl
Code, and for the preparation cf the Report of the Durectors in
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Ciwvil Code Furthermore,
the directors are responsible for such internal control as they determine
15 necessary to enable the preparation of the company accounts that
are free from matenal misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or error

Auditor’s responsibility

Our respansibility 13 to express an opinion on these company accounts
based on our audit ‘We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch
law, Including the Dutch Standards on Auditing This requires that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the company accounts are
tfree from material misstatement
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An audit involves performing procedures to cbtam audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the company accounts The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the nisks of material misstatement of the company
accounts, whether due to fraud or error In makeng those nisk
assessments, the auditer considers internal control relevant to the
company’s preparation and fair presentation of the company accounts
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company's internal control An audit also includes
evaluating the appropnateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates rmade by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the company accounts

We believe that the audit evidence we have ebtained i1s sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for cur audit opinion

Opinion with respect to the company accounts

In aur opinicn, the company accounts give a true and fair view of the
financial position of Unilever NV as at 31 December 2010, and of rts
result for the year then ended In accordance with United Kingdom
accounting standards and with Part @ of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code

Separate report on consolhidated finzncial statements
We have reported separately on the consolidated financial statements
of Urulever Group for the year ended 31 December 2010

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Pursuant to the legal requirement under Section 2 393 sub 5 at

e and f of the Dutch Civil Code, we have no deficiencies to report as a
result of cur examination whether the Report of the Directors, to the
extent we can assess, has been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of
Book 2 of this Code and whether the information as required under
Section 2 392 sub 1 at b-h has been annexed Further we report that
the Report of the Directors, to the extent we can assess 15 consistent
with the company accounts as required by Section 2 391 sub 4 of the
Dutch Civil Code

Amsterdarn, The Netherlands, 1 March 2011
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants NV
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Company accounts Unilever NV

Balance sheet as at 31 December
(after proposed appropriation of profit}

€ mllion € million
2010 2009

Fixed assets
Fixed Investments 27,294 26,289
Debtors due after more than one year 3,386 3,242
Deferred taxation 14 18
Total non-current assets 3,400 3,260
Debtors due within one year 3,782 1,740
Deferred taxation 30 20
Cash at bank and in hand - 14
Total current assets 3,812 1,774
Creditors due within one year (20,407) {17,163)
Net current assets/{liabilities) {16,595) {15,389)
Total assets less current habilities 14,099 14,160
Creditors due after more than one year 6,330 6,515
Prowisions for lhabilities and charges {(excluding penstons and similar ocbligations) 100 15
Net pension habihty 89 90
Caprtal and reserves 7.580 7,540
Callad up share capital 275 275
Share premium account 20 20
Legal reserves 16 16
Other reserves (3,521) (3 428)
Profit retained 10,790 10657
Total capital employed 14,099 14,160
Profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December

€ million € million

2010 2008

Income from fixed investments after taxation 1,084 1,306
Other income and expenses 278 (19)
Profit for the year 1,362 1,287

For the information required by Article 392 of Book 2 of the Civil Code in the Netherlands, refer to pages 128 and 132 Pages 130 and 131 are part

of the notes to the Unilever NV company accounts

The company accounts of Unilever NV are included in the consolidated accounts of the Unilever Group Therefore, and in accordance with Article
402 of Book 2 of the Civil Cade in the Netherands, the profit and loss account only reflects the mcome from fixed mvestrments after taxaton and
other income and expenses after taxes The company accounts of Unilever NV do not contain a cash flow statement as this 1s not required by

Baok 2 of the Cvil Code in the Netherlands
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Notes to the company accounts Unilever NV

Accounting information and policies

Basis of preparation

The company accounts of Unilever NV comply in all matenial respects
with legislation in the Netherlands As allowed by Article 362 1 of
Book 2 of the Civil Code in the Netherlands, the company accounts are
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom accounting standards,
unless such standards conflict with the Civil Code in the Netherlands
which would i such case prevail

The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention as
moditied by the revaluation of financal assets classified as
‘available-for-sale investments’, ‘financial assets at far value through
profitor loss', and ‘dervative financial instruments’ in accerdance with
the accounting policies set out below which have been

consistently applied

Accounting policies
The prinaipal accounting policies are as follows

Fixed investrments

Shares in group companies are stated at cost less any amounts written
off to reflect a permanent imparrment Any impairment 1s charged

to the profit and loss account as 1t anses In accordance with Article
385 5 of Book 2 of the Civil Code in the Netherlands, Urilever NV
shares held by Unilever NV subsidiaries are deducted from the carrying
value of those subsidiaries This differs from the accounting treatment
under UK GAAP, which would require these amounis to be included
within fixed investments

Finanaal instruments and denvative financial instruments

The cempany's accounting policies under United Kingdom
generally accepted accounting principles (UK GAAP} namely FRS 25
‘Fingncial instruments Presentation’, FRS 26 ‘Financial Instruments
Measurement’ and FRS 29 'financial Instruments Disclosures’ are
the same as the Unilever Group’s accounting policies under
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) namely IAS 32
‘Financial Instruments Presentation’, IAS 39 ‘Financal Instruments
Recognition and Measurement” and IFRS 7 *Financal Instruments
Disclosures’ The policies are set out under the heading "Financial
mstruments’ in note 1 to the conschdated accounts on pages 77
and 78 NV s taking the exemption for not providing all the financial
mstruments disclosures, because IFRS 7 disclosures are given n
note 15 to the consolidated accounts on pages 98 to 104

Deferred taxation

Full prowision is made for deferred taxation on all significant timeng
differences anising from the recegnition of items for taxation purposes
in different penods from those in which they are included in the
company's accounts Full provision 1s made at the rates of tax prevaling
at the year end unless future rates have been enacted or substantively
enacted Deferred tax assets and habilities have not been discounted

Own shares held

Own shares held by the company are accounted for in accordance
with Dutch law and UK GAAP, namely FRS 25 ‘Financial Instruments
Presentation’ All differences between the purchase price of the shares
held to satisfy options granted and the proceeds recewved for the
shares, whether on exerase or lapse, are charged 1c other reserves
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Retirement benefits

Unilever NV has accounted for pensions and similar benefits under the
United Kingdom Financial Reporting Standard 17 ‘Retirement benefits’
(FRS 17) The operating and financing costs of defined benefit plans are
recognised separately in the profit and loss account, service costs are
systematically spread over the service lives of employees, and finanang
¢osts are recognised n the periods in which they arise Vanations from
expected costs, ansing from the expenence of the plans or changes

I actuanal assumptions, are recognised immed:ately in the statement
of comprehensive income The costs of Indwidual events such as

past service benefit enhancements, settlements and curtailments

are recognised immedately in the profit and loss account The

liabilrties and, where applicable, the assets of defined benefit plans

are recegnised at fair value in the balance sheet The charges to the
profit and loss account for defined contribution plans are the company
contributions payable and the assets of such plans are not included

in the company balance sheet

Dwidends

Under Financial Reporting Standard 21 "Events after the Balance Sheet
Date’ (FRS 21), proposed dividends do not meet the definition of a
hability until such time as they have been approved by shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting Therefore, we do not recognise a hability
in any penod for dividends that have been proposed but will not be
approved until after the balance sheet date This holds for external
dividends as well as intra-group dividends paid to the parent company

Taxation

Unilever NV, together with certain of its subsidianies, 15 part of a tax
grouping for Dutch corporate income tax purposes The members

of the fiscal entity are jointly and severally l:able for any taxes payable
by the Dutch tax grouping

Fixed investments €millien  €million

2010 2009
1 January 26,289 26,245
Additions® 1,136 3,840
Decreases” (131} (3.796)

31 December 27,294 26,289

(@) The additions relate to two investments in group companies and to
capital injections in the subsichary Unilever Finance International B v
(b) The decreases relate to the divastment of two group companies

Debtors €milbon  €million
2010 2009

Loans to group companies 3,913 3,242
Other amounts owed by group companies 3,188 1,668
Taxation 10 28
Other 57 44
7168 4,982

Of which due after more than one year 3,386 3242
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Cash at bank and 1n hand
There was no cash at bank and in hand for which payment notice was
required at either 31 December 2010 or 31 December 2009

Creditors €milhion € million
2010 2009
Due within one year

Other amounts owed to group companies 18,381 15,967
Leans from group companies 1,317 972
Bonds and other loans 556 33
Taxation and social security 14 15
Accruals and deferred income 55 67
Other 84 109
20,407 17,163

Due after more than one year
Bonds and other loans 3148 3,297
Loans from group companies 3,089 3089
Accruals and deferred income 4 5
Preference shares 89 124
6,330 6,515

Creditors due after five years amount to €90 millon (2009
€1,107 million} (Article 375 2 of Book 2 of the Civil Cade in the
Netherlands)

Ordinary share capital

The called up share capital amounting to €275 millien consists of
1,714,727,700 NV ordinary shares and 2,400 NV ordinary special
shares These special shares number 1 to 2,400 are held by a subsidhary
of NV and a subsidiary of PLC, each halding 50% Further details are
gwen 1n note 22 1o the consohidated accounts on page 113
169,731,275 {2009 169,352,181) of the ordinary shares are held by
Unilever NV (see disclosure 'Other reserves') and 649,275 (2009
826,463} €0 16 ordinary shares are held by other group companies

Share premium account

The share premium shown in the balance sheet 1s not avalable for the
1ssue of benus shares or for repayment without incurnng withholding
tax payable by the company This 1s despite the change in tax law In
the Netherlands, as a resutt of which dwidends recerved from 2001
onwards by individual shareholders who are resident in the
Netherlands are no longer taxed

Legal reserve

In 2006 the NV ordinary shares were spht in the ratio 3 to 1 and at the
same time the share capital, previously denominated in Dutch guiders,
was converied into euros Due 1o roundings the new nommnal value

per share differs from the value expressed in Dutch guilders As a result,
the reported share capital 1ssued at 31 December 2006 was €16 million
lower than in 2005

Other reserves €millien € million
2010 2005

1 January (3.428) (3,559)

Change during the year (93) 131

31 December (3,521) (3,428

The own ordinary shares held by NV amount to 169 731,275
{2009 169,352,181) €0 16 and are included in the other reserves

/LM i,

The Board of Directors
1 March 2011

Profit retained €million  €milion
2010 2009
1 January 10,657 10,602
Profit for the year 1,362 1,287
Ordinary diwvidends - final 2008 - (786)
Ordinary dividends — intennm 2009 - (417)
Quarterly dividend anncunced with Q4 2009 results  {(301) -
Quarterly dividend announced with Q1 2010 results ~ (323) -
Quarterly dividend announced with Q2 2010 results  (323) -
Quarterly drvidend announced with Q3 2010 results ~ (323) -
Taxation charge 1 2
Realised profit/loss) on shares/certificates held
te meat employee share options 39 8)
Changes in present value of net pension habulity (5) 9)
Other charges 6 (14)
31 December 10,790 10,657

As shown in note 24 on page 114 the total profit retained of NV
amounts to €18,845 million (2008 €16,458 milhion) This 1s made up of
the Parent Unilever NV €10,790 milion {2009 €10,657 million), other
NV group companies €8,003 millon (2009 €5,730 milhon) and joint
ventures and assooates €52 million (2009 €77 million)

Prowvisions for habilities and charges {excluding pensions
and similar obhgations)

€million € million

2010 2009

Other provisions¥ 100 15
100 15

Of which due within one year 78 14

{© Other provisions include €62 milion relating to NV's share of a
provision for the potential infrngement of competition law 0 the
furopean Union Further information 1s given in note 25 on page 116

Net penston liability

€milian € milkon

2010 2008

Funded retirement benefit {6) (9)
Unfunded retirement hab!ity 95 99
89 20

Contingent labilities

Contingent habilities are not expected to give rise to any matenal

loss and include guarantees given for group companies The fair value
of such guarantees was not significant in either 2009 or 2010 The
guarantees issued to other companies were immatenal

NV has issued joint and several habiity undertakings, as defined in
Article 403 of Book 2 of the Civil Code in the Netherlands, for almost
all Dutch group companies These written undertakings have been filed
with the office of the Company Registry in whose area of junsdiction
the group company concerned has its registered office

Directors’ remuneration

Information abeut the remuneration of Directors 1s given in the tables
noted as audited in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 61
to 67, incorporated and repeated here by reference
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Further statutory and other information Unllever NV

The rules for profit appropriation in the Articles of Associatron
{(summary of Article 38)

The profit for the year 1s applied firstly to the reserves required by law
or by the Equalisation Agreement, secondly to cover losses of previous
years If any, and thirdly to the reserves deemed necessary by the Board
of Directors Dividends due to the holders of the Cumulative Preference
Shares, including any arrears in such dividends, are then paid, if the
profitis insufficient for this purpose, the amount avallabie 1s distributed
to them in proportion to the dividend percentages of their shares

Any profit remaining thereafter shall be distributed to the holders of
ordinary shares in proporticn to the nominal value of their respective
heldings of ordinary shares The General Meeting can only deade

to make distributions from reserves on the basis of a proposal by the
Board and in compliance with the law and the Equalisation Agreement

Proposed profit appropniation €milion € million

2010 2009
Profit for the year (available for distribution) 1,362 1,287
Interim dividend already paid - @7
Dividend announced with Q1 2010 results (323) -
Dividend announced with Q2 2010 results (323) -
Dividend announced with Q3 2010 results (323) -
To profit retained 393 870

Corporate Centre
Unilever NV

Weena 455

PO Box 760

3000 DK Rotterdam
The Netherlands
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Post balance sheet event

On 3 February 2011 the Directors announced a dividend of

€0 2080 per Unilever NV ordinary share The dividend is payable
from 16 March 2011 to shareholders registered at close of business
on 11 February 2011

Specal controlling nghts under the Articles of Association
See note 22 to the consolidated accounts on page 113

Auditors

A resolution willt be proposed at the Annual General Meeting on

12 May 2011 for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Accountants NV as auditors of Unidever NV The present appaintment
will end at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting For detalls
of the remuneration of the auditors please refer to note 31 on page
123
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Company accounts Auditor's report — Unilever PLC

Independent auditor's report to the members of Unilever PLC
We have audited the parent company financial statements of Undever
PLC for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise the balance
sheet and the related notes The financial reporting framework that has
been appled in ther preparation Is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice)

Respective responsibilities of Directors and audrtors

As explained more fully in the Staternent of Directors’ Responsibilities
set out on page 69, the Directors are responsible far the preparation of
the parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair iew Qur responsibility is to audit and express
an opinion on the parent company financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

Thes report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for
the company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do
not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume respensibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or
into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our
prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaiming evidence about the amounts and
disclosures tn the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstaterment, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
parent company's arcumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the directors and the overall presentation of the
financial statements

Opinion on finanaial statements
In our opinicn the parent company financal statements

= gwe a true and farr view of the state of the company’s affarrs as at
31 December 2010,

« have been properly prepared in accordance with Urnited Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Compames Act 2006
In our opinion

= the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2006, and

* the information given In the Repart of the Directors for the financial
year for which the parent company financal statements are prepared
15 consistent with the parent company financaial staterments

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report 1n respect of the following matters where
the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion

= adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent

company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received

from branches not visited by us, or

the parent company financial statements and the part of the

Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement

with the accounting records and returns, or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration speafied by law are

not made, or

= we have not receved all the information and explanations we reguire
for our audit

Other matter
We have reported separately on the group financial statements of
Unilever Group for the year ended 31 December 2010

Richard Sexton

(Senor Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutery Audrors
London, United Kingdom

1 March 2011
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Company accounts Unilever PLC

Balance sheet as at 31 December

£ milhon £ millian
2010 2009
Fixed assets
Intangible assets a8 7
Fixed asset investments 5,942 5,929
Current assets
545 375

Debtors due within one year

Creditors due within one year

Net current assets/(habilities)

{(3.933) (3.761)
(3.388) {3.386)

Total assets less current habilities 2,602 2,550
Creditors due after more than one year 744 743
Proviston for liabilities and charges {(excluding pensiens and similar obligations}) 50 10
Capital and reserves 1,808 1,797
Called up share capital 4 41
Share premium account 94 94
Capital redemption reserve 11 1
Other reserves {428) {455)
Profit retained 2,090 2,106
Total capital employed 2,602 2,550

As permitted by Section 408 of the United Kingdom Companies Act 2006, an entity profit and loss accountis notincluded as part of
the published company accounts for PLC Under the terms of Financial Reporting Standard 1 (revised 1996) 'Cash Flow Statemments’ (FRS 1)
a cash flow statement ss not included, as the cash flows are included in the consolidated cash flow statement of the Unilever Group

0On behalf of the Board of Directors

M Treschow Chairman
P Polman Chief Executive Officer
1 March 2011
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Financial statements

Notes to the company accounts Unilever PLC

Accounting information and policies

Basis of preparation

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom accounting standards and the Urited Kingdom Companies
Act 2006

The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention as
modified by the revaluation of financal assets dassified as
‘avallable-for-sale investments’, "financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss', and 'derivative financial instruments’ tn accordance with
the accounting policies set out below which have been consistently
appled

Accounting polictes
The principal accounting policies are as follows

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise trademarks purchased after 1 January 1998
and are amortised In the profit and loss account over their expected
useful lives of up to a maxirmurm of 20 years These assets are held at
cost less accumulated amortisation They are subject to review for
imparrment in accordance with United Kingdom Financial Reporting
Standard 11 ‘Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill’ (FRS 11) Any
tmpairment 15 charged to the profit and loss account as it anises

Fixed asset tnvestments

Shares in group companies are stated at cost less any amounts written
off to reflect a permanent impairment Any impairment is charged to
the profit and loss account as it anses

Firancial instruments

The company’s accounting pelicies under United Kingdom

generally accepted accounting principles (UK GAAP) namely FRS 25
‘Financial Instruments Presentation’, FRS 26 Financial Instruments
Measurement’ and FRS 29 ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures' are the
same as the Unilever Group's accounting policies under International
Financial Reporting Standards (JFRS) namely IAS 32 *Financial
Instruments Presentation’, IAS 39 *Financial Instruments Recognition
and Measurement’ and IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’
The policies are set out under the heading ‘Financial instruments’

In note 1 to the consolidated accounts on pages 77 and 78 PLC 15
taking the exemption for not providing alt the financial instruments
disclosures, because IFRS 7 disclosures are given in note 15 to the
consolidated accounts on pages 98 to 104

Deferred taxation

Full provision I1s made for deferred taxation on all significant timing

differences ansing from the recognition of items for taxation purposes -
in different periods from those in which they are included in the

company’s accounts Full provision is made at the rates of tax prevaibng

at the year end unless future rates have been enacted or substantively

enacted Deferred tax assets and labilities have not been discounted

Shares held by employee share trusts

Shares held to satisfy options are accounted for in accordance with

UK GAAP, namely FRS 25 ‘Finanaal Instruments Presentation’,

FRS 20 'Share Based Payments' and Urgent Issues Task Force abstract

38 ‘Accounting for ESOP Trusts’ (UITF 38) All differences between

the purchase price of the shares held to satisfy options granted and \
the proceeds receved for the shares, whether on exerase or lapse,

are charged to other reserves

Dmidends

Under Financial Reporting Standard 21 ‘Events after the Balance Sheet
Date’ (FRS 21), proposed dividends do not meet the definition of a
liabilty until such time as they have been approved by shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting Therefare, we do not recogrise a hability
in any period far dvidends that have been proposed but wll not be
approved until after the balance sheet date This holds for external
dividends as well as intra-group dividends paid to the parent company
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Notes to the company accounts Unilever PLC

Intangible assets f£milton £ milon Other reserves
2010 2009  The own ordinary shares held by PLC amount te 31,535,271
2 4 834) 37
Indefintte-ved mtangible assets™ pr 6 (2009 33,874 834) 3"sp and are included in Other reserves
Finste-lived intangsble assets 1 1 € million £ rullion
48 7 2010 2009
1 January (455) (489)
(8) The movement in the year 1s the acquisition of several Sara Change in book value of shares 27 24
Lee trademarks —_—
31 December {428) (455)
Fixed asset investments Emillion £ million
200 2009 Profit retained Emillion £ millon
Shares in group companies® 5942 5929 2010 2008
(b} The movement In the year 15 an addiional investment in a 1 January 2,106 1,951
Profit for the year 879 977
group company Other income 5 -
Final dividend 2008 on ordinary and
Debtors £ m';':;: £ m;(')'g; deferred shares - (513)
Intenim dividend 2009 on ardinary and
Due within one year deferred shares - (309)
Amounts owed by group compames 544 374 Quarterly dvidend announced with Q4 2009 results  (217) -
Other 1 1 Quarterly dividend announced with Q1 2010 results ~ (231) -
———  Quarterly dividend announced with Q2 2010 results  {220) -
545 375  Quarterly dividend announced with Q3 2010 results ~ {232) -
31 December 2,090 2,106
Creditors £milion £ million
2010 2009
Contingent habilities
Due within one year Contingent habilities are not expected to give rise to any matenal
Amounts owed to group companies 3.857 3,687 loss and mclude guarantees given for group companies The farr value of
Taxation and social security 56 63  such guarantees is not significant in either 2009 or 2010 The
Accruals and deferred income " 11 guarantees 1ssued o other companies were immatenal
Other 9 -
3.933 3,761 Remuneration of auditors

Due after more than one year
Bonds and other loans® 744 743

(€} In 2009 Unitever PLC 1ssued the following senior notes
e on 19 March £350 million at 4 0% maturmg December 2014
(year-end value at amortised cost £347 million), and
e on 17 June £400 million at 4 75% matuning June 2017

(year-end value amortised cost £397 million)

Provisions for habilwies and charges {excluding pensions
and similar obhgations)
£ mdhon £ milbon

2010 2009

Deferred taxation 9 10
Other provisions™ 41 -
50 10

Of which due within one year a1 -

(d) Other provisions comprise of PLC's share of a proviston for the
potential infringement of competition law in the European Union
Further information 1s given 1 note 25 to the consohidated accounts
on page 116

Ordinary share capital

The called up share capital amounting to £41 million consists of
1,310,156 361 PLC ordinary shares and 100 000 PLC deferred stock
The deferred stock of PLC are held as to one half of each class by
NV Elma - a subsidiary of NV — and one hali by United Holdings Ltd
~ a subsidiary of PLC Further details are given in note 22 to the
consolidated accounts on page 113
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The parent company accounts of Unilever PLC are required to comply
with The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration) Regulations
2005 Auditors’ remuneration in respect of Unilever PLC 1s included
within the disclosures in note 31 on page 123

Profit appropniation £ million £ million

2010 2009
Profit for the year (avadable for distnbution} 879 977
Interim dividend already paid - (309)
Dividend announced with Q1 2010 results {231) -
Dvidend announced with Q2 2010 results (220) -
Dwvidend announced with Q3 2010 results {232) -
To profit retained 196 668

Post balance sheet event

On 3 February 2011 the Directors announced a dwvtdend of

£0 1775 per Unilever PLC crdinary share The dwidend 1s payable
fram 16 March 2011 to shareholders registered at close of business
on 11 February 2011
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Further statutory and other information Unilever PLC

Directors’ Report of PLC and himnitations of hability

For the purposes of the UK Compamies Act 2006, the Directors Report
of Unilever PLC for the year ended 31 December 2010 comprises this
and the following page and the information contained in the Report of
the Directors on pages 2 to 55 which includes the Company's position
on environment and corporate responsibility matters, the Directors'’
Remuneration Report in respect of Directors’ interests m shares or
debentures of the Group on pages 66 and 67, Dividends on page 87,
Principal group companies and non-current Investments on pages

126 and 127, Significant sharehalders of PLC as disclosed on page 140,
and Financial instruments and Treasury risk management on page 98
The information required to be given pursuant to Section 992 of the
Companies Act 2006 15 covered elsewhere In this Annual Report

The Directors’ Report has been drawn up and presented in accordance
with and in reliance upon English company law and liabilities of the
Directors in connection with that report shall be subject to the
Iimitations and restrictions provided by such law

Under the Companies Act 2006, a safe harbour imits the hatihty of
Directors in respect of staterents in and cmissions from the Directors’
Report Under English Law the Directors would be hable to Unilever
(but not to any third party) if the Directors’ Report contained errors as a
result of recklessness or knowing misstatement or dishonest
concealment of a matenal fact, but would not otherwise be liable

Business review

The Companies Act 2006 requires Unilever PLC 10 set out in this report
a fair review of the business of the Group dunng the financial year
ended 31 December 2010 including a descriptien of the prinaipal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an analysis of the position of
the Group s business at the end of the financial year, known as a
'Business review’

The infarmation that fulfils the current Business review requirements
can be found on the following pages of this Annual Report which are
incorporated into this report by reference

= a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faang

the Group - see pages 33 to 37,
e the development and performance of the Group's business during
the year — see pages 22 to 32,
the position of the Group’s business at the end of the year —
see pages 28 and 74,
» key performance indicators - see pages 2, 22 to 27, 31 and 32,
» other key Indicators - see page 2 and pages 19 and 20,
= main trends and factors likely to affect the future development,
perfarmance and position of the Group - see page 33,
envircnmental matters and policy, including the impact of
the Group’s business on the environment - see pages 20 and 21,
employee matters and policy — see pages 18 and 19 and also
below, and
a statement that the Directors do not believe that there are
any contracts or other arrangements which are essential to
the business of the Group Is given on page 51

Employee involvement and communication

Unilever's UK comparnies maintan formal processes to mform,

consult and involve employees and thew representatives We recognise
callective bargaining on a number of sites and engage with employees
wia the Sourcing Urit Forum including officer representation frem the
three recognised trade unions Qur sites use tools such as

Tetal Productive Maintenance which rely heavily on employee
nvolvement, contnibution and commitment

A National Cansultative Council coverning employees and management
representatives exists to provide a forum for discussing issues relating
to the Unsted Kingdom A European Warks Councl, embracing
employee and management representatives from countries within
Europe, has been in existence for several years and provides a forum for
discussing 1ssues that extend across national boundaries

The company carnes out regular and wide-ranging monHoring surveys
prowviding valuable insight nto employee views, attitudes and levels of
engagement

The Directors’ Reports of the United Kingdom group companies
contain more detalls about how they have communicated wath therr
employees during 2010

Equal opportunities and diversity

Under the umbrella of our Code of Business Principles, Unilever aims to
ensure that applications for employment from people with disabilities,
and other under-represented groups, are given full and fair
consideration and that such people are given the same training,
development and prospects as other employees Every effort 1s also
made to retrain and support employees who become disabled while
working within the Group

The Company continues to review ways In which greater diversity can
be achieved in recrutment and selectton We have put in place polaes
which promote the achievement of diversity in our busimess and we
review these regularly For example, Unilever UK provides policies on
home working, flex:ble working, maternity and paternity leave, child
care provision and career breaks, which help us to meet the objective
of greater employee diversity

Chantable and other contnbutions

Unilever collates the cost of its community involvernent activities using
the London Benchmarking Group model The model recommends the
separation of chantable donattons, community investment, commercial
initiativas in the community and management costs relating to the
programme of activity

During 2010 UK group companies made a total contribution
of £3 million, analysed as follows

» Charitable donations £0 3 mulion
« Community investment £2 5 milion
* Commergial intiatwes in the community £0 2 mullion

No donation or contrnibution was made or expenditure incurred for
political purposes

Suppher payment policies

Individual operating companies are responsible for agreeing the terms
and condrticns under which business transactions with their

suppliers are conducted The Directors” Reports of the United Kingdem
operating companies give information about therr suppler payment
policies as required by the Companies Act 2006 PLC, as a holding
company, does not itself make any relevant payments in this respect

Auditors and disclosure of information to auditors

A resolution will be proposed at the AGM on 11 May 2011 for the
re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of PLC The
present appointment will end at the conclusion of the AGM

To the best of each of the Directors’ knowledge and belief,

and having made appropriate enquiries of other officers of the Unilever
Group, all information relevant to enabling the auditors to provide therr
opinions on PLC’s consalidated and parent company accounts has been
provided Each of the Directors has taken all reasonable steps to ensure
therr awareness of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the Company’s auditors are aware of any such information

Authonty to purchase own shares

At the AGM of PLC held on 12 May 2010, authority was given
pursuant to Article 64 of the PLC Articles of Assoaation to make
market purchases of PLC ordinary shares of 3'p each, to a maximum
of 290 mullion shares This authonty will expire at the AGM on 11 May
2011, and a resolution will be propesed to renew the authonty

Detalls of shares purchased by an employee share trust and Unilever
group companies to satisfy options granted under PLC's employee
share schernes are given in note 29 to the consolidated accounts on
pages 121 to 122 and on page 140
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UK Capital Gains Tax

The market value of PLC 3'sp ordinary shares at 31 March 1982 would
have been 76 84p per share Since 1982, PLC ordinary shares have
been sub-divided on two occasions and consolidated on two occasiens
First, wath effect on 26 June 1987, the 25p shares were split into five
shares of 5p each Secondly, with effect on 13 October 1997, the 5p
shares were split into four shares of 1 25p each Thirdly, with effect on
10 May 1999, the shares were consolidated by replacing every 112
shares of 1 25p each with 100 shares of 1 4p each Lastly, with effect
on 22 May 2006, the shares were consolidated by replacing every 20
shares of 1 4p each with nine shares of 3Ysp each

Corporate Centre Untlever PLC Registered Office
Unitever PLC Port Sunhght

Unilever House Wirral

100 Victoria Embankment Merseyside CHE2 47D

London EC4AY ODY Registered number 41424

Unilever PLC Registrars
Computershare Investor Services PLC
The Pavilions

Bridgwater Road

Bristol BS99 62Y

By Order of the Board

s d

TE Lovell
Secretary of Unilever PLC
i March 2011
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Shareholder information
Share capital
NV's 1ssued share capital on 31 Decernber 2010 was made up of

e €£274,356,432 splt into 1,714,727,700 ordinary shares
of €0 16 each,

e €1,028,568 spht into 2,400 ordinary shares nurnbered
1 to 2,400, known as special shares, and

*  €81,454,014 split into several classes (6% and 7%) of
cumulative preference shares (‘financing preference shares')

The voting rights attached to NV's outstanding shares are spiit
as follows

Total number of votes % of 1ssued capital

1,714,727,700 ordinary shares 1,714,727,700® 76 89
2,400 special shares 6,428,550 028
161,060 6% cumulative

preference shares 431,409,276 1934
29,000 7% cumulative

preference shares 77,678,313 348

(ay Of whach 141,560,629 shares were held in treasury and 28,819,921
shares were held to satisfy oblgations under share-based incentive
schernes as at 31 December 2010 These shares are not voted on

NV may 1ssue shares not yet issued and grant rights to subscribe
for shares only pursuant to a resolution of the General Meeting
of Shareholders or of another corporate body designated for such
purpose by a resolution of the General Meeting At the NV AGM
held on 11 May 2010 the Beoard was designated, in accordance
with Articles 96 and 96a of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code,
as the corporate body authorised until 11 November 2011 to
resolve on the 1ssue of — or on the granting of nights to subscribe
for — shares not yet 1ssued and to restrict or exclude the statutory
pre-emption nghts that accrue to shareholders upon 1ssue of
shares, on the understanding that this authonty 1s irmited to 10%
of the 1ssued share capital of NV, plus an additional 10% of the
1ssued share capital of NV in connection with or on the occaston
of mergers and acquisitions

At the 2010 NV AGM the Board of NV was authansed, n
accordance with Article 88 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Crvil
Code, until 11 Novernber 2011 to cause NV to buy back its own
shares and depositary receipts thereof, with a maximum of

10% of 1ssued share capital, either through purchase on a stock
exchange or otherwise, at a price, excluding expenses, not lower
than the nominal value of the shares and not higher than 10%
above the average of the clasing price of the shares on Eurelist
by Euronext Amsterdam for the five business days before the
day on which the purchase 1s made

The above mentioned authorities are renewed annually

PLC’s 1ssued share capital on 31 December 2010 was made up of

s £40,760,420 split into 1,310,156,361 ordinary shares
of 3%p each, and
e {100,000 of deferred stock

The total number of voting nghts attached to PLC's outstanding
shares are as follows
Total number of votes

1,310,156,361"
3,214,285

% of issued capital

9976
024

1,310,156,361 ordinary shares
£100,000 deferred stock

(@) Of which 26,696,994 shares were held by PLC in treasury and
18,051,749 sharas were hald by NV group companies or by share
trusts as at 31 December 2010 These shares are not voted on

The Board of PLC may, under sections 551, 570 and 571 of the
UK Companies Act 2006 and subject to the passing of the
approphate resolutions at a meeting of shareholders, 1ssue shares
within the kmits prescribed within the resolutions At the 2010
PLC AGM the Directors were authorised to issue new shares
pursuant to section 551 of the Companies Act 2006, imited to
a maximum of £13,290,000 nominal value, which at the time
represented approximately 33% of PLC's 1ssued Ordinary share
capital and pursuant to section 570 of that Act, to disapply
pre-emption nghts up 1o approximately 5% of PLC's issued
ordinary share capital These authorrties are renewed annually

At the 2010 PLC AGM the Board of PLC was authorised in
accordance with its Articles of Association to make market
purchases of its ordinary shares representing just under 10%

of PLC's 1ssued capital and within the lmits prescribed within
the resolution untd the earlier of the six-month anniversary after
the 2010 year end or the condusion of the 2011 PLC AGM

A similar authority will be sought at the 2011 AGM of PLC
pursuant to the Companies Act 2006
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Shareholder information continued
Analysis of shareholding

Sigruficant shareholders of NV

As far as Unilever 13 aware, the only holders of more than 5% (as referred to 1n the Act on Finanaal Supervision in the Netherlands) in
the NV share caprtal {apart from the Foundation Unilever NV Trust Office, see page 50, and shares held in treasury by NV, see page
139) are ING Groep NV ('ING’), and ASR Nederland NV {('ASR’)

The voting nghts of such shareholders are the same as for other holders of the class of share indicated The two shareholders have
each notified the Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets (AFM) of therr holdings Detatled below are the interests in NV shares
provided to NV by ING and ASR in the second half of 2010 All interests are mainly held in cumulative preference shares

ING

« 11,809,050 (0 68%) ordinary shares (€1,889,448)
s 20,665 (71 26%) 7% cumulative preference shares (€8,856,399)
e 74,088 (46 0%) 6% cumulative preference shares (€31,751,894)

ASR

s 3,938,010 (0 22%) ordinary shares (€630,082)
* 46,000 (28 56%) 6% cumulative preference shares (€19,714,220)

Between 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2010, ING and ASR (previously Fortis Utrecht N V) have held more than 5% in the share
capital of NV As a result of the cancellation of the 4% cumulative preference shares on 9 August 2010, AEGON ceased to hold more
than 5% In the share capital of NV on that date

Significant shareholders of PLC
The following table gives notfied details of shareholders who held more than 3% of, or 3% of voting nghts attributable to, PLC's
shares or deferred stock (excluding treasury sharesy on 28 February 2011 The voting rights of such shareholders are the same as for
other holders of the dass of share indicated

Number of Approximate

Title of class Name of helder shares held % held

Deferred Stock Naamlooze Vennootschap Elma 50,000 50

United Holdings Limited 50,000 50

Ordinary shares BlackRock, Inc 74,570,243 5
Trustees of the Leverhulme Trust and the

Leverhulme Trade Charities Trust 70,566,764 5

Legal & General Group plc 51,295,103 3

Between 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2010, Barclays PLC, Legal & General Group plc and BlackRock, Inc have held more

than 3% of, or 3% of voting nghts attnbutable to, PLC’s ordinary shares During this pericd, and as notified, certain of these holdings
reduced to below the reporting 3% threshold The table above sets cut the notifiable interest of shares or voting nghts attnbutable
to PLC as at 28 February 2011

Controlling secunty holders

To our knowledge, the Unilever group 1s not owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by another corporation, any foreign
government or by any other legal or natural person We are not aware of any arrangements the operation of which may at a
subsequent date result in a change of control of Unilever

Purchases of shares during 2010

During 2010 Unilever group companies purchased 9,059,547 NV ordinary shares, each with a nominal value of €016, for

€202 2 million This represents 0 53% of the called-up share capital of NV The repurchase was undertaken to satisfy obligations
under share-based incentive schemes

No PLC ordinary shares were purchased by Unilever group companies during 2010
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Financial calendar

Annual General Meetings

Voting Record Voting &

Date date Registration date

PLC 11 G0am 11 May 2011 9 May 2011 9 May 2011
NV 10 30am 12 May 2011 14 April 201 5 May 2011

Announcements of results

first Quarter
Second Quarter

28 Apnl 201
4 August 201

Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

3 November 2011
2 February 2012

Quarterly Dividends for 2010

Dates listed below are apphcable to all four Untlever listings (NV ordinary shares, PLC ordinary shares, NV New York shares,

and PLC ADRs)

Announced Ex-dwidend Record Payment
date date date
Quarterly Dividend announced with the
Q4 2010 results 3 February 2011 9 February 201 11 February 2011 16 March 2011
Quarterly Dividend announced with the
Q1 2011 results 28 Apnl 2011 11 May 201 13 May 2011 15 June 2011
Quarterly Dividend announced with the
Q2 2011 results 4 August 2011 10 August 2011 12 August 2011 14 Septemnber 2011
Quarterly Dividend announced with the
Q3 2011 results 3 November 2011 9 November 2011 11 November 2011 14 December 2011
Preferential Dividends — NV
Announced Ex-dwidend Record Payment
date date date
6% and 7% 9 September 2011 12 September 2011 14 September 2011 3 October 2011

Contact details

Rotterdam

London

Unilever NV

Investor Relations Department
Weena 455, PQ Box 760
3000 DK Rotterdam

The Netherlands

Unilever PLC

Investor Relations Department
Untlever House

100 Victona Embankment
London EC4Y ODY

United Kingdom

Telephone +44 (0)20 7822 6830
Telefax  +44 (0)20 7822 5754

Telephone +44 (0)20 7822 6830
Telefax  +44(0)20 7822 5754

Any gueries can alsc be sent to us electronically via www unilever comyresource/contactus aspx
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Shareholder information

Shareholder information continued

Website

Shareholders are encouraged to visit our website

www unilever com which has a wealth of infarmation
about Unilever Any information on or linked from the
website 1s not incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report and Accounts

There is a section designed specifically for investors at

www unilever com/investorrelations It indludes detailed
coverage of the Unilever share pnce, our quarterly and annual
results, performance charts, finanaal news and investor relations
speeches and presentations It also indudes conference and
mnvestor/analyst presentations

You can also view this year's Annual Report and Accounts, and
prior years” Annual Review and Annual Report and Accounts
documents at www unilever convinvestorrelations

PLC shareholders can elect to recerve their shareholder
communications such as Annual Report and Accounts and
other shareholder documents efectronically by registenng at
www unilever com/shareholderservices

Shareholders are also able to view documents on our website

Share registration

The Netherlands

ANT Trust & Corporate Services NV
Claude Debussylaan 24

1082 MD Amsterdam

Telephone +31 {0)20 522 2555

Telefax +31{0)20 522 2500

Website www ant-trust nl

Emall registers@ant-trust nl

UK

Computershare Investor Services PLC

The Pavilions

Bridgwater Road

Brnisto! BS99 67Y

Telephone +44 (0)870 600 3977

Telefax +44 (0)870 703 6119

Website www unilever com/shareholderservices
Email web quenes@computershare co uk
USA

Ciibank Shareholder Services
PO Box 43077
Providence Rl 02940-3077

888 502 6356

+1 781 575 4555

www Cits com/dr
ciubank@shareholders-online com

Toll free phone (inside US)
Toll phone (outside US)
Website

Email
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Publications

Copies of the following publications can be accessed directly
or ordered through www urilever com/investorrelations or
www unilever nl/onsbednjf/beleggers

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2010

Available in English wath figures in euros It forms the basis for
the Form 2Q-F that 1s filed with the United States Secunties and
Exchange Commussion, which 1S also available free of charge at
WWW Sec gov

Quarterly Results Announcements
Avallable m Enghsh wath figures in euros




Notes
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Cautionary statement

This document may contain forward-looking statements, induding ‘forward-looking statements’ within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 Words such as expects, ‘anticipates, ‘ntends  believes or the negative of these terms and other similar expressions of future performance ar
results, and thew negatives are intended to identify such forward-looking statements These forward-looking statements are based upon current expectations and
assumplions regarding anticipated developments and other factors affecting the Group They are not histoncal facts nor are they guarantees of future performance

Because these forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertaintes there are important factors that could cause actual results to differ matenially from those
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements, including, among others compettve pnang and actvties, economic slowdawn, industry consolidation
access to credit markets, recrutment levels reputational nisks, commodity prices continued availabiity of raw matenials pnontisaton of projects consumption
levels costs the ability to maintain and manage key customer relatienships and supply chain sources, consumer demands currency valies nterest rates, the ability
to integrate acquisitions and complete planned divestitures the ability to complete planned restructuring actvities, physical nsks erwironmental risks the ability to
manage regulatory tax and legat matters and resolve pending matters within current estimates legislative, fiscal and regulatory developments political, economic
and soaal condiions in the geographic markets where the Group operatas and new or changed prionities of the Boards Further detads of potential nsks and
uncertainties affecting the Group are described in the Group s filings with the London Stock Exchange, Euronext Amsterdam and the US Secunties and Exchange
Commission including the Group s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 31 Decernber 2010 and the Annual Report and Accounts 2010 These
forward-loaking statements speak only as of the date of this document Except as required by any applicable law or regulation, the Group expressly disctaims any
obligation or undertaking to refease publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in the Group s
expectations with regard thereto or any change In events conditions or circumstances on which any such statement 1s based

This documenit does not comply with US GAAP and should not therefore be relied upon by readers as such The Group s Annual Repart on Form 20-F for 2010 15
separately filed with the US Secunittes and Exchange Commssion and is avallable on our corporate website www unilever com Any information on or linked from
the website i not incorporated by reference inte the Annual Report on Form 20-F In addition a printed copy of the Annual Report on Form 20-F s available, free
of charge upon request to Unilever PLC Investor Relations Department, Unilever House 100 Victona Embankment, London EC4Y ODY United Xingdom

Designed and preduced by Unilever Communications in conjunction with Addison at www addison ¢o uk
Board and UEx photography by Igor Emmench Philip Gatward Martin Elsen, Trini Jacobs Victor van Leeuwan,
Dawid Copeman and from the Untlever image library

Feature photography by Chris Moyse and fror the Urilever image hibrary

Printed by St hves Westerham Press Ltd, 1509001 15014001 FSC certified and CarbonNeutral

Thus document forms part of the Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2010 surte of documents and s pnnted
on Greencoat 80 Silk This paper 1s made from 80% post consumer waste and virgin wood fibre independently
certified In accordance with the FSC {Forest Stewardshep Councd) It 1s manufactured at a mill that is certified
1015014001 environmental management standards The pulp s bleached using Elemental Chlonne Free (ECF)
processes The inks used are all vegetable oil based

In addition, the carbon impacts of the paper for this suite have been estimated and an equwvalent amount of
carbon dicade has been balanced through preservation of ramforest by the World Land Trust an ecolegical
charny 11,944kg of carbon diaxide have been batanced, 2,352 m' of ecologically impertant forests have been
protected, and using recycled fibre has prevented an estimated 17 8 tonnes of waste paper going to landfill

f you have finished with this document and no longer wish to retain it please pass it on to other interested
readers or dispose of it In your recydled paper waste Thank you
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